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STEVEN B. WOLFSON
Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar #001565
MICHAEL V. STAUDAHER
Chief Deﬁ:uty District Attorney
Nevada Bar #008273

200 Lewis Avenue

Las Ve%as Nevada 89155-2212
(702) 671-2500

Attorney for Plamtlff

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

THE STATE OF NEVADA,
Plaintiff, CASENO: 10C265107-1
-vs- DEPT NO: XXI
DIPAK KANTILAL DESAI,
#1240942 o :
RONALD ERNEST LAKEMAN, THIRD AMENDED
#2753504 _
INDICTMENT
Defendant(s).

STATE OF NEVADA i
SS.

COUNTY OF CLARK
The Defendant(s) above named, DIPAK KANTILAIL DESAI and RONALD

ERNEST LAKEMAN accused by the Clark County Grand Jury of the crime(s) of
INSURANCE FRAUD (Category D Felony - NRS 686A.2815); PERFORMANCE OF
ACT IN RECKLESS DISREGARD OF PERSONS OR PROPERTY RESULTING IN
SUBSTANTIAL BODILY HARM (Category C Felony - NRS 0.060, 202.595);
CRIMINAL NEGLECT OF PATIENTS RESULTING IN SUBSTANTIAL BODILY
HARM (Category B Felony ~ NRS 0.060, 200.495); THEFT (Category B Felony — NRS
205.0832, 205.0835); OBTAINING MONEY UNDER FALSE PRETENSES (Category
B Felony - NRS 205.265, 205.380) and MURDER (SECOND DEGREE) (Category A

28 11 Felony - NRS 200.010, 206.020, 260.030, 200.070, 202.595, 200.495), committed at and
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J[-KEITH MATHAHS being responsible under one- or-more of -the following- principles of |

- charges, said false representation resulting in the payment of money to the Defendants and
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within the County of Clark, State of Nevada, on or between June 3, 2005, and April 27,
2012, as follows:
COUNT 1 - INSURANCE FRAUD

Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS did on or about July 25, 2007, knowingly and
willfully present, or cause to be presented a statement as a part of, or in support of, a claim
for payment or other benefits under a policy of insurance issued pursuant to Title 57 of the
Nevada Revised Statutes, knowing that the statement concealed or omitted facts, or
contained false or misleading information concerning a fact material to said claim; and/or
did assist, abet, solicit or conspire to present or cause to be presented a statement to an
insurer, a reinsurer, a producer, a broker or any agent thereof, knowing that said statement
concealed or omitted facts, or did contain false or misleading information concerning a fact
material to a claim for payment or other benefits under such policy issued pursuant to Title
57 of the Nevada Revised Statutes, by falsely representing to ANTHEM BLUE CROSS —
BLUE SHIELD that the billed anesthesia time and/or charges for the endoscopic procedure
performed on SHARRIEFF ZIYAD were more than the actual anesthetic time and/or

KEITH MATHAHS and/or their medical practice and/or the racketeering enterprise which

exceeded that which would have normally been allowed for said procedure; Defendants and

criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said écts; and/or (2) aiding or abetting
éach other in the commission of the crime by directly or indi;e,ctly counseling, encouraging,
hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other, and/or others to commit said acts,
Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS acting with the intent to commit said crime, and/or (3)
pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime.

"

"
i
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CQUNT 3 - PERFORMANCE OF ACT IN RECKLESS DISREGARD OF
OR PROPERTY RESULTING IN SUBSTANTIAT BODILY HARM

Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS did on or about July 25, 2007, then and there
willfully and unlawfully perform acts in willful or wanton disregard of the safety of persons
or property resulting in substantial bodily harm to MICHAEL. WASHINGTON, to wit:
transmitting the Hepatitis C virus to MICHAEL WASHINGTON, in the following manner,
to wit: by directly or indirectly using and/or introducing contaminated medical instruments,
supplies, and/or drugs upon or into the body of MICHAEL WASHINGTON which were
contaminated with the Hepatitis C virus; Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS being
responsible under one or more of the following principles of criminal liability, to wit: (1) by
directly committing said acts; and/or (2) aiding or abetting each other in the commission of
the crime by directly or indirectly counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing,
or procuring each other, and/or others to utilize a patient care delivery system which directly
or indirectly limited the use of medical instruments, and/or supplies, and/or drugs; scheduled
and/or treated an unreasonable number of patients per day, and/or rushed patients or patient
procedures, Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS acting with the intent to commit said crime
in order to fraudulently increase the insurance billing and/or money reimbursement for the
medical procedure performed on the said MICHAEL WASHINGTON; specifically, as to
DEFENDANT DESAI, that he directly or indiréctly both instructed DEFENDANT
LAKFEMAN, and KEITH MATHAHS and said others to perform said acts and created a
work environment where DEFENDANT LAKEMAN, and KEITH MATHAHS and others
were pressured to commit the said acts described above; specifically, as to DEFENDANT
LAKEMAN, engaging in conduct against universally accepted standards of mcdical. cafe,
that he limited the use of medical supplies, and/or drugs and rushed patients, and/or patient
procedures which in turn allowed DEFENDANT DESALI to direcily or indirectly treat and/or
perform an unreasonable number of patient procedures in a single day all at the expense of
patient safety and well being, and which resulted in substandard care and jeopardized the
safety of MICHAEL WASHINGTON and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this

3
PAWPDOCS\IND\SEGNbgj04903-1.doc

250




R -- B T Y. T N TR

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
- 23
24
25
26
27
28

O O

crime, Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS acting in concert throughout,

COUNT 4 - CRIMINAL NEGLECT OF PATIENTS RESULTING
FoDam TING IN SUBSTANTIAL

Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS on or about July 25, 2007, being professional
caretakers of MICHAEL WASHINGTON, did act or omit to act in an aggravated, reckless
or gross manner, failing to provide such service, care or supervision as is reasonable and
necessary to maintain the health or safety of said MICHAEL. WASHINGTON, resulting in
substantial bodily harm to MICHAEL WASHINGTON, to wit: transmiiting the Hepatitis C
virus to MICHAEL WASHINGTON, said acts or omissions being such a departure from
what would be the conduct of an ordinarily prudent, careful person under the same
circumstances that it is contrary to a proper regard for danger to human life or constitutes
indifference to the resulting consequences, said consequences of the negligent act or
omission being reasonably foreseeable; said danger to human life not being the result of
inattention, mistaken judgmeént 6r misadventure, but the natural and probable result of said | -
aggravated reckless or grossly negligent act or omission, to wit: by directly or indirectly
using and/or introducing contaminated medical instruments, supplies, and/or drugs upon or
into the body of MICHAEL WASHINGTON which were contaminated with the Hepatitis C
virus; Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS being responsible under one or more of the
following principleé of criminal lability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts; and/or
(2) aiding or abetting each other in the commission of the crime by directly or indirectly
counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other, and/or
others to utilize a patient care delivery system which directly or indirectly limited the use of
medical instruments, and/or supplies, and/or drugs; scheduled and/or treated an unreasonable
number of patients per day, and/or rushed patients or patient procedures, Defendants and
KEITH MATHAHS acting with the intent to commit said crime in order to fraudulently
increase the insurance billing and/or money reimbursement for the medical procedure
performed on the said MICHAEL WASHINGTON; specifically, as to DEFENDANT
DESAI, that he directly or indirectly both instructed DEFENDANT LAKEMAN, and

4
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KEITH MATHAHS and said others to perform said acts and created a work environment
where DEFENDANT LAKEMAN, and KEITH MATHAHS and others were pressured to
commit the said acts described above; specifically, as to DEFENDANT LAKEMAN,
engaging in conduct against universally accepted standards of medical care, that he limited
the use of medical supplies, and/or drugs and rushed patients, and/or patient procedures
which in turn allowed DEFENDANT DESAL to directly or indirectly treat and/or perform an
unreasonable number of patient procedures in a single day all at the expense of patient safety
and well being, and which resulted in substandard care and jeopardized the safety of
MICHAEL WASHINGTON and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime,
Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS acting in concert throughout.
COUNT § - INSURANCE FRAUD

Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS did on or about July 25, 2007, knowingly and

willfully present, or cause to be presented a statement as a patt of, or in support of, a claim

~for payment or other benefits under a policy of insurance issued pursitant to Title 57 of the |~

Nevada Revised Statutes, knowing that the statement concealed or omitted facts, or
contained false or misleading information concerning a fact material to said claim; and/or
did assist, abet, solicit or conspire to present or cause to be presented a statement to an
insurer, a reinsurer, a producer, a broker or any agent thereof, knowing that said statement
concealed or omitted facts, or did contain false or misleading information concerning a fact
material to a claim for payment or other benefits under such policy issued pursuant to Title
57 of the Nevada Revised Statutes, by falsely representing to VETERANS
ADMINISTRATION that the billed anesthesia time and/or charges for the endoscopic
procedure performed on MICHAEL WASHINGTON were more than the actual anesthetic
time and/or charges, said false representation resulting in the payment of money to
Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS and/or their medical practice and/or the racketeering
enterprise which exceeded that which would have normally been allowed for said procedure;
Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS being responsible under one or more of the following
principles of criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts; and/or (2) aiding

5
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or abetting each other in the commission of the crime by directly or indirectly counseling,
encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other, and/or others to
commit said acts, Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS acting with the intent to commit said
ctime, and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime.
COUNT 6 - INSURANCE FRAUD

Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS did on or about September 21, 2007, knowingly
and willfully present, or cause to be presented a statement as a part of, or in support of, a
claim for payment or other benefits under a policy of insurance issued pursuant to Title 57 of
the Nevada Revised Statutes, knowing that the statement concealed or omitted facts, or
contained false or misleading information concerning a fact material to said claim; and/or
did assist, abet, solicit or conspire to present or cause to be presented a statement to an
insurer, a reinsurer, a producer, a broker or any agent thereof, knowing that said statement

concealed or omitted facts, or did contain false or misleading information concerning a fact

~material to a claim for payment or other benefits under such policy-1§§iie'd pursuant to Title |

57 of the Nevada Revised Statutes, by falsely representing to ANTHEM BLUE CROSS
AND BLUE SHIELD that the billed anesthesia time and/or charges for the endoscopic
procedure performed on KENNETH RUBINO were more than the actual anesthetic time
and/or charges, said false representation resulting in the payment of money to Defendants
and KEITH MATHAHS and/or their medical practice and/or the racketeering enterprise
which exceeded that which would have normally been allowed for said procedure;
Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS being responsible under one or more of the following
principles of eriminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts; and/or (2) aiding
or abetting each other in the commission of the crime by directly or indirectly counseling,
encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other, and/or others to
commit said acts, Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS acting with the intent to commit said
crime, and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime.

1
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COUNT 7 - PERFORMANCE OF ACT IN RECKLESS DISREGARD OF PERSONS
OR PROPERTY RESULTING IN SUBSTANTIAL BODILY HARM

Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS did on or about September 21, 2007, then and
there willfully and unlawfully perform acts in willful or wanton disregard of the safety of
persons or property resulting in substantial bodily harm to STACY HUTCHINSON, to wit:
transmitting the Hepatitis C virus to STACY HUTCHINSON, in the following manner, to
wit: by directly or indirectly using and/or introducing contaminated medical instruments,
supplies, and/or drugs wupon or into the body of STACY HUTCHINSON which were
contaminated with the Hepatitis C virus; Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS being
responsible under one or more of the following principles of criminal liability, to wit: (1) by
directly committing said acts; and/or (2) aiding or abetting each other in the commission of
the crime by directly or indirectly counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing,

or procuring each other, and/or others to utilize a patient care delivery system which directly

or indirectly limited the use of medical instruments, and/or supplies, and/or drugs; scheduled |

and/or treated an unreasonable number of patients per day, and/or rushed patients or patient
procedures, Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS acting with the intent to commit said crime
in order to fraudulently increase the insurance billing and/or money reimbursement for the
medical procedure performed on the said STACY HUTCHINSON; specifically, as to
DEFENDANT DESAIJ, that he directly or indirectly both instructed DEFENDANT
LAKEMAN, and KEITH MATHAHS and said cthers to perform said acts and create
work environment where DEFENDANT LAKEMAN, and KEITH MATHAHS and others
were pressured to commit the said acts described above; specifically, as to DEFENDANT
LAKEMAN, engaging in conduct against universally accepted standards of medical care,
that he limited the use of medical supplies, and/or drugs and rushed patients, and/or patient
procedures which in turn allowed DEFENDANT DESAI to directly or indirectly treat and/or
perform an unreasonable number of patient procedures in a single day all at the expense of
patient safety and well being, and which resulted in substandard care and jeopardized the

safety of STACY HUTCHINSON and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime,
7
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Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS acting in concert throughout.

COUNT 8- CRIMINAL NEGLECT OF PATIENTS T
BODILY HARM RESULTING IN SUBSTANTIAL

Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS on or about September 21, 2007, being
professional caretakers of STACY HUTCHINSON, did act or omit to act in an aggravated,
reckless or gross manner, failing to provide such service, care or supervision as is reasonable
and necessary to maintain the health or safety of said STACY HUTCHINSON, resulting in
substantial bodily harm to STACY HUTCHINSON, to wit: transmitting the Hepatitis C
virus to STACY HUTCHINSON, said acts or omissions being such a departure from what
would be the conduct of an ordinarily prudent, careful person under the same circumstances
that it is contrary to a proper regard for danger to human life or constitutes indifference to
the resulting consequences, said consequences of the negligent act or omission being

reasonably foreseeable; said danger to human life not being the result of inattention,

~mistaken judgment or misadventure, but the natural and probable result of $aid aggravated |

reckless or grossly negligent act or omission, to wit: by directly or indirectly using and/or
introducing contaminated medical instruments, supplies, and/or drugs upon or into the body
of STACY HUTCHINSON which were contaminated with the Hepatitis C virus; Defendants
and KEITH MATHAHS being responsible under one or more of the following principles of
criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts; and/or (2) aiding or abetting
each other in the commission of the crime by directly or indirectly counseling, encouraging,
hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other, and/or others to utilize a patient care
delivery system which directly or indirectly limited the use of medical instruments, and/or
supplies, and/or drugs; scheduled and/or treated an unreasonable number of patients per day,
and/or rushed patients or patient procedures, Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS acting
with the intent to commit said crime in order to fraudulently increase the insurance billing
and/or money reimbursement for the medical procedure performed on the said STACY
HUTCHINSON; specifically, as to DEFENDANT DESAI, that he directly or indirectly both
instructed DEFENDANT LAKEMAN, and KEITH MATHAHS and said others to perform
8
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said acts and created a work environment where DEFENDANT LAKEMAN, and KEITH
MATHAHS and others were pressured to commit the said acts described above; specifically,
as to DEFENDANT LAKEMAN, engaging in conduct against universally accepted
standards of medical care, that he limited the use of medical supplies, and/or drugs and
rushed patients, and/or patient procedures which in turn allowed DEFENbANT DESAI to
directly or indirectly treat and/or perform an unreasonable number of patient procedures in a
single day all at the expense of patient safety and well being, and which resulted in
substandard care and jeopardized the safety of STACY HUTCHINSON and/or (3) pursuant
to a conspiracy to commit this crime, Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS acting in concert
throughout.
COUNT 9 - INSURANCE FRAUD

Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS did on or about September 21, 2007, knowingly

and willfully present, or cause to be presented a statement as a part of, or in support of, a

~claim for payment or other benefits under-a policy of insurance issued pursuant to Title 57 of

the Nevada Revised Statutes, knowing that the statement concealed or omitted facts, or
contained false or misleading information concerning a fact material to said claim; and/or
did assist, abet, solicit or conspire to present or cause to be presented a statement to an
insurer, a reinsurer, a producer, a broker or any agent thereof, knowing that said statement
concealed or omitted facts, or did contain false or misleading information concerning a fact
material to a claim for payment or other benefits under such policy issued pursuant to Title
57 of the Nevada Revised Statutes, by falsely representing to HEALTH PLAN OF
NEVADA that the billed anesthesia time and/or charges for the endoscopic procedure
performed on STACY HUTCHINSON were more than the actual anesthetic time and/or
charges, said false representation resulting in the payment of money to Defendants and
KEITH MATHAHS and/or their medical practice and/or the racketeering enterprise which
exceeded that which would have normally been allowed for said procedure; Defendants and
KEITH MATHAHS being responsible under one or more of the following principles of
criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts; and/or (2) aiding or abetting
9
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each other in the commission of the crime by directly or indirectly counseling, encouraging,
hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other, and/or others to commit said acts,
Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS acting with the intent to commit said crime, and/or 3)

pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime.

COUNT 10 - PERFORMANCE OF ACT IN RECKLESS DISREGARD OF PERSONS
OR PROPERTY RESULTING IN SUBSTANTIAL BODILY HARM

Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS did on or about September 21, 2007, then and
there willfully and unlawfully perform acts in willful or wanton disregard of the safety of
persons or property resulting in substantial bodily harm to RUDOLFO MEANA, to wit:
transmitting the Hepatitis C virus to RUDOLFO MEANA, in the following manner, to wit:
by directly or indirectly using and/or introducing contaminated medical instruments,
supplies, and/or drugs upon or into the body of RUDOLFO MEANA which were
contaminated with the Hepatitis C virus; Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS being
responsible under one or more of the following principles of criminal liability, to wit: (1) by
directly committing said acts; and/or (2) aiding or abetting each other in the commission of
the crime by directly or indirectly counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing,
or procuring each other, and/or others to utilize a patient care delivery system which directly
or indirectly limited the use of medical instruments, and/or supplies, and/or drugs; scheduled
and/or treated an unreasonable number of patients per day, and/or rushed patients or patient
nts and KEITH MATHAXIS acting with the intent to commit said crime
in order to ﬁ'auduleﬁﬂy increase the insurance billing and/or money reimbursement for the
medical procedure performed on the said RUDOLFO MEANA; specifically, as to
DEFENDANT DESAI, that he directly or indirectly both instructed DEFENDANT
LAKEMAN, and KEITH MATHAHS and said others to perform said acts and created a
work environment where DEFENDANT LAKEMAN, and KEITH MATHAHS and others
were pressured to commit the said acts described above; specifically, as to DEFENDANT
LAXKEMAN, engaging in conduct against universally accepted standards of medical care,
that he obtained the medical supplies, and/or drugs utilized in the treatment of KENNETH

10
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RUBINO and RODOLFO MEANA which were subsequently contaminated with the
Hepatitis C virus and thereafter directly or indirectly shared, exchanged or transferred said
contaminated medical supplies, and/or drugs between himself and KEITH MATHAHS
and/or between treatment rooms before, during or after the endoscopic procedure performed
on KENNETH RUBINO which resulted in the transmission of the Hepatitis C virus into the
body of RODOLFO MEANA and others and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this
crime, Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS acting. in concert throughout. |

COUNT 11 - CRIMINAL NEGLECT OF PATIENTS RESULTING IN SUBSTANTIAL
BODILY HARM

Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS on or about September 21, 2007, being
professional caretakers of RUDOLFO MEANA, did act or omit to act in an aggravafed,
reckless or gross manner, failing to provide such service, care or supervision as is reasonable
and necessary to maintain the health or safety of said RUDQLFO MEANA, resulting in
substantial bodily harm to RUDOLFO MEANA, t6 wit: transmitting the Hepatitis C virus to
RUDOLFO MEANA, said acts or omissions being such a departure from what would be the
conduct of an ordinarily prudent, careful person under the same circumstances that it is
contrary to a proper regard for danger to human life or constitutes indifference to the
resulting consequences, said consequences of the negligent act or omission being reasonably
foreseeable; said danger to human life not being the result of inattention, mistaken judgment
or misadventure, but the natural and probable result of said aggravated reckless or grossly
negligent act or omission, to wit: by directly or indirectly using and/or introducing
contaminated medical instruments, supplies, and/or drugs upon or into the body of
RUDOLFO MEANA which were contaminated with the Hepatitis C virus; Defendants and
KEITH MATHAHS being responsible under one or more of the following principles of
criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts; and/or (2) aiding or abetting
each other in the commission of the crime by directly or indirectly counseling, encouraging,
hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other, and/or others to utilize a patient care
delivery system which directly or indirectly limited the use of medical instruments, and/or

11
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supplies, and/er drugs; scheduled and/or treated an unreasonable number of patients per day,
and/or rushed patients or patient procedures, Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS acting
with the intent to commit said crime in order to frandulently increase the insurance billing
and/or money reimbursement for the medical procedure performed on the said RUDOLFO
MEANA; specifically, as to DEFENDANT DESAI, that he directly or indirectly both
instructed DEFENDANT LAKEMAN, and KEITH MATHAHS and said others to perform
said acts and created a work environment where DEFENDANT LAKEMAN, and KEITH
MATHAHS and others were pressured to commit the said acts described above; specifically,
as to DEFENDANT LAKEMAN, engaging in conduct against universally accepted
standards of medical care, that he obtained the medical supplies, and/or drugs utilized in the
treatment of KENNETH RUBINO and RODOLFO MEANA which were subsequently
contaminated with the Hepatitis C virus and thereafter directly or indirectly shared,

exchanged or transferred said contaminated medical supplies, and/or drugs between himself

endoscopic procedure performed on KENNETH RUBINO which resulted in the
transmission of the Hepatitis C virus into the body of RODOLFO MEANA and others and/or
(3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime, Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS

acting in concert throughout.
COUNT 12 - INSURANCE FRAUD |

Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS did on or about September 21, 2007, knowingly
and willfully present, or cause to be presented a statement as a part of, or in support of, a
claim for payment or other benefits under a policy of insurance issued pursuant to Title 57 of
the Nevada Revised Statutes, knowing that the statement concealed or omitted facts, or
contained false or misleading information concerning a fact material to said claim; and/or
did assist, abet, solicit or conspire to present or cause to be presented a statement to an
insurer, a reinsurer, a producer, a broker or any agent thereof, knowing that said statement
concealed or omitted facts, or did contain false or misleading information concerning a fact
material to a claim for payment or other benefits under such policy issued pursuant to Title

12
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57 of the Nevada Revised Statutes, by falsely representing to SECURE HORIZONS and/or
PACIFICARE that the billed anesthesia time and/or charges for the endoscopic procedure
performed on RUDOLFO MEANA were more than the actual anesthetic time and/or
charges, said false representation resulting in the payment of money to Defendants and
KEITH MATHAHS and/or their medical practice and/or the racketeering enterprise which
exceeded that which would have normally been allowed for said procedure; Defendants and
KEITH MATHAHS being responsible under one or more of the following principles of
criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts; and/or (2) aiding or abetting
each other in the commission of the crime by directly or indirectly counseling, encouraging,
hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other, and/or others to commit said acts,
Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS acting with the intent to commit said crime, and/or (3)

pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime,

COUNT 13 - PERFORMANCE OF ACT IN RECKLESS DISREGARD OF PERSONS

. OR PROPERTY RESULTING IN SUBSTANTIAL BODILY HARM

Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS did on or about September 21, 2007, then and
there willfully and unlawfully perform acts in willful or wanton disregard of the safety of
persons or property resulting in substantial bodily harm to PATTY ASPINWALL, to wit;
fransmitting the Hepétitis C virus to PATTY ASPINWALL, in the following manner, to wit;
(1) by directly committing said acts; and/or (2) aiding or abetting each other in the
commission of the crime by directly or indirectly coungeling, encouraging, hiring,
commanding, inducing, or procuring each other, and/or others to utilize a patient care
delivery system which directly or indirectly limited the use of medical instruments, and/or
supplies, and/or drugs; scheduled and/or treated an unreasonable number of patients per day,
and/or rushed patients or patient procedures, Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS acting
with the intent to commit said crime in order to fraudulently increase the insurance billing
and/or money reimbursement for the medical procedure performed on the said PATTY
ASPINWALL; specifically, as to DEFENDANT DESAI, that he directly or indirectly both
instructed DEFENDANT LAKEMAN, and KEITH MATHAHS and said others to perform

13
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said acts and created a work environment where DEFENDANT LAKEMAN, KEITH
MATHAHS and others were pressured to commit the said acts described above; specifically,
as to DEFENDANT LAKEMAN, engaging in conduct against universally accepted
standards of medical care, that he limited the use of medical supplies, and/or drugs and
rushed patients, and/or patient procedures which in turn allowed DEFENDANT DESAI to
directly or indirectly treat and/or perform an unreasonable number of patient procedures in a
single day all at the expense of patient safety and well being, and which resulted in
substandard care and jeopardized the safety of PATTY ASPINWALL and/or (3) pursuant to
a conspiracy to commit this crime, Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS acting in concert
throughout.
COUNT 14 - CRIMINAL NEGLECT OF PATIENTS RESULTING IN SUBSTANTIAL
BODILY HARM

Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS on or about September 21, 2007, being
professional caretakers of PATTY ASPINWALL, did act or omit to act in an aggravated,
reckless or gross manner, failing to provide such service, care or supervision as is reasonable
and necessary to maintain the health or safety of said PATTY ASPINWALL, resulting in
substantial bodily harm to PATTY ASPINWALL, to wit: transmitting the Hepatitis C virus
to PATTY ASPINWALL, said acts or omissions being such a departure from what would be
the conduct of an ordinarily prudent, careful person under the same circumstances that it is
contrary to a proper regard for danger to human life or congstitutes indifference to the
resulting consequences, said consequences of the negligent act or omission being reasonably
foreseeable; said danger to human life not being the result of inattention, mistaken judgment
or misadventure, but the natural and probable result of said aggravated reckless or grossly
negligent act or omission, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts; and/or (2) aiding or
abetting each other in the commission of the crime by directly or indirectly counseling,
encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other, and/or others to utilize
a patient care delivery system which directly or indirectly limited the use of medical
instruments, and/or supplies, and/or drugs; scheduled and/or treated an unreasonable number
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of patients per day, and/or rushed patients or patient procedures, Defendants and KEITH
MATHAHS acting with the intent to commit said crime in order to fraudulently increase the
insurance billing and/or money reimbursement for the medical procedure performed on the
said PATTY ASPINWALL; specifically, as to DEFENDANT DESAI, that he directly or
indirectly both instructed DEFENDANT LAKEMAN, and KEITH MATHAHS and said
others to perform said acts and created a work environment where DEFENDANT
LAKEMAN, and KEITH MATHAHS and others were pressured to commit the said acts
described above; specifically, as to DEFENDANT LAKEMAN, engaging in conduct against
universally accepted standards of medical care, that he limited the use of medical supplies,
and/or drugs and rushed patients, and/or patient procedures which in turn allowed
DEFENDANT DESAI to directly or indirectly treat and/or perform an unreasonable number
of patient procedures in a single day all at the expense of patient safety and well being, and
which resulted in substandard care and jeopardized the safety of PATTY ASPINWALL
and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime, Defendants and KEITH
MATHAHS acting in concert throughout.
COUNT 15 - INSURANCE FRAUD

Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS did on or about September 21, 2007, knowingly
and willfully present, or cause to be presented a statement as a part of, or in support of, a
claim for payment or other benefits under a policy of insurance issued pursuant to Title 57 of
the Nevada Revised Statutes, knowing that the statement concealed or omitted facts, or
contained false or misleading information concerning a fact material to said claim; and/or
did assist, abet, solicit or comspire to present or cause to be presented a statement to an
insurer, a reinsurer, a producer, a broker or any agent thereof, knowing that said statement
concealed or omitted facts, or did contain false or misleading information concerning a fact
material to a claim for payment or other benefits under such policy issued pursuant to Title
57 of the Nevada Revised Statutes, by falsely representing to ANTHEM BLUE CROSS
AND BLUE SHIELD that the billed anesthesia time and/or charges for the endoscopic
procedure performed on PATTY ASPINWALL were more than the actual anesthetic time
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and/or charges, said false representation resulting in the payment of money to Defendants
and KEITH MATHAHS and/or their medical practice and/or the racketeering enterprise
which exceeded that which would have normally been allowed for said procedure;
Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS being responsible under one or more of the following
principles of criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts; and/or (2) aiding
or abetting each other in the commission of the crime by directly or indirectly counseling,
encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other, and/or others to
commit said acts, Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS acting with the intent to commit said
crime, and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime.
COUNT 16 - INSURANCE FRAUD

Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS did on or about September 21, 2007, knowingly
and willfully present, or cause to be presented a statement as a part of, or in support of, a

claim for payment or other benefits under a policy of insurance issued pursuant to Title 57 of

“the Nevada” Revised Statiites, knowing that the statement concealed or omitted facts, or

contained false or misleading information concerning a fact material to said claim; and/or
did assist, abet, solicit or conspire to present or cause to be presented a statement to an
insurer, a reinsurer, a producer, a broker or any agent thereof, knowing that said statement
concealed or omitted facts, or did contain false or misleading information concerning a fact
material to a claim for payment or other benefits under such policy issued pursuant to Title
57 of the Nevada Revised Statutes, by falsely representing to UNITED HEALTH
SERVICES that the billed anesthesia time and/or charges for the endoscopic procedure
performed on PATTY ASPINWALL were more than the actual anesthetic time and/or
charges, said false representation resulting in the payment of money to Defendants and
KEITH MATHAHS and/or their medical practice and/or the racketeering enterprise which
exceeded that which would have normally been allowed for said procedure; Defendants and
KEITH MATHAHS being responsible under one or more of the following principles of
criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts; and/or (2) aiding or abetting
each other in the commission of the crime by directly or indirectly counseling, encouraging,
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hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other, and/or others to commit said acts,
Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS acting with the intent to commit said crime, and/or (3)

pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime.

CQUNT 17 - PERFORMANCE OF ACT IN RECKLESS DISREGARD OF PERSONS
OR PROPERTY RESULTING IN SUBSTANTIAL BODILY HARM

Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS did on or about September 21, 2007, then and
there willfully and unlawfully perform acts in willful or wanton disregard of the safety of
persons or property resulting in substantial bodily harm to SONIA ORELLANA-RIVERA,
to wit: transmitting the Hepatitis C virus to SONIA ORELLANA-RIVERA, in the following
manﬁer, to wit: by directly or in'directly usihg and/or intrédﬁcing contaminéted médfcal
instruments, supplies, and/or drugs upon or into the body of SONIA ORELLANA-RIVERA
which were contaminated with the Hepatitis C virus; Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS
being responsible under one or more of the following principles of criminal liability, to wit:
(1) by directly committing said acts; and/or (2) aiding or abefting each other in the
commission of the crime by directly or indirectly counseling, encouraging, hiring,
commanding, inducing, or procuring each other, and/or others to utilize a patient care
delivery system which directly or indirectly limited the use of medical instruments, and/or
supplies, and/or drugs; scheduled and/or treated an unreasonable number of patients per day,
and/or rushed patients or patient procedures, Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS acting
with the intent fo commit said crime in order to fraudulently increase the insurance billing
and/or money reimbursement for the medical procedure performed on the said SONIA
ORELLANA-RIVERA,; specifically, as to DEFENDANT DESAI, that he direcily or
indirectly both instructed DEFENDANT LAKEMAN, and KEITH MATHAHS and said
others to perform said acts and created a work environment where DEFENDANT
LAKEMAN, and KEITH MATHAHS and others were pressured to commit the said acts
described above; specifically, as to DEFENDANT LAKEMAN, engaging in conduct against
universally accepted standards of medical care, that he obtained the medical supplies, and/or
drugs utilized in the treatment of KENNETH RUBINO and SONIA ORELLANA-RIVERA
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which were subsequently contaminated with the Hepatitis C virus and thereafier directly or
indirectly shared, exchanged or transferred said contaminated medical supplies, and/or drugs
between himself and KEITH MATHAHS and/or between treatment rooms before, during or
after the endoscopic procedure performed on KENNETH RUBINO which resulted in the
transmission of the Hepatitis C virus into the body of SONIA ORELLANA-RIVERA and
others and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit th.is crime, Defendants and KEITH
MATHAHS acting in concert throughout.

COUNT 18 - CRIMINAL NEGLECT OF PATIENTS RESULTING IN SUBSTANTIAL
BODILY HARM

Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS on or about September 21, 2007, being
professional caretakers of SONIA ORELLANA-RIVERA, did act or omit to act in an
aggravated, reckless or gross manner, failing to provide such service, care or supervision as

is reasonable and necessary to maintain the health or safety of said SONIA ORELLANA-

RIVERA; resulting-in-substantialbodily harm to' SONIA- ORELLANA=RIVERA; to wit:

transmitting the Hepatitis C virus to SONIA ORELLANA-RIVERA, said acts or omissions
being such a departure from what would be the conduct of an ordinarily prudent, careful
person under the same circumstances that it is contrary to a proper regard for danger to
human life or constitutes indifference to the resulting consequences, said consequences of
the negligent act or omission being reasonably foreseeable; said danger to human life not
being the result of inattention, mistaken judgment or misadventure, but the natural and
probable result of said aggravated reckless or grossly negligent act or omission, to wit: by
directly or indirectly using and/or infroducing contaminated medical instruments, supplies,
and/or drugs upon or into the body of SONIA ORELLANA-RIVERA which were
contaminated with the Hepatitis C virus; Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS being
responsible under one or more of the following principles of criminal liability, to wit: (1) by
directly committing said acts; and/or (2) aiding or abetting each other in the commission of
the crime by directly or indirectly counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing,
or procuring each other, and/or others to utilize a patient care delivery system which directly
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or indirectly limited the use of medical instruments, and/or supplies, and/or drugs; scheduled
and/or treated an unreasonable number of patients per day, and/or rushed patients or patient
procedures, Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS acting with the intent to commit said crime
in order to fraudulently increase the insurance billing and/or money reimbursement for the
medical procedure performed on the said SONIA ORELLANA-RIVERA; specifically, as to
DEFENDANT DESAI, that he directly or indirectly both instructed DEFENDANT
LAKEMAN, and KEITH MATHAHS and said others to perform said acts and created a
work environment where DEFENDANT LAKEMAN, and KEITH MATHAHS and others
were pressured to commit the said acts described above; specifically, as to DEFENDANT
LAKEMAN, engaging in conduct against universally accepted standards of medical care,
that he obtained the medical supplies, and/or drugs utilized in the treatment of KENNETH
RUBINO AND SONIA ORELLANA-RIVERA which were subsequently contaminated with

the Hepatitis C virus and thereafter directly or indirectly shared, exchanged or transferred

said contaminated medical supplies, and/or drugs between himself and KEITH MATHAHS

and/or between treatment rooms before, during or after the endoscopic procedure performed
on KENNETH RUBINO which resulted in the transmission of the Hepatitis C virus into the
body of SONIA ORELLANA-RIVERA and others and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to
commit this crime, Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS acting in concert throughout.
COUNT 19 - INSURANCE FRAUD

Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS did on or about September 21, 2007, knowingly
and willfully present, or cause to be presented a statement as a part of, or in support of, a
claim for payment or other benefits under a policy of insurance issued pursuant to Title 57 of
the Nevada Revised Statutes, knowing that the statement concealed or omitted facts, or
contained false or misleading information concerning a fact material to said claim; and/or
did assist, abet, solicit or conspire to present or cause to be presented a statement fo an
insurer, a reinsurer, a producer, a broker or any agent thereof, knowing that said statement
concealed or omitted facts, or did contain false or misleading information concerning a fact
material to a claim for payment or other benefits under such policy issued pursuant to Title
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57 of the Nevada Revised Statutes, by falsely representing to CULINARY WORKERS
HEALTH FUND that the billed anesthesia time and/or charges for the endoscopic procedure
performed on SONIA ORELLANA-RIVERA were more than the actual anesthetic time
and/or charges, said false representation resulting in the payment of money to Defendants
and KEITH MATHAHS and/or their medical practice and/or the racketeering enterprise
which exceeded that which would have normally been allowed for said procedure;
Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS being responsible under one or more of the following
principles of criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts; and/or (2) aiding
or abetting each other in the commission of the crime by directly or indirectly counseling,
encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other, and/or others to
commit said acts, Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS acting with the intent to commit said
crime, and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime.

COUNT 20 - PERFORMANCE OF ACT IN RECKLESS DISREGARD OF PERSONS
~ OR PROPERTY RESULTING IN SUBSTANTIAL BODILY HARM

Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS did on or about September 21, 2007, then and
there willfully and unlawﬁillf perform acts in willful or wanton disregard of the safety of
persons or property resulting in substantial bodily harm to CAROLE GRUESKIN, to wit:
transmitting the Hepatitis C virus to CAROLE GRUESKIN, in the following manner, to wit:
(1) by directly committing said acts; and/or (2) aiding or abefting each other in the
commission of the crime by directly or indirectly counseling, encouraging, hiring,
commanding, inducing, or procuring each other, and/or others to utilize a patient care
delivery system which directly or indirectly limited the use of medical instruments, and/or
supplies, and/or drugs; scheduled and/or treated an unreasonable number of patients per day,
and/or rushed patients or patient procedures, Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS acting
with the intent to commit said crime in order to fraudulently increase the insurance billing
and/or money reimbursement for the medical procedure performed on the said CAROLE
GRUESKIN; specifically, as to DEFENDANT DESALI, that he directly or indirectly both
instructed DEFENDANT LAKEMAN, and KEITH MATHAHS and said others to perform
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said acts and created a work environment where DEFENDANT LAKEMAN, and KEITH
MATHAHS and others were pressured to commit the said acts described above; specifically,
as to DEFENDANT LAKEMAN, engaging in conduct against universally accepted
standards of medical care, that he limited the use of medical supplies, and/or drugs and
rushed patients, and/or patient procedures which in turn allowed DEFENDANT DESAI o
directly or indirectly treat and/or perform an unreasonable number of patient procedures in a
single day all at the expense of patient safety and well being, and which resulted in
substandard care and jeopardized the safety of CAROLE GRUESKIN and/or (3) pursuant to
a conspiracy to-commit this crime, Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS acting in concert
throughout.

COUNT 21- CRIMINAL NEGLECT OF PATIENTS RESULTING IN SUBSTANTIAL
BODILY HARM

Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS on or about September 21, 2007, being

-professional caretakers of CAROLE GRUESKIN, did act or omit to act inan-aggfavated, |~

reckless or gross manner, failing to provide such service, care or supervision as is reasonable
and necessary to maintain the health or safety of said CAROLE GRUESKIN, resulting in
substantial bodily harm to CAROLE GRUESKIN, to wit: transmitting the Hepatitis C virus
to CAROLE GRUESKIN, said acts or omissions being such a departure from what would be
the conduct of an ordinarily prudent, careful person under the same circumstances that it is
confrary to a proper regard for danger to human life or constitutes indifference to the
resulting consequences, said consequences of the negligent act or omission being reasonably
foreseeable; said danger to human life not being the result of inattention, mistaken judgment
or misadventure, but the natural and probable result of said aggravated reckless or grossly
negligent act or omission, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts; and/or (2) aiding or
abetiing each other in the commission of the crime by directly or indirectly counseling,
encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other, and/or others to utilize
a patient care delivery system which directly or indirectly limited the use of medical
instruments, and/or supplies, and/or drugs; scheduled and/or treated an unreasonable number
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of patients per day, and/or rushed patients or patient procedures, Defendants and KEITH
MATHAHS acting with the intent to commit said crime in order o fraudulently increase the
insurance billing and/or money reimbursement for the medical procedure performed on the
said CAROLE GRUESKIN; specifically, as to DEFENDANT DESAI, that he directly or
indirectly both instructed DEFENDANT LAKEMAN, and KEITH MATHAHS and said
others to perform said acts and created a work environment where DEFENDANT
LAKEMAN, and KEITH MATHAHS and others were pressured to commit the said acts
described above; specifically, as to DEFENDANT LAKEMAN, engaging in conduct against
universally accepted standards of medical care, that he limited the use of medical supplies,
and/or drugs and rushed patients, and/or patient procedures which in turn allowed
DEFENDANT DESAL to directly or indirectly treat and/or perform an unreasonable number
of patient procedures in a single day all at the expense of patient safety and well being, and
which resulted in substandard care and jeopardized the safety of CAROLE GRUESKIN
and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this ctime, Defendants and KEITH
MATHAHS acting in concert throughout,
COUNT 22 - INSURANCE FRAUD

Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS did on or about September 21, 2007, knowingly
and willfully present, or cause to be presented a statement as a part of, or in support of, a
claim for payment or other benefits under a policy of insurance issued pursuant to Title 57 of
the Nevada Revised Statutes, knowing that the statement concealed or omitted facts, or
contained false or misleading information concerning a fact material to said claim; and/or
did assist, abet, solicit or conspire to present or cause to be presented a statement to an
insurer, a reinsurer, a producer, a broker or any agent thereof, knowing that said statement
concealed or omitted facts, or did contain false or misleading information concerning a fact
material to a claim for payment or other benefits under such policy issued pursuant to Title
57 of the Nevada Revised Statutes, by falsely representing to HEALTH PLAN OF
NEVADA that the billéd anesthesia time and/or charges for the endoscopic procedure
performed on CAROLE GRUESKIN were more than the actual anesthetic time and/or
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charges, said false representation resulting in the payment of money to Defendants and
KEITH MATHAHS and/or their medical practice and/or the racketeering enterprise which
exceeded that which would have normally been allowed for said procedure; Defendants and
KEITH MATHAHS being responsible under one or more of the following principles of
criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts; and/or (2} aiding or abetting
each other in the commission of the crime by directly or indirectly counseling, encouraging,
hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other, and/or others to commit said acts,
Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS acting with the intent to commit said crime, and/or (3)
pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime.

COUNT 23 - PERFORMANCE OF ACT IN RECKLESS DISREGARD OF PERSONS
OR PROPERTY RESULTING IN SUBSTANTIAL BODILY HARM

Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS did on or about September 21, 2007, then and

there willfully and unlawfully perform acts in willful or wanton disregard of the safety of

~persons or property resulting in substantial bodily harm to GWENDOLYN MARTIN, to wit:

transmitting the Hepatitis C virus to GWENDOLYN MARTIN, in the following manner, to
wit: (1) by directly committing said acts; and/or (2) aiding or abetting each other in the
commission of the crime by directly or indirectly counseling, encouraging, hiring,
commanding, inducing, or procuring each other, and/or others to utilize a patient care
delivery system which directly or indirectly limited the use of medical instruments, and/or
supplies, and/or drugs; scheduled and/or treated an unreasonable number of patients per day,
and/or rushed patients or patient procedures, Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS acting
with the intent to commit said crime in order to fraudulently increase the insurance billing
and/or money reimbursement for the medical procedurec performed on the said
GWENDOLYN MARTIN; specifically, as to DEFENDANT DESAI, that he directly or
indirectly both instructed DEFENDANT LAKEMAN, and KEITH MATHAHS and said
others to perform said acts and created a work environment where DEFENDANT
LAKEMAN, and KEITH MATHAHS and others were pressured to commit the said acts
described above; specifically, as to DEFENDANT LAKEMAN, engaging in conduct against
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universally accepted standards of medical care, that he obtained the medical supplies, and/or
drugs utilized in the treatment of KENNETH RUBINO and GWENDOLYN MARTIN
which were subsequently contaminated with the Hepatitis C virus and thereafier directly or
indirectly shared, exchanged or transferred said contaminated medical supplies, and/or drugs
between himself and KEITH MATHAHS and/or between treatment rooms before, during or
after the endoscopic procedure performed on KENNETH RUBINO which resulted in the
transmission of the Hepatitis C virus into the body of GWENDOLYN MARTIN and others
and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime, Defendants and KEITH

MATHAHS acting in concert throughout.

CQUNT 24 - CRIMINAL NEGLECT OF PATIENTS RESULTING IN SUBSTANTIAL
BODILY HARM

Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS on or about September 21, 2007, being
professional caretakers of GWENDOLYN MARTIN, did act or omit to act in an aggravated,

‘reckless or gross manner, failing to provide such service, care or supervision as is reasonable |

and necessary to maintain the health or safety of said GWENDOLYN MARTIN, resulting in
substantial bodily harm to GWENDOLYN MARTIN, to wit: transmitting the Hepatitis C
virus to GWENDOLYN MARTIN, said acts or omissions being such a departure from what
would be the conduct of an ordinarily prudent, careful person under the same circumstances
that it is contrary to a proper regard for danger to human life or constitutes indifference to
the resulting consequences, said consequences of the negligent act or omission being
reasonably foreseeable; said danger to human life not being the result of inattention,
mistaken judgment or misadventure, but the natural and probable result of said aggravated
reckless or grossly negligent act or omission, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts;
and/or (2} aiding or abetting each other in the commission of the crime by directly or
indirectly counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other,
and/or others to utilize a patient care delivery system which directly or indirectly limited the

use of medical instruments, and/or supplies, and/or drugs; scheduled and/or treated an

unreasonable number of patients per day, and/or rushed patients or patient procedures,
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Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS acting with the intent to commit said crime in order to
fraudulently increase the insurance billing and/or money reimbursement for the medical
procedure performed on the said GWENDOLYN MARTIN; specifically, as to
DEFENDANT DESAI, that he directly or indirectly both instructed DEFENDANT
LAKEMAN, and KEITH MATHAHS and said others to perform said acts and created a
work environment where DEFENDANT LAKEMAN, and KEITH MATHAHS and others
were pressured to commit the said acts described above; specifically, as to DEFENDANT
LAKEMAN, engaging in conduct against universally accepted standards of medical care,
that he obtained the medical supplies, and/or drugs utilized in the treatment of KENNETH
RUBINO and GWENDOLYN MARTIN which were subsequently contaminated with the
Hepatitis C virus and thereafter directly or indirectly shared, exchanged or transferred said
contaminated medical supplies, and/or drugs between himself and KEITH MATHAHS

and/or between treatment rooms before, during or after the endoscopic procedure performed

~on KENNETH RUBINO which resulted in the transmission of the Hepatitis C virus into the

body of GWENDOLYN MARTIN and others and/or (3} pursuant to a conspiracy to commit
this crime, Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS acting in concert throughout.
COUNT 25 - INSURANCE FRAUD

Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS did on or between September 20, 2007 and
September 21, 2007, knowingly and willfully present, or cause to be presented a statement
as a part of, or in support of, a claim for payment or other benefits under a policy of
insurance issued pursuant to Title 57 of the Nevada Revised Statutes, knowing that the
statement concealed or omitted facts, or coniained false or misleading information
concerning a fact material to said claim; and/or did assist, abet, solicit or conspire to present
or cause to be presented a statement to an insurer, a reinsurer, a producer, a broker or any
agent thereof, knowing that said statement concealed or omitted facts, or did contain false or
misleading information concerning a fact material to a claim for payment or other benefits

under such policy issued pursuant to Title 57 of the Nevada Revised Statutes, by falsely

rrepresenting to PACIFIC CARE that the billed anesthesia time and/or charges for the
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endoscopic procedure performed on GWENDOLYN MARTIN were more than the actual
anesthetic time and/or charges, said false representation resulting in the payment of money to
Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS and/or their medical practice and/or the racketeering
enterprise which exceeded that which would have normally been allowed for said procedure;
Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS being responsible under one or more of the following
principles of criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts; and/or (2) aiding
or abetting each other in the commission of the crime by directly or indirectly counseling,
encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other, and/or others to
commit said acts, Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS acting with the intent to commit said
crime, and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime.
COUNT 26 — THEFT

Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS did between July 25,2007 and December 31,
2007, then and there knowingly, feloniously, and without lawful authority, commit theft by

- obtaining personal property in the amount of $250.00,or more; lawful-moneyof the United

States, from STACY HUTCHINSON, KENNETH RUBINO, PATTY ASPINWALL,
SHARRIEFF ZIYAD, MICHAEL WASHINGTON, CAROLE GRUESKIN and RODOLFO
MEANA, and/or ANTHEM BLUE CROSS AND BLUE SHIELD, HEALTHCARE
PARTNERS OF NEVADA, UNITED HEALTH SERVICES, VETERANS
ADMINISTRATION and SECURED HORIZONS, by a material misrepresentation with
intent to deprive those persons of the property, in the following manner, to-wit; by falsely
representing that the billed anesthesia time and/or charges for the endoscopic procedure
performed on STACY HUTCHINSON, KENNETH RUBINO, PATTY ASPINWALL,
SHARRIEFF ZIYAD, MICHAEL WASHINGTON, CAROLE GRUESKIN and RODOLFOQO
MEANA, were more than the actual anesthetic time and/or charges, said false representation
resulting in the payment of money to Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS and/or their
medical practice and/or the racketeering enterprise, which exceeded that which would have
normally been allowed for said procedure, thereby obtaining said personal property by a
material misrepresentation with intent to deprive thém of the property, Defendants and
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KEITH MATHAHS being responsible under one or more of the following principles of
criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts; and/or (2) aiding or abetting
each other in the commission of the crime by directly or indirectly counseling, encouraging,
hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other, and/or others to commit said acts,
Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS acting with the intent to commit said crime, and/or (3)
pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime.
COUNT 27 - OBTAINING MONEY UNDER FALSE PRETENSES

Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS did on or between September 20, 2007, and
December 31, 2007, with intent to cheat and defraud, wilfully, unlawfully, feloniously,
knowingly, designedly, and by use of false pretenses, obtain $250.00, or more, lawful money
of the United States from GWENDOLYN MARTIN and/or PACIFICARE, within Las
Vegas, Clark County, Nevada, in the following manner, to-wit: by falsely representing that
the billed anesthesia times and/or charges for the endoscopic procedures performed on
GWENDOLYN-MARTIN were more than the actual anesthetic times and/or charges, said
false representation resulting in the payment of money to Defendants and KEITH
MATHAHS and/or the medical practice and/or the racketeering enterprise, which exceeded
that which would have normally been allowed for said procedures Defendants and KEITH
MATHAHS being responsible under one or more of the following principles of criminal
liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts; and/or (2) aiding or abetting each other
in the commission of the crime by directly or indirectly counseling, encouraging, hiring,
commanding, inducing, or procuring each other, and/or others to commit said acts,
Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS acting with the intent to commit said crime, and/or (3)
pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime.
COUNT 28 - OBTAINING MONEY UNDER FALSE PRETENSES

Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS did on or between September 21, 2007, and
December 31, 2007, with intent to cheat and defraud, wilfully, unlawfully, feloniously,
knowingly, designedly, and by use of false pretenses, obtain $250.00, or more, lawful money
of the United States from SONIA ORELLANA-RIVERA and/or CULINARY WORKERS
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HEALTH FUND, within Las Vegas, Clark County, Nevada, in the following manner, to-wit:
by falsely representing that the billed anesthesia times and/or charges for the endoscopic
procedures performed on SONIA ORELLANA-RIVERA were more than the actual
anesthetic times and/or charges, said false representation resulting in the payment of money
to Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS and/or the medical practice and/or the racketeering
enterprise, which exceeded that which would have normally been allowed for said
procedures Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS being responsible under one or more of the
following principles of criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts; and/or
(2) aiding or abetting each other in the commission of the crime by directly or indirectly
counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other, and/or
others to commit said acts, Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS acting with the intent to
commit said crime, and/or (3) pursuant o a conspiracy to commit this crime.

COUNT 29 — MURDER (SECOND DEGREE)

Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS did on or between September 21, 2007 and April |

27, 2012, then and there willfully, feloniously, without authority of law, and with malice
aforethought, kill RODOLFO MEANA, a human being, by introducing Hepatitis C virus
into the body of RODOLFO MEANA, based upon the following principles of criminal
liability, to-wit: (1) by the killing occurring under circumstances showing an abandoned and
malignant heart; and/or (2) during the commission of an unlawful act, to-wit: criminal
neglect of patients, and/or performance of an unlawful act in reckless disregard of persons or
property, which in its consequences, naturally tends to destroy the life of a human being;
and/or (3) the killing being committed in the prosecution of a felonious intent, to-wit:
criminal neglect of patients, and/or performance of an act in reckless disregard of persons or
property, which in its consequences, naturally tends to destroy the life of a human being, by
directly or indirectly using and/or introducing contaminated medical instruments, supplies,
and/or drugs upon or into the body of RODOLFO MEANA. which were contaminated with
the Hepatitis C virus; Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS being responsible under one or
more of the following principles of criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said

28
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acts; and/or (2) by aiding or abetting each other and/or others including uncharged
confederates in the commission of the crime(s) of criminal neglect of patients, and/or
performance of an act in reckless distegard of persons or property by directly or indirectly
counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other, and/or
others to utilize a patient care delivery system which directly or indirectly limited the use of
medical instruments, and/or supplies, and/or drugs; scheduled and/or treated an unreasonable
number of patients per day, and/or rushed patients or patient procedures all at the expense of
patient safety and/or well being, and which resulted in substandard care and/or jeopardized
the safety of RODOLFO MEANA, Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS acting with the
intent to commit the crime(s) of criminal neglect of patients, and/or performance of an act in
reckless disregard of persons or property; and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit the
crime(s) of criminal neglect of patients, and/or performance of an act in reckless disregard of
persons or property, Defendants and KEITH MATHAHS acting in concert throughout.
DATED this _éﬂ(_ day of February, 2013. '
STEVEN B. WOLFSON

DISTRICT ATTORNEY
Nevada Bar #001565

E AUDAHER
Chief De uty DlStI'ICt Attorney
Nevada Bar #008273
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Names of witnesses testifying before the Grand Jury:
ARMOUR, PATRICIA, NV. HEALTH DISTRICT
ASPINWALL, PATTY

BAGANG, MAYNARD, LVMPD

CAMPBELL, LYNETTE, RN

CAROL, CLIFFORD

CARRERA, HILARIO

CERDA, RYAN, HEALTH CARE BUSINESS SOLUTIONS
DESAIL SAEHAL

DROBENINE, JAN, CDC LAB SUPERVISOR
DUENAS, YERENY, INSURANCE CLAIMS

GONZALES, PATRICIA, BLUE CROSS DIRECTOR DEPT.

GRUESKIN, CAROLE
HUTCHINSON, STACY

KALKA, KATIE, UNITED HEALTH GROUP INV.
KHUDYAKOV, YURY, CDC

KRUEGER, JEFFREY ALEN, RN

LABUS, BRIAN, NV HEALTH DISTRICT
LANGLEY, GAYLE, CDC PHYSICIAN
LOBIANBO, ANNAMARIE, CRNA

MARTIN, GWENDOLYN

MEANA, RODOLFO

MYERS, ELAINE, CLAIMS DIRECTOR

NEMEC, FRANK, GASTROENTEROCLOGIST
OLSON, ALANE, MEDICAL EXAMINER
RIVERA, SONIA ORELLONO

RUBINO, KENNETH
30
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RUSHING, TONYA, OFFICE MGR.
SAGENDORF, VINCENT, CRNA

SAMPSON, NANCY, LVMPD

SAMS, JOANNE, VET ADMIN. CODER
SCHAEFER, MELISSA, CDC PHYSICIAN
SHARMA, SATISH, ANESTHESIOLOGIST
SIMS, DOROTHY, BUREAU OF LICENSING AND CERTIFICATION
SPAETH, CORRINE, CLAIMS DIRECTOR
VANDRUFF, MARION, MEDICAL ASSISTANT
WASHINGTON, MICHAEL

YEE, THOMAS, ANESTHESIOLOGIST

YOST, ANNE, NURSE

ZIYAD, SHARRIEFF

Additional witnesses known to the District Attorney at time of filing the Indictment:
ALFARO-MARTINEZ, SAMUEL

ANWAR, JAVAID, 3006 MARYLAND PKWY #400, LVN 89109
ARBOREEN, DAVE, LVMPD

ARMENI, PAOLA

ARNONE, ANTHONY, LVMPD

ASHANTE, DR.

BAILEY, PAULINE, 3416 MONTE CARLO DR., LVN 89121
BARCLAY, DR. ROBERT

BIEN, KATHY, 3800 DALECREST DR. #1117, LVN 89129
BLEMINGS, RENATE, 2100 PLAIN ST., PAHRUMP, NV 85060
BROWN, DAVID

BUI, DR.

BUNIN, DANIEL
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BURKIN, JERALD, FBI SA

CALVALHO, DANIEL CARRERA

CARAWAY, ANTOINETTE, 1407 BAREBACK CT., HNV 89014
CARRERA, ELADIO, 612 CANYON GREENS DR., LVN 89144
CARROLL, CLIFFORD, 10313 ORKINEY DR., LVN 89144
CASTLEMAN, DR. STEPHANIE

CAVETT, JOSHUA, 7829 TATTERSALL FLAG ST., LVN 89139
CHAFFEE, ROD, 9303 GILCREASE #1080, LVN 89149
CLEMMER, DANA MARIE, 4913 FERRELL ST., NLVN 89034
COE, DANIEL, LVMPD

COHAN, DR. CHARLES, POB 4144, SAYLORSBURG, PA
COOK, KATIE, FBI S/A

COOPER, DOUG, CHIEF INV., NV. ST. BOARD OF ME

CREMEN, FRANK
DESAL DIPAK, 3093 RED ARROW, LVN 89135
DESAI KUSAM, MD
DIAZ, ALLEN, LVMPD INTERPRETER
DIBUDUO, CHARLES
DORAME, JOIIN
DRURY, JANINE
ECKERT, PHYSICIAN ASST.
ELLEN, DIANE
FALZONE, LISA, 8024 PEACEFUL WOODS STREET, LVN 89143
FARIS, FRANK
FIGLER, DAYVID
FISHCHER, GAYLE, 1600 CLIFTON MAIL STOP #G37, ATLANTA, GA. 30333
FORD, MIKE, LVMPD |
32

PAWPDOCS\INDWOBGINObgj04903-1.doc

279



pa—y

=2 - BN B Y N . FC

NN R ON NN
mqmm&umggg;:"c-\'arpaﬁzg

O O

FRANKS, LISA, PHYSICIAN ASST.
GASKILL, SARA

GENTILE, DOMINIC

GLASS-SERAN, BARBARA, CRNA

GRAY, WARREN, LVMPD

GREER, MARY, 3462 SHAMROCK AVE., LVN 89120

GREGORY, MARTHA

HAHN, JASON, LVMPD

HANCOCK, L., LVMPD #7083

HANSEN, IDA

HARPER, TIFFANY

HARRIS, ORELENA (HOLLEMAN), 2816 DESERT SONG, LVN 89106
HERRERO, CARMELO, 1864 WOODHAVEN DR., HNV 89074

-|HIGGINS; HEATHER; INV-NV.ST. BOARDOFME ~— — = - -

HIGUERA, LILIA, 3504 FL.OWER, NLVN 89030

HITTI, DR. MIRANDA

HOWARD, NADINE, HEALTH FACILITIES SURVEYOR

HUBBARD, LINDA, 515 PARK ROYAL DR., NLVN 89031

HUGHES, LAURA, AG INV.

HUYNH, NGUYEN, 3004 HAZY MEADOW LN., LVN 89108

IRVIN, JOHNNA

JOHNSON, SHONNA 8., 22 VIA DE LUCCIA, HNV 89074

JONES, LISA, CHIEF NSB OF LICENSURE AND CERTIFICATION (BLC)

JURANI, DR.
KIRCH, MARLENE

KAUL, DR.

KAUSHAL, DR. DHAN
KELLEY, J., LVMPD #3716

33
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KHAN, IKRAM, 3006 S. MARYLAND PKWY, #465 LVN 89109
KNOWLES, DR. |

KOSLOY, LESLEE, RN, HEALTH FACILITIES SURVEYOR
LAKEMAN, RONALD, 700 SHADOW LN #165B, LVN 89106
LATHROP, CAROL, 1741 AUGUSTA ST., PAHRUMP, NV 89048
LATHROP, WILLIAM

LEWIS, DR. DANIEL

LOBIONDA, CRNA

LOPEZ, J. JULIAN, 7106 SMOKE RANCH RD. #120 LVN 89128
LUKENS, JOHN

MAANOA, PETER, RN

MALEY, KATIE, 4275 BURNHAM #101, LVN

MALMBERG, GEORGE

MANTHEL PETER, 7066 AZURE BEACH AZURE ST., LVN 89148
MANUEL, DR. DAVID

MARTIN, LOVEY

MASON, ALBERT

MATHAHS, KEITH, 10220 BUTTON WILLOW DR., LVN 89134
MCDOWELL, RALPH, 388 SANTA CANDIDA ST., LVN 89138
MCGOWAN, SHANNON, 5420 CARNATION MEADOW ST., LVN 89130
MCILROY, ROBIN, FBI

MILLER, JAMES

MIONE, VINCENT, 2408 W. EL CAMPO GRANDE AVE., NLVN 89031
MOORE, DAVID

MUKHERJEE, RANADER, MD

MURPHY, MAGGIE, 10175 W. SPRING MTN RD. #2012 LVN 89117
NAYYAR, SANJAY, MD

NAZAR, WILLIAM
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NAZARIO, DR. BRUNILDA
OM, HAR], LLC MGR
O’REILLY, JOHN
O’REILLY, TIM
PAGE-TAYLOR, LESLIE, CDC
PATEL, DR.
PENSAKOVIC, JOAN
PETERSON, KAREN, 2138 FT. SANDERS ST., HNV
PHELPS, LISA, 784 MORMON PEAK ST., OVERTON, NV 89040
POMERANZ, AUSA
PRESTON, LAWRENCE, 801 8. RANCHO DR., STE C-1, LVN
QUANNAH, LAKOTA
REXFORD, KEVIN
RICHVALSKY, KAREN, 3325 NIGUL WAY, LVN 89117
ROSEL, LINDA, FBI SA
RUSSOM, RUTA, 4854 MONTERREY AVE., LVN 89121
SAGENDORF, VINCENT
SAMEER, DR. SHEIKH
SAPP, BETSY, PHLEBOTOMIST
SCAMBIO, JEAN, 2920 YUKON FLATS CT., NLVN 89031
SCHULL, JERRY, 5413 SWEET SHADE ST., LVN
SENI, DR.
SHARMA, DR. SATISH
SHARMA, VISHVINDER, DR. 3212 CEDARDALE PL., LVN 89134
SHEFNOFF, NEIL, 755 E. MCDOWELL RD., PHOENIX, AZ 85006
SMITH, CHARNESSA
SOOD, RAJAT
STURMAN, GLORIA
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SUKHDEO, DANIEL, 3925 LEGEND HILLS ST. #203, LVN 89129

TAGLE, PEGGY, RN

TERRY, JENNIFER, LVMPD INTERPRETER

TONY, DR.

VAZIRI, DR.

WAHID, SHAHID, MD

WEBB, KAREN, 1459 S. 14TH ST., OMAHA, NE

WHITAKER, GERALDINE, 701 CARPICE DR. #17B, BOULDER CITY, NV 89005

WHITELY, R. LVMPD
WILLIAMS, SKLAR, RESIDENT AGENT, 8363 W. SUNSET RD. #300, LVN 89113

WISE, PATTY
YAMPOLSKY, MACE
ZIMMERMAN, MARILYN, 550 SEASONS PKWY, BELVIDERE, IL 89040

09BGJ049A~C/10F03793A-C/09BGJ119A-C /sam-MVU
%’I\‘IJ{I\E)D EV #0802292576
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LTHE STATE OF NEVADA,

—

CASE NO. €283381-3
C283381-1

Plaintiff,

vs.
DEPT NO. XXIIT
KEITH H. MATHAHS,
TRANSCRIPT OF
PROCEEDINGS

BEFORE. THE HONORABLE STEFANY MILEY, DISTRICT COURT JUDGE

ARRATGNMENT (ALL)
DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR BAIL ON ORDER SHORTENING TIME (MATHAHS)
DEFT'S MOTION TO STAY PROCEEDINGS PENDING RESOLUTION OF WRIT

1
f Defendant.
|
L PROCEEDINGS PURSUANT TO NRAP 8 (A)

WEDNESDAY, AUGUST 22, 2012
WWAPPEARANCES: | |
J For the State: PAMELA WECKERLY, ESQ.
MICHAEL V. STAUDAHER,; ESQ.
Chief Deputy District Attorneys
For Defendant Lakeman: FREDERICK A. SANTACROCE, ESQ.
For Defendant Mathahs: MICHAEL V. CRISTALLI, ESOQ.
For Defendant Desai: RICHARD A. WRIGHT, ESQ.

I MARGARET M. STANTSH, ESQ.

\! RECORDED BY MARTA GARIBAY, COURT RECORDER
H TRANSCRIBED BY: KARR Reporting, Inc.
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1AS VEGAS, NEVADA, WEDNESDAY, AUGUST 22, 2012, 9:59 A.M.

" * x k Kk K

LW MR, CRISTALLI: Good morning, Your Honor. Attorney

Michael Cristalli appearing on behalf of Keith Mathahs.

W MR. SANTACROCE: Frederick Santacroce for defendant

! Ronald Lakeman.

MR. WRIGHT: Richard Wright and Margaret Stanish for

Dr. Dipak Desai.
THE COURT: All right. Good morning, counsel.

h MR. STAUDAHER: Michael Staudaher and Pam Weckerly on

h behalf of State, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Good morning. All right. - So I -have

several things on calendar this morning. Would you like to
i address the motions first, because the one thing that is on

calendar is the district court arraignment; however, one of

| the motions filed has to do with postponing the arraignment,
h and, Mr. Cristalli, that is your motion?

MR. CRISTALLI: Your Honor, thank you. I did file a
mqmotion to stay the proceedings and I appreciate the Court's

L cdnsideration. I know it was at the last minute, and the

State also was considerate enough to allow us to argue this

lqprior to the bail motion and going forward with the

‘arraignment.

H As this Court understands, there is another matter

1currently pending in front of Judge Adair. That has to do

i
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IWWith criminal neglect as well as — an allegation of criminal
neglect as well as allegations of fraud and racketeering
amongst a few of the charges that are contained within that

indictment.

The defense filed both myself, Mr. Santacroce in

hRjoining, and Mr. Wright filed petitions attacking the

sufficiency or the specificity and legality of the indictment,

and ultimately, have those issues currently pending in the
!Nevada Supreme Court on a writ of mandamus.
| The Supreme Court has instructed the State to answer
that writ and the State has just asked for an enlargement of
ltime to file the response. So that's kind of the procedural
iwposture in front of Judge Adair currently on that indictment.
The charge for which we're before Your Honor is a
charge of second-degree murder arising out of the death of Mr.
Meana who is charged in -~ who is one of the named victims ~—
alleged named victims in the criminal complaint —— or criminal
“ indictment, I'm sorry, that is pending before Judge Adair.
L He is contained in one of the indictments which is
Wthe criminal neglect. In that charge as that particular
w charge statutorily has a provision which increases the penalty

1f death occurs subsequent to the allegations of neglect.

h The indictment, the way it's pled in this case, is

—

A identical to the way it's pled in the case in front of Judge

1;Adair as it relates to the criminal neglect. That issue is

KARR REPORTING, INC.
3

214




N

(€ ) BTN

W g

10
11

12

21
22
23
24
25

|

O - O

currently up in front of the Nevada Supreme Court as it's
challenging the legality of that indictment and how that
indictment was pled.-

SO depending on what the Nevada Supreme Court does in
that case, meaning if they decide that we are correct and that
the indictment is flawed inherently and instruct the State
accordingly and dismiss that indictment or force the State to
go back before the grand jury and present evidence and get an
indictment returned according to the instructions of the
Nevada Supreme Court, that directly affects the indictment in
this case.

I don't see any argument that alters that theory as
to how this case will play out. So it's our request because
of the way that this indictment is pled, identical to the one
that's pled in front of Judge Adair that's currently pending
up in front of the Nevada Supreme Court, which ultimately will
be influenced by the determination of the Supremes, that these
proceedings be stayed.

Once there's a determination by the Nevada Supreme
Court as it relates to that indictment, those issues and that
directive will also influence this Court's determination on
the indictment that's currently pending before Your Honor.

So for those reasons, we're asking that all
proceedings be stayed until after there's been a determination

on the issue currently before the Nevada Supreme Court on the

KARR REPORTING, INC.
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writ of mandamus.

THE COURT: Okay. Anything else, Counsel?

MR. CRISTALLI: ©No, Your Honor.
|* THE COURT: Anything else by Mr. Wright or Mr.
Santacroce? |

MR. WRIGHT: I would just join in it.

THE COURT: All right. By the State?

MR. STAUDAHER: Yes, Your Honor. May we be allowed
tho respond orally since the untimely motions?
THE COURT: Yes. And it was — it was — it was only
aplaced on calendar with the understanding the State would be
l allowed to réspond orally- because it was not timely. All
Wright.
MR. STAUDAHER: That being said, a couple of things
warom the ocutset. First of all, we're here at initial
arraignment. There have —— the indictment as it's standing
here stands alone. It's not tied to the other case in the
!asense that it is a superseding indictment or anything like

that. That's why it tracked to a different department, your

*department.

The wording of the actual pleading within this

indictment, it's a completely different charge. There is no
k similarity in actually how this is actually pled in comparison
%with the indictment from the other case. So however the

Supreme Court makes the determination as to the

“ , KARR REPORTING, INC.
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XRsufficiency/insufficiency of any particular count or counts

within that indictment in that case really does not affect

—
——et—

this particular matter.
‘! This particular case here is, again, a second-degree
kmurder case. It is based on the way its pled the theories of
liability that the defendants are basically being charged

with, or at least under. As far as this case is concerned,

e ———_——
—

there is no basis or reason legally or otherwise to stay any

‘proceeding in this case, especially since there has been no

proceeding in this case to even appeal at this stage.

There has not been a writ brought the — or sort of

challenging the sufficiency of either the charging document

H itself or the probable cause that went into the grand jury's
determination in this particular matter. That would be
|‘essentially the first step, depending on how the Court would

rule on that. There may be an appellate reason to go forward

to the Supreme Court at that point. So at this stage, there

Wis nothing right before the Court to allow the Court even, I
Awould submit, to stay the proceedings based on what may or may

not happen in a separate and unrelated case from this

particular matter.

( Now, it i1s true that the victim in this case was a

victim in the other case, but there's no indication that the

|

State, even if we —— if we needed to, could not proceed on

dual prosecutions. Different cases, different charges up

m KARR REPORTING, INC.
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until the time that jeopardy attaches.

So as far as that's concerned there is no basis at

‘this point for a stay in this matter because there's no matter

that could be appealed at this stage because the defendant

hasn't even been arraigned. And there's no stay — and
hactually — and my counsel pointed out in the underlying case
kwhich is before Judge Adalr, the district court case that Mr.
hCristalli was referring to, he raised a motion or brought a

motion before the Court to stay those proceedings and that was

denied, so there's not even a stay in that district court

case.

‘ o I know. that he has raised that with the Supreme Court -
and asked for them to stay the district court proceedings in
that matter, but again, as of the present time, there's no

stay in either one of these cases.

THE COURT: Anything else?

l MR, CRISTALLI: Yes, Your Honor. I mean, to say that
these two cases are unrelated is just denying the realities of
thhe current situation. All I can do is encourage the Court to
Lcompare the two indictments. The language contained in those

indictments as far as the theory of liability are identical.

H It is very unusual for the State to do procedurally what they
did. Do they have a right to do it? I don't know vet. We'll
have an opportunity to challenge that. But certainly, the

normal procedure for them would have been to get a superseding

% KARR REPORTING, INC.
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indictment, supersede on the original indictment and amend it

to include a charge of second-degree murder.

They chose not to do that for reasons, I assume,

they're tryving to push that first case along and to push ——

kput leverage on the defendants in this case. So be it. But
L to deny the reality that they are identical and that the only

difference is the death of one of the alleged victims in a

particular count, of which, Your Honor, the statutory

provision of a criminal neglect has a provision if a defendant.

—— 1if an alleged victim passes on. So there is no new

—r——r——

evidence associated with this case. The only difference is

the charging —— the charging offense. - -
A ' The fact that Judge Adair denied a stay in the

district court is procedure. Obviously, Judge Adair believed

her determination on the petition or motion to dismiss was a

valid determination. The Nevada Supreme Court ultimately is
! gbing to be the determining body to make a decision as far as
h legitimacy of that particular indictment. Why is it
concerning right now? Well, for a number of reasons. We're
going to go forward with bail today. Right now, Mr. Mathahs
is out on half a million dollar bail. Once a bail setting is
made in this particular case, he will then have to post
another bail, okay, Which is pretty onerous in terms of his

financial ability to do so.

( Why am I raising that? Because if this indictment is

A | KARR REPORTING, INC.
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inherently flawed and is —— and the other one is dismissed,
lwhich makes this one inherently flawed, and dismisses it, then
they're back to square one. They have to present the evidence

lagain to the grand jury. So my position is let's wait to see

what the Nevada Supreme Court does and see what ruling comes

down and then go forward with it. What harm is it to wait at

this particular point in time? There is none.

S0 you —— the Court certainly has the discretion to

stay these proceedings upon the determination by the Nevada

——me

Supreme Court. I think the State's own concession is that

—

Athey believe that the Supremes are going to come back

relatively quickly on that determination. Whether or not

that's true or not, I don't know. But certainly, there is no
hharm, no foul in continuing this, at the very least, matter to

wait to see what the Supreme Court does on the petition,

A THE COURT: All right. I'm going to deny the request
for a stay. I believe with the State's position that there is

| no legal basis for a stay in this particular case. So what

|

kthat means is today we're going to arraign these three

h gentlemen, and also, we will discuss the issue of bail. I
know, Mr. Cristalli, I believe you also -— you're also the one

wLwho filed a motion discussing bail, asking that no additional

bail be set.

ﬁ MR. CRISTALLI: Yes, Your Honor. And just so the

Court is aware, so the record is clear, we're objecting to

‘H
KARR REPORTING, INC.
9

220




Sy N

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

O O

going forward on the arraignment as well as on the bail. T
understand and certainly respect the Court's ruling, but we
believe that procedurally it's flawed to go forward with those
Proceedings today.

THE COURT: Okay. You made your record, Counsel.
Would you like to argue bail before we arraign him, or do you
want to arraign him first? What would you like to do?

MR. CRISTALLI: Yes, Your Honor. I can go — I can
go forward with the bail. I know the Court has had an

opportunity to read the bail motion. Mr. Mathahs sits before

you as a 76-year—-old male, somebody who has had no criminal
khistory in his entire 1life, somebody who has been a caretaker

in this community and other communities for the last 40 years.

I don't think Mr. Mathahs even has a traffic ticket to be

|

Aperfectly honest with you, Your Honor.

A We have continuously fought the allegations by the
State as it is alleged against Mr. Mathahs. He was an

employee of the centers and the —— associated with Dr. Desai.

There are a myriad of other employees associated with this

who profited from their association as owners in this

organization. You're charging Mr. Mathahs as a racketeer who

Y
, investigation and indictment of which a slew of were doctors

was an employee following directions of the centers. The
reason why he sits, I think, before Your Honor instead of

A anybody else who are witnesses who presented testimony before

KARR REPORTING, INC.
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the grand jury is probably he didn't get to the table quick
enough, number one; and number two, it is alleged that Mr.
Mathahs treated one of the source pratients.

Your Honor, ancther consideration is that Mr. Mathahs
has been out on half a million dollar bond for how long now?

MR. SANTACROCE: Over two years.

MR. CRISTALLI: Over two years with no incident. He
continuously comes before Judge Adair on all of the status
check hearings. He works with me directly on a daily basis in
my office. His wife and family are supporting him., His wife
of how many years?

MR. SANTACROCE: 53.

MR. CRISTALLI: 53 years is & caretaker as well in
this community, is a — is a nurse in the community. He
remains out on half a million dollar bail. When this case was
— well, not this case. When the — when the other case was
before Judge Mosley, bail was set at a half million dollars.
Ultimately, Mr. Lakeman, who was represented by Mr.
Santacroce, petitioned the Court for a reduction of that bail.
They were successful. Rightfully so in our opinion, and that
bail was reduced to $50,000.

When we petitioned the Court, we petitioned it when
the case was transferred from Judge Mosley to Judge Adair, and
we asked for a reduction consistent with the reduction that

Mr. Lakeman received, for which both defendants are placed in

KARR REPORTING, INC.
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identical situations in terms of the theory of liability
alleged by the State.
We were unsuccessful. Judge Adair said, well, I
don't feel that I need to do that right now. Revisit it at
k the appropriate time. So not only do you have Mr., Mathahs out
on a half million dollar bail, who has ‘complied completely
‘over the last two and a half years with all of courts —— all

of the court's directives, but also, you have a

dispropbrtionate situation between codefendants, which is

inherently unfair. So that's one of the reasons why we ask

m the Court to-keep bail the way it is. It can ——

THE COURT: Meaning no additional bail?
! MR. CRISTALLI: Correct, no additional bail. I mean,

to ignore the fact that there is a half a million dollar bail

still pending against Mr. Mathahs, you know, is to ignore the

pink elephant in the room.

THE COURT: So you're saying Lakeman was originally

1
1

half a million as well and was reduced to 50,000 by Judge

Mosley?

MR. CRISTALLI: Yes, Your Honor.

x THE COURT: All right.

L MR. CRISTALLI: You know, and so we have a situation
k where there's, you know, disproportionate bail settings, and
the fact that, you know, Mr. Mathahs is fighting for his life.

I mean, he is a nurse necessitatis. He certainly was not ——

A KARR REPORTING, INC.
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he was an employeé of the organization, somebody who was not
benefiting from the profits associated with the organization
as the physicians were, as partners or owners of the
organization, so financially, he does not have the ability to
put the type of money up that he has previously put up, which

is a half a million dollars, unfortunately.

We do not want bail to be a punitive measure. That's
not what it's for. 1It's to secure the defendant's appearance
and to protect the community from harm. Certainly, the
community is protected as Mr. Mathahs no longer is in the
medical field. He doesn't have his licenses to do that and
,hé!s no'longerrperforming any services related to his
profession.

ﬂ Certainly, we deny any allegations associated with

that, but if that was a concern, it shouldn't be one. As [far

as flight, I don't know that Mr. Mathahs has — he doesn't

A have a passport. His family is here supporting him. They
H continue to support him. He has made every court appearance

ordered by Judge Mosley and Judge Adair. He meets with me on

a weekly basis, so as far as those conditions are concerned,
the existing amount of half a million, I think, certainly
secures thése two considerations, Your Honor.

So for all of those reasons, in addition to
acknowledging that we have attached I don't know how many

character letters on behalf of Mr. Mathahs from individuals

KARR REPORTING, INC.
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within the community, both in the professional community and

the community —— his church community and just friends and
acquaintances and family as well, that can attest for Mr.
Mathahs' character as an individual; so for all of those
reasons, we would ask that the Court not set a bail and
consider what has been posted in the case that currently is in

Hfront of Judge Adair.

THE COURT: All right. We're kind of just holding
out of order, but we started on the bail issue so why don't I
just hear from Mr. Santacroce now.
A. MR. SANTACROCE: Yes, Your Honor. Thank you. The
-Court's in a-unique positicn-here today because it has a track -
Lrecord to go by. These defendants have been out on bail for
| over two years. They have been model citizens during that
time period. They have made all of the required court
A appearances. They haven't posed a flight risk. They're not a

danger to the community because, as Mr. Cristalli said, my

client as well has tendered his license and no longer

practices anywhere.

S0 those — the Court is on some safe ground because

we have this track record, and I think the Court should take

———

that into consideration. With regard to my client, again,

—

h 65-year-old nurse with impeccable record all of his career, an

impeccable military career, practiced medicine for many, many

years without incident, until this incident where he finds

KARR REPORTING, INC.
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himself in a situation which he basically has no control over,

———

Unfortunately, he's charged in this case when we feel he”

shouldn't be in the first place; and secondly, he's charged in

another indictment before this Court, which we feel is

completely improper, manipulative by the State, and forum
1shopping based —— by the State. They already have these .
L charges pending in another court. I can't understand why

we're filing a new indictment in a different court when the

same charges are pending in another court.

1
A Having said that, I think the Court should take that

|

into consideration because bail has been posted in that

Lpreviou3~case;- As-Mr. Cristalli said, my client was*out”Qn"'
half a million dollar bail for better than a year and a half.
LJ'udge Mosley revisited that issue and thought that was absurd
and reduced the bail to %$50,000. And I'm asking you to not

increase his bail -at this time, but if the Court decides to

e —

increase that, to increase it marginally and allow him to post
Wa reasonable bail pursuant to the Eighth Amendment in the
AUnited States Constitution. ,

1 THE COURT: All right. Mr. Wright, sir.

W MR. WRIGHT: Yes, Your Honor. I agree with Mr.

Santacroce in the sense that it's my position that we are

already on bail on this charge. This is a de facto

superseding indictment. We know in the law that we look at

facts, not labels to determine what something is. Mr.

KARR REPORTING, INC.
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Staudaher can call a dog a pig, and we can lock and see what
it is. This is truly a superseding indictment. This went
back to the same grand jury and they only heard two witnesses
for the indictment before this Court, and I am presuming
without having seen the transcript that the only additional
fact that was presented to the same grand jury was the fact
that Mr. Meana, who previously had substantial bodily injury
from having hepatitis C virus, died in the interim; so
therefore, they put on proof of Mr. Meana's death and both
probable evidence that it was caused by hepatitis C. Two
witnesses in, I think, an hour or so and they returned an
indictment.

| It should have been wha£ we call a superseding
indictment in the same case before the same judge. It's the
same facts, circumstances, transaction. The only addition is
the patient died, and when it's superseding, by statute the
bail applies to it. NRS 178.502, extension of bond or
undertaking to other proceedings, "Any bond or undertaking
must provide the bond or undertaking, extends to" -— and we go
down to (a)(2), "extends to any action or proceeding in
justice court, municipal court or district court arising from
a later charge which is substantially simiiar to the charge
upon which bail was given and is based upon the same act or

omission as the charge."

We are presently on Dr. Desai's $1 million bail on

KARR REPORTING, INC.
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this same charge, and that bail in that court —— the other
court, it's my position which is where we should be, but that

bail by statute applies to these charges.

————

I presumed we were just having an arraigrment. I
didn't receive any motion to increase bail on this case. Now,
whether this was motivated by forum shopping, as Mr.
Santacroce suggested, or an effort to get out of the deficit
in the first pleading, which is up before the Supreme Court

now, I don't know why the State chose to pretend like this is

a brand new offense and case that these defendants committed
in the interim because it's purely a superseding indictment.
Dr. Desai, no record whatsoever charged in this case,

has posted his $1 million bail a couple of years ago and then

' was indicted federally for health care fraud arise — it
L actually duplicates the health care fraud already pled in this
W case, but the feds indicted him. We appeared in — they

W‘indicted him in 2011 when he returned from Lakes Crossing. He

” was arraigned in federal court. He was released on his own
|

recognizance, third-party custody because of his diminished

—

A capacity.

His custodian, his wife, Dr. Kusum Desai, is by court

Aorder the third-party custodian for pretrial services in the

L federal system, and he is on federal pretrial services

supervision by which Dr. Desai. and his custodian, Mrs. Desai,

appear once a month before a federal pretrial services

e
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officer.

They — I have informed the federal court and pre —
fed pretrial services of this superseding indictment and they
have no issue with his conditions of release because in the
federal system and in the state's system he has been

completely compliant, made all court appearances as requested,

and nothing has changed whatsoever in this case regarding

S0 I would ask that the bail remain as it is, and if the State
has some changed circumstances, they should file a motion to
increase bail and we can respond to it.

‘conditions of release other than Mr., Meana passed away. And
k THE COURT: Okay. Anything else by defense counsel

and before the State responds to the bail issue?

MR. CRISTALLI: No, Your Honor.
L THE COURT: Thank you. Mr, Staudaher, Ms. Weckerly?
MR. STAUDAHER: First of all, as far as forum
Ashopping is concerned, I think the Court's aware of how cases
| are assigned in the Eighth Judicial District Court, that the
AState doesn't have prior knowledge of nor any influence on how

Nthat is done. That being said, this is not a superseding

indictment. This is a separate and distinct indictment before
a separate and distinct court beside whatever is [inaudible]
these defendants in another courtfoom, Judge Adair's courtroom
specifically.

This is what we're here on. We're here on a murder

KARR REPORTING, INC.
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Charge related to a single victim in this particular case
which all of the defendants are charged with. Now, Mr.
Cristalli indicated early on as to why they thought that their
clients were just kind of roped in, didn't get to the table
fast enough, why their clients were even part of this.

I mean, these are the two nﬁrses that actually
infected the‘patients. That's why they're in part —— they're
involved with this. That's — those are the allegations; the
reckless acts of all three defendants are what ruts them here
in court today, and those reckless acts, those sort of taking
advantage of patients that essentially could not do for
themselves, what, they were putting their lives in the hands
of these individuals who then did what they did is why they're
here on this case.

The other case is separate and distinct as far as the
charges are concerned in that case. This particular matter,
the Court has one charge, one charge only, one victim, one
victim only at that point and that's what we're here to
decide. A murder case, we did give them the courtesy of a
summons, but when we come to court today, this is the time to
set bail in this particular matter. We are going to be asking
for a half a million dollars bail on Mr. Desai —— Dr. Desai.
We're going to be asking for a hundred thousand dollars each

on Mr. Lakeman and Mr. Mathahs, and the reasons behind the

disparity in those are twofold.
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First of all, they do stand in a little bit different
position. Without relying on the other case, some information
from the other case and how bail was produced and so forth is
probably important for this Court's determination. In the
underlying case before Judge Adair, when Judge Mosley had that
matter before him —— he was the one who set the bail for all
defendants, by the way, the half a million for each one of the
defendants, nurses, and the million dollars for defendant
Desai.

In the —-— in Desai's case, defendant Desai was able
To post a half —— or a million dollars cash over the weekend.
That's how he has access to funds .and large quantities of
funds. That money is not even his. It is his sister's money
that was placed in bond for —— or not bond, but put —— was
posted for him.

So right now, he has no dog in the race as far as

money goes. He is — has — he's a physician. He has assets.

|| His wife is a physician and they have income. They have a

significantly different financial setting and situation than

W‘do the other two, and the reason that we're asking for a

reduced bail amount for the other two is reflective of that

situation.

Now, whether or not Mr., Mathahs has a certain bail
and Mr. Lakeman has a different bail in a separate case is not

really an issue before this Court. It's whether or not

KARR REPORTING, INC.
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there's an appropriate amount of bail in this paréicular
matter for this particular charge is what this Court needs to
decide. If the defendants wish to have Judge Adair or -——
bring this matter before Judge Adair based on what this Court
may have done in this particular charge or based on other
factors, that's for Judge Adair to determine and for them to
litigate that.

Mr. Cristalli brought a motion before Judge Adair:for
a reduction in bail like Mr. Santacroce had. She denied that.
His bail remained at the half a million dollar-amqunt. They

may revisit that down the road, but that doesn't affect what

this Court does as far as bail is concerned. - -

If, theoretically, that whole case for some reason
went away and this Court had set no bail, all three of these
individuals would be on no bail for a murder charge because
that case would certainly be before this Court still. That's
why we're here. We're here to set a_reasonable bail based on
the nature of the charge and what they did.

This is not something‘where they're charged with
involuntary manslaughter or something where a person just died
as a result of some action that they did that they didn't have
some foreseeable way of seeing it would cause harm to a
patient. AThese people actually engaged in practices, which
they knowingly engaged in, and which resultéd in an infection

of a patient which resulted in his death, and that's why we're

KARR REPORTING, INC.
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| As far as the differences between the two, again, I

here today to argue this issue.

would just say that those are issues that they need to raise
with the District Court 21, department —— or rather, Judge
|‘Adair,rand it should not really factor into this Court's

calculus as to what is reasonable or not reasonable for bail.
|

We do know that they stand in different positions. That's why

we have asked for the different amounts. We feel that that's

a fair and reasonable amount for a murder case, and we feel

that that's what they should be posting.
THE COURT: Okay. We did this kind of out of order

———

in that we argued bail first. Let me-go ahead — unless you

want to say‘something —

I MR. CRISTALLI: T do, Your Honor. I mean, I just
want to be able to respond just quickly. I mean, first of
all, to argue that this is a separate and distinct case is
Jjust — you know, you got to kind of throw away your reason.

I mean, these cases are the same case. They have the same

facts. There has been no new evidence presented before the

grand jury other than the fact the medical evidence associated

with the cause and more than of Mr. Meana's death. They are

T erm———
T e—

identical, so for Mr. Staudaher to say that they are for some
|| reason separate and distinct is disingenuous. It is. It

| doesn't pass the smell test.

As far as his statement that this is a murder case,

7 KARR REPORTING, INC.
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it's not an involuntary manslaughter case, well, factually,
you know, 1f you're going to make the allegations as it
relates to somebody passing on on a criminal neglect —
medical criminal neglect case as articulated statutorily in
the criminal neglect statute which increases the penalties
froma 1 to 6 toa 1 to 20 if death occurs, they shouldn't be
charged with anything more than an involuntary manslaughter
just based on the allegations. Second-degree murder is an
inflated charge, so if he wants to start debating the
sufficiency of the State's allegations as they relate to this
particular case, we certainly can do that.

For him to then say that that case could semehow go
away and then we'll be stuck with a murder charge in this
case, 1s also laughable. If that case goes away, Judge, this
case goes away because they go away on the same premise and on
the same basis because they are identical.

They have done this in an effort to put leverage on
the defendants. This would never normally happen. They would
supersede their indictment. They would amend the indictment
and they would charge an additiocnal charge of murder. For
whatever reason, they have chosen to put on the dog;andfponf
show and to charge this case separately.

So I'm going to be put in a situation now where my
bail is absolutely going to be disproportionate and it

shouldn't be. What we have posted in a half a million dollars
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in this case originally was unreasonable based on Mr. Mathahs'
involvement as well as his history in this community and his
character.

THE COURT: Then ‘that's something you need to take up
with Judge Adair. I can only deal with Meana's case.

Is there anything to add by counsel on the bail
issue? Mr. Wright, sir.

MR. WRIGHT: Yes. I just — I can't pass up to say
this isn't the same case. I don't know why we sat in this
courthouse deposing Mr. Meana, Rodolfo Meana, in the other
case because the other case was — Rodolfo Meana was one of
the seven patients, and we..deposed him until he stopped it.
Mr. Meana happened to have died présumably due — and I say
presumably from the accusations in the indictment because T
have not seen the evidence, but presumably, from the hepatitis
C virus.

Mr. Meana we were deposing for the other case to
preserve his testimony for that case for that trial. Mr,
Meana elected to forego treatment. He is the only patient of
the gfoup whé would not take hepatitis C virus treatment and
he Gltimately died. Now, that is the only changed
clrcumstance, and to argue here this is some new murder case
that came up, the facts of the bail in this case, it was set
by Judge Caddish. She set the $1 million bail when the first

indictment was returned. That amount that was posted was
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posted by his sister because I was required to show to the
court the sburce of the funds, because Dr. Desai and his
practices were in federal bankruptcy court at the time and so
he could not post any bail out of bankruptcy; and since then,
the bgnkruptcy has gone forward and he is individually
bankrupt, and so that's the explanation of where this millicn
dollars cash that he was able to post.

If — that was posted and I provided all of the
information to Judge Caddish and to Mr. Staudaher as to the
source of the funds and where it came from, so it's a
mischaracterization to talk about Dr. Desai being a wash in
cash and could come up with a million dollars or something.
Thank you.

THE COURT: All right. Like I said, we did this kind
of out of order. Let me proceed in arraigning the
individuals, then I'll address bail amounts, if any.

Mr. Cristalli, you have Mr. Mathahs?

MR. CRISTALLI: Yes, Your Honor. And once again,
Youf Honor, just so we're clear, this is over my objectioq.

THE COURT: I understand it's over your objection.

MR, CRISTALLI: Thank you.

THE COURT: Thank you. All right. Mr. Mathahs, what
is your full legal name, sir?

DEFENDANT MATHAHS: Keith Harry Mathahs.

THE COURT: And how old are you, sir?

KARR REPORTING, INC.
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DEFENDANT MATHAHS: 76 and a half.

THE COURT: What's your education, sir?

DEFENDANT MATHAHS: Well, college degree and went
into nursing. Got a degree in nursing, and also, ahesthesia.

THE COURT: All right. Is it fair to say you read,
write, understand the English language?

DEFENDANT MATHAHS: Yes, T do.

THE COURT: And I have a copy of the indictment. The
indictment charged you with the crime of second-degree murder,
a Category A felony. Did you review the indictment?

DEFENDANT MATHAHS: Yes.
- .THE_COURT: = All right. Did you discuss with your
lawyer?

DEFENDANT MATHAHS: Yes.

THE COURT: And how are you going to plea, sir, to

this charge, guilty or not guilty?

DEFENDANT MATHAHS: WNot guilty.

guys for trial.
Okay. We have Mr. Lakeman next. Good morning, Mr.

Lakeman. What is your full legal name?

{ THE COURT: Thank vou. In a moment we'll set you

DEFENDANT LAKEMAN: Ronald Ernest Lakeman.

THE COURT: And how old are you, Mr. Lakeman?

DEFENDANT LAKEMAN: 65,

THE COURT: And what is your education, sir?

_KARR REPORTING, INC.
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k DEFENDANT LAKEMAN: T have a degree from the
AUniversity of Alabama in nursing and a degree in anesthesia
from George Washington University in Washington, D.C.

THE COURT: Is it fair to say you read, write,
understand the English language?

DEFENDANT LAKEMAN: Yes.

THE COURT: I have a copy of the indictment. The
indictment charges you with the crime of nmurder, second
qdegree, Category A.felohy. Did you read the indictment?

h DEFENDANT LAKEMAN: Yes. It was read to me by my
attorney. |

h , THE COURT: All right. And I didn't ask this of the

other gentleman. Do you waive the reading of the indictment?

7 MR. SANTACROCE: We do waive ——

DEFENDANT LAKEMAN: Yes.

MR. SANTACROCE: —-— Your Honor. 4

THE COURT: All right. And sir, witﬁ‘respect to the

charge of murder, second degree, Category A felony, how do you

warit to plead, guilty or not guilty?

DEFENDANT LAKEMAN: Not guilty.

!
L ' THE COURT: All right. Thank you, sir. And Mr.
L Wright, Mr. Desai?

MR. WRIGHT: Yes, Your Honor. The — I will be
asking the Court to enter a plea of not guilty on behalf of

Dr. Desai. I have read the indictment to Dr. Desai. Dr.
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Desai, because of organic brain injury from a stroke, is my
Jjudgment operating under diminished capacity in his cognitive
ability; and therefore, pursuant to Rule of Professional
éonduct 1.14 T am acting in his behalf to protect his
interests. That is his true name in the indictment. He does
not factually or legally comprehend or understand an
indictment when he discussed it with me this past week or when
I attempted to discuss it with him and so I would ask the
Court to enter a plea of not guilty on his behélf.

THE COURT: All right. I will accept that plea.

ACounsel, bail is going to be set in this matter.

. I'm going to render the following amounts for bail.
A This takes into consideration the facts of this particular

case, the charge;of this case as well as their compliance in

|
A their additional court proceedings. I am going to order bail
A at $50,000 for Mr. Lakeman and Mr. Mathahs. I'm ordering bail
L of $250,000 for Mr. Desai. At this time I am going to have
these gentlemen remanded into custody. They will have to post
bail.

MR. CRISTALLI: And Your Honor, we do have bond ——
Mr. Mathahs' bond company here. They're prepared to post, and
I know that we routinely have walk through —— |
A THE COURT: If they have the money —
MR. CRISTALLI: Yeah.

THE COURT: ~- then they can do the walk through.

k KARR REPORTING, INC.
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MR. CRISTALLI: Yeah.

THE COURT: If they do not, they're going to have to
be remanded —-

MR. CRISTALLI: Right. And they -- they can do the
walk through and I would like them to have an opportunity, and
I don't know that the State has an objection to allow us to do
the walk through under these circumstances.

THE COURT: So long as there's the money —-—

MR. CRISTALLI: Yeah.

THE COURT: - you have all the money in court today
for all defendants.

MR. CRISTALLI: Well, the bondsman is-here.

THE COURT: The bondsman's here, and what about ——

MR. CRISTALLI: Yes.

THE COURT: — for yours, Mr. Santacroce?

MR. SANTACROCE: My bondsman is right here and
they're prepared to --—
| MR. CRISTALLI: Yeah.

L MR. SANTACROCE: — write the bond.
MR. WRIGHT: I will get the funds.
THE COURT: All right. Then ——

MR. CRISTALLI: Is there — do we have to have them

That's why we have them here today to post.

L in — be shackled at this time. I'm not — if we're prepared?
* MR. WRIGHT: We will post it today.

KARR REPORTING, INC.
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MR. CRISTALLI: I mean, they're going to post right
now. I mean, I could —— you could put them under oath if you
would like and attest to that fact. I mean, they‘re on a half
a million dollars right now that they posted.

MR. WRIGHT: We are here on a summons and appeared, I
mean, as ordered, even last time before Judge Caddish. 1I-
mean, we were allowed in' that case four days, I mean, to post
the cash bail, but we will post the bail for a bond today and
50 I would ask that we be given till 4:00 o'clock to do it or
turning themselves in at the Jjail.

THE COURT: I'11 give yéu guys until - your clients
until! 4:00 o'clock teday to post it; otherwise,  they will be
remanded into custody and will have to bail ——

MR. CRISTALLfE We'll have that taken care of, Your
Honor, and we could supply the Court with verification of that
once that process is completed. We'll certainly send it over
Co Robert if you would like us to do that and we can handle
that immédiately. _

THE COURT: Yes. All right. Any questions, counsel?
And we're going to need to set you gentlemen for triai. Are
they going to invoke or are they going to waive?

MR. SANTACROCE: We're ~— Lakeman is waiving.

MR. WRIGHT: I waive on behalf of Dr. Desai.

THE COURT: And Mr. Cristalli, are you waiving as

well?
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MR. CRISTALLI: We do, Your Honor.

l THE COURT: All right. We will give you a trial
ldate. Gentlemen and counsel, will —— counsel for the State,
have ybu discussed trial dates at this time? I understand

| from Judge Adair, depending on what happens in the Supreme

Court, I know you're set for trial in October, but it could

possibly go later. Realistically in this case you're not

going to be until next year anyways, so did you discuss

possible dates?
!
MR. CRISTALLI: Your Honor, in light of the

hﬂcircumstances associated with the other case, even though the
|

Wstatus check to determine where we are at with that case

before setting trial on this case.

THE COURT: Okay. So last I read on the thing the
ERState had 30 days to file a response and I don't remember how
long ~— or 20. I don't remembef. I don't remember when that
iiresponse is due in Judge Adair's case.

Ll MR. STAUDAHER: I know that there has been a request
for enlargement of time so I'm not sure how that affected that

fj date specifically or when the actual date for answer was.

THE COURT: The order directing answer, it looks

like —
MR. CRISTALLI: I have ——

|
h THE COURT: —— you had 20 days from August 6th. You
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did an enlargement of time so you'll have additional time.

You want to set it on for a status in 45 days for the setting

of the trial date?

MR. STAUDAHER: Actually, the State, although I don't
Whave an issue with a specific date, we would like to have an
actual date set as soon as the Court can accommodate it on the

calendar.

THE COURT: Well, with that being said, you're

probably going to be — well, as soon as possible is probably

lgoing to be next year.
L MR. STAUDAHER: That's fine.
L THE COURT: Antoinette, what do you have?
L MR. STAUDAHER: Just whenever the Court can ——
L THE CLERK: March ——
MR. STAUDAHER: — can do it.
ﬂ THE CLERK: -- Your Honor.
THE COURT: March. March 2013, how is that for

defendants?

MR. SANTACROCE: I don't have my trial calendar in

front of me, Your Honor, unfortunately.

MR. CRISTALLI: Okay. I was just tapped and advised

THE COURT: Okay. Then that puts where, Antoinette?

L I have a capital murder case going in March.
L THE CLERK: That would be the end of May into early
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THE COUﬁT: Thereafter it'd be August 2013.

MR. WRIGHT: Jusf for the record, I object to the
setting. I'm unclear where —— I will need to speak to Mr.
Pomerance in the federal court, with the prosecutor. We're
sort of by handshake —

THE COURT: Then why don't we do this.

MR. WRIGHT: —— implicitly awaiting the other case,

|
Aand then the federal case was going — and of course, this
;wasn't envisioned —

THE COURT: Okay.

h MR. WRIGHT: —— and so he is awaiting trial in
rfederal court,. ... T

L THE COURT: Why don't we do this. Why don't we set a

30-day status on trial setting. T need all counsel to please

look at their calendars between now and then, and when vyou
come in here, we will lock at where we stand, or where you
guys stand with respect to what was the filings in Judge
.Adair's department.

All right. 30-day date, please.

MR. SANTACROCE: September what?
THE CLERK: 19th.
MR. CRISTALLI: Thank you, Your Honor.

k THE CLERK: September 19th, 9:30.
A MR. SANTACROCE: And would you waive my client's

appearance, Your Honor, or does he need to be here for that?
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THE COURT:" I don't have any objections.

MR. STAUDAHER: There's only one person the State
has -

THE COURT: It's just a pretrial setting.

MR. STAUDAHER: -- an objection to not appearing at
every single hearing and that's Dr. Desai based on even the
Lrepresentations in court today about his lack of capacity or
wgwhatever. As the Court;é probably aware, that was raised in
Lthe underlying case that counsels were referring to in front
A of Judge Adair. That defendant — or Defendant Desai went up

to Lake's Crossing, was found to be malingering his symptoms

make its own assessment when he comes into court how he

handles himself, how he responds, things like that as we go

along. So he stands in a completely diffgrent position than

the others. We would submit it to the Court on Mr., Mathahs

and Mr. Lakeman.
THE COURT: Mr. Wright, are you asking to waive your

client's appearance at the next hearing or is he intending to

be present?

landbecauseofthatwe feel  it's important. for: the Court to - |- -
L MR, WRIGHT; I would request to waive his appearance.
AIt Creates a great imposition on his wife who is his custodian
who has to bring him here and she's a practicing physician.

A THE COURT: All right. I waive the — I'll waive the

appearances of the defendant since it is only going to be a
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trial setting. All other substantive hearings their presence
will be required. Okay. We'll see you on the September date.

MR. SANTACROCE: One opher issue, Your Honor, is that
I have not received diécovery of the grand jury transcripts.
I'm asking for 21 days after I receive that information —

THE COURT: All right.

MR. SANTACROCE: -— to file a writ.

MR. CRISTALLI: We would join in that, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. Anything by the State?

MR. WRIGHT: I join that.

MR. STAUDAHER: That's fine.

THE COURT: All right. That'll be granted. All
right. BAny other additional matters?

MR. SANTACROCE: Not from Mr. Lakeman, Your Honor.
Thank you for your consideration.

THE COURT: All right. Thank you.

MR. WRIGHT: Thank you, Your Honor.

2

CRISTALLI: Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Thank you.

(Court recessed at 10:46 a.m.)
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LAS VEGAS, CLARK COUNTY, NV., TUES,, DEC. 11, 2012

THE COURT: We'll call the Desai matter. Is everyone here on that, or do we
need a moment?

Ms. Stanish, will you be arguing this, or will Mr, Wright be arguing this?

MS. STANISH: I'll begin the argument, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Allright. We've got Mr. Desai who's present, and we've also
got Mr. Santacroce on behalf of Mr. Lakeman. So we'll begin with Dr. Desai’s
petition.

And, Ms. Stanish, anything that you would like to add to what's already
been provided to the Court?

MS. STANISH: Your Honor, if you would indulge me, | would like to confine
arguments to begin with to the four corners of the Indictment and discuss the
insufficiency of the Indictment,

In my reply brief, | tried to highlight for the Court the fact that the
Nevada Supreme Court has created essential elements to the second-degree felony
murder theories that must be contained in the Indictment. And this Indictment fails
for both due-process reasons and substantive due process.

Let me start with the substantive due process, Your Honor. As we
briefed, our main problem with the Indictment is the failure to allege the direct and
immediate causal relationship element in the Indictment, either state that element as
well as clearly allege facts to support that element.

To the contrary, the Indictment repeatedly uses the term that Dr. Desai
did something that was indirect to cause the transmission of the Hepatitis C. That in

and of itself creates a substantive due-process problem, Your Honor, that
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contradicts the Nevada Supreme Court’s direction that there must be a direct and
immediate cause between an individual defendant’s actions and the death of the
patient.

The due-process problem is also connected to the use of the and/or
charging device that the State uses in the Indictment. That device again in
describing the means of the conduct, how the murder was carried out, again, as we
saw in the last Indictment, there’s a lumping together of defendants. There’s a
lumping together of various acts charged in the alternative using the term or, and |
cannot stress enough the Hidalgo case, Your Honor, that says when the State elects
to charge in the alternative, each and every phrase has to stand on its own in
supporting the conduct.

So, Your Honor, the way this Indictment is pled, second-degree murder,
is contrary to the Nevada Supreme Court’s direct requirement of the -- what I'li call
an enhanced causal relationship and the need for specificity to draw that out.

THE COURT: You want to just respond to that part?

MR. STAUDAHER: At that point, sure, Your Honor.

THE COURT: | mean, you know, we went round and round about the
Indictment last time, but specifically now to talk about what Ms. Stanish has raised
with the requirement for second-degree murder.

MR. STAUDAHER: And, Your Honor, the State is not proceeding under just a
felony second-degree murder theory in this particular case. We have the
abandonment and malignant heart theory, obviously depraved indifference. The
actions that the defendant did through his employees are direct actions; whether he
directly was the one who administered the agent or ordered someone to do it, it's his

action.
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Now, as far as the Supreme Court’s requirement that the actual
language of what Ms. Stanish has just argued be within the Indictment, there's no
case about that. This language of this -- of the law comes directly out of statute. So
the statute is quoted in the Indictment, and that is all that has ever been required for
notice pleading in this state.

Now, | don't dispute that at the time of trial that we are required to
beyond a reasonable doubt prove this direct causal connection that Ms. Wright -
Ms. Stanish, rather, has referred to, but that is not what transpires before a grand
jury. Itis a slight or marginal evidence standard at that level. We have to just show
that one of the --

THE COURT: Well, there’s two issues. There’s the pleading and there’s the
burden of proof which is slight or marginal.

What Ms. Stanish is saying, | believe, is well, it doesn’t matter what
your burden of proof is; you still in your Indictment have to allege what your theory is
and what the conduct is regardless of what the burden of proof s, and | -- you know,
it's two separate things.

MR. STAUDAHER: Sure.

THE COURT: You can't say, well, we can, you know, just allege, you know,
everything but the kitchen sink because it’s slight or marginal evidence, and they
found slight or marginal evidence as to something.

s that essentially what you're saying, Ms. Stanish?

MS. STANISH: That, Your Honor, plus it, you know, it's just the fundamental
due process that it must be concise. This for purposes of second-degree murder,
the Indictment on its face is lacking the immediate and direct causal relationship

between my client’s conduct and the death of Mr. Meana.
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And there is, by the way, Your Honor, case law to the effect that the
Indictment on its face must address the specific elements that are created by the
Supreme Court, and ! cited in my reply brief, Your Honor, the Morris case for that
proposition, and, of course, just like the federal system, which is also a notice
pleading jurisdiction, when it comes to judicially created elements, due process both
substantive and procedural due process requires an articulation of the elements and
the facts that support those elements.

THE COURT: Mr. Staudaher.

MR. STAUDAHER: The law in Nevada for notice pleading regarding second-
degree murder, Your Honor, does not address what Ms. Stanish is saying. We have
outlined specifically that -- we've outlined the points that are in the statute, which are
that the theories of liability are an abandoned and malignant heart, 1, or the act
occurring during the commission of an unlawful act, or, 3, during the prosecution of
a felonious intent. That's what it says in the statute. That's what is included in the
actual Indictment itself in this particular case to put them on notice that they're on
not just a second-degree felony murder. That's not the only potential theory here.

It's just like when we plead open murder --

THE COURT: Right.

MR. STAUDAHER: -- which includes first degree, we don’t go through all of
those. We just say, you know, open -- you're basically -- you get the entire
enchilada undemeath that if you plead open murder. We have gone just below the
general open murder which is because we're not alleging premeditation, deliberation
in this case. But we're saying if you did it by felony second-degree murder, if you
did it by just deprived indifference murder, that that is second-degree murder by its

statutory definition. That’s what's in the Indictment. So if we're just talking about the
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Indictment at this point, they're on notice of the different theories that the State is
proceeding on.

What happens at the time of trial is a different story, but at least at this
stage they are on notice of those theories and how that is essentially brought forth in
this particular case by the factual averments that follow the actual quoting of the
statute.

It's never been required that you do more than actually provide the
statutory definitions or statutory language as to what laws the individual is breaking
or is alleged to have broken, and that's what we did in this case. There are three
separate portions that can come under second-degree murder. We've alleged all of
those so they're on notice of it.

THE COURT: Allright. Ms. Stanish, any -- and you can go on to your other
points as well. |

MS. STANISH: Your Honor, the State is missing the point. The fact that it
has in the past ignored judicially created elements doesn’t verify that it can do so in
this case or any other case. The policy of the Supreme Court’s creation of those
additional elements was specifically to prevent the State from overprosecuting
accidental, negligent conduct and to limit that authority and to prevent people like
Mr. Lakeman and Dr. Desai from being forced to go to trial to face second-degree
murder charges based on a document that’s both substantively and procedurally
insufficient.

The fact that the State keeps referring to, l.ook, we've indicted three
alternative theories and that's good enough for government. It is not. That violates
the Supreme Court requirements and substantive and due-process law, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Allright. And did you want to touch on any of your other
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arguments?

MS. STANISH: The instructions to the grand jury, I've addressed this in my
reply brief because | also thought it was an important point to bring to the Court's
attention and somewhat relate it to this case to the due-process argument to the
extent that once again the government relies on the mere fact that it's provided the
statutes to the jury and that ought to be good enough. It is not good enough.

By statute the State is required to instruct the grand jury on the
essential elements of the offense. The case law that the State cited in its brief that
says to the contrary that there is no such requirement is wrong. It predates the
statutory right to have a grand jury sufficiently apprised of the elements of the crime,
especially in a case like this.

THE COURT: Yeah, | mean, typically the elements come directly from the
statute, and so by giving the statute, you are giving them the elements.

MS. STANISH: Right, but this, of course, is not typical because the Supreme
Court has specifically limited the application, created additional essential elements
of the offense, which must be both pled and instructed to the jury, and again, the
fact that the government has ignored that in the past doesn’t really support the
violation that’s hefore this Court today.

THE COURT: Mr. Staudaher, anything else?

MR. STAUDAHER: Well, | would submit that the law that | cited in my return
is good law in Nevada, and although there are not recent -- very recent published
cases on this that | could cite to, the theory -- what the Supreme Court has
addressed in the previous published cases has never been changed or altered in
their subsequent cases before the Supreme Court. Although we can't cite to those

obviously, that's why there’s no additional case law beyond the dates that Ms.
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Stanish has referred to, and the cases that were cited are good law.

You do not have to cite -- or you do not have to instruct on the specific
intricacies of the law related to a case or related to a crime before the grand jury.
They don’t require it. They don't require you to instruct on premeditation, delib --
excuse me, on, you know, theories of what the defense may have, any theories that
they think may cut off liability. You're not required to do any of that kind of thing
before the grand jury.

So | don’t understand completely what her reference is to us citing to
outdated law that is no longer in effect. That is not the case. It's good law in
Nevada, and it is the law in Nevada as to what we have to do and don’t have to do
in pleading.

MS. STANISH: My reply brief specified which cases are no longer good law
in light of the amendment to the grand jury statute, Your Honor.

And the -- | think we just -- we're speaking at different levels. The
government thinks that by regurgitating the statue that that's adequate --

THE COURT: Well, Ms. Stanish —

MS. STANISH: -- when in fact the supreme court says otherwise.

THE COURT: Allright. Mr. Santacroce, anything you'd like to add to your
brief you already provided?

MR. SANTACROCE: Yes. First of all, | want to join in Ms. Stanish’s
argument, but | want to explain how these factors apply to my client, Mr. Lakeman.

First of all, if you look at the elements set forth in Ramirez, the second
element of the murder, felony-murder rule only applies when the defendant's act is
the immediate and direct cause of death.

Now, | remind the Court that Mr. Lakeman had nothing to do with Mr.
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Meana. He didn’t treat the source patient. He never treated Mr. Meana. He never
saw Mr. Meana. He had nothing to do with Mr. Meana. So the fact of the matter is
the Indictment against Mr. Lakeman for felony murder can’t possibly go forward.
There’s no nexus, no connection between Lakeman and Meana.

THE COURT: Isn't this similar, Mr. Staudaher, if you had, say, a ring -- |
mean, m going to make it real simple, which may make it a poor analogy - but if
you had a ring of, say, robbers who are all conspiring to commit various robberies,
and you have some people participating in, you know, let's just say jewelry stores,
A, B and C, and one guy does the A and the B robberies, and it's the C robbery that
he's not involved with that results in death to somebody. To me it's kind of
analogous, well, they're part of the conspiracy for all of the robberies even though
they weren’t actually involved in the C robbery. And by the C robbery, now, of
course, we're talking about the care of patient Mr. Meana.

Although there’s an overarching conspiracy and conduct that's
benefiting the total, let's just call it criminal goal of, you know, in this case, say,
money, we're using products, things like that, which took various forms, you know,
according to the State’s Indictment, the insurance fraud and various things, | mean, |
see that as sort of an analogy between how you've alleged the conduct against Mr.
Lakeman.

MR. STAUDAHER: Would you like me to address it, Your Honor?

THE COURT: Yeah.

MR. STAUDAHER: To a large extent you are correct. The hook or at least
the theory of criminal liability which has been pled in the Indictment what relation to
Mr. Lakeman brings him into criminal liability for that particular crime involving Mr.

Meana is through a conspiracy theory essentially, the aiding and abetting not so
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much so, but the theory of conspiracy in this case.

Now, remember that on that day we're talking about the, you know, that
Mr. Lakeman is present at the location infecting other people. He’s gotten the virus
from Mr. Mathahs who actually was the person who worked on the source patient,
which Mr. Meana --

THE COURT: Right, and worked on Mr. Meana.

MR. STAUDAHER: So he -- so Mr. Mathahs deals with the source patient
and Mr. Meana and then throughout -- through the mechanisms of how they worked
in the practice was showing the conspiracy active that day. This isn't a separate
robbery and a different occasion that they weren’t aware of. They’re working
together on that day transferring the virus from one room to another to other
patients. They're working together doing the same kinds of things.

So, yes, it is under a conspiracy théory for him, but | think it's a much
tighter, close-knit connection between the conspiracy and the infection related to
Mr. Meana and the hook that brings in Mr. Lakeman because of that. He cannot say
that he was unaware of something going on, it was a different day, he wasn't
working, he didn’t have any issue or --

THE COURT: No, I mean, this is, | mean, according to your theory, it's an
ongoing conspiracy. So to me whether he was at work that day or not at work that
day, you know, or he took his coffee break at the time Mr. Meana -- you know, |
don't think that’s really relevant.

The issue is did his role in the - well, the issue is he wasn't directly
involved in the infection of Mr. Meana. | think that's what Mr. Santacroce, that even
by being a part of this conspiracy his involvement didn’t directly impact Mr. Meana,

that it was all Mr. Mathahs’s conduct that directly impacted Mr. Meana, not Mr.
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Lakeman’s conduct.

Is that essentially what you're saying, Mr. Santacroce?

MR. SANTACROCE: That'’s correct, Your Honor, and if you accept the
State’s argument, the mere presence of my client on that day is ridiculous because
by that theory you can indict the receptionist or the janitor if they were present and
part of this conspiracy because they were employees. That's a ridiculous argument.

The fact of the matter is that the Ramirez case sets forth that there has
to be a direct nexus, and there’s -- there's other case law, the Labastida case which
was a felony child neglect that resulted in the death of a child, the Supreme Court
says you can’t hold the girlfriend liable for felony murder when the direct causal
connection of the death was from the boyfriend’s conduct.

And it's similar in this case. My client had nothing, nothing to do with
Mr. Meana, and to allow the Indictment to go forward is absolutely absurd. Now,
what the State wants you to believe is that we're -- we know he had nothing to do
with it, but we want to get him on this conspiracy theory. Because he’s part of a
conspiracy then he's liable for felony murder.

But that - that does not hold any weight either because one of the
grand jurors was very troubled by this, and one of the grand jurors says, How do we
hoid Mr. Lakeman liable for this when he had nothing to do with it, and Mr.
Staudaher instructed that grand juror to look at this binder that he had provided to
them and said, Look at that, and if you can find the conspiracy, which you did in the
prior Indictment, then you can hold Mr. Lakeman liable for this felony murder.

But that’s not correct instruction. What should have been instructed
was if you had a conspiracy and he was the direct causal nexus connection to the

death, then you can indict him for felony murder. That was not done.

-11-
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| have no idea what was in the binder. | have no idea on what theory of
conspiracy I'm supposed to defend my client on as it relates to felony murder. | just
don't know, and that’s patently wrong, and it's offensive, and it needs to be thrown
out, Your Honor.

MR. STAUDAHER: Your Honor, it was the conspiracy that caused the
infection to transmit and the death. It was the conspiracy even going back months
earlier to the 25" of July, not the 21% of September. Who was the actor involved in
that case? It was Mr. Lakeman. Mr. Lakeman was the one who had the source
patient, and Mr. Lakeman was the one who infected the secondary patient.

This was part of the reason why the conspiracy itself is the causal
connection to the actual transmission because but for their actions and agreement
between all of the parties, and we're talking about not the receptionist, but we're
talking about the people who were actually injecting patients with an infected agent
because those individuals agreed to do that and breached the protocols that are
universaily accepted across the country, we had not only people getting infected but
people dying. And that's because when they did that it was -- there was a
foreseeable, direct relationship to their actions and the harm that befell these
patients.

He can’t get away from that, and that's why he’s brought in under a
theory of conspiracy and why the conspiracy itself is the action which caused the
infection to occur.

THE COURT: All right. Anything else?

MR. SANTACROCE: No, I'll submit it, Your Honor. | don’t know if Ms.
Stanish has something else.

MS. STANISH: It's not a but-for standard as the State just stated, and, you

~12-
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know, we shouldn’t have to guess who was the direct and immediate cause of the
transmission of the -- of the virus. It needs to be clearly stated in the Indictment,
and it's not.

THE COURT. All right. I'm going to go through some of these arguments that
we haven't had today that [ consider to be, and | think by virtue of the fact you didn’t
highlight them you considered them also to be the less compelling argument.

Okay. Number 1, | find the State didn't introduce inadmissible hearsay
during the grand jury by relying on Mr. Meana'’s prior testimony or any other records
of the prior proceedings. The fact that Mr. Meana didn’t continue his treatment |
don’t think that that’s exculpatory evidence. | don't think that the State was required
to do more than they did in that regard. | would just sort of note that without some
additional expert testimony that in and of itself is sort of meaningless, and | don’t
think lay people could really even evaluate that to determine whether or not that --
what kind of an impact, if any, it had on Mr. Meana'’s ultimate passing.

Again, the consideration of the testimony, the exhibits of the prior grand
jury was fine. The impanelment of -- or sort of re-impanelment was also fine and
that was allowable.

On the issues that | think are kind of tied together between Mr.
Lakeman and Dr. Desai on the four corners of the Indictment, I'm going to consider
that further.

And on the instructions themselves and whether when Mr. Staudaher,
you know, made his responses that that was sufficient or whether Mr. Staudaher
should have provided additional clarification and further instruction to the grand jury.

So | will consider those what | consider remaining sort of two issues

that | think are the better, more compelling issues, and look for something Monday

-13-
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on just basically those two remaining issues.
All right. Thank you.
MS. STANISH: Thank you, Your Honor.
MR. STAUDAHER: Is that a hearing or a minute order or what is that?
THE COURT: It will just be a minute order.

-000-

MR. STAUDAHER: Thank you, Your Honor.
THE COURT: And | think that disposes of all of the arguments that have

been made.
MR. STAUDAHER: Thank you.
-000-

ATTEST: I do hereby certify that | have truly and correctly transcribed the audio/video
proceedings in the above-entitled case.

/  JANIE L. OLSEN
Recorder/Transcriber
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DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

THE STATE OF NEVADA,
Plaintiff, CASE NO: 10C265107-1
-VS- DEPT NO: XXI

DIPAK KANTILAL DESAI,
#1240942

#2753504 SECOND AMENDED

KEITH H. MATHAHS,
#2753191 INDICTMENT

Defendant(s).

STATE OF NEVADA.

COUNTY OF CLARK
The Defendant(s) above named, DIPAK KANTILAL DESAI, RONALD ERNEST

LAKEMAN and KEITH H. MATHAHS accused by the Clark County Grand Jury of the
crime(s) of RACKETEERING (Category B Felony - NRS 207.350, 207.360, 207.370,
207.380, 207.390, 207.400); INSURANCE FRAUD (Category D Felony - NRS
686A.2815); PERFORMANCE OF ACT IN RECKLESS DISREGARD OF PERSONS
OR PROPERTY (Category C Felony - NRS 0.060, 202.595); CRIMINAL NEGLECT
OF PATIENTS (Category B Felony - NRS 0.060, 200.495); THEFT (Category B Felony
— NRS 205.0832, 205.0835); OBTAINING MONEY UNDER FALSE PRETENSES
(Category B Felony - NRS 205.265, 205.380) and MURDER (SECOND DEGREE)
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(Category A Felony - NRS 200.910, 200.020, 200.030, 200.070, 0.060, 202.595, 200.495),
committed at and within the County of Clark, State of Nevada, on or between June 3, 2005,
and April 27, 2012, as follows:
COUNT 1 - RACKETEERING

Defendants, did on or between June 3, 2005, and May 5, 2008, then and there, within
Clark County, Nevada knowingly, willfully and feloniously while employed by or associated
with an enterprise, conduct or participate directly or indirectly in racketeering activity
through the affairs of said enterprise; and/or with criminal intent receive any proceeds
derived, directly or indirectly, from racketeering activity to use or invest, whether directly or
indirectly, any part of the proceeds from racketeering activity; and/or through racketeering
activity to acquire or maintain, directly or indirectly, any interest in or control of any
enterprise; and/or intentionally organize, manage, direct, supervise or finance a criminal

syndicate; and/or did conspire to engage in said acts, to-wit: by directly or indirectly causing

“and/or pressuring the employees and/or agents-of the Endoscopy Center of Southern Nevada |-

to falsify patient anesthesia records from various endoscopic procedures; and/or to commit
insurance fraud by directly or indirectly submitting said false anesthesia records to various
insurance companies for the purpose of obtaining money under false pretenses from said
insurance companies and/or patients; said fraudulent submissions resulting in the payment of
monies to Defendants and/or their medical practice and/or the enterprise, which exceeded the
legitimate reimbursement amount allowed for said procedures; Defendants being responsible
under one or more of the following principles of criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly
committing said acts; and/or (2) aiding or abetting each other in the commission of the crime
by directly or indirectly counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing, or
procuring each other, and/or others to commit said acts, Defendants acting with the intent to
commit said crime.

COUNT 2 - INSURANCE FRAUD
Defendants, did on or about July 25, 2007, knowingly and willfully present, or cause

to be presented a statement as a part of, or in support of, a claim for payment or other
2
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benefits under a policy of insurance issued pursuant to Title 57 of the Nevada Revised
Statutes, knowing that the statement concealed or omitted facts, or contained false or
misleading information concerning a fact material to said claim; and/or did assist, abet,
solicit or conspire to present or cause to be presented a statement to an insurer, a reinsurer, a
producer, a broker or any agent thereof, knowing that said statement concealed or omitted
facts, or did contain false or misleading information concerning a fact material to a claim for
payment or other benefits under such policy issued pursuant to Title 57 of the Nevada
Revised Statutes, by falsely representing to ANTHEM BLUE CROSS — BLUE SHIELD
that the billed anesthesia time and/or charges for the endoscopic procedure performed on
SHARRIEFF ZIYAD were more than the actual anesthetic time and/or charges, said false
representation resulting in the payment of money to Defendants and/or their medical practice
and/or the racketeering enterprise which exceeded that which would have normally been

allowed for said procedure; Defendants being responsible under one or more of the

~following principles of criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts: and/or |~

(2) aiding or abetting each other in the commission of the crime by directly or indirectly
counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other, and/or
others to commit said acts, Defendants acting with the intent to commit said crime, and/or
(3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime.

COUNT 3 - PERFORMANCE OF ACT IN RECKLESS DISREGARD OF PERSONS
OR PROPERTY

Defendants, did on or about July 25, 2007, then and there willfully and unlawfully
perform acts in willful or wanton disregard of the safety of persons or property resulting in
substantial bodily harm to MICHAEL WASHINGTON, in the following manner, to-wit: by
Defendants performing one or more of the following acts: (1) by directly administering
and/or directly or indirectly instructing employees of the Endoscopy Center of Southern
Nevada, (ECSN) to administer one or more doses of the anesthetic drug Propofol from a
single use vial to more than one patient contrary to the express product Iabeling of said drug
and in viblation of universally aécepted safety precautions lfc-or _th.e- administration of said

3
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drug; and/or (2) by creating an employment environment in which said employees were
pressured to administer one or more doses of the anesthetic drug Propofol from a single use
vial to more than one patient contrary to the express product labeling of said drug and in
violation of universally accepted safety precautions for the administration of said drug;
and/or (3) by directly reusing and/or directly or indirectly instructing said employees, and/or
creating an employment environment in which said employees were pressured to reuse
syringes and/or needles and/or biopsy forceps and/or snares and/or bite blocks contrary to
the express product labeling of said items, and/or in violation of universally accepted safety
precautions for the use of said items; and/or (4) by directly limiting and/or directly or
indirectly instructing said employees, and/or creating an employment environment in which
said employees were pressured to limit the use of medical supplies necessary to conduct safe
endoscopic procedures; and/or (5) by falsely precharting patient records and/or rushing

patients through said endoscopy center and/or rushing patient procedures at the expense of

‘patient safety and/or well being and/or directly or indirectly instructing said employees,

and/or creating an employment environment in which said employees were pressured to
falsely prechart patient records and/or rush patients through said endoscopy center and/or
rush patient procedures at the expense of patient safety and/or well being; and/or (6) by
directly or indirectly scheduling and/or treating an unreasonable number of patients per day
which resulted in substandard care and/or jeopardized the safety and/or well being of said
patients; and/or (7) by directly failing to adequately clean and/or prepare endosconpy scopes,
contrary to the express manufacturers guidelines for the handling and processing of said
endoscopy scopes, and/or in violation of universally accepted safety precautions for the use
of said scopes and/or directly or indirectly instructing said employees, and/or creating an
employment environment in which said employees were inadequately trained and/or
pressured to provide endoscopy scopes for patient procedures that were not adequately
cleaned and/or prepared contrary to the express manufacturers guidelines for the handling
and processing of said endoscopy scopes, and/or in violation of universally accepted safety
precautions fof the use of said scopes; Defendants being responsible under one or more of

4
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the following principles of criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly commmitting said acts;
and/or (2) aiding or abetting each other in the commission of the crime by directly or
indirectly counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other,
and/or others to commit said acts, Defendants acting with the intent to commit said crime,
and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime.
CQUNT 4 - CRIMINAL NEGLECT OF PATIENTS

Defendants, on or about July 25, 2007, being professional caretakers of MICHAEL
WASHINGTON, did act or omit to act in an aggravated, reckless or gross manner, failing to
provide such service, care or supervision as is reasonable and necessary to maintain the
health or safety of said MICHAEL WASHINGTON, resulting in substantial bodily harm to
MICHAEL WASHINGTON, said acts or omissions being such a departure from what would
be the conduct of an ordinarily prudent, careful person under the same circumstances that it

is contrary to a proper regard for danger to human life or constitutes indifference to the

“resulting consequences, said consequences of the riegligent act 6r omission bTéiﬁg_EEziS“éﬁ‘zib]y"'

foreseeable; said danger to human life not being the resuit of inattention, mistaken judgment
or misadventure, but the natural and probable result of said aggravated reckless or grossly
negligent act or omission, by performing one or more of the following acts: (1) by directly
or indirectly instructing employees of the Endoscopy Center of Southern Nevada, (ECSN) to
administer one or more doses of the anesthetic drug Propofol from a single use vial to more
than one patient contrary to the express product labeling of said drug and in violation of
universally accepted safety precautions for the administration of said drug; and/or (2) by
creating an employment environment in which said employees were pressured to administer
one or more doses of the anesthetic drug Propofol from a single use vial to more than one
patient contrary to the express product labeling of said drug and in violation of universally
accepted safety precautions for the administration of said drug; and/or (3) by directly or
indirectly instructing said employees, and/or creating an employment environment in which
said employees were pressured to reuse syringes and/or needles and/or biopsy forceps and/or
snares and/or bite blocks contrary to the express product labeling of said items, and/or in

5
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violation of universally accepted safety precautions for the use of said items; and/or (4) by
directly or indirectly instructing said employees, andfor creating an employment
environment in which said employees were pressured to limit the use of medical supplies
necessary to conduct safe endoscopic procedures; and/or (5) by directly or indirectly
instructing said employees, and/or creating an employment environment in which said
employees were pressured to falsely prechart patient records and/or rush patients through
said endoscopy center and/or rush patient procedures at the expense of patient safety and/or
well being; and/or (6) by directly or indirectly scheduling and/or treating an unreasonable
number of patients per day which resulted in substandard care and/or jeopardized the safety
and/or well being of said patients; and/or (7) by directly or indirectly instructing said
employees, and/or creating an employment environment in which said employees were
inadequately trained and/or pressured to provide endoscopy scopes for patient procedures

that were not adequatcly cleaned and/or prepared contrary to the express manufacturers

“guidelines for the handling and procéssing of said endoscopy Scopes, and/ot in Violation of

universally accepted safety precautions for the use of said scopes; and/or (8) by methods
unknown; for the purpose of enhancing the financial profit of ECSN, said act(s) or
omission(s) causing the transmission of Hepatitis C virus from patient SHARRIEFF ZIYAD
to patient MICHAEL WASHINGTON, who was not previously infected with the Hepatitis
C virus; Defendants being responsible under one or more of the following principles of
criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts; and/or (2) aiding or abetting
each other in the commission of the crime by directly or indirectly counseling, encouraging,
hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other, and/or others to commit said acts,
Defendants acting with the intent to commit said crime, and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy

to commit this crime,

COUNT 5 - INSURANCE FRAUD
Defendants, did on or about July 25, 2007, knowingly and willfully present, or cause
to be presented a statement as a part of, or in support of, a claim for payment or other
benefits under a policy of insurance issued pursuant to Title 57 of the Nevada Revised
6
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Statutes, knowing that the statement concealed or omitted facts, or contained faise or
misleading information concerning a fact material to said claim; and/or did assist, abet,
solicit or conspire to present or cause to be presented a statement to an insurer, a reinsurer, a
producer, a broker or any agent thereof, knowing that said statement concealed or omitted
facts, or did contain false or misleading information concerning a fact material to a claim for
payment or other benefits under such policy issued pursuant to Title 57 of the Nevada
Revised Statutes, by falsely representing to VETERANS ADMINISTRATION that the
billed anesthesia time and/or charges for the endoscopic procedure performed on MICHAEL
WASHINGTON were more than the actual anesthetic time and/or charges, said false
representation resulting in the payment of money to Defendants and/or their medical practice
and/or the racketeering enterprise which exceeded that which would have normally been
allowed for said procedure; Defendants being responsible under one or more of the
following principles of criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts; and/or
(2) aiding or abetting each other in the commission of the crime by directly or indirectly’
counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other, and/or
others to commit said acts, Defendants acting with the intent to commit said crime, and/or
(3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime.
COUNT 6 - INSURANCE FRAUD

Defendants, did on or about July 25, 2007, knowingly and willfully present, or cause

to be presented a staiement as a part of, or in support of, a claim for payment or other
benefits under a policy of insurance issued pursuant to Title 57 of the Nevada Revised
Statutes, knowing that the statement concealed or omitted facts, or contained false or
misleading information concerning a fact material to said claim; and/or did assist, abet,
solicit or conspire to present or cause to be presented a statement to an insurer, a reinsurer, a
producer, a broker or any agent thereof, knowing that said statement concealed or omitted
facts, or did contain false or misleading information concerning a fact material to a claim for
payment or other benefits under such policy issued pursuant to Title 57 of the Nevada
Revised Statutes, by falsely representing to ANTHEM BLUE CROSS AND BLUE

7
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SHIELD that the billed anesthesia time and/or charges for the endoscopic procedure
performed on KENNETH RUBINO were more than the actual anesthetic time and/or
charges, said false representation resulting in the payment of money to Defendants and/or
their medical practice and/or the racketeering enterprise which exceeded that which would
have normally been allowed for said procedure; Defendants being responsible under one or
more of the following principles of criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said
acts; and/or (2) aiding or abetting each other in the commission of the crime by directly or
indirectly counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other,
and/or others to commit said acts, Defendants acting with the intent to commit said crime,
and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime.

COUNT 7 - PERFORMANCE OF ACT IN RECKLESS DISREGARD OF PERSONS
OR PROPERTY

Defendants, did on or about September 21, 2007, then and there willfully and
unlawfully perform acts in willful or wanton disregard of the safety of persons or property
resulting in substantial bodily harm to STACY HUTCHINSON, in the following manner, to-
wit: by Defendants performing one or more of the following acts: (1) by directly
administering and/or directly or indirectly instructing employees of the Endoscopy Center of
Southern Nevada, (ECSN) to administer one or more doses of the anesthetic drug Propofol

from a single use vial to more than one patient contrary to the express product labeling of
said drug and in viclation of universally accepted safety precautions for the administration of
said drug; and/or (2) by creating an employment environment in which said employees were
pressured to administer one or more doses of the anesthetic drug Propofol from a single use
vial to more than one patient contrary to the express product labeling of said drug and in
violation of universally accepted safety precautions for the administration of said drug;
and/or (3) by directly reusing and/or directly or indirectly instructing said employees, and/or
creating an employment environment in which said employees were pressured to reuse
syringes and/or needles and/or biopsy forceps and/or snares and/or bite blocks contrary to
the express product labeling of said items, and/or in violation of universally accepted safety

8
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precautions for the use of said items; and/or (4) by directly limiting and/or directly or
indirectly instructing said employees, and/or creating an employment environment in which
said employees were pressured to limit the use of medical supplies necessary to conduct safe
endoscopic procedures; and/or (5) by falsely precharling patient records and/or rushing
patients through said endoscopy center and/or rushing patient procedures at the expense of
patient safety and/or well being and/or directly or indirectly Instructing said employees,
and/or creating an employment environment in which said employees were pressured to
falsely prechart patient records and/or rush patients through said endoscopy center and/or
rush patient procedures at the expense of patient safety and/or well being; and/or (6) by
directly or indirectly scheduling and/or treating an unreasonable number of patients per day
which resulted in substandard care and/or jeopardized the safety and/or well being of said
patients; and/or (7) by directly failing to adequately clean and/or prepare endoscopy scopes,

contrary to the express manufacturers guidelines for the handling and processing of said

endoscopy scopes, and/or in violation of universally accepted safety precautions for the use |
of said scopes and/or directly or indirectly instructing said employees, and/or creating an
employment environment in which said employees were inadequately trained and/or
pressured to provide endoscopy scopes for patient procedures that were not adequately
cleaned and/or prepared contrary to the express manufacturers guidelines for the handling
and processing of said endoscopy scopes, and/or in violation of universally accepted safety
being responsible under one or more of
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the following principles of criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts;
and/or (2) aiding or abetting each other in the commission of the crime by directly or
indirectly counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other,
and/or others to commit said acts, Defendants acting with the intent to commit said crime,
and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime,
COUNT 8 - CRIMINAL NEGLECT OF PATIENTS

Defendants, on or about September 25, 2007, being professional caretakers of
STACY HUTCHINSON, did act or omit to act in an aggravated, reckless or gross manner,
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ﬁ failing to provide such service, care or supervision as is reasonable and necessary to

maintain the health or safety of said STACY HUTCHIN, SON, resulting in substantial bodily
harm to STACY HUTCHINSON, said acts or omissions being such a departure from what
would be the conduct of an ordinarily prudent, careful person under the same circumstances
that it is contrary to a proper regard for danger to human life or constitutes indifference to
the resulting consequences, said consequences of the negligent act or omission being
reasonably foreseeable; said danger to human life not being the result of inattention,
mistaken judgment or misadventure, but the natural and probable result of said aggravated
reckless or grossly negligent act or omission, by performing one or more of the following
acts: (1) by directly or indirectly instructing employees of the Endoscopy Center of
Southern Nevada, (ECSN) to administer one or more doses of the anesthetic drug Propofol
from a single use vial to more than one patient contrary to the express product labeling of
said drug and in violation of universally accepted safety precautions for the administration of
“said drug; and/or (2) by creating an employment environment in which said employees were |
pressured to administer one or more doses of the anesthetic drug Propofol from a single use
vial to more than one patient contrary to the express product labeling of said drug and in
violation of universally accepted safety precautions for the administration of said drug;
and/or (3) by directly or indirectly instructing said employees, an]dlor creating an

employment environment in which said employees were pressured to reuse syringes and/or
needles and/or biopsy forceps and/or smares and/or bite blocks contrary to ithe express
product labeling of said items, and/or in violation of universally accepted safety precautions
for the use of said items; and/or (4) by directly or indirectly instructing said employees,
and/or creating an employment environment in which said employees were pressured to limit
the use of medical supplies necessary to conduct safe endoscopic procedures; and/or (5) by
directly or indirectly instructing said employees, and/or creating an employment
environment in which said employees were pressured to falsely prechart patient records
and/or rush patients through said endoscopy center and/or rush patient procedures at the
expense of patient safety and/or well being; and/or (6) by directly or indirectly scheduling
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and/or treating an unreasonable number of patients per day which resulted in substandard
care and/or jeopgrdized the safety and/or well being of said patients; and/or (7) by directly or
indirectly instructing said employees, and/or creating an employment environment in which
said employees were inadequately trained and/or pressured to provide endoscopy scopes for
patient procedures that were not adequately cleaned and/or prepared contrary to the express
manufacturers guidelines for the handling and processing of said endoscopy scopes, and/or
in violation of universally accepted safety precautions for the use of said scopes; and/or (8)

by methods unknown; for the purpose of enhancing the financial profit of ECSN, said act(s)

or omission(s) causing the transmission of Hepatitis C virus from patient KENNETH

RUBINO to patient STACY HUTCHINSON, who was not previously infected with the
Hepatitis C virus; Defendants being responsible under one or more of the following
principles of criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts; and/or (2) aiding

or abetting each other in the commission of the crime by directly or indirectly counseling,

“encouraging, hiring, commariding, inducing, or procuring each other, and/or others 0|

commit said acts, Defendants acting with the intent to commit said crime, and/or (3)
pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime.
COUNT 9 - INSURANCE FRAUD

Defendants, did on or about September 21, 2007, knowingly and willfully present, or
cause to be presented a statement as a part of, or in support'of, a claim for payment or other
benefits under a policy of insurance issned pursuant to Title 57 of the Nevada Revised
Statutes, knowing that the statement concealed or omitted facts, or contained false or
misleading information concerning a fact material to said claim; and/or did assist, abet,
solicit or conspire to present or cause to be presented a statement to an insurer, a reinsurer, a
producer, a broker or any agent thereof, knowing that said statement concealed or omitted
facts, or did contain false or misleading information concerning a fact material to a claim for
payment or other benefits under such policy issued pursuant to Title 57 of the Nevada
Revised Statutes, by falsely representing to HEALTH PLAN OF NEVADA that the billed
anesthesia timé and/or charges for the endoscopic procedure performed on STACY
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HUTCHINSON were more than the actual anesthetic time and/or charges, said false
representation resulting in the payment of money to Defendants and/or their medllcal practice
and/or the racketeering enterprise which exceeded that which would have normally been
allowed for said procedure; Defendants being responsible under one or more of the
following principles of criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts; and/or
(2) aiding or abetting each other in the commission of the crime by directly or indirectly
counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other, and/or
others to commit said acts, Defendants acting with the intent to commit said crime, and/or

(3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime.

COUNT 10 - PERFORMANCE OF ACT IN RECKLESS DISREGARD OF PERSONS
OR PROPERTY

Defendants, did on or about September 21, 2007, then and there willfully and
unlawfully perform acts in willful or wanton disregard of the safety of persons or property
resuiting in substantial bodily harm to RUDOLFO MEANA, in the following manner, to-
wit: by Defendants performing one or more of the following acts: (1) by directly
administering and/or directly or indirectly instructing employees of the Endoscopy Center of
Southern Nevada, (ECSN) to administer one or more doses of the anesthetic drug Propofol
from a single use vial to more than one patient contrary to the express product labeling of
said drug and in violation of universally accepted safety precautions for the administration of
said drug; and/or (2} by creating an employment environment in which said employees wer
pressured to administer one or more doses of the anesthetic drug Propofol from a single use
vial to more than one patient contrary to the express product labeling of said drug and in
violation of universally accepted safety precautions for the administration of said drug;
and/or (3) by directly reusing and/or directly or indirectly instructing said employees, and/or
creating an employment environment in which said employees were pressured fo reuse
syringes and/or needles and/or biopsy forceps and/or snares and/or bite blocks contrary to
the express product labeling of said items, and/or in violation of universally accepted safety
precautions for the use of said items; and/or (4) by directly limiting and/or directly or
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indirectly instructing said employees, and/or creating an employment environment in which
said employees were pressured to limit the use of medical supplies necessary to conduct safe
endoscopic procedures; and/or (5) by falsely precharting patient records and/or rushing
patients through said endoscopy center and/or rushing patient procedures at the expense of
patient safety and/or well being and/or directly or indirectly instructing said employees,
and/or creating an employment environment in which said employees were pressured to
falsely prechart patient records and/or rush patients through said endoscopy center and/or
rush patient procedures at the expense of patient safety and/or well being; and/or (6) by
directly or indirectly scheduling and/or treating an unreasonable number of patients per day
which resulted in substandard care and/or jeopardized the safety and/or well being of said
patients; and/or (7) by directly failing to adequately clean and/or prepare endoscopy scopes,
contrary to the express manufacturers guidelines for the handling and processing of said

endoscopy scopes, and/or in violation of universally accepted safety precautions for the use

~of said scopes and/or directly or indirectly instructing said employees, and/or creating an |
employment environment in which said employees were inadequately trained and/or
pressured to provide endoscopy scopes for patient procedures that were not adequately
cleaned and/or prepared contrary to the express manufacturers gﬁidelines for the handling
and processing of said endoscopy scopes, and/or in violation of universally accepted safety

precautions for the use of said scopes; Defendants being responsible under one or more of

~ mmaAd fatoe
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the following princip ity, to wit: {1} by directly committin
and/or (2) aiding or abetting each other in the commission of the crime by directly or
indirectly counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other,
and/or others to commit said acts, Defendants acting with the intent to commit said crime,
and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime.
COUNT 11 - CRIMINAL NEGLECT OF PATIENTS

Defendants, on or about September 21, 2007, being professional caretakers of
RUDOLFO MEANA, did act or omit to act in an aggravated, reckless or gross manner,
failing to provide such service, care or supervision as is reasonable and necessary to
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maintain the health or safety of said RUDOLFO MEANA, resulting in substantial bodily
harm to RUDOLFO MEANA, said acts or omissions being such a departure from what
would be the conduct of an ordinarily prudent, careful person under the same circumstances
that it is contrary to a proper regard for danger to human life or constitutes indifference to
the resulting consequences, said consequences of the negligent act or omission being
reasonably foresecable; said danger to human life not being the result of inattention,
mistaken judgment or misadventure, but the natural and probable result of said aggravated
reckless or grossly negligent act or omission, by performing one or more of the following
acts: (1) by directly or indirectly instructing employees of the Endoscopy Center of
Southern Nevada, (ECSN) to administer one or more doses of the anesthetic drug Propofol
from a single use vial to more than one patient contrary to the express product labeling of
said drug and in violation of universally accepted safety precautions for the administration of
said drug; and/or (2) by creating an employment environment in which said employees were
pressured to admihié'ter one or more doses of the anesthetic drug Propofol from a single use
vial to more than one patient contrary to the express product labeling of said drug and in
violation of universally accepted safety precautions for the administration of said drug;
and/or (3) by directly or indirectly instructing said employees, and/or creating an
employment environment in which said employees were pressured to reuse syringes and/or
needles and/or biopsy forceps and/or snares and/or bite blocks contrary to the express
product labeling of said items, and/or in violation of universaily accepted safsty precautions
for the use of said items; and/or (4) by directly or indirectly instructing said employees,
and/or creating an employment environment in which said employees were pressured to limit
the use of medical supplies necessary to conduct safe endoscopic procedures; and/or {(5) by
directly or indirectly instructing said employees, and/or creating an employment
environment in which said employees were pressured to falsely prechart patient records
and/or rush patients through said endoscopy center and/or rush patient procedures at the
expense of patient safety and/or well being; and/or (6) by directly or indirectly scheduling
and/or treating an unreasonable number of patients per day which resulted in substandard
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care and/or jeopardized the safety and/or well being of said patients; and/or (7) by directly or
indirectly instructing said employees, and/or creating an employment environment in which
said employees were inadequately trained and/or pressured to provide endoscopy scopes for
patient procedures that were not adequately cleaned and/or prepared contrary to the express
manufacturers guidelines for the handling and processing of said endoscopy scopes, and/or
in violation of universally accepted safety precantions for the use of said scopes; and/or (8)
by methods unknown; for the purpose of enhancing the financial profit of ECSN, said act(s)
or omission(s) causing the transmission of Hepatitis C virus from patient KENNETH
RUBINO to patient RUDOLFO MEANA, who was not previously infected with the
Hepatitis C virus; Defendants being responsible under one or more of the following
principles of criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts; and/or (2) aiding
or abetting each other in the commission of the crime by directly or indirectly counseling,
encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other, and/or others to
“commit said acts, Defendants acting with the infent fo commit said crime, and/or (3) |
pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime.
COUNT 12 - INSURANCE FRAUD

Defendants, did on or about September 21, 2007, knowingly and willfully present, or
cause to be presented a statement as a part of, or in support of, a claim for payment or other
benefits under a policy of insurance issued pursuant to Title 57 of the Nevada Revised
Statutes, knowing that the statement concealed or omitted facls, or contained false or
misleading information concerning a fact material to said claim; and/or did assist, abet,
solicit or conspire to present or cause to be presented a statement to an insurer, a reinsurer, a
producer, a broker or any agent thereof, knowing that said statement concealed or omitted
facts, or did contain false or misieading information concerning a fact material to a claim for
payment or other benefits under such policy issued pursuant to Title 57 of the Nevada
Revised Statutes, by falsely representing to SECURE HORIZONS and/or PACIFICARE that
the billed anesthesia time and/or charges for the endoscopic procedure performed on
RUDOLFO MEANA were more than the actual anesthetic time and/or charges, said false
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representation resulting in the payment of money to Defendants and/or their medical practice
and/or the racketeering enterprise which exceeded that which would have normally been
allowed for said procedure; Defendants being responsible under one or more of the
following principles of criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts; and/or
(2) aiding or abetting each other in the commission of the crime by directly or indirectly
counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other, and/or
others to commit said acts, Defendants acting with the intent to commit said crime, and/or

(3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime.

COUNT 13 - PERFORMANCE OF ACT IN RECKLESS DISREGARD OF PERSONS
OR PROPERTY

Defendants, did on or about September 21, 2007, then and there willfully and
unlawfully perform acts in willful or wanton disregard of the safety of persons or property

resulting in substantial bodily harm to PATTY ASPINWALL, in the following manner, to-

wit: by Defendants performing one or more of the following acts: (1) by directly

administering and/or directly or indirectly instructing employees of the Endoscopy Center of
Southern Nevada, (ECSN) to administer one or more doses of the anesthetic drug Propofol
from a single use vial to more than one patient contrary to the express product labeling of
said drug and in violation of universally accepted safety precautions for the administration of
said drug; and/or (2) by creating an employment environment in which said employees were
pressured to administer one or more doses of the anesthetic drug Propofol fio
vial to more than one patient contrary to the express product labeling of said drug and in
violation of universally accepted safety precautions for the administration of said drug;
and/or (3) by directly reusing and/or directly or indirectly instructing said employees, and/or
creating an employment environment in which said employees were pressured to reuse
syringes and/or needles and/or biopsy forceps and/or snares and/or bite blocks contrary to
the express product labeling of said items, and/or in violation of universally accepted safety
precautions for the use of said items; and/or (4) by directly limiting and/or directly or
indirectly instructing said employees, and/or creating an employment environment in which
16
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said employees were pressured to limit the use of medical supplies necessary to conduct safe
endoscopic procedures; and/or (5) by falsely precharting patient records and/or rushing
patients through said endoscopy center and/or rushing patient procedures at the expense of
patient safety and/or well being and/or directly or indirectly instructing said employees,
and/or creating an employment environment in which said employees were pressured to
falsely prechart patient records and/or rush patients through said endoscopy center and/or
rush patient procedures at the expense of patient safety and/or well being; and/or (6) by
directly or indirectly scheduling and/or treating an unreasonable number of patients per day
which resulted in substandard care and/or jeopardized the safety and/or well being of said
patients; and/or (7) by directly failing to adequately clean and/or prepare endoscopy scopes,
contrary to the express manufacturers guidelines for the handling and processing of said

endoscopy scopes, and/or in violation of universally accepted safety precautions for the use

pressured to provide endoscopy scopes for patient procedures that were not adequately
cleaned and/or prepared contrary to the express manufacturers guidelines for the handling
and processing of said endoscopy scopes, and/or in violation of universally accepted safety
precautions for the use of said scopes; Defendants being responsible under one or more of
the following principles of criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts;
and/or (2) aiding or abetting cach other in the commission of the crime by directly or
indirectly counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other,
and/or others to commit said acts, Defendants acting with the intent to commit said crime,
and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime.
COUNT 14 - CRIMINAL NEGLECT OF PATIENTS

Defendants, on or about September 21, 2007, being professional caretakers of
PATTY ASPINWALL, did act or omit to act in an aggravated, reckless or gross manner,
failing to provide such service, care or supervision as is reasonable ‘and necessary to
maintain the health or safety of said PATTY ASPINWALL, resulting in substantial bodily

17
PAWPDOCS\INDA003100379303+1 doc

169




w0 s Nt B W N

e ~ O B W N = O

[y
O

21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

O O

harm to PATTY ASPINWALL, said acts or omissions being such a departure from what
.wouId be the conduct of an ordinarily prudent, careful person under the same circumstances
that it is contrary to a proper regard for danger to human life or constitutes indifference to
the resulting consequences, said consequences of the negligent act or omission being
reasonably foreseeable; said danger to human life not being the result of inattention,
mistaken judgment or misadventure, but the natural and probable result of said aggravated
reckless or grossly negligent act or omission, by performing one or more of the following
acts: (1) by directly or indirectly instructing employees of the Endoscopy Center of
Southern Nevada, (ECSN) to administer one or more doses of the anesthetic drug Propofol
from a single use vial to more than one patient contrary to the express product labeling of
said drug and in violation of universally accepted safety precautions for the administration of
said drug; and/or (2) by creating an employment environment in which said employees were

pressured to administer one or more doses of the anesthetic drug Propofol from a single use

“vial fo more than one patient conirary to the express product labeling of said drug and in |

violation of universally accepted safety precautions for the administration of said drug;
and/or (3) by directly or indirectly instructing said employees, and/or creating an
employment environment in which said employees were pressured to reuse syringes and/or
needles and/or biopsy forceps and/or snares and/or bite blocks contrary to the express
product labeling of said items, and/or in violation of universally accepted safety precautions
for the use of said items; and/or {(4) by direcily or indirectly instructing said employees,
and/or creating an employment environment in which said employees were pressured to limit
the use of medical supplies necessary to conduct safe endoscopic procedures; and/or (5) by
directly or indirectly instructing said employees, and/or creating an employment
environment in which said employees were pressured to falsely prechart patient records
and/or rush patients through said endoscopy center and/or rush patient procedures at the
expense of patient safety and/or well being; and/or (6) by directly or indirectly scheduling
and/or treating an unreasonable number of patients per day which resulted in substandard
care and/or jeopardized the safety and/or well being of said patients; and/or (7) by directly or
18
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indirectly instructing said employees, and/or creating an employment environment in which
said employees were inadequately trained and/or pressured to provide endoscopy scopes for
patient procedures that were not adequately cleaned and/or prepared conirary to the express
manufacturers guidelines for the handling and processing of said endoscopy scopes, and/or
in violation of universally accepted safety precautions for the use of said scopes; and/or (8)
by methods unknown,; for the purpose of enhancing the financial profit of ECSN, said act(s)
or omission(s) causing the transmission of Hepatitis C virus from patient KENNETH
RUBINO to patient PATTY ASPINWALL, who was not previously infected with the
Hepatitis C virus; Defendants being responsible under one or more of the following
principles of criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts; and/or (2) aiding
or abetting each other in the commission of the crime by directly or indirectly counseling,
encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other, and/or others to
commit said acts, Defendants acting with the intent to commit said crime, and/or (3)
pursuant to a conspiracy to comunit this crime.
COUNT 15 - INSURANCE FRAUD

Defendants, did on or about September 21, 2007, knowingly and willfully present, or
cause to be presented a statement as a part of, or in support of, a claim for payment or other
benefits under a policy of insurance issued pursuant to Title 57 of the Nevada Revised
Statutes, knowing that the statement concealed or omitted facts, or contained false or
misleading information concerning a fact material to said claim; and/or did assist, abet,
solicit or conspire to present or cause to be presented a statement to an insurer, a reinsurer, a
producer, a broker or any agent thereof, knowing that said statement concealed or omitted
facts, or did contain false or misleading information concerning a fact material to a claim for
payment or other benefits under such policy issued pursuant to Title 57 of the Nevada
Revised Statutes, by falsely representing to ANTHEM BLUE CROSS AND BLUE
SHIELD that the billed anesthesia time and/or charges for the endoscopic procedure
performed on PATTY ASPINWALL were more than the actual anesthetic time and/or
charges, said false representation resulting in the payment of money to Defendants and/or
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their medical practice and/or the racketeering enterprise which exceeded that which would
have normally been allowed for said procedure; Defendants being responsible under one or
more of the following principles of criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said
acts; and/or (2) aiding or abetting each other in the commission of the crime by directly or
indirectly counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing, ot procuring each other,
and/or others to commit said acts, Defendants acting with the intent to commit said crime,
and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime.

COUNT 16 - INSURANCE FRAUD .

Defendants, did on or about September 21, 2007, knowingly and willfully present, or
cause to be presented a statement as a part of, or in support of, a claim for payment or other
benefits under a policy of insurance issued pursuant to Title 57 of the Nevada Revised
Statutes, knowing that the statement concealed or omitted facts, or contained false or

misleading information concerning a fact material to said claim; and/or did assist, abet,

producer, a broker or any agent thereof, knowing that said statement concealed or omitted
facts, or did contain false or misleading information concerning a fact material to a claim for
payment or other benefits under such policy issued pursuant to Title 57 of the Nevada
Revised Statutes, by falsely representing to UNITED HEALTH SERVICES that the billed
anesthesia time and/or charges for the endoscopic procedure performed on PATTY
ASPINWALIL were more than the actual anesthetic time and/or charges, said false
representation resulting in the payment of money to Defendants and/or their medical practice
and/or the racketeering enterprise which exceeded that which would have normally been
allowed for said procedure; Defendants being responsible under one or more of the
following principles of criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts; and/or
(2) aiding or abetting each other in the commission of the crime by directly or indirectly
counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other, and/or
others to commit said acts, Defendants acting with the intent to commit said crime, and/or
(3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime.
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COUNT 17 - PERFORMANCE OF ACT IN RECKLESS D
OR PROPERTY ISREGARD OF PERSONS

Defendants, did on or about September 21, 2007, then and there willfully and
unlawfully perform acts in willful or wanton disregard of the safety of persons or property
resulting in substantial bodily harm to SONIA ORELLANA-RIVERA, in the following
manner, to-wit: by Defendants performing one or more of the following acts: (1) by directly
administering gnd/or directly or indirectly instructing employees of the Endoscopy Center of
Southern Nevada, (ECSN) to administer one or more doses of the anesthetic drug Propofol
from a single use vial to more than one patient contrary to the express product labeling of
said drug and in violation of universally accepted safety precautions for the administration of
said drug; and/or (2) by creating an employment environment in which said employees were
pressured to administer one or more doses of the anesthetic drug Propofol from a single use

vial to more than one patient contrary to the express product labeling of said drug and in

 violation of universally accepted safety precautions for the administration of said drug; |

and/or (3) by directly reusing and/or directly or indirectly instructing said employees, and/or
creating an employment environment in which said employees were pressured to reuse
syringes and/or needles and/or biopsy forceps and/or snares and/or bite blocks contrary to
the express product labeling of said items, and/or in violation of universally accepted safety
precautions for the use of said items; and/or (4) by directly limiting and/or directly or
indirectly instructing said employees, and/or creating an employment environment in which
said employees were pressured to limit the use of medical supplies necessary to conduct safe
endoscopic procedures; and/or (5) by falsely precharting patient records and/or rushing
patients through said endoscopy center and/or rushing patient procedures at the expense of
patient safety and/or well being and/or directly or indirectly instructing said employees,
and/or creating an employment environment in which said employees were pressured to
falsely prechart patient records and/or rush patients through said endoscopy center and/or
rush patient procedures at the expense of patient safety and/or well being; and/or (6) by
directly or indirectly scheduling and/or treating an unreasonable number of patients per day
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which resulted in substandard care and/or jeopardized the safety and/or well being of said
patients; and/or (7) by directly failing to adequately clean and/or prepare endoscopy scopes,
contrary to the express manufacturers guidelines for the handling and processing of said
endoscopy scopes, and/or in violation of univefsally accepted safety precautions for the use
of said scopes and/or directly or indirectly instructing said employees, and/or creating an
employment environment in which said employees were inadequately trained and/or
pressured to provide endoscopy scopes for patient procedures that were not adequately
cleaned and/or prepared contrary to the express manufacturers guidelines for the handling
and processing of said endoscopy scopes, and/or in violation of universally accepted safety
precautions for the use of said scopes; Defendants being responsible under one or more of
the following principles of criminal lability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts:
and/or (2) aiding or abetting each other in the commission of the crime by directly or

indirectly counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other,

‘and/or others to commit said éété, Defendants acting with the intent to commit said crime,

and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime.
COUNT 18 - CRIMINAL NEGLECT OF PATIENTS

Defendants, on or about September 21, 2007, being professional caretakers of SONIA
ORELLANA-RIVERA, did act or omit to act in an aggravated, reckless or gross manner,
failing to provide such service, care or supervision as is reasonable and necessary to
maintain the health or safety of said SONIA ORELLANA-RIVERA, resulting in substaniial
bodily harm to SONIA ORELLANA-RIVERA, said acts or omissions being such a
departure from what would be the conduct of an ordinarily prudent, careful pei-son under the
same circumstances that it is contrary to a proper regard for danger to human life or
constitutes indifference to the resulting consequences, said consequences of the negligent act
or omission being reasonably foreseeable; said danger to human life not being the result of
inattention, mistaken judgment or misadventure, but the natural and probable result of said
aggravated reckless or grossly negligent act or omission, by performing one or more of the
following acts: (1) by directly or indirectly instructing employees of the Endoscopy Center
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of Southern Nevada, (ECSN) to administer one or more doses of the anesthetic drug
Propofol from a single use vial to more than one patient contrary to the express product
labeling of said drug and in violation of universally accepted safety precautions for the
administration of said drug; and/or (2) by creating an employment environment in which
said employees were pressured to administer one or more doses of the anesthetic drug
Propofol from a single use vial to more than one patient contrary to the express product
labeling of said drug and in violation of universally accepted safety precautions for the
administration of said drug; and/or (3) by directly or indirectly instructing said employees,
and/or creating an employment environment in which said employees were pressured to
reuse syringes and/or needles and/or biopsy forceps and/or snares and/or bite blocks contrary
to the express product labeling of said items, and/or in violation of universally accepted
safety precautions for the use of said items; and/or (4) by directly or indirectly instructing

said employees, and/or creating an employment environment in which said employees were

- pressured to limit the use of medical supplics necessary to conduct safe endoscopic

procedures; and/or (5) by directly or indirectly instructing said employees, and/or creating an
employment environment in which said employees were pressured to falsely prechart patient
records and/or rush patients through said endoscopy center and/or rush patient procedures at
the expense of patient safety and/or well being; and/or (6) by directly or indirectly
scheduling and/or treating an unreasonable number of patients per day which resulted in
substandard care and/or jeopardized the safety and/or weil being of said patients; and/or (7)
by directly or indirectly instructing said employees, and/or creating an employment
environment in which said employees were inadequately trained and/or pressured to provide
endoscopy scopes for patient procedures that were not adequately cleaned and/or prepared
contrary to the express manufacturers guidelines for the handling and processing of said
endoscopy scopes, and/or in violation of universally accepted safety precautions for the use
of said scopes; and/or (8) by methods unknown; for the purpose of enhancing the financial
profit of ECSN, said act(s) or omission(s) causing the transmission of Hepatitis C virus from
patient KENNETH RUBINO to patient SONIA ORELLANA-RIVERA, who was not
23
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previously infected with the Hepatitis C virus; Defendants being responsible under one or
more of the following principles of criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said
acts; and/or (2) aiding or abetting each other in the commission of the crime by directly or
indirectly counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other,
and/or others to commit said acts, Defendants acting with the intent to commit said crime,
and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime.
COUNT 19 - INSURANCE FRAUD

Defendants, did on or about September 21, 2007, knowingly and willfully present, or
cause to be presented a statement as a part of, or in support of, a claim for payment or other
benefits under a policy of insurance issued pursuant to Title 57 of the Nevada Revised
Statutes, knowing that the statement concealed or omitted facts, or contained false or
misleading information concerning a fact material to said claim; and/or did assist, abet,
solicit or conspire to present or cause to be presented a statement to an insurer, a reinsurer, a
producer, a broker or any agent thereof, knowing that said statement concealed or omitted |
facts, or did contain false or misleading information concerning a fact material to a claim for
payment or other benefits under such policy issued pursuant to Title 57 of the Nevada
Revised Statutes, by falsely representing to CULINARY WORKERS HEALTH FUND that
the billed anesthesia time and/or charges for the endoscopic procedure performed on SONIA
ORELLANA-RIVERA were more than the actual anesthetic time and/or charges, said false
representation resuiting in the payment of money to Defendants and/or their medical practice
and/or the racketeering enterprise which exceeded that which would have normally been
allowed for said procedure; Defendants being responsible under one or more of the
following principles of criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts; and/or
(2) aiding or abetting each other in the commission of the crime by directly or indirectly
counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other, and/or
others to commit said acts, Defendants acting with the intent to commit said crime, and/or
(3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime.

"
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COUNT 20 - PERFORMANCE OF ACT IN RECKLESS D
OR PROPERTY S DISREGARD OF PERSONS

Defendants, did on or about September 21, 2007, then and there willfully and
unlawfully perform acts in willful or wanton disregard of the safety of persons or property
resuifing in substantial bodily harm to CAROLE GRUESKIN, in the following manner, to-
wit: by Defendants performing one or more of the following acts: (1) by directly
administering and/or directly or indirectly instructing employees of the Endoscopy Center of
Southern Nevada, (ECSN) to administer one or more doses of the anesthetic drug Propofol
from a single use vial to more than one patient contrary to the express product labeling of
said drug and in violation of universally accepted safety precautions for the administration of
said drug; and/or (2) by creating an employment environment in which said employees were
pressured to administer one or more doses of the anesthetic drug Propofol from a single use

vial to more than one patient contrary to the express product labeling of said drug and in

violation of universally accepted safety precautions for the administration of said drug;

and/or (3) by directly reusing and/or directly or indirectly instructing said employees, and/or
creating an employment environment in which said employees were pressured to reuse
syringes and/or needles and/or biopsy forceps and/or snares and/or bite blocks contrary to
the express product labeling of said items, and/or in violation of universally accepted safety
precautions for the use of said items; and/or (4) by directly limiting and/or directly or
indirectly insiructing said employees, and/or creating an empioyment enivironment in which
said employees were pressured to limit the use of medical supplies necessary to conduct safe
endoscopic procedures; and/or (5) by falsely precharting patient records and/or rushing
patients through said endoscopy center and/or rushing patient procedures at the expense of
patient safety and/or well being and/or directly or indirectly instructing said employees,
and/or creating an employment environment in which said employees were pressured to
falsely prechart patient records and/or rush patients through said endoscopy center and/or
rush patient procedures at the expense of patient safety and/or well being; and/or (6) by
directly or indirectly scheduling and/or treating an unreasonable number of patients per day
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which resulted in substandard care and/or jeopardized the safety and/or well being of said
patients; and/or (7) by directly failing to adequately clean and/or prepare endoscopy scopes,
contrary to the express manufacturers guidelines for the handling and processing of said
endoscopy scopes, and/or in violation of universally accepted safety precautions for the use
of said scopes and/or directly or indirectly instructing said employees, and/or creating an
employment environment in which said employees were inadequately trained and/or
pressured to provide endoscopy scopes for patient procedures that were not adequately
cleaned and/or prepared contrary to the express manufacturers guidelines for the handling
and processing of said endoscopy scopes, and/or in violation of universaily accepted safety
precautions for the use of said scopes; Defendants being responsible under one or more of
the following principles of criminal liability, to wit; (1) by directly committing said acts;
and/or (2) aiding or abetting each other in the commission of the crime by directly or
indirectly counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other,
and/or others to commit said acts, Defendants acting with the intent to commit said crime,
and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime.
COUNT 21- CRIMINAL NEGLECT OF PATIENTS

Defendants, on or about September 21, 2007, being professional caretakers of
CAROLE GRUESKIN, did act or omit to act in an aggravated, reckless or gross manner,
failing to provide such service, care or supervision as is reasonable and necessary to
maintain the health or safety of said CARGLE GRUESKIN, resuiiing in substantiai bodily
harm to CAROLE GRUESKIN, said acts or omissions being such a departure from what
would be the conduct of an ordinarily prudent, careful person under the same circumstances
that it is contrary to a proper regard for danger to human life or constitutes indifference to
the resulting consequences, said consequences of the negligent act or omission being
reasonably foreseeable; said danger to human life not being the result of inattention,
mistaken judgment or misadventure, but the natural and probable result of said aggravated
reckless or grossly negligent act or omission, by performing one or more of the following
acts: (1) by directly or indirectly instructing employees of the Endoscopy Center of

26

PAWPDOCS\IND\003100379303-1 .doc

178




W 0 -1 o B WO

O R ~J [, W $a W b — o

21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

O O

Southern Nev?.da, (ECSN) to administer one or more doses of the anesthetic drug Propofol
from a single use vial to more than one patient contrary to the express product labeling of
said drug and in violation of universally accepted safety precautions for the administration of
said drug; and/or (2) by creating an employment environment in which said employees were
pressured to administer one or more doses of the anesthetic drug Propofol from a single use
vial to more than one patient contrary to the express product labeling of said drug and in
violation of universally accepted safety precautions for the administration of said drug;
and/or (3) by directly or indirectly instructing said employees, and/or creating an
employment environment in which said employees were pressured to reuse syringes and/or
needles and/or biopsy forceps and/or snares and/or bite blocks contrary to the express
product labeling of said jtems, and/or in violation of universally accepted safety precautions
for the use of said items; and/or (4) by directly or indirectly instructing said employees,

and/or creating an employment environment in which said employees were pressured to limit

“the use of medical supplies necessary to conduct safe endoscopic procedures; and/or (5) by

directly or indirectly instructing said employees, and/or creating an employment
environment in which said employees were pressured to falsely prechart patient records
and/or rush patients through said endoscopy center and/or rush patient procedures at the
expense of patient safety and/or well being; and/or (6) by directly or indirectly scheduling
and/or treating an unreasonable number of patients per day which resulted in substandard
care and/or jeopardized the safety and/or well being of said patients; and/or (7) by direcily or
indirectly instructing said employees, and/or creating an employment environment in which
said employees were inadequately trained and/or pressured to provide endoscopy scopes for
patient procedures that were not adequately cleaned and/or prepared contrary to the express
manufacturers guidelines for the handling and processing of said endoscopy scopes, and/or
in violation of universally accepted safety precautions for the use of said scopes; and/or (8)
by methods unknown; for the purpose of enhancing the financial profit of ECSN, said act(s)
or omission(s) causing the transmission of Hepatitis C virus from patient KENNETH
RUBINO to patient CAROLE GRUESKIN, who was not previously infected with the
27
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Hepatitis C virus; Defendants being responsible under one or more of the following
principles of criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts; and/or (2) aiding
or abetting each other in the commission of the crime by directly or indirectly counseling,
encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other, and/or others to
commit said acts, Defendants acting with the intent to commit said crime, and/or (3)
pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime.
CQUNT 22 - INSURANCE FRAUD

Defendants, did on or about September 21, 2007, knowingly and willfully present, or
cause to be presented a statement as a part of, or in support of, a claim for payment or other
benefits under a policy of insurance issued pursuant to Title 57 of the Nevada Revised
Statutes, knowing that the statement concealed or omitted facts, or contained false or
misleading information concerning a fact material to said claim; and/or did assist, abet,

solicit or conspire to present or cause to be presented a statement to an insurer, a reinsurer, a

producer, a broker or any agent thereof, knowing that said statement concealed or omitted

facts, or did contain false or misleading information concerning a fact material to a claim for
payment or other benefits under such policy issued pursuant to Title 57 of the Nevada
Revised Statutes, by falsely representing to HEALTH PLAN OF NEVADA that the billed
anesthesia time and/or charges for the endoscopic procedure performed on CAROLE
GRUESKIN were more than the actual anesthetic time and/or charges, said false
representation resulting in the payment of money io Defendanis and/or their medical practice
and/or the racketeering enterprise which exceeded that which would have normally been
allowed for said procedure; Defendants being responsible under one or more of the
foilowing principles of criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts; and/or
(2) aiding or abetting each other in the commission of the crime by directly or indirectly
counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other, and/or
others to commit said acts, Defendants acting with the intent to commit said crime, and/or
{(3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime.

i
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COUNT 23 - PERFORMANCE OF ACT IN RECKLESS DI
OR PROPERTY SREGARD OF PERSONS

Defendants, did on or about September 21, 2007, then and there willfully and
unlawfully perform acts in willful or wanton disregard of the safety of persons or property
resulting in substantial bodily harm to GWENDOLYN MARTIN, in the following manner,
to-wit: by Defendants performing one or more of the following acts: (1) by directly
administering and/or directly or indirectly instructing employees of the Endoscopy Center of
Southern Nevada, (ECSN) to administer one or more doses of the anesthetic drug Propofol
from a single use vial to more than one patient contrary to the express product labeling of
said drug and in violation of universally accepted safety precautions for the administration of
said drug; and/or (2) by creating an employment environment in which said employees were
pressured to administer one or more doses of the anesthetic drug Propofol from a single use

vial to more than one patient contrary to the express product labeling of said drug and in

violation of dﬁi;érsally accepted safety precautions for the administration of said drug;

and/or (3) by directly reusing and/or directly or indirectly instructing said employees, and/or
creating an employment environment in which said employees were pressured to reuse
syringes and/or needles and/or biopsy forceps and/or snares and/or bite blocks contrary to
the express product labeling of said items, and/or in violation of universally accepted safety
precautions for the use of said items; and/or (4) by directly limiting and/or directly or
indirectly insiruciing said einployees, and/or creating an empioyment environment in which
said employees were pressured to limit the use of medical supplies necessary to conduct safe
endoscopic procedures; andfor (5) by falsely precharting patient records and/or rushing
patients through said endoscopy center and/or rushing patient procedures at the expense of
patient safety and/or well being and/or directly or indirectly instructing said employees,
and/or creating an employment environment in which said employees were pressured to
falsely prechart patient records and/or rush patients through said endoscopy center and/or
rush patient procedures at the expense of patient safety and/or well being; and/or (6) by
directly or indirectly scheduling and/or treating an unreasonable number of patients per day
29
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which resulted in substandard care and/or jeopardized the safety and/or well being of said
patients; and/or (7) by directly failing to adequately clean and/or prepare endoscopy scopes,
contrary to the express manufacturers guidelines for the handling and processing of said
endoscopy scopes, and/or in violation of universally accepted safety precautions for the use
of said scopes and/or directly or indirectly instructing said employees, and/or creating an
employment environment in which said employees were inadequately trained and/or
pressured to provide endoscopy scopes for patient procedures that were not adequately
cleaned and/or prepared contrary to the express manufacturers guidelines for the handling
and processing of said endoscopy scopes, and/or in violation of universally accepted safety
precautions for the use of said scopes; Defendants being responsible under one or more of
the following principles of criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts;
and/or (2) aiding or abetting each other in the commission of the crime by directly or

indirecily counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other,

and/or others to commit said acts, Defendants acting with the intent to commit said crime,
and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime.
COUNT 24 - CRIMINAL NEGLECT OF PATIENTS

Defendants, on or about September 21, 2007, being professional caretakers of
GWENDOLYN MARTIN, did act or omit to act in an aggravated, reckless or gross manner,
failing to provide such service, care or supervision as is reasonable and necessary to
maintain the health or safely of said GWENDOLYN MARTIN, resulting in substantial
bodily harm to GWENDOLYN MARTIN, said acts or omissions being such a departure
from what would be the conduct of an ordinarily prudent, careful person under the same
circumstances that it is contrary to a proper regard for danger to human life or constitutes
indifference to the resulting consequences, said consequences of the negligent act or
omission being reasonably foreseeable; said danger to human life not being the result of
inattention, mistaken judgment or misadventure, but the natural and probable result of said
aggravated reckless or grossly negligent act or omission, by performing one or more of the
following acts: (1) by directly or indirectly instructing employees of the Endoscopy Center
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of Southern Nevada, (ECSN) to administer one or more doses of the anesthetic drug
Propofol from a single use vial to more than one patient contrary to the express product
labeling of said drug and in violation of universally accepted safety precautions for the
administration of said drug; and/or (2) by creating an employment environment in which
said employees were pressured to administer one or more doses of the anesthetic drug
Propofol from a single use vial to more than one patient contrary to the express product
labeling of said drug and in violation of universally accepted safety precautions for the
administration of said drug; and/or (3) by directly or indirectly instructing said employees,
and/or creating an employment environment in which said employees were pressured to
reuse syringes and/or needles and/or biopsy forceps and/or snares and/or bite blocks contrary
to the express product labeling of said items, and/or in violation of universally accepted
safety precautions for the use of said items; and/or (4) by directly or indirectly instructing

said employees, and/or creating an employment environment in which said employees were

pressured to limit the use of medical suppliés hecessary to conduct safe endoscopic

procedures; and/or (5) by directly or indirectly instructing said employees, and/or creating an
employment environment in which said employees were pressured to falsely prechart patient
records and/or rush patients through said endoscopy center and/or rush patient procedures at
the expense of patient safety and/or well being; and/or (6) by directly or indirectly
scheduling and/or treating an unreasonable number of patients per day which resulted in
substandard care aid/or jeopardized the safety and/or well being of said patients; and/or (7)
by directly or indirectly instructing said employees, and/or creating an employment
environment in which said employees were inadequately trained and/or pressured to provide
endoscopy scopes for patient procedures that were not adequately cleaned and/or prepared
contrary to the express manufacturers guidelines for the handling and processing of said
endoscopy scopes, and/or in violation of universally accepted safety precautions for the use

of said scopes; and/or (8) by methods unknown; for the purpose of enhancing the financial

i profit of ECSN, said act(s) or omission{s) causing the transmission of Hepatitis C virus from

patient KENNETH RUBINO to patient GWENDOLYN MARTIN, who was not previously
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infected with the Hepatitis C virus; Defendants being responsible under one or more of the
following principles of criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts; and/or
(2) aiding -or abetting each other in the commission of the crime by direcily or indirectly
counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other, and/or
others to commit said acts, Defendants acting with the intent to commit said crime, and/or
(3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime.
COUNT 25 - INSURANCE FRAUD

Defendants, did on or between September 20, 2007 and September 21, 2007,
knowingly and willfully present, or cause to be presented a statement as a patt of, or in
support of, a claim for payment or other benefits under a policy of insurance issued pursuant
to Title 57 of the Nevada Revised Statutes, knowing that the statement concealed or omitted
facts, or contained false or misleading information concerning a fact material to said claim;

and/or dld a351st abet solicit or consplre to present or cause to be presented a statement to

an insurer, a reinsurer, a producer a broker or any agent thereof knowmg that said statement

concealed or omitted facts, or did contain false or misleading information concerning a fact
material to a claim for payment or other benefits under such policy issued pursuant to Title
57 of the Nevada Revised Statutes, by falsely representing to PACIFIC CARE that the
billed anesthesia time andfor charges for the endoscopic procedure performed on
GWENDOLYN MARTIN were more than the actual anesthetic time and/or charges, said

Ise representation resuliing in the payment of money to Defendants and/or their medical
practice and/or the racketecring enterprise which exceeded that which would have normally
been allowed for said procedure; Defendants being responsible under one or more of the
following principles of criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts; and/or
(2) aiding or abetting each other in the commission of the crime by directly or indirectly
counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other, and/or
others to commit said acts, Defendants acting with the intent to commit said crime, and/or
(3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime.

i
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l COUNT 26 — THEFT
| Defendants, did between July 25, 2007 and December 31, 2007, then and there
A' knowingly, feloniously, and without lawful authority, commit theft by obtaining personal
property in the amount of $250.00, or more, lawful money of the United States, from
STACY HUTCHINSON, KENNETH RUBINO, PATTY ASPINWALL, SHARRIEFF
ZIYAD, MICHAEL WASHINGTON, CAROLE GRUESKIN and RODOLFO MEANA,
and/or ANTHEM BLUE CROSS AND BLUE SHIFELD, HEALTHCARE PARTNERS OF
NEVADA, UNITED HEALTH SERVICES, VETERANS ADMINISTRATION and
SECURED HORIZONS, by a material misrepresentation with intent to deprive those
persons of the property, in the following manner, to-wit: by falsely representing that the
billed anesthesia time and/or charges for the endoscopic procedure performed on STACY
HUTCHINSON, KENNETH RUBINO, PATTY ASPINWALL, SHARRIEFF ZIYAD,
MICHAEL WASHINGTON, CAROLE GRUESKIN and RODOLFO MEANA, were more
than the actual anesthetic time and/or charges, said false representat-ioh resulting in the |
payment of money to Defendants and/or their medical practice and/or the racketeering
enterprise, which exceeded that which would have normally been allowed for said
procedure, thereby obtaining said personal property by a material misrepresentation with
intent o deprive them of the property, Defendants being responsible under one or more of
the following principles of criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly cofnmitting said acts;
and/or {2) aiding or abetiing each other in the comimission of the crime by directly or
indirectly counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other,
and/or others to commit said acts, Defendants acting with the intent to commit said crime,
and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this ¢rime,
COUNT 27 - OBTAINING MONEY UNDER FALSE PRETENSES

Defendants, did on or between September 20, 2007, and December 31, 2007, with
intent to cheat and defraud, wilfully, unlawfully, feloniously, knowingly, designedly, and by
use of false pretenses, obtain $250.00, or more, lawful money of the United States from
GWENDOL YN MARTIN and/or PACIFICARE, within Las Vegas, Clark County, Nevada,
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in the following manner, to-wit: by falsely representing that the billed anesthesia times
and/or charges for the endoscopic procedures performed on GWENDOLYN MARTIN were
more than the actual anesthetic times and/or charges, said false representation resulting in the
payment of money to Defendants and/or the medical practice and/or the racketeering
enterprise, which exceeded that which would have normally been allowed for said
procedures Defendants being responsible under one or more of the following principles of
criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts; and/or (2) aiding or abetting
each other in the commission of the crime by directly or indirectly counseling, encouraging,
hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other, and/or others to commit said acts,
Defendants acting with the intent to commit said crime, and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy
to commit this crime.
COUNT 28 - OBTAINING MONEY UNDER FALSE PRETENSES

Defendants, did on or between September 21, 2007, and December 31, 2007, with

intent to cheat and defraud, wilfully, unlawfully, feloniously, knowingly, designedly, and by

use of false pretenses, obtain $250.00, or more, lawful money of the United States from
SONIA ORELLANA-RIVERA and/or CULINARY WORKERS HEALTH FUND, within
Las Vegas, Clark County, Nevada, in the following manner, to-wit: by falsely representing
that the billed anesthesia times and/or charges for the endoscopic procedures performed on
SONIA ORELLANA-RIVERA were more than the actual anesthetic times and/or charges,
said false representation resulting in the payment of money to Defendants and/or the medical
practice and/or the racketeering enterprise, which exceeded that which would have normally
been allowed for said procedures Defendants being responsible under one or more of the
following principles of criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts; and/or
(2) aiding or abetting each other in the commission of the crime by directly or indirectly
counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other, and/or
others to commit said acts, Defendants acting with the intent to commit said crime, and/or
(3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime,

i
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COUNT 29 - MURDER (SECOND DEGREE)

- Defendants, did on or between September 21, 2007 and April 27, 2012, then and there
wilifully, feloniously, without authority of law, and with malice aforethought, kill
RODOLFO MEANA, a human being, by introducing Hepatitis C virus into the body of
RODOLFO MEANA, based upon the following principles of criminal liability, to-wit: (1)
by the killing occurring under circumstances showing an abandoned and malignant heart;
and/or (2) during the commission of an unlawful act, to-wit: criminal neglect of patients,
and/or performance of an unlawful act in reckless disregard of persons or property, which in
its consequences, naturally tends to destroy the life of a human being; and/or (3) the killing
being committed in the prosecution of a felonious intent, to-wit: criminal neglect of patients,
and/or performance of an act in reckless disregard of persons or property, which in its
consequences, naturally tends to destroy the life of a human being, by directly or indirectly

using and/or introducing contaminated medical instruments, supplies, and/or drugs upon or

into the body of RODOLFO MEANA which were contaminated with the Hepatitis C virus; |
Defendants being responsible under one or more of the following principles of criminal
liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts; and/or (2) by aiding or abetting each
other and/or others including uncharged confederates in the commission of the crime(s) of
criminal neglect of patients, and/or performance of an act.in reckless disregard of persons or
property by directly or indirectly counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing, or
procuring each other, and/or others to uiilize a paiient care delivery system which directly or
indirectly limited the use of medical instruments, and/or supplies, and/or drugs; scheduled
and/or treated an unreasonable number of patients per day, and/or rushed patients or patient
procedures all at the expense of patient safety and/or well being, and which resulted in
"

"

i
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substandard care and/or jeopardized the safety of RODOLFO MEANA, Defendants acting
with the intent to commit the crime(s) of criminal neglect of patients, and/or performance of
an act in reckless disregard of persons or property; and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to
commit the crime(s) of criminal neglect of patients, and/or performance of an act in reckless
disregard of persons or property, Defendants acting in concert throughout.
DATED this 4 day of December, 2012.
STEVEN B. WOLFSON

DISTRICT ATTORNEY
Nevada Bar #001565

BY

Chief Deputy District Attorney
Nevada Bpar #008273
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Names of witnesses testifying before the Grand Jury:
ARMOUR, PATRICIA, NV, HEALTH DISTRICT
ASPINWALL, PATTY

BAGANG, MAYNARD, LVMPD

CAMPBELL, LYNETTE, RN

CAROL, CLIFFORD

CARRERA, HILARIO

CERDA, RYAN, HEALTH CARE BUSINESS SOLUTIONS
DESAIL SAEHAL

DROBENINE, JAN, CDC LAB SUPERVISOR
DUENAS, YERENY, INSURANCE CLAIMS

GONZALES, PATRICIA, BLUE CROSS DIRECTOR DEPT.

GRUESKIN, CAROLE
HAWKINS, MELVIN

HUTCHINSON, STACY

KALKA, KATIE, UNITED HEALTH GROUP INV.
KHUDYAKOV, YURY, CDC

KRUEGER, JEFFREY ALEN, RN

LABUS, BRIAN, NV HEALTH DISTRICT
LANGLEY, GAYLE, CDC PHYSICIAN
LOBIANBO, ANNAMARIE, CRNA

MARTIN, GWENDOLYN

MEANA, RODOLFO

MYERS, ELAINE, CLAIMS DIRECTOR
NEMEC, FRANK, GASTROENTEROLOGIST
OLSON, ALANE, MEDICAL EXAMINER
RIVERA, SONIA ORELLONO

RUBINO, KENNETH
37
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RUSHING, TONYA, OFFICE MGR.

SAGENDORF, VINCENT, CRNA

SAMPSON, NANCY, LVMPD

SAMS, JOANNE, VET ADMIN. CODER
'SCHAEFER, MELISSA, CDC PHYSICIAN

SHARMA, SATISH, ANESTHESIOLOGIST

SIMS, DOROTHY, BUREAU OF LICENSING AND CERTIFICATION
SPAETH, CORRINE, CLAIMS DIRECTOR

VANDRUFF, MARION, MEDICAL ASSISTANT

WASHINGTON, MICHAEL

YEE, THOMAS, ANESTHESIOLOGIST

YOST, ANNE, NURSE
ZIYAD, SHARRIEFF

Additional witnesses known to the District Attorney at time of filing the Indictment:
ALFARO-MARTINEZ, SAMUEL

ANWAR, JAVAID, 3006 MARYLAND PKWY #400, LVN 89109
ARBOREEN, DAVE, LVMPD

ARMENL PAOLA

ARNONE, ANTHONY, LVMPD

ASHANTE, DR.

BAILEY, PAULINE, 3416 MONTE CARLO DR., LVN 89121
BARCLAY, DR. ROBERT :

BIEN, KATHY, 3800 DALECREST DR. #1117, LVN 89129
BLEMINGS, RENATE, 2100 PLAIN ST., PAHRUMP, NV 89060
BROWN, DAVID

BUI, DR.

BUNIN, DANIEL
38
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BURKIN, JERALD, FBI SA
CALVALHO, DANIEL, CARRERA

CARAWAY, ANTOINETTE, 1407 BAREBACK CT., HNV 89014
CARRERA, ELADIO, 612 CANYON GREENS DR., LVN 89144
CARROLL, CLIFFORD, 10313 ORKINEY DR., LVN 89144
CASTLEMAN, DR. STEPHANIE

CAVETT, JOSHUA, 7829 TATTERSALL FLAG ST., LVN 89139
CHAFFEE, ROD, 9303 GILCREASE #1080, LVN 89149
CLEMMER, DANA MARIE, 4913 FERRELL ST., NLVN 89034
COE, DANIEL, LVMPD

COHAN, DR. CHARLES, POB 4144, SAYLORSBURG, PA
COOK, KATIE, FBI S/A

COOPER, DOUG, CHIEF INV., NV. ST. BOARD OF ME
CRANE, AUSA |

CREMEN, FRANK

DESAL DIPAK, 3093 RED ARROW, LVN 89135

DESAL KUSAM, MD

DIAZ, ALLEN, LYMPD INTERPRETER

DIBUDUO, CHARLES

DORAME, JOHN

DRURY, JANINE

ECKERT, PHYSICIAN ASST.

ELLEN, DIANE

FALZONE, LISA, 8024 PEACEFUL WOODS STREET, LVN 89143
FARIS, FRANK

FIGLER, DAYVID

' FISHCHER, GAYLE, 1600 CLIFTON MAIL STOP #G37, ATLANTA, GA. 30333

FORD, MIKE, LVMPD
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FRANKS, LISA, PHYSICIAN ASST.
GASKILL, SARA

GENTILE, DOMINIC

GLASS-SERAN, BARBARA, CRNA

GRAY, WARREN, LVMPD

GREER, MARY, 3462 SHAMROCK AVE., LVN 89120

GREGORY, MARTHA

HAHN, JASON, LVMPD

HANCOCK, L., LVMPD #7083

HANSEN, IDA

HARPER, TIFFANY

HARRIS, ORELENA (HOLLEMAN), 2816 DESERT SONG, LVN 89106
HERRERO, CARMELO, 1864 WOODHAVEN DR., HNV 89074
HIGGINS, HEATHER, INV. NV. ST. BOARD OF ME

HIGUERA, LILIA, 3504 FLOWER, NLVN 89030

HITTL, DR. MIRANDA

HOWARD, NADINE, HEALTH FACILITIES SURVEYOR

HUBBARD, LINDA, 515 PARK ROYAL DR., NLVN 89031

HUGHES, LAURA, AG INV.

HUYNH, NGUYEN, 3004 HAZY MEADOW LN.,
IRVIN, JOHNNA

JOHNSON, SHONNA §., 22 VIA DE LUCCIA, HNV 89074

JONES, LISA, CHIEF NSB OF LICENSURE AND CERTIFICATION (BLC)
JURANI, DR.

KIRCH, MARLENE

KAUL, DR.

KAUSHAL, DR. DHAN

VN 82108

p=t

KELLEY, I., LVMPD #3716
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KHAN, IKRAM, 3006 S. MARYLAND PKWY, #465 LVN 89109
KNOWLES, DR.

KOSLOY, LESLEE, RN, HEALTH FACILITIES SURVEYOR
LAKEMAN, RONALD, 700 SHADOW LN #165B, LVN 89106
LATHROP, CAROL, 1741 AUGUSTA ST., PAHRUMP, NV 89048
LATHROP, WILLIAM

LEWIS, DR. DANIEL

LOBIONDA, CRNA

LOPEZ, J. JULIAN, 7106 SMOKE RANCH RD. #120 LVN 89128
LUKENS, JOHN

MAANOA, PETER, RN

MALEY, KATIE, 4275 BURNHAM #101, LVN

MALMBERG, GEORGE

MANTHEI, PETER, 7066 AZURE BEACH AZURE ST., LVN 89148
MANUEL, DR. DAVID

MARTIN, LOVEY

MASON, ALBERT

MATHAHS, KEITH, 10220 BUTTON WILLOW DR., LVN 89134
MCDOWELL, RALPH, 388 SANTA CANDIDA ST., LVN 89138
MCGOWAN, SHANNON, 5420 CARNATION MEADOW ST., LVN 89130
MCILROY, ROBIN, FBI

MILLER, JAMES

MIONE, VINCENT, 2408 W. EL CAMPO GRANDE AVE., NLVN 89031
MOORE, DAVID

MUKHERJEE, RANADER, MD

MURPHY, MAGGIE, 10175 W. SPRING MTN RD. #2012 LVN 89117
NAYYAR, SANJAY, MD

NAZAR, WILLIAM
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NAZARIO, DR. BRUNILDA

OM, HARI, LLC MGR

O’REILLY, JOHN

O’REILLY, TIM

PAGE-TAYLOR, LESLIE, CDC

PATEL, DR.

PENSAKOVIC, JOAN

PETERSON, KAREN, 2138 FT. SANDERS ST., HNV
PHELPS, LISA, 784 MORMON PEAK ST., OVERTON, NV 89040
POMERANZ, AUSA

PRESTON, LAWRENCE, 801 S. RANCHO DR., STE C-1, LVN
QUANNAH, LAKOTA

REXFORD, KEVIN

RICHVALSKY, KAREN, 3325 NIGUL WAY, LVN 89117
ROSEL, LINDA, FBI SA

RUSSOM, RUTA, 4854 MONTERREY AVE., LVN 89121
SAGENDORF, VINCENT

SAMEER, DR. SHEIKH

SAPP, BETSY, PHLEBOTOMIST

SCAMBIO, JEAN, 2920 YUKON FLATS CT., NLVN 89031
SCHULL, JERRY, 5413 SWEET SHADE ST., LVN

SENI, DR.

SHARMA, DR. SATISH
SHARMA, VISHVINDER, DR. 3212 CEDARDALE PL., LVN 89134

SHEFNOFF, NEIL, 755 E. MCDOWELL RD., PHOENIX, AZ 85006
SMITH, CHARNESSA
SOOD,RAJAT
STURMAN, GLORIA
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SUKHDEO, DANIEL, 3925 LEGEND HILLS ST. #203, LVN 85129

TAGLE, PEGGY, RN '

TERRY, JENNIFER, LVMPD INTERPRETER

TONY, DR.

VAZIRI, DR.

WAHID, SHAHID, MD

WEBB, KAREN, 1459 S. 14TH ST., OMAHA, NE

WHITAKER, GERALDINE, 701 CARPICE DR. #17B, BOULDER CITY, NV 89005
WHITELY, R. LVMPD

WILLIAMS, SKLAR, RESIDENT AGENT, 8363 W. SUNSET RD. #300, LVN 89113
WISE, PATTY

YAMPOLSKY, MACE

ZIMMERMAN, MARILYN, 550 SEASONS PKWY, BELVIDERE, IL 89040

09BGJ049A-C/10F03793A-C/09BGI119A-C /sam-MVU
LVMPD EV #0802292576
(TK11)
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IIE}Iegada Bar?\ig 835G HT GLERK OF THE COURT
MARGARET M. STANISH
Nevada Bar No. 4057

WRIGHT STANISH & WINCKLER
300 S. Fourth Street, Suite 701
Las Vegas, NV 89101
(702) 382-4004
Attorneys for Dipak Desai
DISTRXCT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

THE STATE OF NEVADA,
Consolidated Case Nos. C265107
Plaintiff, C-12-283381
Dept. XXI
vs.

Hearing Date: December 11, 2012

DIPAK KANTILAL DESAI #1240942,
Hearing Time: 9:30 a.m.

Defendant.

i
S L N N
i

DEFENDANT DESAI’S REPLY TO STATE’S RETURN TG WRIT OF HABTAS
CORPUS REGARDING THE MURDER INDICTMENT
A. Facially Defective Indictment Violating Procedural and Substantive Due Process
Desai’s first argument for habeas relief and dismissal of the murder indictment is a

procedural and substantive due process challenge based on the defective charging langunage of
the second-degree felony murder offense. The murder indictment is defective on its face
because it omits the immediate-and-direct-causal-relationship element that is required by the
Nevada Supreme Court. See, Ramirez v. State, 126 Nev. Adv. Op. 22,235 P.3d4 619, 621-23
(2010); Labastida v. State, 115 Nev. 298, 306-07, 986 P.2d 443, 448-49 (1999); Sheriffv.
Morris, 99 Nev. 109, 118, 659 P.2d 852, 859 (1983). Moreover, the second-degree felony

murder charge, on its face, subverts substantive due process by alleging, in the alternative, that
multiple defendants “indirectly” performed negligent acts and they were “indirectly” responsible
for Rodolfo Meana’s death. '
1/
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The State’s Return gives short shrift to the facial challenge to the indictment, Fitst, it
argues that it satisfied the notice pleading requirements by ¢iting the applicable statutes and
alleging factual averments and theories of criminal liability. State’s Return, p. 5. The State
also misinterprets Morris and its progeny, The State argues, “While the State agrees with the

line of cases cited by the defense which requires a petit jury to make spcific findings to convict
on a theory of second degree felony murder, there is ne case or statue which imposed the same
requirement on a grand jury,” State’s Return, pp. 5-8. This argument ignores the significance
c;f Jjudicially-created elements of an offense and the constitutional procedural and substantive
due process. It also ignores the fact that Morris involved the dismissal of a facially defective
indictment “in view of [the Nevada Supreme Court’s] holding concerning the necessary
elements of proof in-a criminal prosecution under the provisions of NRS 200.070.” Morris, 99
Nev. 120, 659 P.2d at 860.

Judicially-created elements of an offense must be alleged in the indictment. See, United

States v. Keith, 605 F.2d 462, 463 (9th Cir,1979) (dismissing involuntary murder indictment
that tracked involuntary murder statute but did not include the judicially-created “gross

negligence” element); United States v. Parisien, 515 F. Supp. 24, 25-26 (N.D. D.C.

1981)(same); ** Morris, 99 Nev. at 118-20, 659 P.2d at 859-60 (dismissing second-degree

felony murder indictment based on insufficient pleading of judicially-created clements); see
generally, W. Lal'ave, 5 Crim.Proc., §19.3(a)(3d ed.), “Failure to Allege Essential Elements”
(2012).

Reciting the stafutory language meets due process notice requitement only when the
statute “fully, directly, and expressly, without any uncertainty or ambiguity, set forth all the
elements necessary to constitute the offense.” Hamling v. United States, 418 U.S. 87, 117
(1977). Tracking the statutory language is insufficient if the indictment does not include the
essential elements of the offense established in case law. Keith, 605 F.2d at 463-64. The Ninth
Circuit in Keith rejected an argument similar to the one now posed by the State to salvage the
defective indictment:

i
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The Government contends that the indictment is sufficient because it tracks the

- -language of [the federal involuntary murder statute]. The Goveriment’s
contention is incorrect. Although an indictment tracking the language of the
statute is usually adequate because statutes usually include all the elements of a
crime, an indictment is inadequate when it fails to allege an essential element of
the offense even when it tracks the language of the statute.

Keith, 605 F.2d at 464.
The State argues that the indictment is sufficient, arguing;
The Petitioner claims that because the indictment does not include language as fo
the immediate and direct causal relationship with regard to a second degree
murder charge based on second degree felony murder, that indictment is
somehow deficient. First of all, the caption of the indictment contains the
citations to the specific statues under which Petitioner is charged, As such, there
is a complete inclusion of the statutory language and the elements of those
statutes which are all that is required under nofice pleading. In addition, the
charge of murder itself contains the factual averments and all theories of eriminal
liability on which the State is proceeding.

State’s Return, p. 5.

To be clear, Desai is not arguing that the indictment is “somehow deficient” because it

is constitutionally and fatally defective on its face because it omits an essential element of
second-degree felony murder. Furthermore, its imprecise “and/or” and “directly or indirectly”
factual averments do not adequately support this essential element.

Contrary to the State’s implication, the Nevada Supreme Comt’s interpretation of the
second-degree felony murder statute in the above-cited cases is not “judicial gloss” on the
proximate cause element to be fettered out more fully by a petit jury. Itis an essential element
of the offense designed to limit the scope of the statutory language with the stated purpose of

preventing “untoward prosecutions,” Ramirez, 235 P.3d. at 622. “[IJf courts have added a

significant refinement in the interpretation of a particular statutory element, that element often
must be pleaded as interpreted rather than as stated in the statutory language, especially if the
Judicial interpretation substantially limits the scope of the statutory language.” LaFave, supra,
text accompanying note 47.

- The Nevada Supreme Court clearly set forth the essential elements that it created to limit

the scope of the statute:
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{T]he second-degree felony-murder rule only applies when the Jollowing two
elements are satisfied: (1) “where the fpredicate] felony is inherently dangerous,
where death or injury is a directly foreseeable consequence of the iliegal act,” and
(2) “where there is an immediate and direct causal relationship—without the
intervention of some other source or agency—between the actions of the
defendant and the victim's death.”

Ramirez, 235 P.3d. at 622. [Emphasis added and citations omitted.]

The Mouis case involved both a substantive and procedural due process challenge to an

indictment charging second degree murder in a pretrial habeas corpus proceeding. In Morris,
the Nevada Supreme Court first recognized the offense of second-degree felony murder, See,

Ramirez, 235 P.3d at 621-22 (explaining the judicial evolution of the elements of the second-

degree felony murder rule). The Morris Court expressly limited the application of second-

degree felony murder and felonious intent murder by creating the following three elements: (1)

the predicate felony must be inherently dangerous in the abstract;' (2) the death must be 2

directly foreseeable consequence of the felony; and (3) the d_efendant’ s conduct must be the

-immed_iate and direct cause of the death without the intervention of some other source or
agency. 99 Nev. at 118-19, 659 P.2d at 859. Although the indictment contained the statutory
language, the Nevada Supreme Court granted habeas relief, ruling that it was fatally defective
because it failed to allege specific facts to satisfy the necessary elements articulated by the
Court, See, 99 Nev. at 112 & 119-20, 659 P.2d at 855 & 860.

The instant indictment violates procedural due process because it does not allege the
Judicially-created elements nor specific facts connecting Desai to each element. The indictment
also violates substantive due process because it pleads in the alternative that Desai indirectly
performed acts that lead to the patient’s death and was indirectly responsible for the death., The
State’s return does not appear to address the substantive due process argument. This instant
indictment is, therefore, facially defective in contravention of procedural and substantive due

process.

! The Nevada Sﬁpfeme Court subsequently clariﬁéd this element in Labastida, stating
that it must be analyzed by looking at the manner in which the defendant committed the felony as
opposed to analyzing the felony in the abstract. 115 Nev. at 307, 986 P.2d at 859,

4
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B. The Grand Jury Instructions were Defective

The grand jury instructions did not include the direct-and-immediate-causal-relationship
element, The State cites pre-1985 case law in support of its argument that it is not required to
instruct the grand jury on the law. State’s Return, p 5, discussing }leer v. Sheriff, 93 Nev. 561,
S71P.2d 114 (1977). In 1985, the Legislature added the statutory provision that mandated the
prosecution to instruct the grand jury on the elements of the offence; “Before seeking an
indictment, or a series of similar indictments, the district attorney shall inform the grand jurors
of the specific elements of any public offense which they may consider as the basis of the
indictment or indictments.” NRS 172.095(2), added by SB 107, 63d Sess., Nev. Stat,, p.1028
(1985).

The State also relies heavily on Schuster v. Dist. Ct., 123 Nev, 187, 160 P.3d 873 (2007)

to support its argument that it was not obligated to instruct the grand jury on the immediate and

direct causal relationship element. This case held that the prosecution was not obligated to

In the instant habeas petition, Desaj avgues that the prosecution did not instruct the grand
Jury on the essential element of the second-degree felony murder and felonious intent offense,
i.e., the judicially-created direct-and-immediate-cansal-relationship element., Moreover, the
prosecution misstated the law to the grand jury. _ _

The State argues that it i)l'operly instructed the grand jury because the indictment cited
the applicable murder statutes and it gave the following instruction:

Now you have previously found related to this victim, because you returned a
true bill as to both the criminal neglect of patient charge as well as performance
of an act in reckless disregard, you have to make a determination nnder one
scenario whether or not those are dangerous felonies. Did they result in
harm or death to someone? The other aspect of it is based on all of the
information you have, were the actions of these individuals either directly, or by
aiding and abetting each other, or by conspiring, reckless to the point that they
caused someone 1o have a depraved hear or reckless indifference to human life,
that kind of thing, and that’s what you’re here to determine.

State’s Return, p. 8 (emphasis in original), citing GJ Transcript, pp. 60-61.
As previously argued, the State’s instruction to the grand jiwy omitted the direct-and-

immediate-causal-relationship element. The above highlighted text is an incorrect and
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incomplete statement of second-degree felony murder. First, it directs the grand jury to

determine whether the predicate offenses were “dangerous felonies.” This appears to direct the

grand jury to make an abstract finding of whether the predicate offenses in and of themselves
are dangerous felonies. Labastida requires that the dangerous felony element be analyzed by
looking at the manner in which a defendant commiited the predicate offense as opposed to

analyzing the felony in the abstract. 115 Nev. at 307, 986 P.2d at 859.

Secondly, the highlighted phrase of “Did they result in harm or death to someone?” does
not equate to the direct-and-immediate-causal-relationship clement developed by the Nevada
Supreme Court, At best, it is an imprecise and impermissibly watered down instruction on_
factual cause. In short, the incomplete and incortect elements of the second-degree murder and
felonious intent murder impinged on Desai’s due process procedural rights to a fair grand jury,
as required by NRS 172.095(2) and the Due Process Clause of the Nevada Constitution.

C. Conclusion -
- Based on fhe foregomg 7érnrdrpl;eviouﬂslj-r sublmtted -lﬁ.e-titic;ﬁ; Deéai respectfully requests
this Court to dismiss the murder indictment. The State should not be permitted to cavalietly
charge second-degree felony murder and felonious intent murder in disregard of the Nevada

Supreme Court’s tulings in Morris and its progeny and fundamental procedural and substantive

due process,
DATED this 4th day of Deéember 2012,
Respectiully Submitted,
WRIGHT STANISH &
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

IHEREBY CERTIFY that on the 4th day of December, 2012, I caused a copy of the
foregoing DEFENDANT DESAY’S REPLY TO STATE’S RETURN TO WRIT OF
HABEAS CORPUS REGARDING THE MURDER INDICTMENT to be served via
clectronic filing, emailed, hand delivered, facsimile or placed in the United States mail, postage
prepaid, to the following persons at their last known address as listed below:

Michael V. Staudaher

Chief Deputy District Attorney
200 Lewis Ave

Las Vegas, NV 89101

By: {Ql,dbé’-«'-(.« M

An employee of Wright Stanish & Winckler
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STEVEN B. WOLFSON

Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar #001565
MICHAEL V, STAUDAHER
Chief Deputy District Attorney
Nevada Bar #008273

200 Lewis Avenue

Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212
§702) 671-2500

tatc of Nevada
" DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA.
In the Matter of Application,
of CASENO. (C-10-265107-1
DIPAK KANTILAL DESAL .
#1240042 DEPTNO.  XXI
for a Writ of Habeas Corpus. J

RETURN TO WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS

DATE OF HEARING: DECEMBER 11, 2012
TIME OF HEARING: 9:30 AM.

COMES NOW, DOUGLAS C. GILLESPIE, Sheriff of Clark County, Novada,
Respondent, through his counsel, STEVEN B. WOLFSON, District Attorney, through
MICHAEL V, STAURAHER, Chisf Deputy District Attorney, in response to a Petition for
Writ of Habeas Corpus, and set for hearing on the 11th day of December. 2012, at the hour
0f 9:30 o’clock A.M., before the above-entitled Court, and states as follows:

1. Respondent admits the allegations of Paragraphs 3. 6 and 10 of the
Petitioner’s Petition for Wit of Habeas Corpus.

2. Respondent denies the allegations of Paragraph 4 of the Petitioner’s
Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus. - -

3. Paragraphs 1, 2, 7; 8, and 9 do not require admission or denial.

I
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4. The Petitioner is in, the constructive custody of DOUGLAS C.
GILLESPIE, Clark County Sheriff,.Respondent herein, pursuant to a Criminal Amended
Indictment, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit 1 and incorporated by reference

herein.
Wherefore, Respondent prays that the Petition for Writ of l{abeas Corpus be

dismissed.
DATED this 20th day of November, 2012.
Respectfully submitted,

STEVEN B. WOLFSON

Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar # 001565

BY /s/ Michael V. Staudaher
e ‘ "MICHAEL V. STAUDAIER
G Chief Deputy District Attorney
v Nevada Bar #008273

POINTS AND AUTHORITIES
PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Respondent adopts the procedural history outlined in Dipak Desai’s Petition before

this Court. .
FACTUAL BACKGROUND

The following factual background is pertinent to the charge at issuc in the Petitioner’s
Writ of Habeas Corpus. In April of 2012, it became readily apparent that victim Rodolfo
Meana would likely die from the Hepatitis C infection he contracted at the Endoscopy
Center of Southern Nevada (ECSN) on September 21, 2007. On April 27, 2012, Detective
Maynard Bangang of the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department (LVMPD) learned that
Victim Meana had died. Grand Jury Transcript (August 10, 2012_),_ %1_er_einaﬁer, (GJT) pg 14.

Detective Bangang, along with Medical Examiner Alane Olson, subsequently traveled to the

Philippines to attend the autopsy of Victim Meana and to retrieve biological samples from

that autops:.y. QJT pgs 14-15.
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Once Detective Bangang arrived in the Philippines he helped to facilitate the autopsy
of Vigtim Meana. Detective Bangang 1denhfied Victim Meana’s body and confirmed with
Victim Meana’s family that they had gwen their consent to have the autopsy performed.
GJT pgs 15-17. The autopsy began and Detective Bangang, along with Medical Examiner
Olson, observed the autopsy from beginning to end. GIT pg 17. Dr. Olson not only
observed the autopsy, but c_dllected biological samples from Victim Meana for later analysis.
The obtained samples were sealed in approved specified medical containers and were kept in
the custody of Dr, Olson during her return to the United States. GIT pg 15.

Dr. Olson subsequently examined the biological samples she obtained during the
autopsy. GIT pg 26. Prior to Dr. Olson traveling to the Philippines for the autopsy,
however, she reviewed the medical records for Victim Meana including medical treatments

he had received, his various hospitalizations and his medical condition predating the

infection he contracted at the ECSN on September 21, 2007. GIT pgs 26-27. Dr. Olson

utilized these records in her analysis and eﬁ‘;rccd with the findings in the death certificate for
Victim Meana that he suffered frorn a grade four hepatic and uremic encephalopathy. Dr.
Olson also concwred with the findings showing that an antecedent cause of Victim Meana’s
death was sepsis with an underlying cause being Hepatitis C and chronic kidney disease.
GIT pg 33. In addition, Dr. Olson also reviewed the report of the autopsy, which she had
observed, and concurred that the report was consistent with both her findings and those
contained in the death certificate. .GIT pg. 36, |

Dr, Olson testified that Victim Meana’s liver was small and scarred on direct
observation and this finding was consistent with scarring caused from a Hepatitis C
infection. GIT pgs 42-43. Dr. Olson further noted that laboratory studies performed by the
Philippine examiners showed positive results for Victim Meana having an active Hepatitis C
infection at the time of his death. Dr, Olson stated that her examination was also consistent
with signs of an active Hepatitis C: mfectlon GIT pg 43.

During the autopsy, Dr. Olson observled the presence of a significant amount of acites

fluid in the abdominal cavity which was consistent with cirthosis, GJT pg. 47. Dr. Olson
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testified that the tissues of Victim 'Meana’s liver also showed signs of iuflammation which
indicated that he had ongoing damlage and liver failure caused from the active Hepatitis C
infection. Id.

When questioned about whether there was any medical evidence or record of Victim
Meana having had an active H'cpatitis C infection prior to his going to the ECSN for his
colonoscopy on Sapterflber 21, 20Q7,' Dr. Olson stated that there was no evidence of any
prior infection. GJT iags 47-48. I::)r: Olson further stated that there was also 1o evidence that
Victim Meana suffered from liver disease, cirrhosis, liver failure or any other liver disorder
prior to him going o the ECSN on September 21, 2007. GIT pg 48.

When questioned about the presence of any other condition or discase process which
may have contributed to Victim Meana’s cirrhosis such as alcohol abuse, Dr. Olson stated
that that there was no suc':h' evidence. Id. Conversely, Dr. Olson stated that medical records
showed that Victim Meana developeq an active Hepatitis C infection following his visit to
the ECSN. Id. Ultimately, Dr. Olson testified that Vietim Meana died as a result of chronic
active hepatitis associated with his Hepatitis C infection. GJT pg 48-49, 52.

ARGUMENT

At a grand jury presentment, or preliminary hearing, the State’s burden is limited to
slight or marginal evidence. See Mirildleton v. State, 112 Nev. 956, 961, 921 P.2d 282, 286
(1996) quoting Sheriff v. Hodes, 96 Nev. 184, 606 P.2d 178, 189 (1980)“[A)t the

preliminary hearing stage, probable cause to bind a defendant over for trial *may be based on

“slight,” even “marginal” evidence because it does not involve a determination of guilt or
innocence of the accused.””) “To commit an accused for trial, the State is not required to
negate all inferences which mighE explain his conduct, but only to present enough evidence
to support a reasonable infergncej' that the accused committed the offense.” Kinsey v.
Sheriff, 87 Nev. 361, 363, 487 P.2d ‘340, 341 (1971); gee also. Sheriff v. Milton, 109 Nev.
412, 851 P.2d 417 (1993); Lamb v. Holsten, 85 Nev. 566, 568, 459 P.2d 771, 772 (1969);
Johason v. State, 82 Nev. 338, 341,418 P.2d 495, 496 (1966).

T
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Although Petitioner raises the lack of probable cause in his petition, he fails to site to
a single place in the record pertaining to evidence that was or was not presented to the grand
jury to support that contention. Since the main purpose of bringiﬁg a Writ of Habeas Corpus
is to elucidate the failure of the Sfate to bring forth sufficient probable cause to bind the
Petitioner over to district court for ﬁi;;l, the complete absence of any citation to the record in
this regard illusirates that the State met its burden.
L The Indictment Is Sufficient

The Petitioner claims that because the indictment does not include language as to the

immediate and direct causal relationship with regard to a second degree murder charge based
on second degree felony murder, =théfc the indictment is somehow deficient. First of all, the
caption of the indictment contains the citations to the specific statutes undler which Petitioner
is charged. As such, there is a complete inélusion of the statutory language and the elements
of those statutes which are ‘all that is required under notice pIeadiné. In addition, the charge

of murder itself contains the factual averments and all theories of criminal liability on which

the State is proceeding.

Second, despite ﬂ‘lt;: Petitioner’s assertion to the contrary, thcfe has never been a
requirement in Nevada that the prosecution provide specific and detailed instruction on the
law to the grand jury. Hyvlerv. Shcriff', 93 Nev. 561, 564, 571 P.2d 114, 116 (1997). In fact,
the Nevada Supreme Court held in Hyler that “it is not mandatory for the prosecuting

attorney to instruct the grand jury on the law.” 1d. See also Phillips v. Sheriff, 03 Nev. 309,
312, 565 P.2d 330, 332 (1977), (wht;re the Court stated that there is “no requirement upon
the prosecuting attorney to offer g“r.atliitous explanations of every legal matter that may or
may not become relevant to j:he further prénsbcution of the case”).

Likewise more recently in Schuster v. Dist. Ct., 123 Nev, 187, 160 P.3d 873 (2007), a

murder case in which the defense claimed that the prosecution should have instructed the
grand jury on self defense, the Nevada Supreme Court reiterated its previous position and
held that: -
I o
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The finding of probable cause does not involve a determination
of the %t or innocénce of an accused, and this court has
cons1stently held tHat to seture an mdlctment the State iy not
required to negate all inferences which might cxplain awuy an
accused’s conduct. This court has further held that it is mot
mandatory of the prosecuting attornev to instruct the grand

on the law. Id.
%empﬁasm aHHe?i)(ﬁtemal quotes omitted).

The Court in Schuster went on to state that the legislature set up a statutory scheme in

which the grand jury’s role is ma'inl_y investigative and accusatory. The Court further stated
that the Legislature did not expand ,t'h‘e requirement of the State in presenting evidence to the
grand jury to include instruction on the legal significance of any evidence. The Court stated
that the role of the grand jury is “to investigate, obtain, and review evidcnce, and based on
that evidence, to determine whether there is probable cause to believe that a crime has been
corunitted and that a pamcular person or persons committed it. Id, at 192, 160 P.3d at 887.

Similarly in Macstas V. Stat;.-' 275 P:3d 74, 128 Nev. Adv. Op. 12 (2012), a murder
case involving aggravating cucumstances which were not pled in the information, the
defense brought a challenge to the information on that bagis. The defense argued that
because the information did not allege that ﬂ:lﬂ aggravating circumstances outweighed the
mitigating circumstances that the information was defective and violated the defendant’s
federal constitutional rights. Id. at 86. The Nevada Supreme Court rejected this position,
however, while acknowledging tha’g"“the aggravaﬁng circumstances musl be submitted to a
jury :and proved beyond a rcasonab‘lé doubt.” Id. ‘The Court stated that although facts and
circumstances must be submittedl to a jury and also charged in an indictment in federal
prosecutions, the same does not hold true for the State since that requirement has not been
incorporated in the due process clause of the fourteenth amendment and, therefore, does not
apply to state prosecutions. Id, The Courttultimately found that “[blecause the aggravating
circumstances are not required 16 be pleaded in the charging document, it naturally follows
that they are not subject to a probable-cauqe determination.” Id. at 87.

In the instant case, thé defense claim;s that because there is a requirement to prove an

immediate and direct causal connection between the petitioner’s acts and the death of Victim
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Meana in order for a petit jury to convict petitioner of second degree felony murder, that this
somehow creates a requirement for the State to specifically instruct the grand jury on this
issue before they make their probable cause determination. This is simply not the law in
Nevada and there is no case that the, defense can site to that says otherwise.

In fact, with regard to the 1ssue Iof specific instruction the Nevada Supreme Court has
never interpreted Chapter 172 of the Nevada Revised Statutes to impose any obligation of
the State to instruct a grand jury on the law pertaining to theories of criminal liability, There
is simply no support in the law to assert that the State’s presentation, in the instant métter,
therefore, was somehow deficient because there was not specific instruction on the law
related to the requirement of the cansal connection for second degree felony murder.

II.  The State Properly Pled Alternative Theories of Criminal Liability

Here again, the Petitioner confuses the issue of the specific findings a petit jury must
make at the conclusion of a trial in order to convict Petitioner of second degree murder based
oﬁ a seconrd dégree felbny niprder théory. In that case, the issue is not whether the
Petitioner’s acts themselves directly caused the death of Victim Meana, but rather, whether
or not Petitioner’s acts were the uItlmate cause of that death because his actions where a
directly foreseeable consequence of his ﬂlegal acts and there was no inlervention of some
other source or agency which independently caused Victim Meana’s death. In other words,
did the actions of Petitioner proceed as he planned, using his employees, facility and medical
supphes in the manner he mtended which forseeably caused the death of Victim Meana, or |
did some outside source intervene to inferrupt that chain and cause the victim’s death? That
is the ultimate question that a petitjury must make in order to convict Petitioner beyond a
reasonable doubt under that particuléf theory of criminal liability. It is not, however, the role
or purview of the grand jury to make such a determination.

While the State agrees w1th the line of cases cited by the defense which requires a
petit jury to make specific findings to convict on a theory of second degree felony murder,
there is no case or statite which imposes the same requirement on a grand jury. Since the

grand jury only determines prqbafbl’e_caﬁse using a slight or marginal standard and not the
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ultimate guilt or innoccncc. of a defendant, they are not required to make specific findings as
to any particular theory of criminal liability beyond a reasonable doubt. That is specifically
the reason why the Nevada Suprclime Court has never required the State to specifically
instruct grand juries on the law pertaining to various theories of criminal liability.
Furthermore, while petitioﬁer pointed out a portion of the grand jury transcript in an
attempt to support his contention ﬂ;lat. the State provided erroncous instructions to the grand
jury, he conveniently left out the entirety of that passage which discusses alternative theories

and defines dangerousness: SR 3

Now you have previously found related to this victim, because
you returned a true bill as to both the criminal ne%]cct of patient
charge as well as performance of an act in reckless disregard,
you have to- make a determipation under one scenario
whether or not those are dangerous felonies, Did they result
in harm or death to someone%. The other aspect of it is based
on all of the mmformation you have, were the actions of these
individuals either directly, or by aiding and abetting each other,
or by conspiring, reckless to the point that they caused someone
to have a depraved heart or reckless indifference to human life,
that kind of thing, and that’s what you're here to determine. GJT

gs 60-6].
?emphasis added).

Not only, therefore, did the State instruct the grand jury that undcer one scenario they
had to make a determination that the specific crimes of criminal neglect of patients and
performance of an act in reckless disregard were dangerous felonies, but the State went

further and defined that, dangerous mean capsing harm or death,

III. Petitioner’s Claim that the Staie Failed to Provide Exculpatory Evidence fo
Grand Jury is Erroneous

Petitioner claims that there was exculpatory evidence that the State should have
presented to the grand jury 111 thel instant matter. Petitioner erroncously, however, claims
that this so called exculpatory evidence relates to his defense that Victim Meana’s actions or
lack thereof were intei'vening causes which broke the causal chain required for a second
degree felony murder conviction'. :I.n short, Petitioner claims that because Victim Meana
could not tolerate Interferon treatment therapy and because he did not continue that

treatment, that Victim Meana is somehow responsible for his own death. Petitioner’s claim |~

2 90
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is completely outrageous in that Ftl‘y; 'is. essentially stating that Victim Meana commitied
suicide and therefore the causall link to his death under a second degree felony murder theory
is broken. o

First of all there is a_bsolutelly no evidence that Victim Meana had any hand in his own
death. Second, there'is also no evidence that any treatment Victim Meana would have
received for the Hepatitis C infe_ction, caused by Petitioner, would have prevented Victim
Meana’s death. Third, attempting to blame Victim Meana for causing his own death is an
attempt to shift responsibility from Petitioner to the victim and is in no way exculpatory
evidence that the State had any obligation to present to the grand jury.

Again, Schuster addresses this issue sqﬁarely, in that, the Nevada Supreme Court
stated that the prosecution has no obligation to present a suspect’s defenses. Id. at 193, 160
P.3d at 877. In fact, the Court ?xlfz:resslrjlf';eld that “Nevada’s statutory scheme regulating
grand juries does not impose an independent, mandatory duty upon the State to instruct the
grand jurj/ on the legal srigniﬁcémcc of exculpatory evidence,” Id. at 194, 160 P.3d at 879.

Back on March 11, 2010, when Victim Meana testified before this very grand jury, he
stated that he was continui'ng 1o seek care for his Hepatitis C infection. GJT Volume 1-A
pgs 101-102. Nowhere 311 that testi;noﬁy did Victim Meana say that he was going to stop
treatment or that he wanted to die. To the contrary, he received care for that infection up
until the time of his death. The fapt that Victim Meantia could not tolerate a particular
procedure or drug during his tre'm'ment is in no way exculpatory evidence and Schuster
stands for the proposition that the étate hags no obligation to present or instruct on the
significance of such spurious evidence. There is, therefore, no merit wha‘gsoevcr fo
Petitioner’s claim. |

IV. The State did not Presgnt! a‘i:z‘ Hehrsax Evidence of Victim Meanga

Petitioner claims that the State improperly introduced hearsay evidence of Victim

Meana’s prior testimony which took place on March 11, 2010. What Petitioner fails to
grasp, however, is that Victim Meana actnally testified (on March 11, 2010) before the very

grand jury who determined the probable cause petfaining to the instant murder charge. As
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such, the grand jury previously heard Victim Meana’s direct testimony and, therefore, that
testimony was not hearsay to them. thst like the testimony of other witnesses who
previously appeared before the grand jpfy, the grand jury is properly able to review the
transcripts of that testimony 4t arll}';'tinie before making their determination as to probable
cause. There is simply no legal or logicai support for Petitioner’s confention that Victim

Meana’s prior testimony was hearsay.

V.  The Grand Jury was Properly Impaneled and was not Formally Discharged
Prior to Being %ecaiiea .

Petitioner claims that thelgi'and jury who heard the instant matier was improperly

recalled. NRS 172.275 governs the igsue of discharge of a grand jury. NRS 172,275 states

in pertinent part that:
1. A %rand jury shall serve until discharged by the court
and may be so discharged at any time after the expiration of 1

year. At any time for cause shown the court may excuse a juror
either temporarily or permanently, and the latter event the court
may impanel an_ alternate, grand juror in place of the juror
excused. N

(emphasis added)

In addition, NRS 6.145 governs the issue of recess of a grand jury. NRS 6.145 states
that: . ~ |
Upon the co’mp!etion of its business for the time being, the

court may, at the request of or with the concurrence of the

grand jury, recess the grand jury subject to recall at such time
as new business may require its attention,

(emphasis added)
As evidenced by the order in this case entered by the Honorable Linda Marie Bell, the

court made it clear that the grand jury who heard the evidence in the original case against
Petitioner, had not been discharged and was subject to recall. In fact, Judge Bell specifically
stated in her order that no order of dismissal was entered pertaining to the instant grand jury
and that they were properly subject to ru:caTlII. As such, therefore, pursuuant to NRS 172.275
and NRS 6,145, the grand ]ur)'( was prolpcrly recalled by the court. See Exhibit 2,

p . .

/i
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| Respondent lhereforf:, respectfully requests that the Petition be denied.

0 . 9

CONCLUSION

The Endoscopy Center of Southern Nevada ‘engaged in practices that endangered

patients every day. The Center also defrauded patients and their insurance companies.
Petitioner was able to engage in these crimes because Petitioner and CRNAs Mathahs and
Lakeman agreed to cut corners on safety in order to avoid discarding mnused medicine and
supplies. The practice was economwally successful not just because it was frugal with
regard to wasting supplies, but also because the parties agreed to overbill their patienis and
the patients® insurance companieé. In all these acts, Petitioner, like his co-conspirators, has
criminal liability. ,

The fact that Rodolfo Meana subsequently died as a foreseeable result of the Hepatitis
C infection he contracted because o.f the actions of Petitioner and his co-conspirators makes
him guilty of murder. The grand jury in this matter was properly recalled and heard legally

sufficient evidence for them to hold Petitioner to answer to the charge of murder

DATED this 20th day 0f November 2012
Respectflﬂly submitted,

STEVEN B. WOLFSON

Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar # 008273

BY /s/Michael V, Staudaher
"MICHAEL V. STAUDAIIER
Chief Deputy District Attorney
Nevada Bar #008273
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CERTIFICATE: OF FACSIMILE TRANSMISSION
1 hereby certify that service of Return To Writ Of Habeas Corpus, was made this 20th
day of November, 2012, by facsimile transmission to:
' RICHARD A. WRIGHT, Esq,

MARGARET M. STANISH, Bsq,
. PAX: (702) 382-4800

BY: /¢/S. Munoz
8. MONOZ
Secretary for the District Attorney’s Office

MVS/sam/MVU
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AIND FILED IN OPEN COURT
DAVID ROGER STEVEN D, GRIERSON
Clark County District Attorney CLERK QF THE COURT
Nevada Bar #002781
MICHAEL V, STAUDAHER JUN 11 2010
Chief Drg;uty Districl Attorney -

Nevada Bar #008273 ¢ -
200 Lewis Avenue . BY@B‘/L&ZM
Las Vegas, Naarada 89155-2212 . LINDA SKINNER, DEPUTY

(702) 671-250
Attorney for Plaintiff

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

THE STATEOF NEVADA, ' ' )

Plaintiff,

V5~ s Case No. C265107
‘ Dept. No.  XIV

DIPAK KANTILAL DESALI, #1240942, .
RONALD ERNEST LAKEMAN, AMENDED
KEITH H. MATHAHS, INDICTMENT

Defendanl(s).
STATE OF NEVADA
COUNTY OF CLARK

The Defendant(s) above named, DIPAK KANTILAL DESAIL RONALD ERNEST
LAKEMAN and KEITH H, MATHAHS atcuged by the Clark County Grand Jury of the

BN b
U3 B e

crime(s) of RACKETEERING (Felony - NR$ 207.350, 207.360, 207.370, 207,380, 207.390,
207.400), PERFORMANCE OF ACT IN RECKLESS DISREGARD OF PERSONS OR
PROPERTY (Felony - NRS 0.060, 202,595), CRIMINAL NEGLECT OF PATIENTS

=G S R S Y N
ch\mﬁ

\ (Felony - NRS 0.060, 200.495), INSURANCE FRAUD (Felony - NRS 686A.2815),
THEFT (Felony — NRS 205.0832, 205.0835) and OBTAINING MONEY UNDER FALSE
PRETENSES (Felony - NRS 205.265, 205.380), committed at and within the County of
Clark, State of Nevada, on or between June 3, 2005, and May 5, 2008, as follows:

/11
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COUNT 1 - RACKETEERING
Defendants, did on or between June 3, 2005, and May 5, 2008, then and there, within

—
.

Clark County, Nevada knowmgly, w1l¥fully and feloniously while employed by or associated
wnh an enterprise, conduct o partlmpate directly or indirectly in racketcering act1v1ty
through the affairs of said cnterpnse, and/or with criminal intent receive any proceeds
derived, directly or indirectly, from racketeenng activity to use or invest, whether directly or
indirectly, any part of the proceeds from racketeering ‘activity; and/or through racketeering
activity to acquire or maintain, directly or indirectly, any interest in or control of any
enterprise; and/or intentii)nally orgaﬁize, manage, direct, supervise or finance a criminal
syndicate; and/or did conspire to engage in said acts, to-wit: by directly or indirectly causing
and/or pressuring the employees and/or agents of the Endoscopy Center of Southern Nevada
to falsify patient anesthesia records from various endoscopic procedures; and/or to commit
insurance fraud by directly or indirectly submitting said false anesthesia records to various
insurance companies for the purpose of obfaining money under false pretenses from said
insurance companies and/or pallents sald ﬁ'audulent submissions resulting in the payment of
monies to Defendants and/or their medlca] praotlce and/or the enterprise, which exceeded the
legitimate reimbursement amount allowed for said procedures; Defendants being responsible
under one or more of the followmg principles of crnnmal liability, to wit: (1) by directly
committing said acts; and/or (2) aiding or abettmg each other in the commission of the crime
by directly or 1nd;fﬂﬂt1y cmmse.lug, encouraging, hiring, commanding, maucmg,. or
procuring each other, and/or others to commit said acts, Defendants acting with the intent 'to
commit said crime. ‘
COUNT 2 - INSURANCE FRAUD

Defendants did, on or about July 25, 2007, knowingly and willfully present, or cause
to be presented a statement as & part of, or in support of, a claim for payment or other
benefits under a policy of insurance, xssuegt pursuant to Title 57 of the Nevada Revzsed
Statutes, knowing that the 'sfatéri]erll;: gon‘ceialcd or omitted facts, or conlained false or

misleading information concerning a ‘fact material to said claim; and/or did assist, abet,

3
t
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solicit or conspire 1o present or caﬁsé‘tp be presenied a statement to an insurcr, a reinsurer, a
producer, a broker or any agent thereof, knowing that said statement concealed or omitted
facts, or did contain false or misleading information concerning a fact material to a claim for
payment or other benefits under such poli.cy issued pursuant to Title 57 of the Nevada
Revised Statutes, by falsely representing 10 ANTHEM BLUE CROSS — BLUE SHIELD
that the billed anesthesia’ time and/or charges for the endoscopic procedurc performed on
SHARRIEFF ZIYAD were more than the actual anesthetic time and/or charges, said false
representation resulting in the paymeni; of money to Defendants and/or their medical practice
and/or the racketeering enterprise which excceded that which would have normally been
allowed for said procedure; Defendants being responsible under one or more of the
following principles of criminal hﬂblhl’y, 1o w1t (1) by directly committing said acts; and/or
(2) aiding or abettmg each other in the comrmssmn of the crime by directly or indirectly
counseling, encouragmg, hu'mg, co;nmandlng, mducmg, Or procuring each other, and/or
others to commit said acts, Defendants acting with the intent fo commit said ¢rime, and/or
(3) pursuvant to a conspiracy f;J commit this crime.

COUNT 3 - PERFORMANCE OF ACT IN RECKLESS DISREGARD OF PERSONS
OR PROPERTY

Defendants did on or about July 23, 2007 then and there willfully and UIllawﬁ.llly
perform acts in willful or wanton disregard of the safety of persons or property resultmg in
substaniial bodily harm to MICHAE ‘w’ASH INGTORN, in the following manner, {o-wit: by
Defendants performing one or more of the following acts: (1) by directly administeriné
and/or dirgctly or indirectly instructing employees of the Endoscopy Center of Southermn
Nevada, (ECSN) to administer one or morg doses of the anesthetic drug Propofol from a
single use vial to more than -One patiép't i:qnfrary to the express product labeling of said drug

and in violation of universally' acceped safety precautions for the administration of said

“drug; and/or (2) by creating an employmient environment in which said employees were

pressured to administer one or more doses of the anesthetic drug Propofol from a single use

vial to more than one patient contrary to the express product labeling of said drug and in
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violation of universally accepted safety ﬁrecautions for the administration of said drug;
and/or (3) by directly reusing and/or directly or indirectly instructing said employess, and/or
creating an employment environment in which said employees were pressured to reuse
syringes and/or needles and/or biopsy forceps and/or snafes and/or bite blocks contrary to
the express product labeling of said iteins, and/or in violation of universally accepted safety
precautions for the use of said items; and/or (4) by directly limiting and/or directly or
indirectly instructing sajd employees, and/or creating an employment environment in which
said employees were g'aressu:sd to limit the use of medical supplies necessary to conduct safe
endoscopic procedures; and/or (5) b&f falsely precharting patient records and/or rushing
patients through said endoscopy center and/or rushing patient procedures at the expense of
patient safety and/or well being and/or d'irectly or indirectly instructing said employees,
and/or creating an employment em‘firm'lment in which said employees were pressured to
falsely prechart patient records and/or rush patients through said endoscopy center and/or
rush patient procedures at the expense of panent safety and/or well being; and/or (6) by
directly or indirectly scheduling and/or treatmg an unreasonable number of patients per day
which resulted in substandard carel and/or Jeopardized the safety and/or well being of sglgl
patients; and/or (7) by directly failing to adequately clean and/or prepare endoscopy scopes,
contrary to the express manufacturers guidelines for the handling and processing of said
endoscopy scopes, and/or in violation of universally accepted safety precautions for the use
of said scopes and/or directly or mmrectly “instructing said employees, and/or creating an
employment environiment in whzch sald employees were inadequately frained and/or
pressured to provide endoscopy scopes t:or patient procedures that were not adequatg[y
cleaned and/or prepared contrary to the express manufacturers guidelines for the hﬂndliﬁg
and processing of said endoscopy scopes, and/or in violation of universally accepted safety
precautions for the use of said scopes; Defendants being responsible under one or more of
the following principles of cnmma] liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts;
and/or (2) aiding or abetting each other in the commission of the crime by directly or

indirectly counseling, encouragmg, hn‘mg, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other,

4
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and/or others to commit said acts, Defendants acting with the intent to commit said crime,
and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to comtnit this crime.

COUNT 4 - CRIMINAL NEGLECT OF P&TIEN'_I'S
Defendants, on or about July 25, 2007, being professional caretakers of MICHAEL

WASHINGTON, did act or omit tojact in an aggravated, reckless or gross manner, failing to
provide such service, care or suge;viéion as is reasonable and necessary to maintain the
health or safety of said MICHAEL‘ WASHINGTON, resulting in substantial bodily harm to
MICHAEL WASHINGTON, said acts or omissions being such a departure {rom what would

be the conduct of an ordmanly prudent, careful person under the same circumstances that if

is contrary to a proper regard for|danger to human hf'e or constitutes indifference to the
resulting consequences, sald consequences of the negligent act or omission being reasonably
foreseeable; said danger to human life not being the result of inattention, mistaken Judgmcnt

or misadventure, but the natural and probable result of said aggravated reckless or grossly

negligent act or omission, by perfo
or indirectly instructing employees
adminisier one or mote doses of-th
than one patient contrary to the e

universally accepted safety 'prec:é.u

ing one or more of the following acts: (1) by directly
of the Endoscopy Center of Southern Nevada, (ECSN) to
e anesthetic drug Propofol from a single use vial to more

kpress product labeling of said drug and in violation of

jtions for the administration of said drug; and/or {2) by

creating an employment environment in which said employees were pressured to administer
one or more doses of the anesthet c drug Propotol from a singie use vial to more ihan one

patient contrary to the express pro uci. labeling of said drug and in violation of universally

accepted safety prevautions for the administration of said drug; and/or (3) by directly or

indirectly instructing said employ cs, and/or creatmg an employment environment in which
said employees were pressured o use syringes and/or needles and/or biopsy forceps and/or

snares and/or bite blocks contra to 4,he CXpress product labeling of said items, and/or in

violation of universally accepted gafety precautmns for the use of said items; and/or (4) by
directly or indirectly instructing saxd employees, and/or creating an employment

environment in which said employees were pressured to limil the use of medical supplies
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necessary to conduet safe endosc
instructing said employees, angd/or
employees were pressured to false]

said endoscopy center and/or rush B!
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bpic procedures; and/or (5) by directly or indirectly
creating an employment environment in which said
y prechart patient records and/or rush patients thl'ough

atient procedures at the expense of paticnt safety and/or

well being; and/or (6) by directly

number of patients per day which

r indirectly scheduling and/or treating an unreasonable

ulted in substandard care and/or jeopardized the safety

and/or well being of said patients; and/or (7) by directly or indirectly insttucting said

employees, and/or creating an employmerit environment in which said employegs were

inadequately trained and/or pressu
that were not adequately cleaned
guidelines for the handling and prg

universally accepted safety precau

red to provide endoscopy scopes for patient procedures
and/or prepared contrary to the express manufacturers
cessing of said endoscopy scopes, and/or in violation of

tions for the use of said scopes; and/or (8) by methods

unknown; for the purpose of enhancing the financial profit of ECSN, said act(s) or
omission(s) causing the transmissign of Hepatitis C virus from patient SHA RRIEFF ZIYAD
to patient MICHAEL WASHINGTON, who- was not previously infected with the Hepatitis
C virus; Defendants being féspo sible under one or more of the following principles _.olf
criminal liability, to wit: (1) b)? di ectiy'committihg said acts; and/or (2) aiding or abetti:lié
cach other in the commission of the crime by directly or indirectly counseling, encouraging,
hiring, commanding, inducing, or ﬁrocqﬁng each other, and/or others to commit said acts,
Defendants acting with the intent {o comimit said crime, and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracjl(
to commit this ctime. ' a
COUNT 5 - INSURANCE FRAI.H)

Defendants did, on or abom J uly 25, 2007, knowingly and willfully present, or cause

h

to be presented a statement as a|part of, or in support of, a claim for payment or other
benefits under a policy of insurgnce issued pursuant to Title 57 of the Nevada Revised
Statutes, knowing that the statemem concealed or omitted facts, or contained false or
misleading information’ concemlrg d. fact. ﬁlatenal to said claim; and/or did assist, abet

solicit or conspire to present or ca ise 1o b prescnted a statemnent to an iNSUrer, A reIsuret, a

6
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producer, a broker or any agent, thereof, knpwing that said statement concealed or omitted
facts, or did contain false or misleading information concerning a fact material to a claim for
payment or other benefits under such policy issued pursnant to Title 57 of the Nevada

Revised Statutes, by falsely representing to VETERANS ADMINISTRATION that the

billed anesthesia time and/or charges for the endoscopic procedure performed on MICHAEL

WASHINGTON were more than the actual anesthetic time andfor charges, said false
representation resulting in the payment of money to Defendants and/or their medical practice
and/or the racketeering enterprise Which exceeded that which would have normally been
allowed for said procedure; Defendants being responsible under one or more of the
following principles of criminal liabjlity, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts; and/or
(2} aiding or abetting each other in/the commission of the crime by directly or indirectly
counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other, and{or
others to commit said ects, Defendants actiﬁg with the intent to commit said crime, and/or
(3) pursuant to a conspiracy t.o- commiit mis .'crirne.

COLINT 6 - INSURANCE FRAUD

Defendants did, on or about July 25, 2'007, knowingly and willfully present, or cause
to be presented a statement as a part of, or in support of, a claim for payment or other
benefits under a policy of insurance issued pursuant to Title 57 of the Nevada Revised
Statutes, knowing that the statement concealed or omitted facts, or contained false or
misleading information coneerning a fact material to said claim; and/or did assist, abcl%,
solicit or conspire to present or cause i¢ bc; prescnteci a statement to an insurer, a reinsurer, a
producer, a broker or any agent thereof, knowing that said statement concealed or omitted
facts, or did contain false or misleading information concerning 2 fact material to a claim for
payment or qther beneﬂts undelr such policy issued pursuant to Title 57 of the Nevada
Revised Statutes, by rfalsg.@_ly 'r_gprb'sénting to ANTHEM BLUE CROSS AND BLUE
SHIELD that the billed anestﬁes’ii-“timé and/or charges for the endoscopic procedure
performed on KENNETH RUBINQ were more than the actual anesthetic time and/or

charges, said false represrentétion resulting in the payment of money to Defendants and/or

7
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their medical practice and/or the racketeering enterprise which exceeded thut which would
have normally been allowed for said pr\ocied'ufe'; Defendants being responsible under one or
more of the following principles of criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said
acls; and/or (2) aiding or abetting each bth;:r in the commission of the crime by directly or
indirectly counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other,
and/or others to commit said acts, Defendants acting with the intent to commit said crime,

and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to copmit this crime.

COUNT7 - PERFORMANCE OF ACT IN RECKLESS DISREGARD OF PERSONS
OR PROPERTY

Defendants did on or about September 21, 2007, then and therc willfully and
unlawfully perform acts in wnllﬂll or wanton disregard of the safety of persons or property
resulting in substantial bodily harm to STACY HUTCHINSON, in the following manner, to-
wit: by Defendants perforr_mng one or: more of the following acis: (1) by dlrcctl}_'_
administering and/or directly or indirectly instructing employees of the Endoscopy Center of
Southern Nevada, (ECSN) 10 admlmster one or more doses of the anesthetic drug Propofol
from a single use vial to more than one patient contrary to the express product labeling of
said drug and in violation of universally accepted safety precautions for the administration of
said drug; and/or (2) by creating an employment environtent in which said employees we;:é
pressured to adminisier one or more d«J-ses of the anesthetic drug Propofol from a single use
vial io more than cne patient contrary to the express product Iabeling of said drug and in
violation of universally accepted safety precautions for the administration of said drug;
and/or (3) by directly revsing and/or.ldix.'ectlyﬁcr indirectly instructing said employees, and/or
creating an employment énvirohq;elpt 'in,'wl:;ich said employees were pressured 0 reuse
syringes and/or needles and/or'bio;l)s:.‘y' forceps and/or snares and/or bite blocks contrary to
the express product labeling of said items, and/or in violation of universally accepted safely
precautions for the use of said ltems' andlor (4) by directly limiting and/or dlrectly or
indirectly instructing said employees, arid/or creating an employment environment in whlch

said employees were pressured to limit the use of medical suppliss necessary to conduct safe

II‘
1y
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endoscopic procedures, and/or (5) by falsely precharting patient records andfor rushing
patients through said endoscopy c'eriier and/or Tushing patient procedures at the expense of
patient safety and/or well being and/or directly or indircotly instructing said employees,
and/or creating an employment environment in which said employees were pressured to
falsely prechart patient records and/or rush patients through said endoscopy center and/or
rush patient procedures at the expense oflpatient safety and/or well being; and/or (6) by
directly or indirectly schedu]mg andmr trearzmg an unreasonable number of patients per day
which resulted in substandard carc. and/or Jcopardlzcd the safety and/or well being of sald
patients; and/or (7) by directly fa:lmg to adequately clean and/or prepare endoscopy scopes,
contrary to the express manufacturers guidelines for the handling and processing of said
endoscopy scopes, and/or in violation of universally accepted safety precautions for the use
of said scopes and/or directly or indirectly instructing said employees, and/or creating an
empIOyment environment in whiéh‘ said émployees were inadequately trained and/or
pressured to provide endoscopy scopes for patlent procedures that were not adequately
cleaned and/or prepared contrary to the express manufacturers guidelines for the handling
and processing of said endoscopy scopes, and/or in violation of universally accepted safety
precautions for the use of said scopes; Defendants being responsible under one or more of
the following prmcnples of criminal llablhty, to wit: (1) by directly commiiting said acts
and/or (2) aiding or abettmg ear:h other m .the commission of the crime by directly or
indirectly counseling, encouragmg, hmng, commandmg, inducing, or procuring each other,
and/or others to commit said acts, Defendants acting with the intent to commit said crime,
and/or (3) pursuant to a consoiracy to tomnmit this crime.
COUNT & - CRIMINAL NEGLECT OF PATIENTS

Defendants, on or about Septemiber 25, 2007, being professional caretakers of
STACY HUTCHINSON, did act orliomit to act in an ageravated, reckless or gross manner,
failing to provide such service, care o supervision as is reasonable and neoéssa:y 10
maintain the health or safety of said S’i"ACY HUTCH]NSON, resulting in substantial bodily
harm to STACY HUTCHINSON, said acts ot omissions being such a departure from wha

. Xy 104
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would be the conduct of an ordinarily prudent, careful person under the same circumsiances
that it is contrary to a proper regard for danger to human life or constitutes indifference 10
the resulting consequences, said cbns.eqtfé‘nces of the negligent act or omission being
reasonably foreseeable; said danl‘g«jr' to human life not being the result of inattention,
mistaken judgment or misadventure, but the natural and probable resuit of said aggravated
reckless or grossly negligent act or, omission, by performing one or more of the following
acts: (1) by directly or indirectly instructing employees of the Endoscopy Center of
Southern Nevada, (ECSN) to administer one or more doses of the anesthetic drug Propofol

from a single'use vial to more than ,one patient contrary to the express product labeling of

said drug and in viclation of universally accepted safety precautions for the administration of

said drug; and/or (2) by creating an en"lployment environment in which said employees were
pressured to administer one or more doses of the anesthetic drug Propofol from a single use
vial to more than one patient cqntrafy to the express product labeling of said drug and in
violation of universally acgeptcd safety precautions for the administration of said drug;
and/or (3) by directl)'z o indiljecﬁ'jin ins:?ructing sald employees, and/or crealing an
employment environment in which said .e|mp10yecs were pressured to reuse syringes and/or
needles and/or biopsy forceps and/or snares and/or bite blocks contrary to the express
H product labeling of said iterds, and/or in vio!atién of universally accepted safety precautions
for the use of said items; andfor (4) hy'directly or if'ldirectly instructing said employees,
and/or creating an employment enwronment in which said employees were pressured o umu
the use of medical supplies necessary to conduct safe endoscopic procedurcs; and/or (5) by
directly or indirectly instructing. said cmployegs, and/or creating an employment
environment in which said cmpld'yeég were pressured to falsely prechart patient recordé.
and/or rush patients through said end65c0py center and/or rush patient procedures at the
expense of patient safety and/or well being.; and/or (6) by directly or indirectly schedulin:g
and/or treating an unreasonable number of énatients per day which resulted in substandard
care and/or jeopardized the safety hnd/or 1.=~|n=:ll being of said patients; and/or (7) by directly or

- » » " ¥ ! ,l' " - N . -
indirectly instructing said employees, and/or creating an employment environment in which

10
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said employees were madequately tramed and/or pressured to provide endoscopy scopes for
patient procedures that were not adequatcly cleaned and/or prepared contrary to the express
manufacturers guidelines foly the hgnd]mg and processing of said endoscopy scopes, and/or
in violation of universally accepied safety precautions.for the use of said scopes; and/or (8")
by methods unknown; for the purpose of enhancing the financial profit of ECSN, said act(s)
or omission(s) causing the transmission of Hepatitis C virus from paticnt KENNETH
RUBINO to patient STACY HUTCHINSON who was not previously infected with the
Hepatitis C virus, Defendants hemg responsible under one or more of the following
principles of criminal lability, to wit: (1) by direcily committing said acts; and/or (2) aiding
or abetting each other in the commission of the crime by directly or indirectly counseling,
encouraging, hiring,. commanding, inducing, or procuring each other, and/or others to

commit said acts, Defendants actmg wnh the intent to commit said crime, and/or (3)

pursuant to a conspu'acy to commit this ¢rime,
COUNT 9 - INSURANCE FRAUD

Defendants did, on or about Septeml:;lter 21, 2007, knowingly and willfully present, or
cause to be presented a statement as a part of, or in support of, a claim for payment or othier
benefits under a polic)'( of insurance issued pursuant to Title 57 of the Nevada Revised
Statutes, knowing that the statcme,ﬁt concealed or omitted facts, or contained false .dr

a«

misleading information concerning a, fact materia! to said claim; and/or did assist, abet,

solicit or conspire to present or cause to be presented a stafement to an insurer, A reinsurer, a
producer, a broker or any agent thereof, knowing that said statement concealed or omitted
facts, or did contain false or misleading information concerning a fact matetix) to a claim for
payment or other benef' ts under such pohcy issued pursuant to Title 57 of the Nevada
Revised Statutes, by false]y represcntmg to HEALTH PLAN OF NEVADA that the billed
anesthesia time and/or charges for the endoscopic procedure performed on STACY
HUTCHINSON were more than the gaclual anesthetic time and/or charges, said fa]sg
representation resulting in the payméent of monégy to Defendants and/or their medical practicé
and/or the racketeering enferprise which exceeded that which would have normally beeg
ST
E ‘ 106
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allowed for said procedure;, Defendants being responsible under one or more of the
following principles of criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts; and/or
(2) aiding or abetting each other in the n_:oxﬁrqission of the erime by directly or indirecily
counseling, encouraging, hiring, cd:ll}ménding, inducing, or procuring each other, and/cr
othets to commit said acts, Defendants acting with the intent to commit said crime, and/or
(3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit'this crime,

COUNT 10 - PERFORMANCE OF ACT IN RECKLESS DISREGARD OF PERSONS
OR PROPERTY ‘

Defendants did on or abc_mt-' Septa‘;’;lbér 21, 2007, then and there willfully and
unlawfully perform acts in willful of wanton disregard of the safety of persons ur property
resulting in substantial bodily harm to RUDOLFO MEANA, in the following manner, to
wit: by Defendants perf‘orr'ning one or more of the following acts: (1) by directly
administering and/or directly or indirectly instructing ei‘nployees of the Endoscopy Center of
Southern Névada, (ECSN) to administer one or mni-c ”doseé' 61‘ ihe éﬁcsthéﬁc drug Pfdiﬁofol
from a single use vial to ‘more than :one patiént contrary to the express product labeling of
said drug and in violation of universally accepted safety precautions fur the administration of
said drug; and/or (2) by creating an eﬁi:ploymem environment in which said cmployees weré
pressured to administer one or more doses of the anesthetic drug, Propofol from a single use
Vial to more than one patient contrary Eo the express pfoduct labeling of said drug and in
violation of unive.rsél!g accepted safety precautions for the administration of said diug;
and/or (3) by directly reusiﬁg and:/pr:ijifectly“ or indirectly instructing said employees, and/or
creating an employment cnvifonmé;lt' in which said employees were pressured to reus;a
syringes and/or needles and/or biopsy forceps and/or snares and/or bite blocks contrary to
the express product labeling of said items, and/or in violation of universally accepted safety
precautions for the use of: said items; and/or 4) by‘ directly limiting and/or directly or
indiréctly instructing said employeces, aﬁ&!cir Lreating an employment environment in which
said employees were pres:sured to lifdit the use of medical supplies necessaty to conduct safe

endoscopic procedures; and/or '(5) ‘by falsely precharting patient records and/or rushi:ig

12
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patients through said endoscopy center and/or rushing patient procedures at the expense of
patient safety and/or well being and/ot directly or indirectly instructing said employees,
and/or creating an employment environment in which said employees were pressured to
falsely prechart patient records and/or rush patients through said endoscopy center and/or
tush patient procedures at the expense of: patlcnt safety and/or well being; and/or (6) by
directly or indirectly schedu]mg and/or treating an unreasonable number of patients per day
which resulted in substandard care andlor Jjeopardized the safety and/or well being of said
patients; and/or (7) by directly failing to adequately clean and/or prepare endoscopy scopes,
contrary to the express marufacturers guidelines for the handling and processing of said
endoscopy scopes, and/or in violation of universally accepted safety precautions for the use
of said scopes and/or directly or indirectly instructing said employees, and/or creating an
employment environment in which said erﬁployees were inadequately trained and/or
pressured to provide endoscopy sfc'o;ms for patient procedures that were not adequately
cleaned and/or prepared contrary to the express manufacturers guidelines for the handling
and processing of said endoscopy scopes, and/or in violation of universally accepted safet&z
precautions for the use of said scopes; Defendants being responsible under one or more oé'
the following principles of criminal llablllr}f, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts;
and/or (2) aiding or ahettmg eac’h other in the commission of the crime by directly or
indirectly counseling, encouraging, hmng, commanding, inducing, or procuring each Oﬂ‘lel}
and/or others to commit said acts, Defendan'ts acting with the intent to commit said crim-e?
and/or (3) pursuant to a co'nsli_iracy to commit this crime. "
COUNT 11 - CRIMINAL NEGLECT OF PATIENTS

Defendants, on or about Septembel; 21, 2007, being professional caretakers of
RUDOLFO MEANA, did act or nm%t to act in an aggravated reckless or gross manner,
failing to provide such service, carc or supermsmn as is reasonable and necessary to
maintain the health or safety of said RUDDLFO MEANA, resulting in substantial bodlly
harm to RUDOLFO MEANA, said acts or omissions being such a depariure from what

would be the conduct. of an ordinarily prudent, careful person under the same circumstances

ro, ".i: i
13

108

! e ]




11/20/2012 11:29 FAX 3838465 DA CRIMINAL DIVISION e doz7

(S

\OW‘-JQM-PNN

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

26

27
28

s 4
®

that it is contrary to a proper regard for dangcr to human lifc or constitites indifference to
the resulting consequences sald consequences of the negligent act or omission being
reasonably foreseeable; said danger 16 human life not being the result of inattention,
mistaken judgment or misadventure, but the natural and probable result of said aggravated
reckless or grossly negllgent act or omission, by pcrfonnmg one or more of the following
acts: (1) by directly or mdlrectly mstructmg employees of the Endoscopy Center of
Southern Nevada, (ECSItI) to administer one or more doscs of the anesthetic drug Propofol
from a single use vial to more than :,';)ne patient contrary to the express product labeling of
said drug and in violation of universally accepted safety precautions for the administration of
said drug; and/or (2) by creating an en{pluym'cnt environment in which said employees were
pressured to administer one or more dc';ses of the anesthetic drug Propofol from a single use
vial to more than one patient contrary to. -the express product labeling of said drug and m
violation of umversally accepted safety precautions for the administration of said dmg,
and/or (3) by directly or mdlrectly instructing said employees, and/or creating an
¢mployment environment in which smd employees were pressured to reuse syringes and/or
needles and/or bjopsy forceps and/or snares and/or bite blocks contrary to the express
product labeling of said 1tems and/or in violation of universaily accepted salety prccautlons
for the use of said items; and/or (4) by directly or indirectly instructing said Employees,
and/or creating an employment emrlronment in which said employees were pressured to limit
the use of medical supplies neoessar y to conduct safe endoscopic procedures; and/or (5) by
dire¢tly or indirectly mstructmg saxd employees, and/or creating an employment
environment in which said employees were pressured to falsely prechart patient records
and/or rush patients through said endoscopy certer and/or rush patient procedures at the
expense of patient safety and/or well being; and/or (6) by directly or indirectly scheduling
and/or treating an unrcasonablc number of patients per day which resulted in substandard
care and/or jeopardized the saf‘ety and/nr well bemg of said patients, and/or (’/) by dlrcctly or
indirectly instructing said employees, and/or creating an empjoyment environment in Whl(.‘-]:l

said employees were inadequiately trained and/or pressured to provide endoscopy scopes for
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patient procedures that were'not adequately ‘cleaned and/or prepared contrary to the express

e

manufacturers guidelines for the handling and processing of said endoscopy scopes, and/or
in violation of universally accepted safety precautions for the use of said scopes; and/or (.8)
by methods unknown; for the purpose of enhancing the financial profit of ECSN, said act(s)
or omission(s) causing the transmlssmn of Hepatitis C virus from patient KENNETH
RUBINO to patient RUDOLFO. MEANA who Wwas not previously infected with the
Hepatitis C virus; Defendants being: responsible under one or more of the following
principles of criminal liability, to wit; (1) by directly committing said acts; and/or (2) aiding
or abetting each other in the commission of the crime by directly or indirectly counseling,
encouraging, hiring, cbmmandin_g,' inducinfg, " or procuring cach other, and/or others to
commit said acts, Defendants aéﬁﬁg with the intent to commit said crime, and/or (3)
pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime.
COUNT 12 - INSURANCE FRAUD

Defendants did, on or about September 21, 2007, knowingly and willfully present, q;'
cause to be presented a statement as a p&frt of, or in support of, a claim for payment or other
benefits under a policy of § msurance issued pursuant to Title 57 of the Nevada Rewsed
Statutes, knowing that the statement concealed or omitted facts, or contained false or
misleading mformation concerning a fact matenal o said claim; and/or did assist, abet,
solicit or conspire to present or cause toﬂbe presented a statement to an insurer, a reinsurer, a
producer, a broker or any agent thereof, knowing that said statement concealed or omitted
facts, or did contain false or m:sleading inf'ormatlon concerning a fact material to a claim for
payment or other henefits under such pohcy issued pursuant to Title 57 of the Nevada
Revised Statutes, by falsely rcprcsenfmg 10 SECURE HORIZONS and/or PACIFICARE that
the billed anesthesia time and/or charges' for the endoscopic procedure performed on
RUDOLFQO MEANA were more than the actual anesthetic time and/or charges, said false
representation resulting in the payment of money to Defendants and/or theit medical practic-e
and/or the racketeering cnterpnse which exceeded that which would have normally been

allowed for said proccdure' Defeﬁdants being responsible under one or more of the

Y 15
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following principles of eriminal liabi}ity, to th (1) by directly committing said acts; and/or
(2) aiding or abetting each other i in the commission of the crime by directly or md:rectly
counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding; inducing, or procuring each other, and/or
others to commit said acts, Defendants acting with the intent to commit said crime, and/or
(3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime,

COUNT 13 - PERFORMANCE OF ACT IN RECKLESS DISREGARD OF PERSONS
ORPROPERTY : .

Defendants did on or about September 21, 2007, then and there willfully and
unlawfully perform acts in wﬂlfu] or wanton disregard of the safety of persons or property
resulting in substantial hodﬂy harm to PATTY ASPINWALL, in the following manner, to-
wit: by Defendants performing one or more of the following acts: (1) by directly
administering and/or directly or indiréctly instructing employees of the Endoscopy Center of
Southern Nevada, (ECSN) to admlmster one or more doses of the anesthetic drug Propofol
from a single use vial to more than one patient contraly to the express product labeling of
said drug and in violation of umversa!ly accepted safety precautions for the administration of
said drug; and/or (2) by creating an employment environment in which said cmployees were
pressured to adminisier one or more doses of the anesthetic drug Propofol from a single use
vial to more than one patient contrary to the express product labeling of said drug and in
violation of universally accepted Safcty precautions for the administration of said drug;
and/or (3} by dircetly reusing and/or dircctly or indirectly instructing said employees, and/or
creating an employment erivironmlent in which said employees were pressured to reuse
syringes and/or needles and/or biopsy folrceps and/or 'snares and/or bite blocks contrary 1o
the express product ]abeling of said items and/or in violation of universally accepted safety

precautions for the use of said itefns; and/or (4) by directly limiting aml/or directly or

. indirectly instructing said employees, =and/0r creating an employment environment in which

said employees were pressured to Inmt the use of medical supplies necessary to conduct safe

endoscopic procedures; and/or (5) by falsely precharting patient records and/or rushing

’ patients through said endoscopy center and/or rushing patient procedures at the expense of
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patient safety and/or well being and/or directly or indirectly instructing said employees,
and/or creating an employment environment in which said employees were pressured to
falsely prechart patient records aﬁdf!or.i"ush patients through said endoscopy center and/or
rush patient procedures at the'expe'ns'e of patient safety and/or well being; and/or (6) by
directly or indirectly scheduling and/or tre'z'lting. an unreasonable number of patients per day
which resulted in substandglrdl care‘and/or jeopardized the safety and/or well being of said
patients; and/or (7) by directly failing to adequately clean and/or prepare endoscopy scopes,
contrary 10 the express manufacturers gmdellnes for the handling and processing of said
endoscopy scopes, and/or in v1olﬂt16n of umversally accepted safety precautions for the use
of said scopes and/or directly or ;Indlreclly instructing said employees, and/or creating an
employment environment in which said employees were inadequately trained and/or
pressured to provide endoscopy scopes for patient procedures that were not adcquatcly
cleaned and/or prepared contrary to the express manuf'acturers guldclmes fur the handlmg
and processmg of said cndosmpy scopes, andfor in wolatmn of universally .acceptcd safety
precautions for the use of said scopes Dcfcndants beéing responsible under one or more of
the following principles of criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts;
and/or (2) aiding or abetting cach other in the commission of the crime by directly or
indirectly counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding,.inducing, or procuring each othef,
and/or others to commit said acts, Defendants acting with the intent to commit said crime,
and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy . 'q'cc. umit this crime.
COUNT 14 - CRIMINAL NEGLECT OF PATIENTS

Defendants, on or about Scp'tcmbcr 21, 25007, being professional caretakers of
PATTY ASPINWALL, did act or omit to act in an aggravated, reckless or gross mannt‘ail,
failing to provide such service, care or supervision as js reasonable and necessary to
maintain the health or safety of zsaid PATTY ASPINWALL, resulting in substantial bodily
harm to PATTY ASPINWALL, sai"‘d‘? hots gr omissions being such a departure from what
would be the conduct of an ordina;-ilj}‘-.pruilent, careful person under the same circumstances

that it is contrary t0 a proper regard for danger to human life or constitutes indifference to

17
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the resulting consequences, said consequences of the negligent act or omission being
reasonably foreseeable; sald danger to human life not being the result of Inattention,
mistaken judgment or mISadventure but the natural and probable result of said aggravated
reckless or grossly neghgent act or omission, by performing one or more of the following
acts: (1) by directly or mdn‘ectly instructing employees of the Endoscopy Center of
Southern Nevada, (ECSN) to admmxster one or more doses of the anesthetic drug Propofol
from a single use vial to more than one patient contrary to the express product labeling of
said drug and in violation of umversally accepted safety precautions for the administration of
said drug; and/or (2) by creating an employment environment in which said employees were
pressured to administer. one or more.dgses of the anesthetic drug Propofol from a single use
vial to more than one patient contralry.to the express product labeling of said drug and in
violation of universally accepted safety precautmns for the administration of said drug,
and/or (3) by directly or' indirectly instructing said employees, and/or creating an
employment environment in whlch said employees were pressured to reuse syringes and/or
needles and/or biopsy forceps and/or snares and/or bite blocks contrary to the express
product labeling of said items, and/or in violation of universally accepted safety precaunons
for the use of said items: and/or (tf) by directly or indirectly mstructing said employees,
and/or creating an employment env1ronment in which said employees were pressured to limit
the use of medical supplies necessary to conduct safe endoscopic procedures: and/or (5) by
directly or indirectly instructing said employees, and/or creating an employment
environment in which said employees were pressured to falsely prechart patient records
and/or rush patients through said endoscopy center and/or rush patient procedures at the
expense of patient safety and/or Well ]Jeir':g; and/or (6) by directly or indirectly scheduling
and/or treating an unreasonable number of patients per day which resulted in substandard
care and/or Jeopardlzed the safety and/or well being of said patients; and/or (7) by directly or
1nd1rectly instructing said employees, and/or ereating an employment environment in which
said employees were inadequately trained and/or pressured to provide endoscopy scopes for

patient procedures that weére not adequately cleaned and/or prepared contrary to the express

18
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manufacturers guidelines for the handling and processing of said endoscopy scopes, and/or
in violation of universally accepted safety precautions for the use of said scopes; and/or (8)
by methods unknown; for the purpo;e of enhancing the financial profit of ECSN, said act(s)
or omission(s) causing the transmission of Hepa:citis C virus from patient KENNETH
RUBINO to patient PATTY ASPINWALL, ﬁho was not previously infected with the
Hepatitis C virus; Defendants being responsible under one or more of the following
principles of criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts; and/or (2) aldmg
or abetting each other in the comm1551on of the crime by directly or indirectly counseling,
encouraging, hiring, commandmg, mducmg, or procuring each other, and/or others to
commit said acts, Defcndapts acting with the intent 1o commit said crime, and/or (3)
pursuant o a conspiracy to commit this crime.

COUNT 15 - INSURANCE FRAUD

k Defendants did, on or about September 21, 2007, knowingly and willfully present, o;r

cause to be presented a séatement as’a part of, ér in support of, a claim for payment or other
benefits under a policy of insurande’ issued'pursuant to Tifle 57 of the Nevada Revised
Statutes, knowing that the statement concealed or omitted facts, or contained false or
misleading information concerning a fact material to said claim; and/or did assist, abet,
solicit or conspire to present or cause to be presented a statement to an insurer, a rein,emr@n:3 a
producer, a broker 01: any agent thereof, knowing that said statement concealed or omitted
facis, or did confain faise or misibadi}l'g ‘information concerning a fact material to a claim for
payment or other benefits under Such pohcy issued pursuant to Title 57 of the Nevada
’ Revised Statutes, by falsely representmg to ANTHEM BLUE CROSS AND BLUE
SHIELD that the billed ainesthesza time and/or charges for the endoscopic procedure
performed on PATTY ASPINWALL were more than the actual anesthetic time andfor.
charges said false representat:on resultmg in the payment of money to Delendants and/or

their medical practice and/or the racketeermg enterprlse which excceded that which would |
have normally been allowed for'said pa'ocedure; Defendants being responsible under one or

more of the following principles of criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly commiiting said

19 -
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acts; and/or (2) aiding or abetting_éach other in the' commission of the crime by directly, or
indirectly counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other,
and/or others to commit said acts, Defendants acting with the intent to commit said crime,
and/or (3) pursuant t¢ a conspiracy to commit this crime.
COUNT 16 - INSURANCE FRAUD L

Defendants did, on or aboui“ Sﬁ:plember 21, 2007, knowingly and willfully present, or
cause to be presented a statement as a part of, or in support of, a claim for payment or other
benefits under & policy of insurance issued pursuant to Title 57 of the Nevada Revised
Statutes, knowing that the 's’tatemem concealed or omitted facts, or contained false -or
misleading information concerning a fact material to said claim; and/or did assist, abet,
solicit or conspire to present or cause to be presented a statement to an insurer, a reinsurer, a
producer, a broker or any agent thc;c,of‘, knowing that said statement concenled or omiited
facts, or did contain false or misleading information ;onceming a fact material to a claim for
payment or other benefits under such '}Jolicy issued pursuant to Title 57 of the Nevada
Revised Statutes, by falsely representing to UNITED HEALTH SERVICES that the billed
anesthesia time and/or charges for the endoscoptc procedure performed on PATTY
ASPINWALL were more’ than the actual anesthetic time and/or charges, said false
representatmn ncsultmg in the’ paymem of money to Defendants and/or their medical practice
and/or the racketeering enterprise which exceeded that which would have normally been
ailowed for said pmcedurc-; Defendants being responsible under one or more of the
following principles of criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts; and/or
(2) aiding or abetting each other in the commission of the ¢time by directly or mdlrectly
counseling, encouragmg, hiring, coinmanding, inducing, or procuring each other, and/or
others to commit said acts, Dcfendants actmg with the intent to comrmit said crime, and/of
(3) pursuant o a conspiracy to comhm thls cmme

COUNT 17 - (I;ERRIE?I?&%\/EI%%E OF ACT IN RECKLESS DISR.EGAR.D OF PERSONS
Defendants did on or aboup.Septegllber 21, 2007, then and there willfully a.ruii
| g J | 20
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unlawfully petrform acts in willful or 'wlan‘ton disregard of the safety of persons or property
resulting in substantial bodily harm to SONIA ORELLANA-RIVERA, in the following
manner, to-wit; by Dcfendants performing one or more of the following acts: (1) by directly
administering and/or directly or indirectly instructing employees of the Endoscepy Center of
Southern Nevada, (ECSN) to adminjster one or more doses of the anesthetic drug Propofol
from a single use vial to more th'an: ong patient contrary to the express product labeling of
said drug and in violation of uni‘versa]-ly accepted safoty precautions for the administration of
said drug; and/or (2) by creating an employment environment in which said employees were
pressured to administer one or more doses of the anesthetic drug Propofol from a single use
vial t0 more than one patient cémtrary to the express product labeling of said drug and in
violation of universally accepted safe;y precautlons for the administration of said drug;
and/or (3) by dn'ectl}r reusing and/or dlrcctly or indirectly instructing said employees, and!or
creating an employment environment in wh:ch said employees were pressured to reuse
syringes and/or needles and/or biopsy forceps and/or snares and/or bite blocks contrary to
the express product labeling of said items, and/or in violation of universally accepted safety
precautions for the use of said items; and/or (4) by directly limiting and/or directly oi'
indirectly Instructing said employecs,l-,' and/or cfeating an employment environment in which
said employees were pressured to limit tile usé of medical supplies necessary to conduct safe
endoscopic procedures; and/or (5) h); falsely precharting patient records and/or rushing
patients through said endoscopy center and/or rushing patient procedures at the expense of
patient safety and/or well being and/or directly or indirectly instructing said employecs;
and/or creating an employment enyimnmei}t in which said employees were pressured tn.‘.)
falsely prechart patient records agdfc}'r 'rush‘batients through said endoscopy center and/or
rush patient procedures at the expéﬁ‘éc ‘'of patient safety and/or well being; and/or (6) by
directly or indirectly scheduling and/or treating an qn_reasonable: number of patients per day
which resulted in substandard care and/or jeopardized the safety andfor well being of sa_i'dr
patients; and/or (7) by directly fs;iling to ad;aquatcly olean and/ot prepare endoscopy Scopes;

contrary to the express manufacturers guidelines for the handling and processing of said

]
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endoscopy scopes, and/or in violation of uﬁiversal]y accepted safety precautions for the use
of said scopes and/or directly or'ir‘i;‘direcﬂy instructing said employees, and/or creating an
employment envirenment in iavhic'h" said employees were inadequately trained and/or
pressured to provide endoscopy scopes for patient procedures that were not adequately
cleaned and/or prepared contrary to the express manufacturers guidelines for the handling
and processing of said endoscopy scopes, and/or in violation of universally accepted safety
precautions for the use of said scc)pas Defendants being responsible under one or more of
the following principles of enmmal I:ablhty, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts;
and/or (2) aiding or abetting each other_m the commission of the crime by directly or
indirectly counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding, indweing, or procuring each other,
and/or others 10 commit said acts, Defendants aeting with the intent to commit said crime,
and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime.
COUNT 18 - CRIMINAE. NEGLECT OF PATIENTS

Defendants, on or about Septémber 21, 2007, being professional caretakers of SONIA
ORELLANA-RIVERA, did act or omit to act in an aggravated, reckless or gross manner,
failing to provide such service, car¢ or supervision as is reasonable and necessary 1o
maintain the health or safety of said SONIA ORELLANA—RIVEM resulting in substantial
bodily harm to SONIA ORELLANA~R.IVERA said acts or omissions being such a
departure from what would 'be the conductlof an ordinarily prudent, cereful person under the
same circomstances that it ig ﬂum T & piGper regard for danger to human life or
constitutes indifference to the resulting consequences said consequences of the neglizgent act
or omission being reasonably foreseeable; said danger to human life not being the result of
inattention, mistaken judgment or misadventure, but the natural and probable result of said
aggravated reckless or grossly negligent act or omission, by performing one or more of the
following acts: (1) by di'rrectly or ini:iirectly inl'st“ructing empioyees of the Endoscopy Center
of Southern. Nevada, (ECSN).to admlmster one or more doses of the anesthetic drug
Propofol from a single use vial to more than one patient contrary to the cxpress product

labeling of said drug and in violation of universally accepted safety precautions for the

22
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administration of said drug; and/or (2) by creating an employment environment in which
said employees were pressured to .:a'(h'ﬁiriis;ter one or more doses of the anesthetic dmg
Propofol from a single use vial to ;nore than orie patient contrary to the express product
labeling of said drug and in violation of universally accepted safcty precautions for the
administration of said drug.;.'andfor‘ (3) by directly or ‘indirect!y instructing said employees,
and/or creating an employment environment in which said employees were pressured to
reuse syringes and/or needles and/or biopsy forﬁeps and/or snares and/or bite blocks contrary
to the express product labeling of said items, and/or in violation of universally accepted
safety precautions for the use of said items; and/or (4) by directly or indirectly instructing
said employees, and/or creating an employment environment in which said employees were
pressured to limit the use of medical supplies necessary to conduct safe endoscopic
procedures; and/or (5) by directly or indirectly instructing said employees, and/or creating an
employment environment in which Sﬂld cmploya-es were pressured to falscly precharl panent
records and/or rush panents through saxd endoscopy center and/or rush patient procedures at |
the expense of patient safety and/or well being; and/or (6) by directly or indirectly
scheduling and/or treating an unrcgsonabiej number of patients per day which resulted in
substandard care and/orjéoga;dized the safety and/or well being of said patients; and/or (7)
by directly or indirectly instructing said employees, and/or creating an employmenf:
environment in which said cmployée;s were inéﬂequately trained and/or pressured to provide
endoscopy scopes for patient procecf.tsres that were not adequately cleaned and/or prepared
contrary 10 the express manufécturier‘s guidelines for the handling and processing of said
endoscapy scopes, and/or in violation of universally accepted safety precautions for the use
of said scopes; and/or (8) by methods unknown; for the purpose of ephancing the ﬁnancia_i
profit of ECSN, said act(s) or omission(s) causing the transmission of Hepatitis C virus from
patient KENNETH RUBINQ 10_| ﬁaﬁeﬁtEONIA ORELLANA-RIVERA, who was not
previouﬂjr infected with the Hepaiti'tis C ‘virus; Defendants being tesponsible under one or
more of the following principles of criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said

acts; and/or (2) aiding or abetting each other in the commission of the crime by directly or
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indirectly counseling, encouraging,- ﬁii'ring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other,
and/or others to commit said acts, Defendants acting with the intent to commit said crime,
and/or (3) pursuant to a consi:iracy to 'commit this erime.

COUNT 19 - INSURANCE FRAUD '

Defendants did, on or about Sc_:pte,.mb'er 21, 2007, knowingly and willfully present, or
cause to be presented a sjtatcmenl; as:a part of, or in support of, a claim for payment or other
benefits under a policy of msurance lssued pursuant to Title 57 of the Nevada Revised
Statutes, knowing that the statcrnent concealed or omitted facts, or contained false or
misleading information cencerning a fact material to said claim; and/or did assist, abet,
solicit or conspire to present or cause to be presented a statement to an insurer, a reinsurer, a
producer, a broker or any agent thereof knowing that said statement concealed or omitted
facts, or did contain false or rrusleadmg information conceming a fact material to a claim for
payment or other benefits under such policy issued pursuant lo Title 57 of the Nevada
Revised Statutes, by falsely representing to CULINARY WORKERS HEALTH FUND that
the billed anesthesia time and/or chérges for the endoscopic procedure performed on SONIA
ORELLANA-RIVERA were more than the actual anesthetic time and/or charges, said false
representation resulting in the payment c‘;f money to Defendants and/or their medical practice
and/or the racketegring enterprise WI"liCh exceeded that which would have normally been
allowed for said procedure; Defcﬁdaﬁts being reésponsible under one or more of the

"""" I Hability, to wit: (1) by direstly committing said acts; and/or
(2) aiding or abetting each other in the commission of the crime by directly or indirectly
counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other, and/or
others to commit said a'cts Defendarts act'i?hg with the inient to commit said crime, and/or
(3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commﬂt this ‘crime.

COUNT 20 - PERFORMANCE OF ACT IN RECKLESS DISREGARD Ol PERSONS
OR PROPERTY |
N] Defendants did on-or zbout September 21, 2007, then and there willfully and

unlawfully perform acts in willful or wanton disregard of the safety of persons or property
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resulting in substantial bodily harm 10 CAROLE GRUESKIN, in the following manner, to-
wit: by Defendants performing -olné or more ml" the following acts: (1) by directly
administering and/or directly or indirectly instructing employees of the Endoscopy Center o.f
Southern Nevada, (ECSN) to administer one or ﬁwre doses of the anesthetic drug Propofol
from a single use vial to more than one patient contrary to the express product labeling of
said drug and in violation of umversaliy accepted safety precautions for the administration of
said drug; and/or (2) by creatmg mnF employment environment in which said employees were
pressured to administer one or more doses of the anesthetic drug Propofol from a single use
vial to more than one patient contrary to the express product labeling of said drug and in
violation of universally accepted safetir precautions for the administration of said drug;
and/or (3) by directly reusing and/or directly or indirectly instructing said employees, and/or
creating an employment; environme_ﬁt in which said employees were pressured to reuse
syringes and/or needles and/or biopsy forceps and/or snares and/or bite blocks contrary to
the express product labeling of said itéms, and/or in violation of universally uccepted safety
precautions for the use of said itcmé; and/or (4) by directly limiting and/or directly or
indirectly instructing said employees, and/or creating an employment environment in which
said employees were pressured to llmnt the yse of medical supplies necessary to conduct safe
endoscopic procedures; and/or (5) by falsely precharting patient records and/or rushing
patients through said endoscopy ceriter and/or rushing patient procedures at the expense of
patient safety and/or well being and/or directly or indirecily insiructing said employees,
and/or creating an employment environment in which said employees were pressured to
falsely prechart patient records and/or rush patients through said endoscopy center and/or
rush patient procedures at the expense -of patient safety and/or well being; and/or {(6) by
directly or indirect]y sch;:d,uling andfor trcatiﬁg an unreasonable number of patients per day
which resulted in substandard care aﬂ;l/or jeopardized the safety and/or well being of said
patients; and/or (7) by direcily failing to adequately clean and/or prepare endoscopy scopes,
contrary 1o the express manufacmr'ers' guidelines for the handling and processing of sain.:l

endoscopy scopes, and/or in violation of universally accepted safety precautions for the use
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of said scopes and/or directly or indirectly instructing said employees, and/or creating an
employment environment .in which said zemployees were inadequately trained and/or
pressured to provide endoscopy '”s'cc_;pes for patient procedures that werc not adeguately
cleaned and/or prepared contrary to the express manufacturers guidelines for the handling
and processing of said endoscopy scopes, .:mdfor in violation of universally accepted safety
precautions for the use of sa'ifi scopes; Defendants being responsible under one or more_of
the following principles of criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts;
and/or (2) aiding or abetting eaghlhother in the commission of the crime by directly or
indirectly counseling, cncouraginé, ﬁiring, commanding, inducing, or procuting each other,
and/or others to commit said acts, f)éfendants acting with the intent to cormit said crime,
and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime,
COUNT 21- CRIMINAL NEGLECT OF PATIENTS

Defendants, on or aboult Septembér 21, 2007, being professional caretakers of
CAROLE GRUESKIN, did act 'o;" ormit fo 4ct in an aggravated, reckless or gross manner,
failing to provide such service, care or supervision as is reasonable and necessary to
maintain the health or safety of said CAROLE GRUESKIN, resulting in substantial bodily
harm to CAROLE GRUESKIN, said acts or omissions being such a departure from whéll
would be the conduct of an c;ndinax'ily prﬁdent, careful ‘person under the same circumstances
that it is contrary fo a proper regard for'danger to human life or constitutes indifference to
the resulting consequentes, said, Ic:.dnsequences of the negligent act or omission being
reasonably foreseeable; séid danger, to human life not being the result of inattention,
mistaken judgment or misadventure, 'IIJ'Iut the 'natural and probable result of said aggravated
reckless or grossly negligent act or omission, by performing one or mare of the following
acts: (1) by directly or indirectly instructing employees of the Endoscopy Center of
Southern Nevada, (ECSN) to administer one or more doses of the anesthetic drug Propofol
from a single uge vial £o mioré 'than.;_c;)'ﬁe ph't:fi’ent contrary to the express product labeling of
said drug and in violation of ﬁniveféaélly accepted safety precautions for the administration of

sajd drug; and/or (2) by crealing an employment environment in which said embloyees were

! L
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pressured to administer one ‘or more ﬂoses of the anesthetic drug Propofol from a single use
via] to more than one paticilt confrary to the express product labeling of said drug and in
violation of umiversally accepted -sqfeiy precautions for the administration of said dru-g';
and/or (3) by directly or indiretfjtly instructing said employees, and/or creating an
employment environment in which sailz_d' employees were pressured to reuse syringes and/or
needles and/or biopsy forceps a'nd/oq snares and/or bite blocks comtrary to the express
product labeling of said items, and/or in violation-of universally accepted safety precautions
for the use of said items; and/or (4) by directly or indirectly instructing said employees,
and/or creating an employment envir'o;'lment-.fin which said employees were pressured to limit
the use of medijcal supplies neces'sari to conduet safe endoscopic procedures; and/or (5) by
directly or indirectly instructing said employees, and/or creating an employment
environment in which said_employ:recs w‘cre pressured to falsely prechart patient records
and/or rush patients througlj said endoscopy center and/or rush patient procedures at .the
¢xpense of paticnt safety and}or well being; and/or (6) by directly or indirectly scheduling
and/or treating an unreasonable nu{r‘lber of patients per day which resulted in substandard
care and/or jeopardized the safety and/or w|e.ll being of said patients; and/or (7) by directly or
indirectly instructing said employeeé,,"and!(;r creating an employment environment in which
said employees were inadequately trained and/or pressured to provide endoscopy scopes for
patient procedures that were not adequately cleaned and/or prepared contrary to the express
manufacturers guidelines for the handling and processing of said endoscopy scopes, and e.;
in violation of universally accepted 'safety pi'gcautions for the use of said scopes; and/or (é)
by methods unknown; for the purﬁbs&; of enhancing the financial profit of ECSN, said act(s)
or omission(s) causing the transmission of Hepatitis C virus from patient KENNETH
RUBINO to patient CAROLE GRUESKIN, who was hot previously infccted with the
Hepatitis C virus; Defendaﬁts ‘being reésponsible under one or more of the following
principles of criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly coinmittiné said acts; and/or (2) aiding
or abetting each other in’the comrﬁjls“sion of the crime by d'irectly or indirectly counseling,

encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other, and/or others to
' ¥ .
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commit said acts, Defendants actmg thh the intent to commit said crime, and/or (3)

pursuant to a conspiracy to commit ﬂ’lls crime.

COUNT 22 - INSURANCE FRAUD "
Defendants did, on or about September 21, 2007, knowingly and willfully present, or

cause to be presented a stateme:nl as a part of, or in support of, a claim for puyment or other
benefits under a policy of i msurance 1ssued pursuant to Title 57 of the Nevada Rewsed
Statutes, knowing that' the statement concealed or omifted facts, or coniained false or
misleading information concemlng " fact.matenal to said claim; and/or did assist, abet,
solicil or conspire to present ;:ar cause to be presented a statement to an insurer, a reinsurer, a
pfoducer, a broker or any agent thereof, knowing that said statement concealed or omitted
facts, or did contain false or misleading information concerning a fact material to a claim for
payment or other benefits under such policy issued pursuant to Title 57 of the Nevada
Revised Statutes, by faléely represeﬁting to I—iEALTH PLAN OF NEVADA that the billed
anesthesia time and/or cﬁa:ges for .the endoscopic procedure performed on CAROLE
| GRUESKIN were more than the actual anesthetic time and/or charges, said false
representation resulting in the payment of money (o Defendants and/or their medical practice
and/or the racketeering enterprise which exceeded that which would have normally been
allowed for said procedure, Defendants bemg responsible under one or more of the
following principles of criminal habthty, to wnt (1) by directly committing said acts; and/or
(2) aiding or abetting each other in f"e commission of the arime by direetly or indirectly
counscling, encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other, and/or
others to commit said acts, Defendants acting with the intent to commit said crime, and/or
(3) pursuant to a conspnracy to cotnmit thlS erime.

COUNT 23 - PERFORMANCE OF ACT TN RECKLESS DISREGARD OF PERSONS
OR PROPERTY .

Defendants did on or about September 21, 2007, then and there willfully and
unlawfully perform acts in willful or wanton disregard of the safety of persons or property
resulting in substantial bodily harm o GWENDOLYN MARTIN, in the following manner,

28
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to-wit: by Defendants' perfonning one or' more of the following acts: (1) by directly
administering and/or directly or mdmecﬂy instructing employees of the Endoscopy Center of
Southern Nevada, (ECSN) to administer one or more doses of the anesthetic drug Propofol
from a single use vial to more than one paﬁent contrary to the express product labeling of
said drug and in violation of “untversally accepted safety precautions for the administration of
said drug; and/or (2) by creating an employment gnvironment in which said employees were
pressured to administer one or morc :doses of the anesthetic drug Propofol from a single use
vial to more than one patient conh-ary to the express product labeling of said drug and in
violation of universally accepted -safety precautions for the adminijstration of said drug;
and/or (3) by directly reusing and/or directly or indirectly instructing said employees, and/or
creating an employment environment in which said employees were pressured to reuse
syringes and/or needles and/or biopsy f‘orcéps and/or snares and/or bite blocks contrary to
the express product Iabehng of said items, ahd/or in violation of universally accepted safety
precautions for the use of said itefiis; and/or (4) by directly limiting and/or directly or
indirectly instructing said employees, and/or 'cteating an employment environment in whlch
said employees were pressured to limit the use of medical supplies necessary to conduct safe
endoscopic procedures; and/er (5) by falsely precharting patlent records and/or rushmg
patients through said endoscopy center and/or rushing patient procedures af the expense of
patient safsty and/or wel] being and/or dlrectly or indirectly instructing said employef.:s

and/or creating an employment enwronment in which said employess were pressured to

 Ralsely prechart patient records ‘and/or rush paticiits through said endoscopy center and/or |

rush patient procedures at the expense of patient safety and/or weil being; and/or (6) by
directly or indirectly scheduling and/or trcatmg an unreasonable number of patients per day
which resulted in substandard care and/or Jeopardlzcd the safety and/or well being of said
patients; and/or (7) by dlrectly féuhng ta adcquately clean and/or prepare endoscopy scopes,
contrary to the express manufacturers guidelines for the handling and processing of said
endoscopy scopes, and/or in violation of' universally accepted safety precautions for the use

of said scopes and/or directly or ifldliI'CCt]y instructing said employees, and/or creating an
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employment environment in which said employees were inadequately trained and/or
pressured to provide endoscopy scopes for patient procedures that were not adequately
cleaned and/or prepared contrary to the express manufacturers guidelines for the hand]mg
and processing of said endoscopy scopes and/or in violation of universally accepted safety
precautions for the use of said scopes, Defendants being responsible under one or more of
the following principles of criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts;
and/or (2) aiding or abetting each other in the commission of the crime by directly or
indirectly counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other,
and/or others to commit said acts, Defandants acting with the intent to commit said crime,
and/or (3) pursuant to a.conspiracyg_té‘ 'éomm';t" this crime.
COUNT 24 - CRIMINAL NEGLECT OF PATIENTS

Defendants, on or about September 21, 2007, being professional caretakers of
GWENDOLYN MARTIN, dld act or omit to act in an agpravated, reckless or gross manner,
failing to provide such semce, care Or supervision as is reasonable and necessary to
maintain the health or safety of said GWENDOLYN MARTIN, resulting in substantial
bodily harm to GWENDOLYN MARTIN, said acts or omissions being such a departure
from what would be the conduct of in ordinarily prudent, careful person under the same
circumstances that it is contrary to a proper regard for dange.r to human life or constitutes
indifference to the resulting consequences, said consequences of the ncgligent act or
omission being reasonably foreseeable; said danger to human life not being the result of
inattention, mistaken judgment or'miisadveijiture, but the natural and probable result of said
aggravated reckless or grossly'f ncg'!_ig'_eni act or omission, by performing one or more of the
following acts: (1) by direotly or indirectly instructing employees of the Endoscopy Center
of Southern Nevada, (ECSN) to adminiétér on¢ or more doses of the anesthetic drug
Propofol from a single use v:al 10 more than one patient contrary 1o the express product
labeling of said drug and in vmla’clon of universally accepted safety precautions for the
administration of sald drug; andfor ‘(2) by -creatmg an employment environment in which

said employees were pressured to administer one or more doses of the anesthetic drug

o
1
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Propofol from a single use vial to more than one patient contrary to the cxpress product
labeling of said drug and in violation of universally accepted safety precautions for the
administration of said drug; and/or (3) by directly or indirectly instructing said employees,
and/or creating an employment environment in which said employess were pressured to
reuse syringes and/or néedles and/or biopsyl"l’crceps and/or snares and/or bite blocks contrary
to the express product Iabeiing of 'said it:ems, and/or in violation of universally accepted
safety precautions for the use of said items; and/or (4) by directly or indirectly instructing
said employees, and/or creaﬁng an _cmploynient environment in which said employees were
pressured fo limit the use of medical supplies necessary to conduct safe endoscopic
procedures; and/or (5) by directly or indirectly instructing said employees, and/or creating an
employment environment in which smd employees were pressured to falsely prechart patient
records and/or rush patients through sa:d endoscopy center and/or rush patient procedures at
the expense of patient safety and/or well being; and/or (6) by directly or indirectly
scheduling and/or treating an unreasonable number of patients per day which resulted in
substandard care and/or jeopardized the safety and/or well being of said paticnts; and/or (7)
by directly or mdlrectly mstructmg smd emp]oyees, and/or creating an employment
environment in which Smd employees were madequately trained and/or pressured to provide
endoscopy scopes for patient proced‘ares that were not adequately cleangd and/or prepared
contrary to the express manufacturers guidélines for the handling and processing of said
endoscopy scopes, and/or in' violation of nniversally accepted safety precautions for the use
of snid scopes; and/or (8) by methods unknown; for the purpose of enhancing the financial
profit of ECSN, said act(s) or omission(s} causing the transmission of Hepatitis C virus from
patient KENNETH RUBINO to patient GWENDOL YN MARTIN, who was not previously
infected with the Hepatitis C virus; Defendants being responsible under one or more of the
following principles of criminal liabilitly, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts; and/or
(2) aiding o abettifig each other ini the commission of the crime by directly or indirectly
counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other, and/or
I/ :
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others to commit said acts, Defendants Tan::ting with the intent to commit said crime, and/or

(3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this erime.
COUNT 25 - INSURANCE F'RAUD'

Defendants did, on or between September 20, 2007 and September 21, 2007,
knowingly and wilifully present, or cause to be presented a statement as a part of, or in
support of, a claim for payment or other benefits under, a policy of insurance issued pursuant
to Title 57 of the Nevada Revised Statutes, knowing that the statement concealed or omitted
facts, or contained false or misleading i;}fonnation concerning a fact material to said claim;
and/or did assist, abet, solicit or c'on"spire to present or cause to be presented a statement tp
an insurer, a reinsurer, a producer, a b;'oker or any agent thereof, knowing that said statement
concealed or omitted facts, or did contain false or misleading information concerning a fact
material to a clalm for payment or (‘)ther benefits under such policy issued pursuant to Title
57 of the Nevada Revised Statutes, by falsely representing to PACIFIC CARE that the
billed anesthesia timé and/brj ch'ai-ges for the endorscropic pruccdﬁre ﬁerrfcrmed' on
GWENDOLYN MARTIN were rh'o}c than the actual anesthetic time and/or charges, said
Talse tepresentation resulting in the payment of money to Defendants and/or their medical
practice and/or the racketeering enterprise which exceeded that which would have normally
been allowed for said proceduré; Defendants being responsible vnder one or more of the
following prineiples of criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts; and/or
(2) aiding or abetting eakh other in,ihe commission of the crime by directly or indire“ﬂy
counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing, or procuring each other, and/(l:nj
others to commit said acts, Defendants acting with the intent to commit said erime, and/or
(3) pursuant to a conspiracy o commit ‘this crime,

COUNT 26 - THEFT ‘ |

Defendants did, between .Tuly 25, 2007 and December 31, 2007, then and there
knowingly, fe]omously, and w1thout lanulé authority, commit theft by obtaining persunal
property in the amount of $250,00§”0r more, lawful money of the United States, from
STACY HUTCHINSON, KENNETI-I RUBINO, PATTY ASPINWALL, SHARRIEFF
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ZIYAD, MICHAEL WASJI-II'NGTON,' CAROLE GRUESKIN and RODOLFO MEANA,
and/or ANTHEM BLUE CROSS AND BLUE SHIELD, HEALTHCARE PARTNERS OF
NEVADA, UNITED HEALTH 'SERVICES, VETERANS ADMINISTRATION and
SECURED HORIZONS, by a matéri;:l rilisrcprcsentation with intent to deprive those
persons of the property, in the foilowing manner, to-wit: by falsely representing that the
billed anesthesia time and/or chargés for the endescopic procedure performed on STACY
HUTCHINSON, KENNETH RUBINQ, PATTY ASPINWALL, SHARRIEFF ZIYAD,

~MICHAEL WASHIN GTON,“CA’RQ_EE'GR;}UESKINTMTRODUEFD MEANA,; were more

than the actual anesthetivl; time‘amlii/ml cﬂarges, said false representation resulling in the

payment of money to Defendants and/or their medical practice and/or the racketeering

enterprise, which exceeded that which would have normally been allowed for said

procedure, thereby obtaining said personall property by a material misrepresentation with

intent to deprive them of the property, Defendants being responsible under one or more o.f

the following principles.of criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts;
and/or (2) aiding or abetting each :'qthEr in the commission of the crime by directly or

indirectly counseling, encomagi-ng, i]i‘r-ir‘lg, éommanfiing, inducing, or procuting each other,

and/or others to commit said acts, Defendants acting with the intent to commit said crime,

and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime.
COUINT 27 - OBTAINING MONEY UNDER FALSE PRETENSES

Defendants, did ‘on or betwech ‘,S&pfgmber 20, 2007, and December 31, 2007, with

intent to cheat and defraud, wilfu]l'i},'-ﬁmlaw'fully, feloniously, knowingly, designedly, and by

use of false pretenses, obtain $250,00, or more, lawful money of the United States from

GWENDOLYN MARTIN and/or PACIFICARE, within Las Vegas, Clark County, Nevada,

in the following marnner, to-wit: by falsely representing that the billed anesthesia times

and/or charges for the endoscopic procedures performed on GWENDOLYN MARTIN weré

more than the actual anesthetic times.and/or '(:'hérges, said false representation resulting in the

payment of money to Defendants Ilan(.i/or the medical practice and/or the racketeering

enterprise, which exceeded that which would h'ave normally been allowed for said

33
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procedures Defendants being responsible under one or more of the following principles of
criminal liability, to wit: (I) by dlrcct]y commltnng said acts; and/or (2) aiding or abetting
each other in the commission'of the cnme by directly or indirectly counseling, encouraging,
hiring, commanding, inducing, or procunng each other, and/or others to commit sajd acts,
Defendants acting with the intent to comm:t said crime, and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy

to commit this crime,

COUNT 28 - OBTAINING MONEY UNDER FALSE PRETENSES
Defendants, did op or between Scptembcr 21, 2007, and December 31, 2007, with

intent to cheat and defraud, wﬂﬁxlly, umawf‘ully, feloniously, knowingly, designedly, and by
use of false pretenses, obtain $250 OO or more, lawfuzl money of the United States from
SONIA ORELLANA-RIVERA and/or CULINARY WORXERS HEALTH FUND, within
Las Vegas, Clark County, Nevada, | in the following manner, to-wit: by falsely representing
that the billed anesthesia times and/or charges for the endoscopic procedures performed on
SONIA ORELLANA-RIVERA were, morefthan the actual anesthetic fimes and/or charges,
said false representation resu]tinlg in the pajrment of money to Defendants and/or the medical
practice and/or the racketeering e,nterpnsc, which exceeded that which would have normally
been allowed for said procedures Defendarits being responsible under one or more of the
following principles of criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts; and/or
(2) aiding or abetting each other in the ‘commission of the crime by directly or indirectly
counseling, encouraging, ‘hirjng, commandmg, indueing, or procuring each other, and/or

/117 ‘ ,
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(3) pursuant to a consplracy to commlt this crime.
DATED this 3 day of June 2010,

b

35
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others to commit said acts, Defendants acting with the intent to commit said crime, and/or

DAVID ROGER
DISTRICT ATTORNLY
Nevada Bar #002781

»

Chief Deputy District Attorney
Nevada Bar #008273
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Names of witnesses testifying before the Grand Jury:
CARRERA, HILARIO ' ‘
DESAIL SAEHAL

RIVERA, SONIA ORELLONO

ZIYAD, SHARRIEFF

MEANA, RODOLFQ

RUBINO, KENNETH
WASHINGTON, MICIJIAEL
GRUESKIN, CAROLE

MARTIN, GWENDOLYN
HUTCHINSON, STACY

ASPINWALL, PATTY

CAROL, CLIFFORD |
LANGLEY, GAYLE, CDC PHYSICIAN
SCHAEFER, MELISSA, CDC PHYSICIAN

DROBENINE, JAN, CDC LAB SUPERVISOR
KHUDYAKOV, YURY, CDC

ARMOUR, PATRICIA, NV. HEALTH DISTRICT

LABUS, BRIAN, NV HEALTH DISTRICT,

HAWKINS, MELVIN i

YEE, THOMAS, ANESTHESIOLOGIST

SHARMA, SATISH, ANESTHESIOLOGIST

DUENAS, YERENY, INSURANCE CLAIMS

YOST, ANNE, NURSE

SAGENDORF, VINCENT, CRNA

CERDA, RYAN, HEALTH CARE BUSINESS SOLUTIONS
VANDRUFF, MARION, MEDICAL ASSISTANT

MYERS, ELAINE, CLAIMS DIRECTOR
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SPAETH, CORRINE, CLAIMS DIRECTOR
GONZALES, PATRICIA, BLUE CROSS DIRECTOR DEPT.

SAMPSON, NANCY, LYMPD

SAMS, JOANNE, VET ADMIN. CODER

LOBIANBO, ANNAMARIE, CRNA- - 7+

NEMEC, FRANK, GASTROENTEROLOGIST

CAMPBELL, LYNETTE, RN

SIMS, DOROTHY, BUREAU OF LICENSING AND CERTIFICATION

KALKA, KATIE, UNITED HEALTH GROUP INV, -

KRUEGER, JEFFREY ALEN, RN

RUSHING, TONYA, OFFICE MGR,

Additional witnesses known to the Diquict Attorney at time of filing the Indictment:
WHITELY, R. LVMPD '

FORD, MIKE, LVMPD

HANCOCK, L., LVMPD #7083

KELLEY, J., LVMPD #3716

COE, DANIEL, LVMPD .© . "

ARNONE, ANTHONY, LVMPD *

GRAY, WARREN, LVYMPD
MCILROY, ROBIN, FB]
DESAI DIPAK, 3093 RED ARROW, LVN 89135

LAKEMAN, RONALD, 700 SHADOW LN #165B, LVN 89106

MATHAHS, KEITH, 10220 BUTTON WILLOW DR,, LVN 89134

HERRERO, CARMELO, 1864 WOODHAVEN DR., HNV 89074

KHAN, IKRAM, 3006 $, MARYLAND PKWY, #465 LVN 89109

ANWAR, JAVAID, 3006 MARYLAND PKWY #400, LVN 89109

FISHCHER, GAYLE, 1600 CLIFTON MAIL STOP #G37, ATLANTA, GA. 30333
SHARMA, VISHVINDER, DR. 3212 CEDARDALE PL., LVN 89134
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1 { COHAN, DR. CHARLES, POB 4144, SAYLORSBURG, PA
2 || LOPEZ, J. JULIAN, 7106 SMOKE RANCH RD. #120 LVN 89128
3 | MALEY, KATIE, 4275 BURNHAM#101, LVN
4 (| HANSEN, IDA Ny
5 | PETERSON, KAREN, 2138 FT. SANDERS ST., HNV
6 | BIEN, KATHY, 3800 DALECREST DR. #1117, LVN 89129
7 || CAVETT, JOSHUA, 7829 TATTERSALL FLAG ST., LVN 89139
8 | HARRIS, ORELENA (HOLLEMAN), 2816 DESERT SONG, LVN 89106
9 | GREGORY, MARTHA .
10 || HIGUERA, LILIA, 3504 FLOWER, NLVN 85030
Il || CARAWAY, ANTOINETTE, 1407 BAREBACK CT., HNV 89014
12 || DRURY, JANINE
13 | JOHNSON, SHONNA §., 42 VIA DE LUCCIA, HNV 89074
14 | BAILEY, PAULINE, 3416 MONTE CARLO DR., LVN 89121
15 || FALZONE, LISA, 8024 iS'EACEFU]'_':,' WOODS'STREET, LVN 89143
16 || IRVIN, JOHNNA ¥
17 || MCDOWELL, RALPH, 388 SANTA CANDIDA ST., LVN
18 | RICHVALSKY, KAREN, 3325 NIGUL WAY, LVN 89117
19 | HUBBARD, LINDA, 515 PARK ROYAL DR,, NLVN 89031
20 | MURPHY, MAGGIE, 10175 W. SPRING MTN RD. #2012 LVN 89117
21 | RUSSOM, RUTA, 4854 MONTERREY AVE,, LVN 89121
22 || SCHULL, JERRY, 5413 SWEET SHADE ST.,LVN
23 | MCDOWELL, RALPH, 388 SANTA CANDIDA ST, LVN 89138
24 | SUKHDEO, DANIEL, 3925 LEGEND HILLS ST. #203, LVN 89129
25 | CLEMMER, DANA MARIE, 4913 FERRELL ST, NLVN 89034
26 | WEBB, KAREN, 1459 8, 14TH ST, OMAHA, NE
27 | MIONE, VINCENT, 2408 W. EL CAMPO GRANDE AVE,, NLVN 89031
28 | CHAFFEE, ROD, 9303 GILCREASE #1080, LVN 89149
38
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MCGOWAN, SHANNON, 5420 CARNATION MEADOW ST., LVN 89130

[

2 | KOSLOY, LESLEE, RN, HEALTH FACILITIES SURVEYOR
3 | HOWARD, NADINE, HEALTH FACILITIES SURVEYOR
4 | WHITAKER, GERALDINE, 701 CARPICE'DR. #17B, BOULDER CITY, NV 89005
5 | HUYNH, NGUYEN, 3004 HAZY MEADOW LN., LVN 89108
6 | MANTHEL PETER, 7066 AZURE BEACH AZURE ST., LVN 89148
7 | PRESTON, LAWRENCE, 801 S. RANCHO DR,, STE C-1, LVN
8 || SHEFNOF¥, NEIL, 755 E. MCDOWELL RD.,, PHOENIX, AZ 85006
9 | GREER, MARY, 3462 SHAMROCK AVE., LVN 89120
10 | SCAMBIO, JEAN, 2920 YUKON FLATS CT., NLVN 89031
11 || LATHROP, CAROL, 1741 AUGUSTA ST., PAHRUMP, NV 89048
12 | PHELPS, LISA, 764 MORMON PEAK ST., OVERTON, NV 89040
13 | ZIMMERMAN, MARILYN, 550 SEASONS PKWY, BELVIDERE, IL 89040
14 | BLEMINGS, RENATE, 2100 PLAIN ST., PAHRUMP, NV 89060
15 | ELLEN, DIANE
16 | CARRERA, ELADIO, 612 CANYON GREENS DR, LVN 89144
17 | CARROLL, CLIFFORD, 10313 ORKINEY DR., LVN 89144
18 | JONES, LISA, CHIEF NSB OF LICENSURE AND CERTIFICATION (BLC)

19 # WILLIAMS, SKLAR, RESIDENT AGENT, 8363 W, SUNSET RD. #300, LVN 89113
20 | DESAL KUSAM, MD L
‘ FARIS, FRANK
22 || WAHID, SHAHID, MD
23 (| NAYYAR, SANJAY, MD
24 || MUKHERJEE, RANADER, MD .
25 | OM, HARL, LLCMGR,
26 | COOPER, DOUG, CHIEF INV,, NV‘ ST, BOARD OF ME

27 || MASON, ALBERT
28 || HIGGINS, HEATHER, INV NV. 8T, BOAR.D OF ME

- 1 ]
I-r'. v .
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HUGHES, LAURA, AG §/A
FRANKS, LISA, PHYSICIAN ASST.,
ECKERT, PHYSICIAN ASST,
KAUL, DR, '
PATEL, DR.

QUANNAH, LAKOTA
HUYNH, NGUYEN

COOK, KATIE, FBI S/A
VAZIRY, DR.

BUL DR.

SAMEER, DR, SHEIKH
MANUEL, DR. DAVID
MANUEL, DR.
RICHVALSKY, KAREN, RN
CALVALHO, DANIEL CARRERA

JURANI, DR, | v
CASTLEMAN, DR. STEPHANIE

SENI, DK.

FALZONE, NURSE

TONY, DR.

LOPEZ, DR. _ L
ALFARO-MARTINEZ, SAMUEL -

WISE, PATTY )

TERRY, JENNIFER, LVMPD INTERPRETER
MOORE, DAVID -

DIAZ, ALLEN, LVMPD INTERPRETER
LEWIS, DR. DANIEL
O’'REILLY, TIM

40
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O’REILLY, JOHN

MARTIN, LOVEY

MALMBERG, GEORGE
ASHANTE, DR.

KNOWLES, DR.

SAPP, BETSY, PHLEBOTOMIST
PAGE-TAYL.OR, LESLIE, CDC
HUBBARD, LINDA, CRNA'
ROSEL, LINDA, FBI SA
LOBIONDA, CRNA .
YAMPOLSKY, MACE 3
POMERANZ, AUSA

FIGLER, DAYVID

BUNIN, DANIEL

TAGLE, PEGGY, RN

BLEMINGS, RENATE |

LUKENS, JOHN

KOSLOY, LESLEE, RN

HAHN, JASON, LVMFPD

SMITH, CHARNESSA.

HITTI, DR. MIRANDA

NAZARIO, DR. BRUNILDA - ¥
BARCLAY, DR. ROBERT b
REXFORD, KEVIN

CAVETT, JOSHUA, GI TECH

{| ARBOREEN, DAVE, LYMPD

BURKIN, JERALD, FBI SA
NAZAR, WILLIAM

41
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I || PHELPS, LISA

2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10
11
12
13

14

15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

27
28

HARPER, TIFFANY
SCAMBIO, JEAN, NURSE
HUGHES, LAURA, AG INV.
MAANOA, PETER, RN

MILLER, JAMES

CRANE, AUSA

DIBUDUO, CHARLES
GLASS-SERAN, BARBARA, CRNA
PENSAKOVIC, JOAN
KIRCH, MARLENE

KAUSHAL, DR. DHAN
LATHROP, CAROL

LATHROP, WILLIAM

SHARMA, DR. SATISH
STURMAN, GLORIA

GASKILL, SARA

BROWN, DAVID

DORAME, JOHN

GENTILE, DOMINIC

ARMENI, PAOLA

CREMEN, FRANK
SAGENDORF, VINCENT
TAGLE, PEGGY

IRVIN, JOHNNA

-SQ0D, RAJAT

09BGID49 A-C/10F03793A-C/GI/mj
ﬁ}ff(ﬂﬂ’)[) EV #080229-2576 -
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EicaTH JUDICIAI, DISTRICT COURT
REGIONAL JUSTICE CENTER
200 LEWIS AVENUE
LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89155-2367

DI PARTMENT SEVEN
LlNggT 2?;1"\;;"5) SEEU- (702) 671-4344
FAX: (702) 5714343

Qctober 11, 2012

Richard Wright, Esq. -
Wright, Stanish & Winckler :
300 8. Fourth St., #701

Las Vegas, NV 89101

Dear Mr. Wright,

This letter is in response to your request for information regarding procedures in the
Desai casa. | apologize for the delay in my response. | have been extraordinarily busy
in my new assignment. S S B

Grand juries sit in Clark County for a period of one year. The one year period is a matter
of practice, not statute. Nevada Revised Statute 8.110 requires selection of a grand jury
"as often as the public interest may require and at least once in each 4 years." We have
two grand juries at any time, an A Grand Jury and a B Grand Jury. Generally, the A
Grand Jury is seated in May, and the B Grand Jury is seated in October.

The grand juriés are released after serving a year, but not formally discharged. That
procedure was in place when | took oversight of the grand jury. My understanding is that
the grand juries are not formally discharged 0 allow for the possibility of recall in cases
stich as this one. I'm not aware of any documentation being filed relative to their release
or discharge. Generally, } meet with them, thank them for their service and we give them
a centificate of thanks. Since that meeting is ceremonial in nature, it is not taken down

by the court reporter.

in this specific case, a request was made by the district attorney’s office to recall the
original grand jury (the 200¢ B Grand .Jury) to hear additional charges in the Desai case.
The request to recall the 2009 B Grand Jury stemmed from the length of the prior
proceedings. As | recall, the first presentation took-approximately ten days of grand jury
time — roughly twenty percent of the grand jury year. On that basis, the request was
granted with certain safeguards in place: The grand jurors-were re-instructed, They.also
were provided with copies of the prior proceeding transcripts in advance, and | polled
each grand juror to ensure the transcripts had been reviewed, | am enclosing the Order
recalling the Grand Jury. ) .

IR 139
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I would be happy to mset with you and Mr. Staudaher if you have any additional
questions, Feel free fo contact my JEA Tina Hurd at 6714344 fo set up a mutually

agreeabls time.

Sincerely,

Li

rict Judge
Enclosure: One (1)

GC:  Stefany Miley, District Judge
Michael Staudaher, Deputy District Attorney

—_——a -
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11/20/2012 11:33 FAX 3838485 DA CRIMINAL DIVISION
OFFICE OF THE DISTRICT ATTORNE
' HIDTA /GRAND JURY ~ B
STEVEN B. WOLFSON
District Attorney
CHRIS OWENS CHRISTOPHER LAURENT
Assisvant District Attorney Chief Deputy
‘TERESA M. LOWRY
Assistant District Abtorney
MARY-ANNE MILLER
County Counsel July 2’ 2012

The Honorable Linda Marie Bell
Eighth Judicial District Court Judge
Regional Justice Center

200 Lewis Avenue

Las Vegas, Nevada 89155

RE: A595107 - State’s Request to Recall Thursday 2009 Grand Jury

Honorable Judge Bell:

The State is requesting that the court recall the Thursday 2009 grand jury that heard State
of Nevada v, Dipak Kantilal Desai, et al. (Case no. 09BGI049A-C) so that it may hear
evidence concerning the death of Rodoifo Meana. The State will be seeking a
superseding indictment adding the charge of murder. Mr. Meana was one of the original
five persons to contract Hepatitis C as a result of his treatment at the Endoscopy Center
and he has died post indictment, Dr, Alane Olson, who attended the aufopsy in the
Philippines and who prepared and reviewed fissue slides of Mr, Meana, deterrnined that a
coniributing cause of Mr, Meana’s death was the Hepatitis C and that that manner of

death was homicide.

The State secks to recall the Thursday 2009 grand jury that heard the original
presentment. That presentment took place over ten (10) separate giand jury days. The
Grand Jury heard from thirty-cight (38), at least four (4) of which were out of state
witnesses from the Center of Disease Control. There are fourteen (14) volumes of
transcripts and eighty-nine (89) separate exhibits, Together the transeripts and the
exhibits consist of 1,658 pages of material, The indictment alone is forty-two *42) pages
long. See Exhibit 1. The State would incur astronomical costs if it were required to
present anew the enfire case to a new grand jury., The additional cost for the court

Regional Justice Center » 200 Lewis Avenue » PO Box 552212 » Lag Vegas NV 89155-2212
(702) 671-2500 » Fax: (702) 455-2294 » TDD: 1-800-326-6568

Bt s e e . .
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Request for Recall for GI A595107 2

reporter ‘alone would more that justify recalling the previous grand jury from a cost
benefit analysis perspective.

Section 172,275 of the Nevada Revised Statutes states: “A grand juty shall serve until
discharged by the court and may be so discharged at any time after the expiration of 1
year”  Moreover, section 6.145 of the Nevada Revised Statutes states: “Upon
completion of it"s business for the time being, the court may, at the request of or with the
concurrence of the grand jury, recess the grand jury subject to recall at such time as new
business my require its attention,” It is my understanding that the previous grand jury
was made aware of the possibility that they would be recalled and that they agreed that

they would respond to a recall if needed in this case,

1t used to be the practice of the court to formally discharge a grand jury at the conclusion
of its one year of service. However, due to circumstances similar to this case, the court
dispensed with formally discharging the grand jury so that it would be subject to recall in
the interest of justice. In the instant case there was no formal order of discharge issued

by the court,

Rather than presenting anew the entire case to a new grand jury, the State seeks to recall
the previous grand jury and take testimony from one or two witnesses to supplement the
evidence, It is anticipated that this would take two full days. One day to review the
transeripts and exhibits and a second day for the presentation of new evidence and

deliberation.

The State respectfully requests that the court recall the Thursday 2009 grand jury. Thank
you for considering this request. If you have any questions or requite further information
please do not hesitate to contact me. The State anxiously awaits your decision in this

matfer.

Chief Deputy

CADowuments and SeuingsdelpadeiLoeal Senings\Temporary Interned Files\Conlent OulloctATLQG T BBMLetor for Recail.dos 142

T PETMRTSN P mae L ST O S 3¢ S AU SN = a0 = n apaowfane




LL/ &Y/ EULL L1;9d PAA JGI04GD PA CRIMINAL DIVISION dos1

Sl

L= A B « (K <. T N S NY

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20

& COURT
2

b
Y

11202

“CE;JUL
A

S%F

0 o

Electronically Fijed
OTM12012 11:34:37 AM

ORDR i [

EXGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COQURT CLERK OF THE COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

Yn re: Request to Recall 20098 Grand Jury on
CESE ND- UQBG‘J049A-C Cﬁse No. A‘09'595107'P
Dep’t No. VII

-
HE
EBE ,
SEE ¥
z:—.h‘l

aAA0 28

DECISION AND ORDER

In June of 2010, the 2009 B Grand Jury heard the case of State of Neﬁda v. Desai
under Grand Jury Case Number 09BGJo49 A-C, After hearing evidence over several days,
the Grand Jury issued a true bill on all counts. An indictment followed charging the
defendants with racketeering, performance of an act in reckless disregard of persons or
property, criminal neglect of patients, insurance fraud, theft and obtaining money under
false pretenses,

The case is complex and took ten days to present. The presentment included thirty-
eight witnesses, at least four of whom resided out of state, The resulting transcripts and
exhibits constitute about 1,658 pages of written material.

The State now seeks to present additional charges following the death of Rodolio
Meana to add a charge of murder. (See attached letter), Given the complexity of the issues
involved, the State yequests that the 2009 B Grand Jury be recalled to hear the additional
evidence,

Nevada Revised Statute 6.145 allows that “upon the completion of its business for
the time being, the court may, at the request of or with the concurrence of the grand jury,
recess the grand jury subject to recall at such time as new husiness may require its
attention.” In Clark County, the grand jurors serve for one year, and then are recessed. No
order of dismissal is entered upon excusal of grand jurors in Clark County.

..Currently two grand juries meet regularly to hear cases — the 2011B Grand Jury and
the 2012A Grand Jury, Under NRS 6,110, a grand jury may be summoned “as often as the
public interest may require.” Consequently, impaneling an additional grand jury is
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B 1 | permissible, even if another grand jury is currently meeting. Lera v. Sheriff. 93 Nev. 4908,
2 || 586 P.2d 581 (x997). ‘
3 A case may be resubmitted to the same grand jury unless the grand jury returned a
4 | “no bill” on a charge. State v. Towers, 37 Nev. 94, 139 P. 776 (1914). The current concern
5 || involves a new charge uot previously presented to the grand jury. Thus, it is permissible for
6 | the same grand jury to hear the case. On balance, the time and cost of representing the case
7 || to one of the regularly meeting grand juries far exceeds the inconvenience and cost of
8 || recalling the 20008 grand jurors. Additionaily, the court can see no prejudice that would
o |l result to the defendants by having the additional charge presented to the grand jury that

10 | issued the original indictment. Consequently, the State’s request to recall the 20098 Grand
11 || Juryis granted.

12 The State will have two weeks from the date of this order to Jocate the prior grand
13 | jurors and provide contact information fo the Court. The Court will swmmmons those grand
14 || jurors to appear in cowrt on Friday, August 10 at 11:00 a.m, in Department VIL

15 At that time, the Court will ensure that sufficient grand jurors are present to proceed
16 || with the case, remind the grand jurors of their vath and provide additional instructions.
17 || The State will be required to furnish the grand jurors with eopies of the transcripts (which
18 | are now publicly filed documents) to be reviewed prior to the presentment of evidence. The
19 || State will be required to canvass the grand jurors on the record that they each have
20 | reviewed the transcripts prior to presentment. The date of presentment will be determined

21 || atthe August 10 hearing.

22
23
o4 DATED this 10 of July, 2012,
3 . 25
igt
% 2 E 26
= 5 g 2 NDA MARIE BELL
g E g DiISTRICT COURT JUDGE
a0 28
2
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1 CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
2 The undersigned hereby certifies that on the _ YO _ of July, 2012, he/she served
3 || the foregoing Decision and Order by faxing, mailing, or electronically serving a copy to
4 || counsel as listed below:
5
6 Name Party Phone Service Method
" Christopher Laurent Attorney for State of (702) 671-2560 | (702) 477-2943
7 ||| Chief Deputy District Nevada
Attorney 1
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17 h
18
19
20
o1
- YR
23 .
SARAH BASSETT
24 Law CLERK, DEPARTMENT VII
25
g8 AFFIRMATION
g E 26 Purzuant to NAS 2398.030
I~ The undersignzd doas hereby aHim ihal the precading Decislo filed
B E a in Pistrict Court case number A:09-585107F DOES NOT confain the sociat
E g 7 geGurity numbar of any person,
A48 28 /s/ Linda Marie Bell Date 07-10-12
Distried Ceurt Judge
3
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RICHARD A. WRIGHT

Nevada Bar No. 886 CLERK OF THE COURT
MARGARET M. STANISH

Nevada Bar No, 4057

WRIGHT STANISH & WINCKLER
300 S. Fourth Street
Suite 701
Las Vegas, NV 89101
{702) 332-4004
Aftorneys for Dipak Desai
DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Consolidated Case Nos. C265107

Plaintiff, -12-283381
Dept, No. XXI
vs.
'DATEOFHEARING:; 11-13-12

DIPAK KANTILAL DESAL #1240942, TIME OF HEARING: 5 30 am

Defendant,

S W I L L T L L WL

) PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS
DIPAK KANTILAL DESAI, by and through his attorney, Richard A, Wright and
Meargaret M. Stanish, WRIGHT STANISH & WINCKLER, petitions this Court to grant a writ of

1

abeas corpus.

1. The above counsel are duly qualified, practicing and licensed attorneys in the
State of Nevada.
2. Counsel is authorized to represent the defendant in this matter.

3. The place where the defendant’s liberty is restrained is Clark County, Nevada,

Desal is released on bail.
4, The restraint of liberty is unlawful because:
A, The murder indictment is facially defective indictment, violating both

procedural and substantive due process,

33
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i B. The grand jury instructions were improper, erroneous, and prejudicial.
2 C. The State introduced inadmissible hearsay in the grand jury proceeding,
3 " D. The State failed to disclose exculpatory evidence to the grand jury.
4 E. The grand jury’s consideration of the testimony and exhibits of the prior
5 grand jury, along with the grand jury instructions, implicated the same
6 procedural and substantive due process violations in the first grand jury
7 proceeding,
8 F. The grand jury was improperly impaneled contrary to constitutional and
9 statutory requirements,
10 6. This Court previously denied the two prior Petitions for Writs of Habeas Corpus
11 || have been filed on behalf of the defendant. The denial the petition filed on March 30, 2012, is
12 j| currently the subject of a Petition for Writ of Mandamus and, in the Alternative, Writ of
13 || Prohibition currenily pending before the Nevada Supreme Court in Case No, 61230,
14 7. This Petition is supported by a Memorandum of Points and Authorities which is
15 ‘ concurrently filed with this Petition.
16 8. The defendant waives the 60-day Jimitation for bringing an accused to trial.
17 9. The grand jury returned the instant murder indictment August 10, 2012, in Case
18 || No. C-12-283381. On October 4, 2012, this Court pranted Desai’s motion to consolidate the
19 || murder indictment with the earlier case, Case No. C265107. The parties previonsly stipulated
20 l.' tuat the instant petition was due on this date.
21 10.  The defendant respectfully urges this Court to enter an Order directing the County
22 || Clerk to issue a ‘Writ of Habeas Corpus directed to the Clark County Sheriff, commanding him to
23 |
24 || 1y
V4
26 W 1
27\ M
28 || 1
2
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return the cause of the defendant’s restraint. The defendant also urges this Court to dismiss the

above murder indictment based on violation of due process and statutory law.

DATED this 29" day of Cctober 2012.
WRIGHT STANISH & WINCKLER

By
RIC A, WRIGHT
Attorney for DIPAK DESAI
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VERIEICATION

STATE OF NEVADA )
COUNTY OF CLARK g .

Richard A. Wright verifies:

That he is the lawyer in the above-entitled action and that he has read Defendant’s
Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus, knows the contents thereof, and that the same is true of his
own knowledge except for those matters stated on information and belief and as to those matters

he believes it to be true,

RIC‘I—IARE;M WRIGHT

Subscribed and Swom to before me
this 2™ day of October 2012.

obeest a0

Notary Public in and for said
County and State

¥ :f;%}ﬁ DEBRA K. CAROSELLI

fi ﬁ?}a Notary Public $tats of Mevada
R No. 93-0213-1

" My appt. axp. Oct. 27, 2013 |
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RICHARD A, WRIGHT

Nevada Bar No. 886 CLERK OF THE COURT
MARGARET M. STANISH

Neada Bar No. 4057

WRIGHT STANISH & WINCKLER

300 S, Fourth Street, Suite 701

Las Vegas, NV 89101

(702) 382-4004

Attotneys for Dipak Desai

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

THE STATE OF NEVADA,
Plaintiff,

Consolidated Case Nos. C265107
C-12-283381
Dept. XXI

VS,

DIPAK KANTILAL DESAL, #1240942,
Defendant.

DEFENDANT DESAI’S MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF
PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS
AND ALTERNATIVE MOTION TO DISMISS MURDER INDICTMENT

DIPAX KANTILAL DESAL by and through his attorneys, Richard A. Wright and
Margaret M. Stanish, WRIGHT STANISH & WINCKLER, submit that a writ of habeas corpus,
or dismissal of the indictment, is warranted based on (1) facially defective indictment violating
procedural and substantive due process; (2) improper and prejudicial grand jury instructions; (4)
admission of hearsay; (5) failure to disclose exculpatory evidence; and (6) the constitutional and
statutory violation of the right to a properly impancled grand jury.

This petition and motion are based on the Due Process clauses of the Fifth, Sixth, and

Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, the similar clauses in Article 1,
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Section 8, of the Nevada Constitution; Article 4, Section 20 of the Nevada Constitution; NRS
172.055-.065, 172.255, 173.075, and the following Points and Authorities.

DATED this 29" day of October 2012.

Respectfully Submitted,
WRIGHT STANISH & WINCKLER
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POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

I. STATEMENT OF PROCEDURAL FACTS

On June 4, 2010, the grand jury returned an indictment against Desai and co-defendants
Keith Mathahs and Ronald Lakeman in Case No. €265107, which was subsequently amended
on June 11,2011, This first prosecution focused on seven patients who were treated at a
gastroenterology clinic operated by Desai and several other doctors in 2007. Counts 10 and 11
of the indiciment pertained to Rodolfo Meana, who personally testified before the grand jury on
March 11, 2010. Count 10 charged the defendants with reckless endangerment resulting in
substantial bodily harm to Meana in violation of NRS 202.595. Count 11 alleges criminal
neglect of patient resulting in substantial bodily harm contrary to NRS 200.465. Count 11
specifies that the harm caused was the transmission of Hepatitis C from an infected patient to
Meana. [The reckless endangerment offense and criminal neglect of patient offense are
collectively referred to herein as the “criminal neglect offenses.”]

By way of a writ of habeas corpus and alternative motion to dismiss certain charges,
Desai raised various procedural and substantive due process challenges against the criminal
neglect charges, including Counts 10 and 11. The District Court denied the challenges. Desai
filed an extraordinary writ in the Nevada Supreme Court, which remains pending at the time of
this writing.

On August 10, 2012, the majority of the grand jurors who returned the indictment in
Case C265107, were recalled to return a separate indictment against the same three defendants
for the alleged murder of Meana. Prior to convening, the grand jurors in the murder case were
each furnished a copy of the grand jury transcript and exhibits from the eatlier grand jury
investigation and instructed to review them, On August 10, 2012, the grand jurors affirmed that

they reviewed the previous grand jury materials and then heard the testimony of a detective and

- medical examiner.: These two witnesses testified that they traveled to the Philippines to obsetve

the autopsy of Rodolfo Meana, one of the patients in the instant case. The medical examiner
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opined that Meana died from the hepatitis transmission, as charged in the instant case, A true
bill for second degree murder was returned in Case No. Case No. (C-12-283381, which was
assigned to Department 23,

The indictment contained a single count of second degree murder based on alternative
theories of criminal liability and alternative means. More particularly, it charged that defendants
directly committed, aided and abetted, “and/or” conspired to commit second degree murder of
Meana. It alleges three alternative theories of murder: malignant heart murder, felony-murder,
and felonious intent murder. The felony-murder and felonious murder theories are both
predicated on criminal neglect of patient “and/or” reckless disregard.

To protect against unfair successive prosecutions arising from the same set of facts,
Desai ﬁmved for the consolidation of the two telated cases, which this Court granted on October
4,2012,
II. ARGUMENTS

A. The Missing Element: The Immediate-and-Direct-Causal-Relationship Flement

The instant murder indictment violates procedural and substantive due process. It does
not provide the fundamental fair notice mandated by constitutional and statutory due process. It
does not contain the essential element of the immediate and direct cansal relationship between
each defendant’s acts and Meana’s death. It does not allege sufficient facts showing that
Desai’s conduct was the immediate and direct cause of Meana’s death.

Moreover, the indictment violates substantive due process by charging the defendants
with second degree murder based upon the indirect performance of the alternatively pled acts.
No amount of judicial interpretation or intervention can salvage this indictment or correct the

other due process violations discussed below. The indictment must be dismissed.
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1 The Law Limiting the Second-Degree Felony Murder Rule and Felonious
Intent Murder
The Nevada Supreme Court has specifically limited the application of second-degrze
felony murder and felonious intent murder to fend against the potential for “antoward
prosecution” of people for the commission of an unlawful act that results in unintended death.
Ramirez v, State, 126 Nev. Adv. Op. 22, 235 P.3d 619, 621-23 (2010); Labastida v. State, 115
Nev. 298, 306-07, 986 P.2d 443, 448-49 (1999); Sheriff v. Morris, 99 Nev. 109, 118, 659 P.2d

852, 859 (1983). The instant case precisely represents the over-zealous abuse of the second-
degree murder doctrine repeatedly denounced by the Nevada Supreme Court,
The Morris Court first established the second-degree felony murder rule by reading the

involuntary manslaughter statute, NRS 200.070, in conjunction with the murder statute, NRS
200.030(2)." In a line of cases, the Nevada Supreme Court placed restrictions on the second-

degree felony murder rule to prevent unreasonable prosecutions under the doctrine. Ramirez,

126 Nev. __, 235 P.3d at 622-23; Labastida, 115 Nev. at 306-07, 986 P.2d at 448-49; Morris,
99 Nev. at 118, 659 P.2d at 859. The Supreme Court in Ramireg succinetly stated the eritical

elements of the offense and its reasoning for lmiting its application:

' The involuntary murder statute reads in pertinent part:

[nvoluntary manslaughter is the killing of 2 human being, without any intent to
do s0, in the commission of an unlawful act, or a lawfiil act which probably might
produce such a consequence in an unlawful manner, but where the involuntary
killing occurs in the commission of an unlawfil act, which, in its consequences,
naturally tends to destroy the life of a human being, or is committed in the
prosecution of a felonious intent, the offense is murder.

NRS 200.070(1)(efiphasis added).

The murder statute states that second-degree murder is all kinds of murder that are not
first-degree murder. NRS 200.030(2).
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[T]he second-degree felony-murder rule only appliss when the following two
elements are satisfied: (1) “where the [predicate] felony is inherently dangerous,
where death or injury is a directly foreseeable consequence of the illegal act,” and
(2) “where there is an immediate and direct causal relationship—without the
intervention of some other source or agency—between the actions of the
defendant and the victim's death.” Because we have repeatedly expressed
disapproval at the potential for untoward prosecutions resvlting from our
decision to recognize the second-degree fglony-murder rule and consciously
limited application of the rule, these two elements are critical to any second-
degree felony-murder jury instruction.

235 P.3d at 622 [citations omitted and emphasis added].

Morris held that the restrictions on second-degree murder rule apply to both the felony murder

and felonious intent prong of the involuntary murder stafute. 99 Nev. at 119, 659 P.2d at 859.

The first element quoted above limits the kinds of felonies upon which the second-
degree murder is predicate, restricting it to those felonies that are inherently dangerous, i.e., “the
death or injury is a directly foresecable consequence of the illegal act.” 14, at 622 n.2. The
determination of whether a predicate felony is inherently dangerous is based on the manmer in
which the felony was committed rather than an abstract analysis of the felony itself, Id, This
limitation on the kinds of felonies that will suffice recognized that there can be no deterrent
value in applying the second-degree felony murder rule to potential felons when the possibility
of death or injury resulting from the act is not readily foreseeable. 1d._ at 622.

The second element is a restriction upon the proximate or legal cause, The second-
degree felony murder rule only applies when the defendant’s act is the immediate and direct

cause of the death. Labastida, 115 Nev. at 306-07, 986 P.2d at 448-49; Motris, 99 Nev. at 118-

119, 659 P.2d at 859. Moris defined “immediate” as meaning “without intervention of some

other source or agency.” 99 Nev. at 118-119, 659 P.2d at 859. Hence, even though an act or

felony may be inherently dangerous, a defendant cannot be held liable for second degree felony
murder or second degree felonious intent murder if the acts of the victim or third party were the
direct cause of death. Labastida, 115 Nev. at 307, 986 P.2d at 448-49 (defendant’s felony child

neglect was not the immediate and direct result of her son’s death when her boyfiiend’s abuse
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killed the child); see, Morris, 99 Nev. at 118-119, 659 P.2d at 859 (“[TThe causal relationship
must extend beyond the unlawful sale of the drugs to the involvement by commission or
omission in the ingestion of a lethal dosage by the decedent.”)

2, The Defective Indictment: Procedural and Substantive Due Process Violations

The instant murder indictment is facially defective because it omits the immediate-and-
direct causal relationship element and specific facts showing that Desai committed the element.
Moreover, the indictment violates substantive due process by charging the defendants with
second degree murder based upon the indirect performance of the alternatively pled acts.

An indictment, on its face, must contain each and every slement of the offense and must
allege facts showing how the defendant allegedly committed each of the elements. State v,
Hancock, 114 Nev. 161, 164, 955 P.2d 183 (1998). If the indictrnent omits an essential element

of the offense, no crime is in fact charged and the defective charge must be dismissed. Ex parte
Rovnianek, 41 Nev. 141, 168 P. 327,328 (1917).

The instant murder entirely omits the essential element of the immediate-and-direct-

causal-relationship. Accordingly, the indictment must be dismissed.

The indictment also fails to allege specific facts showing that Desai was the immediate
and direct canse of Meana’s death. Similar to the earlier indictment, the murder indictment uses
the imprecise “and/or” approach to prosecution, stringing together a number of alleged negligent
acts that the defendants “directly or indirectly” petformed, (Bmphasis added.) See, Hildalgo v.
Eighth Judicial Dist, Ct., 124 Nev. 330, 338, 184 P.3d 369, 375 (2008)(“repeated use of
“and/or” to connect the numerous allegations undercuts rather than bolsters the notice’s
specificity.”) The lack of specificity as to who did what act makes it impossible for the
defendants and fact-finder to determine the essential immediate-and-direct-causal-relationship

element. See, Morris, 99 Nev. at 119-20, 659 P.2d at 860 (finding second-degree murder

indictment defective because of the lack of specific facts showing that the defendant’s conduct

was the immediate and direct cause of the victim’s death by lethal drug overdose).
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The disjunctive charging of the alleged negligent acts, along with the lack of specificity
- as to which defendant or “uncharged confederates”committed which negligent act, is so
confusing that it is impossible to discetn whose act was the immediate and direct cause of
Meana’s death, The indefinite charging language can be read to charge Desai with second-
degree murder for acts which were neither the immediate nor direct cause of Meana’s death.
Stated differently, the indictment impermissibly charges Desai with second degree murder based

on the intervention of some other source or agency. See, Ramirez, 235 P.3d at 623-24;

Labastida, 115 Nev. at 307, 986 P.2d at 508.

The allegation that the defendants “indirectly” performed various alternative acts also
gives tise to a substantive due process violation in the light of the immediate-and-direct-
relationship element. Second degree felony murder cannot be grounded on the indirect
performance of negligent acts. The causal relationship must extend beyond the negligent act to

immmediate and direct involvement by commission or omission of the act that caused the death.

See, Morris, 99 Nev, at 118-119, 659 P.2d at 859.
Finally, the alternatively pled theories of criminal liability also make it impossible to

distinguish which of the three defendants, if any, performed an act that was the immediate and
direct cause of Meana’s death. The indictment, in a conclusory manmer, lumps together the
defendants, alleging that they are criminally liable by directly committing the acts; “and/or”
aiding and abetting each other and uncharged confederates in the performance of the acts;

“and/or” conspiracy to commit the predicate offenses of criminal neglect of patients and reckless

disregard. This boilerplate language of alternative theories of liability is fatal since it fails to
give notice as to which defendant committed what act to immediatety and directly cause
Meana’s death.

B. Erroneous Grand Jury Instructions

The State is obligated to instruct the grand juroxs on the essential elements of the

offense pursuant to NRS 172.095(2). This section reads in pertinent part: “Before seeking an
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indictment, . . . [t]he district attorney shall inform the grand jurors of the specific elements of
any public offense which they may consider the basis of the indictment or indictments.”

The State failed to provide any instruction to the grand jury on the essential element of
the immediate and direct cansal relationship between each of the defendants’ alleged acts and
Meana’s death, As the Nevada Supreme Court ruled in Ramirez, second-degree felony murder
instructions must address both the inherently dangerous felony element and the immediate-and-
direct- causal- relationship clement. 235 P.3d at 622. “Because we have repeatedly expressed
disapproval at the potential for untoward prosecutions resulting from our decision to recognize
the second-degree felony-murder rule and consciously limited application of the rule, these two
elements are critical to any second-degree felony-murder jury instruction.” 1d. (emphasis
added).

The failure to properly instruct the grand jury on the critical element of immediate and
direct causal relationship is especially prejudicial in the light of the State’s other erroneous
instructions. After approximately five minutes of deliberation, the grand jury requested
clarification on whether it could consider the prior grand jury evidence and further instruction
on the elements of second degree murder. The prosecutor again told the grand jury that it
should consider the prior testimony, including that of Meana who was no longer available to
testify due to his death. GJ-2, pp 59.2

In attempting to clarify the second degree murder elements, the prosecutor oxplained that
the grand jurors had previously returned a true bill on the predicate offenses related to Meana
and needed to make a determination on whether these were dangerous felonies. The following
instruction was given in an apparent attempt to explain the elements of the felony murder
theory:

You're here to determine whether or not second degree murder . , . and the
different theories under that that we brought forth to you, whether or not they

? “TR-2" refers to the grand jury transcript in the instant case and “TR-1" refers to the
2010 grand jury record.
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apply in this particular case. Now you have previously found related to this

victim, because you returned a true bill as to both the criminal neglect of patient

charge as well as performance of an act in reckless disregard, you have to make

a determination under one scenario whether or not those are dangerous felonies.

GJ-2, pp. 60-61, [Emphasis added.]

As discussed more fully below, this instruction not only misstated the essential elements
of the second-degree felony murder and felonious intent murder, it also boot-strapped the many
constitutional defects in the pleading of Counts 10 and 11 of the first indictment, which are
currently pending review by the Nevada Supreme Court.

C. Failure to Present Exculpatory Evidence to the Grand Jury on Intervening Cause

The State failed to introduce exculpatory evidence bearing on the immediate-and direct-
causal- relationship element, Under NRS 172.145(2), a prosecutor is duty-bound duty to present
evidence which will "explain away" the charges. This section reads: “If the district attormey is

aware of any evidence which will explain away the charge, he shall submit it to the Grand J wy.”

Exculpatory evidence is broadly defined as that evidence “‘which has a tendency to
explain away the charge against the target of the Grand Jury’s investigation.”" Babayan, 106
Nev. 155, 169, 787 P.2d 805, 816-17 (1990). To be considered exculpatory evidence, the
evidence need not be dispositive on whether the crime was committed; it may merely suggest
that the crime did not oceur, See, Id. at 170; 787 P.2d at 817. Exculpatory evidence bearing on

an essential slement of the crime must be presenied. See, Ostman v. Bighth Judicial Distriet,

107 Nev. 563, 816 P.2d 458 (1991). The failure of the prosecutor to present exculpatory
evidence undermines the grand jury’s ability to render independent and informed decisions.
Sheriff v. Frank, 103 Nev. 160, 165, 734 P.2d 1241, 1245 (1987).

Turning to the instant case, an essential element of second-degree felony murder and

felonious intent murder is the immediate-and-direct-causal-relationship element. This critical
clement precludes “untoward prosecution” of people for acts when an intervening act by a third

patty or victim is the immediate and direct cause of death. Mortis, 99 Nev. at 118-1 19, 659

10
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P.2d at 859. Hence, even though an act or felony may be inherently dangerous, a defendant
cannot be held liable for second degree felony murder or second degree felonious intent murder
if the acts of the victim or third party were the direct canse of death. Sze, Labastida, 115 Nev. at
307, 986 P.2d at 448-49; Mortis, 99 Nev. at 118-119, 659 P.2d at 859. '
Meana elected to forego treatment for the hepatitis virus. Prior to the second grand jury
proceeding, the State was aware of this fact. The State provided supplemental discover to Desai
in preparation for the deposition of Meana held on March 20, 2012, The medical records
showed that Meana elected to discontinue treatment contrary to the advice of his personal
physician, Rajat Sood, M.D. In a progress note dated April 1, 2009, Dr. Sood wrote:
2, After prolonged workup, finally the patient had started treatment for
pegylated interferon and ribavirin.
3. After the first shot because of the well known side effects of the
medication the patient has decided to discontinue.
4, I went through with the patient the options of continuing medication,
treating symptomatically, went through the natural history, also the

possibility of having cirrhosis, carcinoma. The patient understands all that
fully he says, but would not want the treatment at this time.

Supplemental Discovery 009977.

The above evidence tends to explain away the element of immediate and direct causal
relationship between the alternatively alleged acts of the defendants “and/or” the uncharged
confederates and Meana’s death. Unfortunately, the grand jury was never informed of this
element let alone the exculpatory evidence of the intervening cause of Meana’s carly
discontinuance of continued medical treatment.

D.  Admission of Hearsay Evidence

NRS 172.135(2) requires that the grand jury “receive none but legal evidence, and the

best evidence in degree, to the exclusion of hearsay or secondary evidence. In contravention of

this requirement, the State introduced the inadmissible hearsay testimony of Meana from the

? The deposition was terminated at the request of Meana and his family before defense
counsel had an opportunity to cross-examine him.

11
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previous grand jury. Since Meana is deceased, no hearsay exception is applicable to this
testimony. At the first grand jury proceeding, Meana testified about the events sucronnding his
colonoscopy and follow-up visits to the clinic and the diagnosis and effects of hepatitis, . GJ-1
TR, Vol 1A, pp. 93-102.

The introduction of the hearsay testimony was aggravated by the State’s highlighting of
Meana’s prior testimony. In response to a grand juror’s question on whether they were suppose
to consider the testimony and exhibits from the prior grand jury, the prosecutor responded: “Let
me make sure we’re clear on this. The reason that those exhibits and that prior testimony were
provided to you and that you had to go through them was so you — for example, the deceased in.
this case you heard testimony from. He’s not coming in to give you testimony, nor could he

because he’s no longer with us.” GR-2 TR., p. 59.
E. Reassertion of Constitutional Defects in Case No. C265107 Pertaining to the

Predicate Offenses in the Murder

The second degree murder indictment is intricately related to the procedural and
substantive facts arising in the first grand jury’s investigation of the criminal negligence
offenses in Counts 10 and 11. As such, the constitutional defects in the original charges also
infect and compound the additional due process violations in the subsequent murder
prosecution. These impaired Desai’s right to procedural and substantive due process.
Moreover, these counts were not supported by sufficient probable cause. For the sake of brevity
and to preserve his appellate rights, Desai will incorporate by reference herein those portions of
his previous pleadings that more fully develop these arguments.

1. Boot-strapping the Constitutional Defects of the First Grand Jury Indictment

As discussed above, the instructions erroneously directed the grand jurors to consider
that they had previously found returned a true bill against the defendants on the predicate
offenses related to Meana and needed now to make a determination on whether these were

dangerous felonies. The grand jurors were required to review and consider the previous

12
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transcripts and exhibits. Hence, the State boot-strapped the grand jury’s previous findings as to
Counts 10 and 11 of the first indictment into the second grand jury’s deliberation of the murder
indictment.

A Reassertion of Procedural and Substantive Due Process Challenges

As previously argued to this Court, the reckless endangerment count (Count 10) and
criminal neglect of patient count (Count 11), Desai is entitled to an indictment that clearly and
concisely states the elements of the offense and means by which he committed the offense as
determined by 2 concurrence of 12 or more jurors, With respect to Count 11, the defendants
were accused of directly committing, aided and abetting, and/or conspiring to commit criminal
neglect of patient by seven identified acts of negligence and/or “by methods unfmown.” Desai
argued that it violated substantive due process to criminally prosecute a person for criminal
neglect based upon an unknown act of negligence.

- Desat further argued that the criminal neglect charges in both Counts 10 and 11 ran afoul
of due process notice requirements. These counts charged, in the disjunctive, multiple acts of
negligence, including “methods unknown,” without sufficiently describing which defendant
committed which act.

Accordingly, Desai reasserts and incorporates by reference herein the same arguments
pertaining to Counts 10 and 11 of the first indictment which were presented to this Court in his
Memorandum in Support of Writ of Habeas Corpus and Alternative Motion to Dismiss the
Indictment (“Habeas Memorandum®), as well as the arguments to the Supreme Court in his
Petition for Writ of Mandamus or Alternative Writ of Prohibition (“Mandamus Petition™).

More particularly, he reasserts the arguments set forth in Section I of the Habeas Memorandu,
which set forth the substantive and procedural due process arguments pertaining to the defective

charging language of the criminal neglect offenses. Additionally, Desai incorporates by

| reference herein the arguments presented in Section IV.A of the Mandamus Pefition, whichalso |

discusses the constitutional defects in criminal negligent counts.

13
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 biopsy forceps, snares, endoscopy scopes, and unspecified medical supplies, as well as acts

- 88 to which of the alleged acts served as the grand jurors” proximate cause determination. -
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3 Reassertion of Lack of Probable Cause
Since the State instructed the grand jury to rely on the eartier grand jury evidence and
the return of a frue bill respecting the predicate offenses, Desai reasserts the argument that the
State failed to present probable cause to support the allegations that certain negligent acts,
charged in the alternative, were the proximate cause of the hepatitis transmission.
As conceded by the Stafe, no evidence was presented showing that the following

alternative negligent acts caused the hepatitis transmission: the allege misuse of bite blocks,

related to medical charting, cleaning scopes, and the number of patients scheduled.
The inclusion of the unsupported acts of negligence proved fatal to Counts 10 and 11
because the indictment alleges them in the alternative, This insufficiency of evidence impinges

on: the due process rights associated with the grand jury. The Court and parties cannot speculate

Desai, therefore, incorporates by reference herein the arguments set forth in Section IV of the
Habeas Memorandum.
E. Violation of the Right to a Properly Impaneled Grand Jury

L The Constitutional and Statutory Framework

The grand jury that returned the murder indictment was impaneled contrary to the
constitutional and statutory scheme protecting the right to grand jury. As a matter of due
process, Desai is enfitled to a grand jury that is impansled by a district court judge “under such
rules and regulations as may be prescribed by law.” Nev. Const., Art. 1, §8, Axt. 6, §5. “Grand
juries shall be impaneled as provided in chapter 6 of NRS.” NRS 172.045; NRS 6.110 to
6.140. Desia challenges the array of the grand jurors on the “ground that is was not selected,
drawn, or summoned in accordance with law.” NRS 172.055. Dismissal of the murder
indictment is the appropriate remedy. NRS 172.065. He further moves for a writ of habeas

corpus based on the due process violation of his right to a properly impaneled grand jury.

14
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Under NRS 6.110, the cletk of the court randomly selects at least 500 persons to be
called as prospective grand jurors and sends them a questionnaire prepared by the district judge
that estimates the time required for service and describes the duties to be performed. The
recipients of the questionnaire indicate their willingness and availability to serve.

The clerk continues to randomly select potential jurors until a list of 100 persons willing
to serve is established. The district judges in rotation, according to seniority, each select one
name from the list until a 50 person venire has been established. From the venire, the district
Jjudge presiding over the grand fury then randomly selects 17 persons to constitute the grand jury
and 12 alternates. NRS 6.110.

“Upon the completion of its business for the time being, the court may, at the request of
or with the concurrence of the grand jury, recess that grand Jjury subject to recall at such time as
new business may require its attention,” NRS 6,145, Under NRS 172.275, a “grand jury shall
serve until discharged by the court and may be so discharged at any time after the expiration of 1
year.”

As a matter of practice, grand juries in Clark County sit for a period of one year.* There
are two grand juries with staggered terms. The “A Grand Jury” is seated in May and the “B
Grand Jury” is seated in October. At the end of the one year period of service, an informal
cetemony is held during which the jurors receive a certificate of appreciation for their service,
There is not a formal proceeding in which the grand jury is either discharged or recessed.
There is not an order issued that either discharges or recesses the grand jury.

2. The Improper Recall of the 2009 B Grand Jury

By letter dated July 2, 2012, the district attorney’s office wrote J udge Bell and
requested that she recall the 2009 B Grand Jury, which retummed the indictment in Case

* As required by NRS 6.1 10(1}, the questionnaire sent to the potential grand jurors
identifies the dates of service as either May or October of one year to May or October of the next
year. The undersigned is awaiting firther documentation from the Court pertaining to the 2009 B

Grand Jury and, therefore, reserves the right to supplement this petition and motion.

15
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C265107. The State represented to the judge that it would seek a superseding indictment to add
amurder charge pertaining to Meana. The State opined that it would cost too much money for
the State and court to present the entire case to a new grand jury. It contemplated that the jurors
would need time to review transcripts and exhibits.

By order dated July 11, 2012, Judge Bell granted the State’s request in Case No. A-09-
595107-P. (Exhibit A) The Court gave the State two weeks to locate the prior grand jurors and
provide their contact information to the Court. The Court thereafter summoned the majority of
the 2009 B Grand Jury to appear on August 10, 2012. The Court further directed that the grand
jurors to review the transcripts and evidence of the previous grand jury proceedings before that
date,

On August 10, 2012, the Court informed the grand jurors that it was never intended that
they be called back to grand jury service, but explained that the previous grand jury involved 10
days of testimony over a period of time and it was more efficient to bring back the same grand
jurors. The Court confirmed that each grand juror reviewed the materials from the first grand
jury. Grand Jury Instr,, 8/10/12, pp. 3-4,20-21. The Court then instructed the grand jurors on
the law pertaining to the powers and duties of the grand jury. There was no inquiry into whether
the members of the grand jury developed any bias against the defendants or discussed with
anyone their previous deliberations,

The above procedures to recall the original grand jurors following the termination of
their term of service in October 2010 violates Article 6, §3, and the due process clause of the
Nevada Constitution. Although the Court has supervisory power over grand juries, it is
restrained by the constitutional and statutory framework describe& above. More particularly,
there is no indication that the 2009 B Grand Jury was recessed or discharged after the expiration
ofits term in October 2010. Even if it is assumed that it was recessed, there is no indication

that the grand jurors, at the time of the assumed recess, consented to refurn to grand jury service.

16
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The granting of the district attorney’s request to recall the 2009 B Grand Jury
circumvented the random and periodic selection of grand juries to ensure the independence of
the grand jury from the executive branch. Here, the above procedures essentially created a
“special grand jury” with an indefinite term of service to investigate only these three defendants.

Moreover, the State’s request to recall the grand jury is suspect, Contrary to the
representations in its request, the State sought a separate indictment rather than superceding the
original indictment. It apparex;tly did so, amongst other strategic reasons, to avoid a unfavorable
tuling from the Nevada Supreme Court, avoid delaying the trial of the original indictment, and
avoid the extension of the previously posted cash bails to the murder charge. At the
arraignment on. the murder indictment, the State opposed the defendants’ motion to stay the
prosecution of the murder indictment pending a decision of the Nevada Supreme Court on the
petitions for extraordinary relief in connection with the challenges to the criminal neglect
charges in the earlier indiciment. The State emphasized that the murder indictment was separate
and distinct from the earlier indictment and, therefore, it would not be affected by an
unfavorable ruling by the Nevada Supreme Court. Arraignment TR, 8/22/12, pp.5-6.

The State also used the separate murder indictment as a justification to attempt to detain
Desai until he could post a $500,000 cash bail. Desai argued that the indictment was a de Jfacto
superceding indictment and it was appropriate to extend the $1,000,000 cash bail already posted
in the first case pursuant to NRS 178.502, The Stats contended that the second indictment was
a scparate and distinet from the fitst prosecution and moved for bail in the amount of $500,000
for Desai. The Court ordered a cash bail of $250,000. Arraignment TR, pp. 15-19.

Had the State disclosed in its original request to Judge Bell that it sought an unfair
advantage in bringing a successive and separate indictment instead of just being cost conscious,
it is unlikely that the Court would have considered the recall of the grand Jury to be fair,
Additionally, the Court was not likely made aware that the grand jury was given the
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inadmissible hearsay evidence in the form of Meana’s testimony at the eatlier grand jury, as
discussed above.

In short, the recall of the 2009 B Grand Jury after the expiration of its one-year term of
service undermined constitutional and statutory mandates and permitted the State to impede the
due process right to a fair grand jury.

G. Conclusion

Based on the foregoing, the fundamental principals of due process and statutory law
require the dismissal of the facially defective murder indictment which is the by product of
several procedural and substantive due process violations.

DATED this 29" day of October 2012.

Respectfully Submitted,
WRIGHT STANISH & WINCKLER
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EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT CLERK OF THE GOURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
In re: Request to Recall 20098 Grand Jury on
Case No. 09BGJ049A-C Case No. A-09-595107-P
Dep’t No. A211
DECISION AND ORDER,

In June of 2010, the 2009 B Grand Jury heard the case of State of Nevada v. Desai
under Grand Jury Case Number 09BGJo49 A-C. After hearing evidence over several days,
the Grand Jury issued a true bill on all counts. An indictment fo]lowéd charging the
defendants with racketeering, performance of an act in reckless disregard of persons or
property, ciiminal neglect of patients, insurance frand, theft and obtaining money under
false pretenses, |

The case is complex and took ten days to present. The presentment included thirty-
eight witnesses, at least four of whom resided out of state. The resulting transcnpts and

exhibits constitute about 1,658 pages of written material.
The State now seeks to present additional charges following the death of Rodolfo

Meana to add a charge of murder. (See attached letter). Given the complexity of the issues
involved, the State requests that the 2009 B Grand Jury be recalled to hear the additional
evidence. .

Nevada Revised Statute 6.145 allows that “upon the completion of its business for
the time being, the court may, at the request of or with the coneurrence of the grand jury,
recess the grand jury subject to recall at such time as new business may require its
attention.” In Clark County, the grand jurors serve for one year, and then are recessed. No
order of dismissal is entered upon excusal of grand jurors in Clark County.

Currently two grand juries meet regnlarly fo hear cases — the 20118 Grand Jury and
the 2012A Grand Jury. Under NRS 6.110, a grand jury may be summoned “as often as the

public interest may require.” Consequently, impaneling an additional grandsjury is

EXHIBIT
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permissible, even if another grand jury is currently meeting. Lera v. Sheriff; 93 Nev. 498
586 P.2d 581 (1997).

A case may be resubmitted to the same grand jury unless the grand jury returned ¢
“no bill” on a charge. State v. Towers, 37 Nev. 94, 139 P. 776 (1914). The current concerr
involves a new charge not previously presented to the grand jury. Thus, it is permissible fo
the same grand jury to hear the case. On balance, the time and cost of representing the case
to one of the regularly meeting grand juries far exceeds the imconveniénce and cost of
recalling the 2009B grand jurors. Additionally, the court can see no prejudice that would
result to the defendants by having the additional charge presented to the grand jury that
issued the origiﬁal_ indictment, Consequently, ihe State’s reguest to recall the 2009B Grand
Jury is granted.

The State will have two weeks from the date of this order to locate the prior grand
jurors and provide contact iﬁform‘ation to the Court. The Court will summons those grand
jurors to appear in court on Friday, August 10 at 11:00 a.m, in Department VIL

At that time, the Court will ensure that sufficient grand jurors are present to proceed

with the case, remind the grand jurors of their oath and provide additional instructions.

Il The State will be required to furnish the grand jurors with copies of the trariscriﬁts (which

are now publicly filed documents) to be reviewed prior to the presentment of evidence. The
State will be required to canvass the grand jurors on the record that they each have

reviewed the transcripts prior to presentment. The date of presentment will be determined

atthe August 10 hearing.

DATED this 10 of July, 2012,

INDA MARIE BELL
DistricT COURT JUDGE
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
The undersigned hereby certifies that on the _ YO of July, 2012, he/she served

the foregoing Decision and Order by faxing, mailing, or electronically serving a copy to

counsel as listed below:

Name _ Party Phone Service Method
Christopher Laurent Attorney for State of (7o2) 671-2569 | (702) 477-2043
Chief Deputy District Nevada
Attorney

SR |

SARAH BASSETT
Law CLERK, DEPARTMENT VII

AFFIRMATION
Fursiiant to WNRS 2398.030
‘The undersigned does herahy affirm that the precéding Decision and Order filed
in Distict Court case number A-08.595107-P DOES NOT contain the social

security number of any persan.

fs/ Linda Marie Bell Date Q7-10-12
District Court Judge
3 80
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OFFICE OF THE DISTRICT ATTORNEY
HIDTA / GRAND JURY

STEVEN B. WOLFSON
District Attorney

CHRIS OWENS CHRISTCPHER LAURENT
Chief Deputy

Assistant District Altarney

TERESA M. LOWRY

Assistant District Attorney

MARY-ANNE MILLER

County Counsel July-Z 2012

The Honorable Linda Marie Bell
Eighth Judicial District Court Judge
Regional Justice Center

200 Lewis Avenue

Las Vegas, Nevada 89155

RE: A595107 - State’s Request te Recall Thursday 2009 Grand Jury

Honorable Judge Bell:

The State is requesting that the court recall the Thursday 2009 grand jury that heard State
of Nevada v. Dipak Kantilal Desai, et al. (Case no. 09BGI049A-C) so that it may hear
evidence concerning the death of Rodolfo Meana, The State ‘will be seeking a
superseding indictment adding the charge of murder, Mr. Medna was one of the original
five persons to contract Hepatitis C as a result of his treatment at the Endoscopy Center
and he bas died post indictment. Dr, Alane Olson, who attended the autopsy in the
Philippines and who prepared and reviewed tissue slides of Mr. Meana, determined that a
contributing cause of Mr. Meana’s death was the Hepatitis C and that that manner of

death was homicide,

The State seeks to recall the Thursday 2009 grand jury that heard the original
presentment. “That presentment took place over ten (10) separate grand jury days.  The -
Grand Jury heard from thirty-eight (38), at least four (4) of which were out of state
witnesses from the Center of Disease Control. There are fourteen {14) volumes of
transcripts and eighty-nine (89) separate exhibits. Together the transcripts and the
exhibits consist of 1,658 pages of material. The indictment alone is forty-two ¥42) pages
long., See Exhibit 1. The State would incur astronomical costs if it were required to
present anew the entire case to a new grand jury. The additional cost for the court
Regional Justice Center » 200 Lewis Avenue » PO Bax 552212 » Las Vegas NV 89155-2212

(702) 671-2500 » Fax: (702} 455-2294 » TDD: 1-800-326-6868
81
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reporter “alone would more that justify recalling the previous grand jury from a cost
benefit analysis perspective.

Section 172,275 of the Nevada Revised Statutes states; “A grand jury shall serve until
discharged by the court and may be so discharged at any time after the expiration of 1
year,” Moreover, section 6.145 of the Nevada Revised Statutes states: “Upon
completion of it’s business for the time being, the court may, at the request of or with the
concurrence of the grand jury, recess the grand jury subject to recall at such time as new
business my require iis attention.” It is my understanding that the previous grand jury
was made aware of the possibility that they would be recalled and that they agreed that
they would respond to a recall if needed in this case.

It used to be the practice of the court to formally discharge a grand jury at the conclusion
of its one year of service. However, due to circumstances similar to this case, the court
dispensed with formally discharging the grand jury so that it would be subject to recall in
the interest of justice. In the instant case thetré was fio formal order of discharge issued

by the court, e - S

Rather than presenting anew the entire case to a new grand jury; the State seeks to recall
the previous graud jury.and take testimony from one or two witnesses to supplement the
evidence. It is anticipated that this would take two full days. One day to review the
transeripts and exhibits and a second day for the presentation of new evidence and
deliberation.

The State respectfully requests that the court recall the Thursday 2009 grand jury. Thank
you:for considering this request. If you have any questions or fequire further information
please do not hesitate to confact me. The State anxiously awaits your decision in this
matter.

Chief Deputy
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Skip to Main Content Logout My Account Search Menu New District Civil/Griminal

Search Refine Search Close
REGISTER OF ACTIONS
CASE No. 10C265107-1

Location ; District Court CiviliCriminal Help

The State of Nevada vs Dipak K Desai . Felony/Gross
Case Type: Misdemeanor
Date Filed: 06/04/2010
Location: Department 21
Conversion Case Number: €265107
Defendant's Scope ID #: 1240942

Lower Court Case Number: 09GJ00049

0700 LML LI LN LN N

RELATED CASE INFORMATION

Related Cases
10C265107-2 (Multi-Defendant Case)
10C265107-3 (Multi-Defendant Case)
C-12-283381-1 (Consolidated)
C-12-283381-2 (Consolidated)
C-12-283381-3 (Consolidated)

PARTY INFORMATION
Lead Attorneys
Defendant Desai, Dipak K Richard A. Wright
Retained
7023824004(W)
Other Nevada Mutual Insurance Co Mark B. Bailus
Retained
7027377702(W)
Plaintiff State of Nevada Steven B Wolfson
702-671-2700(wV)
CHARGE INFORMATION
Charges: Desai, Dipak K Statute Level Date
1. UNLAWFUL RACKETTEERING. 207.400 Felony 01/01/1900
1. AS USED IN NRS 207.360-207.520, INCLUSVE, 207.350 Felony 01/01/1900
UNLESS CONTEXT OTHRWISE REQUIR
1. "CRIME RELATED TO RACKETERRING" MEANS THE 207.360 Felony 01/01/1900
COMMISSION OF ATTEMPT TO
1. "CRIMINAL SYNDICATE" MEANS ANY COMBINATION 207.370 Felony 01/01/1900
OF PERSONS, SO STRUCTURED
1. "ENTERPRISE" INCLUDES ANY NATRAL PRSM, SOLE 207.380 Felony 01/01/1800
PRPRIETRSHP, PRTNRSHP, CORP
1. RACKETEERING ACTIVITY MEANS ENGAGING IN AT 207.380 Felony 01/01/1800
LEAST 2 CRIMES RELATED TO
2. PRESENTING ANY STATEMENT TO AN INSURER OR 686A.2815 Felony 01/01/1900
AGENT THAT CONTAINS FALSE OR
3. RECKLESS ENDANGERMENT 202,595 Felony 01/01/1900
4. CRIMINAL NEGLECT OF PATIENTS 200.495 Felony 01/01/1900
4. SUBSTANTIAL BODILY HARM. 0.060 Felony 01/01/1900
5. PRESENTING ANY STATEMENT TO AN INSURER OR 686A.2815 Felony 01/01/4900
AGENT THAT CONTAINS FALSE OR
6. PRESENTING ANY STATEMENT TO AN INSURER OR 686A.2815 Felony 01/01/1900
AGENT THAT CONTAINS FALSE OR
7. RECKLESS ENDANGERMENT 202.595 Felony 01/31/1900
7. SUBSTANTIAL BODILY HARM. 0.060 Felony 01/011900
8. CRIMINAL NEGLECT OF PATIENTS 200.495 Felony 01/01/1900
8. SUBSTANTIAL BODILY HARM. 0.060 Felony 01/01/1900
9. PRESENTING ANY STATEMENT TO AN INSURER OR 686A.2815 Felony 01/01/1900
AGENT THAT CONTAINS FALSE OR
10.RECKLESS ENDANGERMENT 202.595 Felony 01/01/1800
10.SUBSTANTIAL BODILY HARM. 0.060 Felony 01/01/1900
11.CRIMINAL NEGLECT OF PATIENTS 200.495 Felony /011900
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11.SUBSTANTIAL BODILY HARM. 0.060 Felony 01/01/1960
12.PRESENTING ANY STATEMENT TO AN INSURER OR 686A.2815 Felony 01/01/1900
AGENT THAT CONTAINS FALSE OR
13.RECKLESS ENDANGERMENT 202.595 Felony 01/01/1900
13.SUBSTANTIAL BODILY HARM. 0.060 Felony 01/01/1900
14.CRIMINAL NEGLECT OF PATIENTS 200.495 Felony 01/01119200
14.SUBSTANTIAL BODILY HARM. 0.060 Felony 01/01/1900
15.PRESENTING ANY STATEMENT TO AN INSURER OR 686A.2815 Felony 01/01/1800
AGENT THAT CONTAINS FALSE OR
16.PRESENTING ANY STATEMENT TO AN INSURER OR 686A.2815 Felony 01/01/11900
AGENT THAT CONTAINS FALSE OR
17.RECKLESS ENDANGERMENT 202,595 Felony 01/01/1900
17.SUBSTANTIAL BODILY HARM. 0.060 Felony 01/6111900
18.CRIMINAL NEGLECT OF PATIENTS 200.495 Felony 01/0141900
18.SUBSTANTIAL BODILY HARM. 0.060 Felony 01/011900
19.PRESENTING ANY STATEMENT TO AN INSURER OR 686A.2815 Felony 01/01/1900
AGENT THAT CONTAINS FALSE OR
20.RECKLESS ENDANGERMENT 202.595 Felony 01/01/1900
20.SUBSTANTIAL BODILY HARM. 0.060 Felony 01/01/1900
21,CRIMINAL NEGLECT OF PATIENTS 200.485 Felony 01/01/1900
21.SUBSTANTIAL BODILY HARM, 0.060 Felony 01/01/1900
22 PRESENTING ANY STATEMENT TO AN INSURER OR 686A.2815 Felony 01/01/1900
AGENT THAT CONTAINS FALSE OR
23.RECKLESS ENDANGERMENT 202.595 Felony 01/01/1900
23,.SUBSTANTIAL BODILY HARM. 0.060 Felony 01/01/1900
24, CRIMINAL NEGLECT OF PATIENTS 200.495 Felony 01/01/1900
24, SUBSTANTIAL BODILY HARM. 0.060 Felony 01/011900
25.PRESENTING ANY STATEMENT TO AN INSURER OR 686A.2815 Felony 01/01/1800
AGENT THAT CONTAINS FALSE OR
26, ACTIONS WHICH CONSTITUTE THEFT 205.0832 Felony 01/01/1200
26. THEFT-PENALTIES 205.0835 Felony 01/01/1900
27.0OBTAINING MONEY, PROPERTY, RENT OR LABOR 205.380 Felony 01/01/1900
BY FALSE PRETENSES.
27.1T SHALL BE NO DEFENSE TO A PROSECUTION FOR 205.265 Felony 01/01/1800
LARCENY THAT THE ACCUSED WAS
28.OBTAINING MONEY, PROPERTY, RENT OR LABOR 205.380 Felony 01/01/1900
BY FALSE PRETENSES.
28.1T SHALL BE NC DEFENSE TO A PROSECUTION FOR 205.265 Felony 01/01/1900
LARCENY THAT THE ACCUSED WAS
29.MURDER, SECOND DEGREE 200.030.2 Felony 08/21/2007
EVENTS & ORDERS OF THE COURT
10/04/2012  All Pending Motions (9:30 AM) {Judicial Officer Adair, Valerie)
Minutes
10/04/2012 9:30 AM
- DEFENDANT DESAI'S MOTION TO CONSOLIDATE
RELATED CASES...DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO
CONTINUE TRIAL (DESAN...STATUS CHECK:
DISCOVERY/TRIAL READINESS (ALL})...DEFENDANT'S
MOTION TO CONTINUE TRIAL
(MATHAHS)...DEFENDANT'S MOTION TQ
CONSOLIDATE MATHAHS Michael Staudaher and Pam
Wecketly appearing for the State of Nevada. Richard
Wright and Margaret Stanish appearing for defendant
50
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Dipak Desai; F. Santacroce appearing for Ronald
Lakeman and M. Cristalli appearing for Keith Mathahs.
Mr. Lakeman and Mr. Mathahs appearances were waived
at this hearing. The Court noted that on 10/2/12 the
Defendants moved for a continuance with no opposition
by the State as Mr. Wiight was not prepared and felt he
would be rendering ineffective assistance of counsel.
Additionally, Mr. Wright and Ms. Stanish agreed they
would be ready for trial in six months. Mr. Santacroce and
Mr. Cristalli also agreed to be ready in six months,
COURT ORDERED, trial date is VACATED and RESET
and informed counsel that this would the LAST
CONTINUANCE afforded to counsel. Mr. Wright
requested that wanted to discuss his client's deficits. The
Court informed him to provide medical information to the
Court and the State closer to trial time. Mr. Staudaher
advised that the State has designated 59 witnesses and
experts and will provide the list to defense counsel.
COURT ORDERED, cases C265107 and ¢283381 are
HEREBY CONSOLIDATED. COURT FURTHER
ORDERED, status checks will be set to determine experts
being called and to assure counsel will be ready for trial.
Questionnaires provide to all counsel by the Marshall.
COURT ORDERED, trial date VACATED and RESET to a
FIRM SETTING. BOND (ALL) 11/1/12 9:30 AM STATUS
CHECK: EXPERTS/TRIAL READINESS 4/18/13
CALENDAR CALL - FIRM SETTING 4/22/13 9:30 AM
JURY TRIAL - FIRM SETTING

Parties Present
Return to Register of Actions
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10C265107-1

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

Felony/Gross Misdemeanor COURT MINUTES December 19, 2012
10C265107-1 The State of Nevada vs Dipak K Desai

December 19, 2012 3:00 PM Decision

HEARD BY: Adair, Valerie COURTROOM: RJC Courtroom 11C

COURT CLERK: Denise Husted
RECORDER:
REPORTER:

PARTIES
PRESENT:

JOURNAL ENTRIES

- DEFENDANT'S PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS (DESAI)..DEFENDANT RONALD
LAKEMAN'S PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS

COURT ORDERED, Dr. Desai's Habeas Petition is DENIED. Dr. Desai will stand trial on the murder
charge.

COURT ORDERED, Defendant Lakeman's Petition is CONTINUED to 1/3/13 at 9:30 AM for further
argument and decision. The Court will entertain argument on how Lakeman's role as a co-
conspirator and/or aider and abettor relates to the infection and death of Mr. Meana.

The State is to prepare the order regarding the denial of Desai's petition.

1/3/13 9:30 AM ARGUMENT/DECISION RE: LAKEMAN'S PETITION

PRINT DATE: 12/19/2012 Page1of1 Minutes Date: December 19, 2012
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REGISTER OF ACTIONS
CASE No. C-12-283381-1

Page 1 of 2

Location : District Gourt Civil/Criminal Help

State of Nevada vs Dipak Desai § . Felony/Gross
§ Case Type: Misdemeanor
§ Date Filed: 08/10/2012
§ Location: Department 21
§ Conversion Case Number: C283381
§ Defendant's Scope ID #: 1240942
§ Grand Jury Case Number: 09BGJ119
§
RELATED CASE INFORMATION
Related Cases
10C265107-1 {Consclidated)
10C265107-2 (Consolidated)
10C265107-3 {Consclidated)
C-12-283381-2 (Multi-Defendant Case)
C-12-283381-3 {(Multi-Defendant Case)
PARTY INFORMATION
Lead Attorneys
Defendant Desai, Dipak K Richard Allen Wright
Retlained
7023824004(W)
Plaintiff State of Nevada Steven B Wolfson
702-671-2700(W)
CHARGE INFORMATION
Charges: Desai, Dipak K Statute Level Date
1. MURDER IN THE SECOND DEGREE 200.030 Felony 09/21/2007

EVENTS & OQRDERS OF THE COURT

08/22/2012| Inittal Arraignment (9:30 AM) (Judicial Officer Miley, Stefany)

Minutes
08/22/2012 9:30 AM

Michael Staudaher and Pamela Weckerly, Deputy District
Afttorneys, present for the State of Nevada. Deft. Desai,
present out of custady, with Richard Wright, Esa., and
Margaret Stanish, Esq. Deft. Lakeman, present out of
custody, with Frederick Santacroce, Esq. Deft. Mathahs,
present out of custody, with Michael Cristalli, Esq. With
respect to Deft's Motion for Stay, arguments by Mr.
Cristalli noting Mr. Wright and Mr. Santacroce have joined
in the Motion. Mr. Wright confirmed counsel have joined in
the Motion. Mr. Staudaher requested to respond orally;
COURT SO ORDERED. Arguments by Mr. Staudaher.
Further arguments by Mr. Cristalli, COURT ORDERED,
Motion DENIED advising it agrees with the State's
position, there is no legal basis for the Stay. With respect
to Deft's Motion for Ball, arguments by Mr. Cristalli, Mr.
Santacroce, Mr. Wright and Mr. Staudaher. COURT
stated its findings and ORDERED, Motion DENIED, Deft.
Desal's Bail SET at $250,000.00, Deft. Lakeman's Bail
SET at $50,000.00 and Deft. Mathahs Bail SET at
$50,000.00. At request of Defense counsel, COURT
FURTHER ORDERED, Defts have until 4:00 pm today to
post bond and provide verification to the Court or Defts
are to be remanded to custody. Mr. Wright on behalf of
DEFT. DESA! ARRAIGNED, PLED NOT GUILTY, and
WAIVED the 60-DAY RULE. DEFT. LAKEMAN
ARRAIGNED, PLED NOT GUILTY, and WAIVED the 60-
DAY RULE. DEFT. MATHAHS ARRAIGNED, PLED NOT
GUILTY, and WAIVED the 60-DAY RULE. Colloquy
regarding trial dates and setting of Status Check, COURT

https://www.clarkcountycourts.us/Anonymous/CaseDetail. aspx ?Case]D=9370938&Hearin...
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ORDERED, Status Check SET. Mr. Santacroce requested
Deft. Lakeman's presence waived at the Status Check.
Mr. Staudaher objected to Deft. Desai's presence being
waived. Arguments by Mr, Staudaher and Mr. Wright.
COURT FURTHER ORDERED, Defts presences waived
at the Status Check as it is only for trial setting, however
Defts are required to be at all other substantive dates, Mr.
Santacroce, with oral Joinders made by Mr. Wright and
Mr. Cristalli, requested 21 days after receiving the Grand
Jury transcripts and discovery to file a Writ; COURT SO
ORDERED. NIC (ALL) 8/19/12 9:30 AM STATUS
CHECK: TRIAL SETTING (ALL)}

Return to Reqister of Actions
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EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

BEFORE THE GRAND JURY IMPANELED BY THE AFORESAID

DISTRICT COURT

IN RE: 09BGJ119A-C, (Desai,
Lakeman & Mathahs) CLARK COUNTY
GRAND JURY INSTRUCTIONS,

No. 09BGJ11S9A-C

T N N P R P N

Taken at Las Vegas, Nevada
Friday, August 10, 2012

8:46 a.m.

REPORTER'S TRANSCRIPT QF PROCEEDINGS

Reported by: Danette L. Antonacci, C.C.R. No. 222
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GRAND JURORS PRESENT ON AUGUST 10, 2012

PAMELA YOUNG, Foreperson

JOSEPH WILLOUGHBY, Deputy Foreperson
SHELLY SALAMANOPOULOS, Secretary
CONSTANCE CABILES, Assistant Secretary
SVEN BRADLEY

MICHAEL CONNELL

AGNES PARKER

YOLANDA PARKER

BIANCA ROBERSON

ALICE SZURAN

MICHAEL THOMPSON
THOMAS UHRHAN

ANNE ZARATE

Also present at the request of the Grand Jury:

Linda Marie Bell, District Court Judge

Estee Del Padre, Grand Jury Coordinator,
District Attorney's QOffice

Rick Moon, Court Marshal
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LAS VEGAS, NEVADA, AUGUST 10, 2012
* Kk Kk Kk * * %k

THE COURT: Good morning. I want to thank
all of you first for returning today. I know we let you
go with the idea that you would never have to come back
but because of the complexity of this particular case it
Jjust made more sense to have you return.

We anticipate that you will be done with
this part today. It is possible, given the complexity
of this case, that there may be something that comes up
in the future. We'll let you know. Hopefully not but I
just wanted to let you know that.

Also, you wereréiiﬂégééié;arwitﬁrfhe
transcripts and exhibits. Has everyone had an
opportunity to look through that?

You know, I'm just going te go around the
room and if each of you could just say your name and
Just affirm that you read the transcripts.

A JUROR: Tom Uhrhan. Yes, I read the
transcripts.

A JURCR: Alice Szuran. And I brought the
disk back. I read it.

A JUROR: Sven Bradiey. Yes, I did read
it.

A JUROR: Michael Connell. Yes, I did read
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it.

it.

read it.

read it.

it.

it.

it.

transcripts.

THE

JUROR:

JUROR:

JUROR:

JUROR:

JUROR:

JUROR:

JURCR:

JURCR:

JUROR:

COURT:

Yolanda Parker. Yes, I did read
Shelly Salamanopoulos. I did
Constance Cabiles. Yes, I did

Pamela Young. Yes, I read it.

Joseph Willoughby. Yes, I read
Michael Thompson. Yes, I read
Agnes Parker. I finished reading

Anne Zarate. I did finish it.

Bianca Roberson. Yes, I read the

Qkay. I'm going to ask you to

hang on to them just in case there is something that

happens in the future.

But please remember that some of

the exhibits in particular are of a sensitive nature and

you have some patient names in there that actually are

sealed in the court record. So please make sure that

you take care with those and don't share them with

anyone else.

It's very important because those are
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sealed court records. Just be careful with them.

Also, so you know, there are some reporters
outside and so I would just remind you, I'm going to
reinstruct you on all of the instructions since it's
been awhile since you've met, but I just remind you not
to speak with anybody about the case until after the
case is returned. And probably really a good idea given
this one just to not speak to anybody about it at all.

I'm going to go ahead and read through the
instructions.

Ladies and gentlemen of the Grand Jury: 1t
is now my duty as Judge of the Eighth Judicial District
Court to iﬁstruct you in the laﬁ regaréiﬁg your powers
and duties as grand jurors.

It is a great honor to serve as a member of
a grand jury. In time of peace, no citizen can perform
a higher duty than that of grand jury service. No other
body of citizens exercises a public function of more
vital importance to the administration of law and order
and maintenance of good government.

In the State of Nevada, as in many other
states, a grand jury can perform two distinctly,
separate and different types of service.

1. In the most frequent type of service,

the grand jury is an accusing body. In performing this
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function, the grand jury considers evidence presented to

it by the district attorney or attorney general, and
determines whether or not it should issue an indictment
for the criminal trial of persons accused of a crime,

2. In the other type of service, the grand
jury is an investigating body. In performing this
function, the grand jury, subject to the approval and
supervision of the court, investigates public problems,
public officials and public institutions. In performing
this investigative function, if improper conditions are
found to exist, the grand jury may recommend charges or

remedies subject to the guidelines set forth in these

instructions.

You must not be concerned with the wisdom
of any rule of law. Regardless of any opinion you may
have as to what the law ought to be, it would be a
violation of your oath to base a finding upon any other
view than that given in the instructions.

Let us first consider your powers and
duties as an accusing body.

The grand jury may inquire into all public
offenses triable in the district court or in the
justice's court, committed within Clark County.

This inquiry begins when the district

attorney or attorney general initiates a criminal
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prosecution before the grand jury. The prosecutor will
bring the case to the grand jury and request the grand
jury to return an indictment.

An indictment is an accusation in writing,
presented by a grand jury to a district court, charging
a person with a crime.

As an accusing body you will be concerned
with hearing witnesses and considering other evidence in
order to determine whether or not, in light of that
evidence alone, an indictment is justified.

In the performance of this work, the
prosecutor will present to you, and explain, the charge.
You will hear testimony from witnesses who receive a
subpoena issued by the prosecutor.

Whenever you are not fully satisfied with
the evidence presented, you have the power to insist
that additional witnesses be called, if available or
obtainable.

The witnesses will be called before you one
at a time to be questioned first by the prosecutor, then
by your foreperson, and then by any of you who may
desire to ask the witness any questions. As to what is
a proper question, the advice of the prosecutor should

be obtained, and, in the event of a doubt, a ruling may

be obtained from the court.
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In the investigaticon of a charge, for the
purpose of an indictment, you can receive no evidence
other than the testimony of the witnesses, any legal
documentary evidence you are provided, the depositions
of witnesses taken as provided by law, and certain
affidavits as provided by law.

It is your duty to weigh all evidence
submitted to you, and when you have reason to believe
that other evidence within your reach will explain away
the charge, you must order that such evidence be

produced. For that purpcose, you may require the

prosecutor to issue process for witnesses.

Nevada Revised Statutes provide: "Whenever
criminal causes are being investigated by the grand
jury, it shall appoint a certified shorthand reporter.
If he or she is not an official district court reporter,
he or she shall, before entering upon their duties, take
and subscribe the constitutional cath of office."

The certified shorthand reporter shall
include in the notes he or she takes of a grand jury
proceeding all criminal matters which come before the
grand jury, including the charge by the impaneling
judge; any subsequent instructions or statements made by
the judge; each statement made by the district attorney

or the attorney general; each guestion asked of and
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response given by the witnesses who appear before the
grand jury; and any statements made by the grand jurors
during the proceeding. The certified shorthand reporter
shall not include in his or her notes any confidential
communication between a witness and his legal counsel
and the deliberation and voting of the grand jury.

The prosecutor, the witness under
examination, interpreters when needed, and any person
engaged by or requested by the grand jury to be present,
and an attorney accompanying a witness whose indictment
the prosecutor intends to seek or the grand jury on its
own motion intends t¢ return, may be present while the
grand jury is in session.

A person whose indictment the district
attorney or attorney general intends to seek, may
testify before the grand jury, if the person reguests to
do so and executes a valid waiver in writing of his or
her constituticnal privilege against self-incrimination.

The failure of a person to exercise their
right to testify as provided must not be considered in
your decision of whether or not to return an indictment.

After the charges and evidence in each case
have been presented to you, all persons except members
of the grand jury, must leave the room so that you may

consider and discuss the matter privately behind closed
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doors. If any other person is present at that time, the
indictment would be void and of no force or effect.

There may be occasicons when a particular
member of the grand jury may not participate in the
deliberation and in the voting. Such a circumstance
arises when a member has not heard, or in the
alternative, has not read the transcripts of all the
testimony presented, or, where a particular member is
"too close" to the case, such that the member cannot be
fair to both the State and the defendant or cannot
decide the case based on the evidence presented alone.
Under such circumstances that member will be asked to
leave the grand jury room during the deliberation and
the voting.

Those members of the grand jury "qualified"
to deliberate and vote shall consider each person and
each count for each person separately. That is to say,
each person and each count for each person named in a
proposed indictment, must be voted on separately by the
grand jury.

It is inappropriate for a "qualified”
member of the grand jury, participating in
deliberations, to abstain from voting.

When all persons except members of the

grand jury have left the room, your foreperson will ask
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"you to discuss and vote on the question of whether or

not a "True Bill" should be found on each charge.

Every grand juror then has a right to
comment on the evidence and fully express his or her
views of the entire matter.

After ever'y member of the grand jury has
been given an opportunity to be heard, the vote should
be taken.

Please remember that no indictment or count
can be found and issued unless at least twelve grand
jurors concur in so doing.,

You should find and issue an indictment
when all the evidence before you, taken together,
establishes probable cause to believe that an offense
has been committed and that the defendant has committed
it.

Probable cause is a legal standard. In
grand jury proceedings, the State need only show that a
crime has been committed and that the accused probably
committed it. The finding of probable cause to support
a criminal charge may be based on slight, even marginal
evidence, and does not involve a determination of the
guilt or innocence of an accused.

To return an indictment and commit an

accused for trial, the State is required to present only
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enough evidence to support a reasonable inference that
the accused committed the offense. So long as an
inference of criminal agency can be drawn from the
evidence, it is proper for the grand jury to draw it,
thereby leaving to the jury at trial the ultimate
determination on the credibility of witnesses and the
guilt of the accused. If the prosecutor is aware of any
evidence that will explain away the charge - often
referred to as exculpatory evidence - that evidence
shall be submitted to the grand fjury.

An indictment may be found only upon the
concurrence of twelve or more grand jurors.

When you do find and desire to issue an
indictment, i1t must first be endorsed "A True Bill."
This endorsement must be signed by your foreperson. The
names of all the witnesses examined before the grand
jury must be inserted at the foot of the indictment or
endorsed upon it.

The indictment must then be returned by the
grand jury to a judge in open court.

The court may direct that the indictment be
kept secret until the defendant is in custody or has
been given bail, and in that case, the clerk shall seal
the indictment. It is unlawful for any person to

disclose the finding of the secret indictment except
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when necessary for the issuance and executilon of a
warrant or summons.

In the event that twelve or more grand
jurors do not concur in finding an indictment, the
proposed indictment shall be delivered to the court
through the district attorney with the endorsement
signed by the foreperson that it is a "No True Bill."

Let us consider your powers and duties if
the grand jury acts as an investigative body. With
regard to your powers as an lnvestigating body you are

instructed that any investigation not commenced by

either the district attorney or the attorney general

must first be submitted to the Chief Judge for approval.

The law provides that each grand jury may
inquire into the case of every person imprisoned in the
jail of the county, on a criminal charge, against whom
an indictment has not been found or an information or

complaint filed; the conditicon and management of any

‘public prison located within the county; the misconduct
in office of public officers of every description within
the county which may constitute a violation of provision

of Chapter 197 of the Nevada Revised Statutes, crimes by

and against the executive power.

The Grand Jury has the power at the request

of the district attorney or attorney general to cause
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the issuance of subpoenas, subscribed by the foreperson
or by the deputy foreperson, or temporary foreperson,
for witnesses within the state and for the production of
books, papers or documents, such as books of account,
bank account records, and the contents of deposit boxes.

The singular purpose of an investigation by
you 1s to issue a report concerning a matter into which
you may lawfully inquire. The report must be issued for
the sole purpose of reporting on the matter. The report
must not contain material the sole effect of which is to
ridicule or abuse a person or otherwise subject him to
public disgrace or embarrassment; contain material which
is personal in nature and does not relate to any lawful
inquiry; or accuse a named or unnamed person directly or
by innuendo, imputation or otherwise of an act that, if
true, constitutes an indictable offense unless the
report 1is accompanied by an indictment of the person for
the offense mentioned in the report.

- The -grand- jury is supervised-by a Judge of-
the District Court. The grand jury shall not spend
money or incur debt exceeding the amount of money
budgeted for its use unless it first obtains the
approval of the Judge.

The law requires that you be instructed as

follows: Any civil officer in this State who, during
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his term of office, becomes —— this is my favorite
instruction, we have to give it by statute —— becomes
intoxicated or is under the influence of alcoholic,
malt, ligquors, or becomes or is addicted to the use of
controlled substances, so that he is not at all times in
proper condition for the discharge of the duties of his
office, is guilty of a gross misdemeanor, and if he is a
state officer, is subject to removal from office by
impeachment or if he is a county, city or township
officer he shall be removed from office by the judgment
of the court in which the conviction is had, as part of
7Ep§hpep§}ty.in“such a conviction._

Upon receiving information from any person
that the provisions of this section has been violated,
sheriffs and their deputies, constables and their
deputies, district attorneys, and all other peace
officers in this State shall immediately institute
proceedings in the proper court against the person
complained of, and shall prosecute the same with
reasonable diligence to final judgment.

If any person makes and files a complaint
under oath charging the district attorney with a
violation of this section, the attorney general shall

prosecute the district attorney pursuant to the terms of

this section.
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If any state officer is convicted pursuant
to this section, the prosecuting officer obtaining the
conviction shall file a certified copy of the judgment
roll with the secretary of state. The secretary of
state shall lay the certified copy of the judgment roll
before the legislature at its next session,

As i1t pertains to grand jury secrecy,
Nevada law provides as follows: Evidence presented to
the grand jury, information obtained by the grand jury,
and an event occurring or a statement made in the
presence of the grand jury other than its deliberations
and the vote of a juror, may be disclosed to the
district attorney for use in the performance of his
duties.

Except as otherwise stated herein, the
district attorney, the attorney general, or a member of
his or her staff, a grand juror, peace officer, clerk,
stenographer, interpreter, witness or other person
invited or allowed to attend the proceedings of a grand
Jjury shall not disclose evidence presented to the grand
jury, an event occurring or a statement made in the
presence of the grand jury, information obtained by the
grand jury, or the results of an investigation made by
the grand jury.

L person may disclose his knowledge
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concerning the proceedings of a grand jury when so
directed by the court preliminary to or in connection
with a judicial proceeding; when permitted by the court
at the request of the defendant, upon showing that
grounds may exist for a motion to dismiss the
presentment or indictment because of matters occurring
before the grand jury; or if he was a witness before the
grand jury and is disclosing his knowledge of the
proceedings to his own attorney.

Nevada Revised Statute 172.225 provides
that upon finding of an indictment and when the

stenographic reporter certifies and files a transcript

with the county clerk, the transcript and any related
pPhysical evidence exhibited to the grand jury becomes a
matter of public record unless the court orders that the
pPresentment or indictment remain secret until the
defendant is in custody or has been given ball; or upon
motion, orders the transcript and evidence to remain
secret until further order of the court.

No obligation of secrecy may be imposed
upon any person except in accordance with these
instructions. The court may direct that the indictment
be kept secret until the defendant is in custody or has

been given bail, and in that case, the clerk shall seal

the indictment. It is unlawful for any person to
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disclose the finding of the secret indictment except
when necessary for the issuance and execution of a
warrant or summons.

The attorney general or district attorney
shall investigate and prosecute a wviolation of this
section.

The grand jury shall inform each person who
appears before it of the provisions of this section and
the penalties for its violation.

Failure to comply with the secrecy
provisions set forth is a gross misdemeanor punishable

by a year in the Clark County Jail and a 52,000 fine.

In addition, a person violating these admonishments may
be held in contempt of court punishable by an additional
$500 fine and 25 days in the Clark County Jail.

Now, a few words regarding organization of
the Grand Jury.

You shall elect one of your members tc be
foreperson —— and I think you've already voted on
that -- another to be deputy foreperscon, and a third to
be secretary.

The foreperson shall have the power to
administer ocaths and affirmations and shall sign all
indictments. The foreperson shall, inraddition, inform

each witness of the general nature of the grand jury
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inquiry and prior to excusing the witness admonish him
of the secret nature of the proceeding and sanctions for
its violation.

The secretary shall keep a record of the
number of jurors concurring in the finding of every
indictment and shall file the record with the clerk of
the court, but the record shall not be made public
except on order of the court.

In addition, the secretary shall mark all
exhibits introduced and keep an accurate record of the
same. The secretary shall maintain an accurate
attendance roll of all grand jurors present. The
exhibits and minutes shall be delivefed to-the distri§£
court through the district attorney or the attorney

general.

During the absence of the foreperson, the
deputy foreperson shall act as foreperson, and if both
are absent, those present shall elect a temporary

foreperson.

In the State of Nevada, a guorum of the
grand jury is twelve members present. Not less than
twelve members must be present at all meetings of the
grand jury in order to transact any business as a grand
jury. If less than this number is present, all

proceedings of the grand jury as such cease until twelve
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or more members are present.

A grand jury shall serve until discharged
by the court and may be so discharged at any time after
the expiration of one year.

At any time for cause shown the. court may
excuse a grand juror, either temporarily or permanently;
in the latter event, the court may, and ordinarily will,
impanel an alternate grand juror in place of the juror
excused.

The court now delivers to you these written
instructions, which have been read to Qou on this
occasion.

"”'”And you will now —-- okay. You're already
in the grand jury room, and there won't be organization
meetings obviously because you've already done that.

And you know you're doing it right.

So I want to thank you again for your
willingness to come back and help with this case. It
would take a new grand jury, I'm sure you recall it was
a couple weeks of, what? All together it was about ten
days.

A JUROR: About a year. Off and on.

THE COURT: I£ was all spread out but when
you put it all together it was ten days. So it was two

weeks, two full weeks of grand jury time to hear this
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case. So that's why we made the decision that it would
make more sense to bring all of you folks back. So T
really appreciate your time.

If anyone has any issues with work or, you
know, you need a note to your boss or anything like that
please let me know. Just contact my chambers and we'll
make sure that we get that for you. So everyone have a
great day. It's very nice to see all of you again.

A JUROR: Can we get that note today,

Judge?

THE COURT: Absolutely. Will you just
write down ——7§9§§7anybqu'e;se need one?

No? Okay.

That's okay. Do we have —— T just don't
have any --

A JUROR: I just need it that we got
released today or whatever. Because I guess we're
getting released today.

THE COURT: I anticipate that it's going to
be probably just the morning but I don't know for sure.

A JUROR: Okay.

THE COURT: Thank you all.

A JUROR: Okay. Thanks.

(Proceedings concluded.)

~——ooloo--
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REPORTER'S CERTIFICATE

STATE OF NEVADA )

COUNTY OF CLARK )

I, Danette L. Antonacci, C.C.R. 222, do
hereby certify that I took down in Shorthand (Stenotype)
all of the proceedings had in the before-entitled matter
at the time and place indicated and thereafter said
shorthand notes were transcribed at and under my

direction and supervision and that the foregoing

transcript constitutes a full, true, and accurate record

of the proceedings had.

Dated at Las Vegas, Nevada,

September 6, 2012.

Danette L. Antonacci, C.C.R. 222
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LAS VEGAS, NEVADA, RUGUST 10, 2012

* ok ok ok ok % *

DANETTE L. ANTONACCI,
having been first duly sworn to faithfully

and accurately transcribe the following
proceedings to the best of her ability.

MR. STAUDAHER: Ladies and gentlemen of the
Grand Jury, my name is Michael Staudaher. I'm here
today with Pamela Weckerly. We are the deputy district
attorneys assigned to prosecute the case of $tate of
Nevada versus Dipak Kantilal Desai, Renald Ernest
Lakeman and Keith H. Mathahs in Grand Jury Case Number
09BGJ1192-C.

Ladies and gentlemen of the Grand Jury,
before we get started there’s a couple things we need to
do. First of all you have before you an Indictment
which is going to be marked and it has been marked
rather as Exhibit Number 1.

Exhibit Number 2 will be the law pertaining
to the charge in this particular case which is second
degree murder., We are going to be follewing a couple of
different thecries of murder. I'm going to go through
the law with you pertaining to that particular charge in

The first is under ¥RS 200.010. 1It's
murder. Murder is defined as the unlawful killing of a
human being with malice aforethought.

Under NRS 200.020. Malice is further
defined as either express or implied malice.

Now it's important to know that under the
theory of murder that the State is proceeding under, it
is not a first degree murder. It is not a
premeditation, deliberation, express malice murder that
we're going forward on. It is second degree murder. So
second degree murder has implied malice. There does not
have to be an intent to kill. We're going to get into
some of that in just a moment.

But under NRS 200,020, malice. Under
subsection 2 related to implied malice. It says malice
shall be implied when all of the circumstances of the
killing show an abandoned or malignant heart.

NRS 200.030 delineates the various forms of
murder. Again we're not proceeding under a first degree
murder theory. Anything that does not carry with it the
intent te kill a human being that is defined as murder
is all other forms of murder which is second degree.

Under NRS 200,070, that is actually the
involuntary murder, or, excuse me, inveluntary

manslaughter statute. The important portion there that
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just a moment. At the end of that, if you have any
questions about that I ask that you let me know so we
can clarify it or make sure that you're all on Loard
with every issue in the case. Okay?

Also I know that the Grand Jury judge has
previously just sworm you a moment ago, that you have
all acknowledged on the record that you have reviewed
the materials from the prior presentation in a separate
case. This is a separate case at this point. The prior
presentation materials included all the transcripts of
the prior presentation involving these three defendants,
as well as all of the Grand Jury exhibits that were
presented during that presentation. Again just before
we get started, general acknowledgment or lack thereof
that you have reviewed those materials.

A JUROR: We have reviewed.

MR. STAUDRHER: And a general
acknowledgment among the Grand Jury members.

As we start out I'm going to go over the
law which is Exhibit 2. You have the entirety of the
statutes centaired in Exhibit 2 pertaining tec each of
the statutes in this case which is what you will
deliberate on in this case after you hear the evidence
and take into consideration the prior evidence that you

reviewed as well.

relates to the charge of second degree murder in this
case is that: Even though an involuntary killing occurs
in the commission of an unlawful act -- angd here the
unlawful acts specifically are the criminal neglect of
patients charge and the performance of an act in
reckless disregard of perscns or property. That in the
commission of that, or cne or mere of those acts, a
killing occurs, and that in its consequences those acts
naturally tend to destroy the life of a human being or
is committed in the prosecution of a felonious intent,
the offense is murder.

Under MRS 0.060, it defines substantial
bodily harm which you had previously heard testimeny
about in the other case. Buf substantial bodily harm
also includes the possibility of death. Under
subsection 1, it's bodily injury which creates a
substantial risk of death.

Under the two particular felonies that we
are providing you today information on, what we believe
will show that there was, essentially provides the
malice for the murder, The two felonies that we're
centering on today are the performance of an act in
reckless disregard of persons or property. That is NRS
202,595, A person who performs any act or neglects any
duty imposed by law in willful or wanton disregard of

11
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the safety of persons or property, and if the neglect
results in substantial bodily harm or death, that is a
felony.

Under NRS 200.495, that is the criminal
neglect of patient statute. Now I know you've had these
before but I need fo go over these, and specifically
this one with you in detail, because as I go through
this the things that I'm going to be telling you are
conjunctive, which means they are all required for the
finding. And I know that you have previously made a
finding as related to the patient involved in the charge
here and these defendants, but I still need to make sure
that you understand that this is the theory that we're
preceeding on for this charge and the previous one, the
performance of an act that I told you a moment ago.

Under NRS 200,495, a professional caretaker
who fails to provide such service, care or supervision
as is reascnable and necessary to maintain the health or
safety of a patient —- these are the four parts that you
need to consider —- the act or omission must be
aggravated, reckless or gross; (b} The act or omission
is such a departure from what would be the conduct of an
ordinarily prudent, careful perscn under the same
circumstances that it is contrary to a proper regard for
danger to human life or constitutes indifference to the

11

destroy the life of a human being, or they were
committed in the performarce of felonious intent -
meaning criminal neglect of patients or performance of
an act in reckless disregard -- and those acts naturally
tend to destroy the life of a human being, that is also
murder.

So we're talking about dangerous felonies
in one standpoint and reckless conduct in the other. Is
there any question about that?

With that we will go ahead and start our
presentation of the evidence. Again if you develop any
questions as we go through this abeut the law or about
the evidence before that you need to have addressed, I
know you've all reviewed it, let us know.

THE FOREPERSON: Sir, could you please
remain standing. Raise your right hand.

You do solemnly swear the testimony you are
about to give upon the investigation now pending before
this Grand Jury shall be the truth, the whole truth, and
nothing but the truth, sc help you God?

THE WITNESS: I do.

THE FOREPERSCN: You may be seated.

You are advised that you are here today to
give testimony in the investigation pertaining to the

offense of murder in the second degree, category A
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resulting consequences; ({c) The consequences of the
negligent act or cmission could have reasonably been
foreseen; and (d) The danger to human life was not the
result of inattention, mistake, judgment or
misadventure, but the natural and probable result of an
aggravated, reckless or grossly megligent act or
omission.

Now zgain, ladies and gentlemen, you have
the entirety of these statutes. Is there any questions
thus far about the law as its been provided to you?

Now one section I want to cover zgain so
we're clear on this, The Indictment that you have
before you lists certain theories of principles of
theories of criminal liability that we are proceeding
under. The first is essentially a reckless theory. The
acts involved were so reckless that they constituted,
essentially as it says there, an abandoned or malignant
heart, That is second degree murder. If a killing or
death results from that type of conduct, it's murder.
However there's a second portion of that. I£ in fact,
under the second section, the commissicn of the unlawful
act -- and the unlawful act again here is either the
criminal neglect of patients or the performance of an
act in reckless disregard -- if those acts, those
consequences of those twe acts, naturally tend to

12

feleny,

Do you understand this advisement?

THE WITNESS: Yes, ma'am, I do.

THE FOREPERSON: Thank you. Could you
state both your first and last nemes please and then
spell them both for the record.

THE WITNESS: My name is Maynard Bagang.
First name M-A-Y-N-A-R-D, last name B-A-G-A-N-G,

THE FORFPERSON: Thank you.

MAYNARD BAGANG,
having been first duly sworn by the Foreperson of the
Grand Jury to testify tec the truth, the whole truth,
and nothing but the truth, testified as follows:

EXAMINATION

BY MR. STAUDRHER:

0. Detective, what do you do for a living?

A. I'm a police officer and been working for
the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department for
approximately eight years now.

0. Are you an officer or detective?

A. I've been recently assigned to the airport
so I'm an officer.

Q. With regard to your testimony today, I'm

12
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going to direct you to a specific time period,
specifically April 27th of this year. Were you involved
in any kind of an investigation pertaining to Rodolfo, a
person by the name of Rodolfc Meana?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Can you tell us -- first of all, before
that date, were you even aware that this was a situation
you might become involved in?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Can you explain to us how that happened and
then what cccurred on that day and thereafter?

A. In the beginning week of April 2012 I was
informed by Detective Bob Whiteley --

Q. And again, ladies and gentlemen, if he
discusses any -- I'm going to ask you to mot, as much as
possible, tell us what other people said. But I'm going
to caution the Grand Jury that this is simply to give
context and foundation for what he did or why he was
involved in this particular case. It's not offered for
the truth of the matter asserted, nor is it intended to
be used by you for that purpose.

B, In the beginning week of April I was
informed by Detective Bob Whiteley that his case, one of
the patients of his case is unfortunately probably going
to pass away and he asked me if I speak the native

15

Philippines?

A. My main purpese is to facilitate the
autopsy, identify the body and witness the autopsy.

Q. Did you do those things?

A, Yes, sir.

Q. I'm showing you what has been previously
marked as Grand Jury Exhibit Number 4 and ask you if you
recognize that.

A, Yes, sir, I do.

Q. What is that, sir?

A. This is the copy of the driver's license of
Rodolfo Meana.

Q. A Nevada issued driver's license; is that
correct?

A, Correct, sir.

0. Now you said that part of what you were to
de was to identify the body as well as make sure that
you basically were there for the autopsy; is that
correct?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. I assume that means that you didn't want to
do an autopsy on somebody who was not Rodolfo Meana?

A. Correct.

g. Sc did you look at the person and identify
them as being the person that you believed was Rodolfo
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language of the Philippines which is Tagalog and asked
me if that happens if T can go to the Philippines and

facilitate an autopsy for the victim which is Rodolfo

Meana. And I told him yes.

Q. S50 move forward then, So you were aware of
it at least at the early part of Zpril and agreed that
you would do that for Detective Whiteley if the time
came?

A, Yes, sir.

Q. Did that time come?

A. Yes, sir. Iast April 27th at about
11 o'clock in the morning, I was in California, I was
performing my military duties because I'm in the Navy
Reserve, and I was called by Sergeant Misty Pence and
informed me that the victim Rodolfo Meana passed away
and she asked me if I can fly out that night from Las
Vegas to the Philippines. And I was able to check out
from the Naval installation in Coronado, California and
drove back to las Vegas, and I flew out that night 11:00
p.n. from Las Vegas to Manila.

Q. So did yeou accompany anybody or were you
alone?

B, I accompanied the Nevada examiner, Dr.
Alane Olson.

0. What was the purpose of you going to the

16

Meana?

A. Yes, sir.

0. Is that the same person as depicted in this
driver's license?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. At that point what else did you do? I know
you've identified the body as Mr. Meanz. What else did
you do as far as your involvement in the autopsy?

A, After the body's been identified -~ first
off, before the autopsy was conducted, at about
11:00 a.m. April 30th, Dr. Olson and myself went to
Funeraria Paz, it's F-U-N-E-R-A-R-I-A, and then P-A-Z,
in Manila where the body was stored.

c. And what is that facility?

A. That facility is a funeral home and a
morgue,

Q. S0 you go to that location. What happens?

a. I went to that location and I met with the
Funeraria Paz staff and also one of the dazughters of
Mr. Meana which is Marissa Meana and she advised me
that --

MR. STAUDAHER: Again, ladies and
gentlemen, not offered for the truth of the matter
asserted at this point.

THE WITNESS: She advised me that they had

13
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given consent for the autopsy to be performed.
BY MR. STAUDAHER:

Q. So further at least information that you
had that this in fact was Mr. Meana; correct?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. So what happens thereafter?

A, After that we started the autopsy
approximately 12:30 p.m.

0. When you say we started the autopsy, were
you actually performing it?

A. No, sir, I was a witness. It was the
Philippine coroner that was provided by the Philippine
law enforcement agency which is the National Bureau of
Investigation, and the Interpel chief based in Manila,
and inside the room was Dr. Olson, myself, the
Philippine coroner and her assistant,

0. So you were present during the entirety of
the autopsy?

A. Tes, sir.

Q. Now Dr. Olson, did she participate in the
autopsy itself?

A. No, sir.

Q. What was the purpose of her being there?

A. Dr. Olson's purpese is to witness the
autopsy and collect the tissue and blood samples.

19

A, Say that again, sir.

Q. Do you come back to the United States at
some point?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. 50 when you get back to the United States
did you continue on in this investigation at all or were
you done?

A. My mission was done, sir.

Q. Now beside the things that you described
when you were there physically, the things that you were
involved with, did you facilitate those, that precess
because you know the language of Tagalog?

. Yes, sir. When I got to the Philippines I
met with one of the agents of National Bureau of
Investigation because there was no coroner in place. So
what T did was I briefed the Interpol chief in Manila
and also the head doctor of the National Burean of
Investigation about the mission, why we're there in
Manila, and we informed them that we need to do this as
scon as possible because the body was frozen inside the
morque which is Funeraria Paz. And they were able to
obtain the permission from the family to perform the
autepsy and provided the pathologist which is Dr.
Oropilla, 0-R-0-P-I-L-L-3, and Dr. Oropilla performed
the zutopsy.
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Q. Were you present when those samples were
collected and given to Dr, Olsocn?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. So you saw that actually taking place?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. What else, if anything, did you do in this
particular investigation?

A. After the samples were collected, they were
sealed on an approved specified medical containers and
they were secured by Dr. Olson and we maintained the
chain of custody of the evidence until we got back here
in the United States.

0. So then you left I assume after the autopsy
and came back to the United $tates?

a. No, sir, we stayed there a few days and we
have the evidence locked in our safe, in Dr. Olson's
safe inside her hotel room.

Q. Okay. So it wasn't just sitting on a table
where anybody could come in and access it; is that
correct?

A. Yes, sir. The hotel room was provided with
& combination lock safe and Dr. Olson was the only one
who had access to that safe.

0. S0 after the time passes for you to then
return back to the United States do you do so?

20

MR. STAUDAHER: Okay. Thank yeu.

I have nothing further for this witness,
ladies and gentlemen.

THE FOREPERSON: Are there any questions
from the jury? There are none?

BY A JURCR:
0. I have one.

You mean frozen, you don't mean like hard
frozen, you mean like cold, right?

A, Yes, ma'am.
Q. Okay.

THE FOREPERSON: Ckay. By law, these
proceedings are secret and you are prohibited from
disclesing to anyone anything that has transpired before
us, including evidence and statements presentsd to the
Grand Jury, any event cccurring or statement made in the
presence of the Grand Jury, and information obtained by
the Grand Jury.

Fgilure to comply with this adwonition is a
gross misdemeanor punishable by a year in the Clark
County Detenticn Center and a $2,000 fine. In additien,
you may be held in contempt of court punishable by an
additional $500 fine and 25 days in the Clark County
Detention Center.

Do you understand this admonrition?

14
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THE WITNESS: Yes, I do.

THE FOREPERSON: Thank you. You can be
excused now.

THE WITNESS: Thank you.

THE FOREPERSCN: You do solemnly swear the
testimony ycu are about to give upon the investigation
now pending before this Grand Jury shall be the truth,
the whole truth, and nothing but the tzuth, so help you
God? )

THE WITNESS: I do.

THE FOREPERSON: You may be seated.

You are advised that you are here today to
give testimony in the investigation pertaining to the
offense of morder in the second degree, invelving the
defendants Dipak Kantilal Desai, Ronald Ernest Lakeman
and Keith H. Mathahs.

Do you understand this advisement?

THE WITNESS: Yes, ma'am.

THE FOREPERSON: Thank you,

Could you please state both your first and
last names and spell them both please.

THE WITNESS: My name is Alane Olson. My
first name is spelled A-L-A-N-E, my last name is spelled
0-L-5-0-H.

THE FOREPERSCN: Thank you.

23

0. Can you give us a brief background as to
your training and experience which led you to those
positions?

A. Yes.
Microbiclogy from the University of Idahe. I went to

I have a Bachelor's Degree in

medical school at the University of Nevada School of
Medicine which is based in Remo. Once I got my MD
Degree I moved to Portland, Oregon and spent five years
at Oregon Health Sciences University in training for a
residency in anatomic and clinical patholegy which is
where I learned how to do autopsies. During that time I
also learmed how to look at specimens, tissues and
organs that were removed at surgery for diagnosis of
cancer and other diseases. I also learned how clinical
laboratories are run. Those are the labs that amalyze
blood, uripe and other specimens to allow doctors to
diagrosis and treat disease. Once I completed my
residency I moved to Milwaukee, Wisconsin and worked at
the medical examiner's office in Wisconsin, in
Milwavkee, for one year, in a forensic pathology
fellowship program. So that was further training in
berforming autopsies. That completed by formal training
and I've been working in the State of Nevada since.
Q. Thank you.
So some of the things that you did mention
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ALANE OLSON,
having been first duly sworn by the Foreperson of the
Grand Jury te testify to the truth, the whole truth,
and nothing but the truth, testified as follows:

EXAMINATION

BY MR. STRUDAHER;

Q. Dr. Olson, what de yon do for a living?

A. I'm employed at the Clark County Coroner's
Office and I'm a medical examiner.

0. And what do you do primarily at the
coroner's office then?

A. I perform autopsies and other types of
examinations with the goal of determining cause and
manner of death.

Q. So you're familiar with how autopsies aze
done obvicusly?

A. Yes.

c. How long have you been doing that work at
the coroner's office?

A. I've been working at the coroner's office
in Las Vegas since September of 2005 and prior to that I
worked at the coroner's office in Reno from 2000 to
2005,

24

that I wanted to ask you a couple quick questions about
is that you had both pathologic, meaning in the sense of
live patient interaction where maybe an organ at the
tine of surgery was sent to you for analysis where you
remgve sections of that tissue and then analyze them,
stain them, things like that?

A. Yes.

0. So you've dealt with sort of the living
patient portion of pathology and now you're dealing as a
medical examiner with deceased patients; is that right?

A, That's correct.

0. Same kinds of things, do you look at the
same kinds of tissues and stain them and things along
those lines?

A, Yes.

0. In doing that are you able to determine on
deceased patients as well whether or not there was
disease process involved in the cause of their death?

A, Oftentimes, yes.

Q. I'm going o direct your attention back to
why you're here today now. HWere you invelved in either
the autopsy or observance or some way the autopsy of an
individual by the name of Rodolfo Meana?

A. Yes, I was,

Q. Can you explain to us how that took place,

15
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what your role was and what you observed or did?

A, My involvement with Mr. Meana came about .
through a request from the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police
Department. Basically Metre got in touch with the
coroner who is my boss and informed him that there were
patients who had been infected by hepatitis C from —-

MR. STAUDAHER: And again, ladies and
gentienen, I'm cautioning the Grand Jury, it's not
offered for the truth of the matter asserted, just how
she gets involved in this case. I would ask you not to
use it for that purpose.

THE WITNESS: Who had been infected with
hepatitis € during procedures at the Endoscopy Clinic of
Scuthern Nevada. They were concerned that one of those
patients was in rapidly declining health and might in
fact die relatively soor as a consequence of his
infecticn. They wanted to essentially give the
coroner’s office a heads up this case may be coming our
way and so we were provided with information about
¥r. Meana's medical history and they basically kept us
informed of what was happening. I was aware that
Mr. Meana had requested or had intended to go back to
the Philippines and his intent was to go home to die.
So I was aware that he had in fact gone back to the
Fhilippines, #And on I believe it was April 27, 2012,

27

information at least that you were given related to
previous treatments he had received, hospitalizations,
his medical condition and so forth?

A. Yes, as far as I'm aware of.

Q. bid that information predate the particular
date where the infection allegedly took place?

b, Yas,

Q. S0 we've got information before the
infection takes place up to the present time, meaning
present time being the 27th essentially that you went to
the Philippines?

A. Yes, with the exception that I didn't have
records from his hospitalization while he was in the
Philippines.

Q. And he was there for a very short time,
just a couple weeks; is that correct?

A, That's correct, yes.

Q. So you got that information, you've
actually reviewed it?

A. Yes.

Q. Bid that go imto or make its way into your
findings or your report that you did in this particular
case?

A. It essentially served as a background
though it's not directly referenced in the report.
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our office got a call from Metro saying that Mr. Meana
had died in the Philippines and they requested that
someone from our office go to the Philippines to observe
the autopsy and if possible bring specimens back so they
could be examined. I'm the one who ended up going to
the Philippines at the request of Metro. And with the
assistance of Detective Bagang we managed to cbserve the
autopsy and get specimens and bring them back so¢ that I
could look at them under the microscope. My presence at
his autopsy was strictly that of an observer since I am
not licensed to practice medicine in the Philippines and
performing an autcpsy is in fact the practice of
medicine. $o my presence was strictly that of an
observer at the examination.
BY MR. STAUDAHER:

0. So let me go back just a little bit.

You said before you actually make the trip
to the Philippines though that you were provided with
informaticn regarding Mr. Meana's medical history, his
records and so forth; is that correct?

A. Tes.

0. Had you had a chance to review those before
going to the Philippines?

A, Yes,

Q. And did that include all of the available

28

0. So it's something you considered, is that
fair to say, and analyzed and used, but didn't, it just
doesn't, the actual text of his medical history doesn't
appear in your report; is that right?

A, That's cerrect, it does not.

Q. tow let's go to the 27th. You gef notified
of this information or of the death. You said that you
had gone to the Philippines with another individnal.
Who was that?

A. Detective Bagang from the Las Vegas
Metropolitan Police Depariment.

0. Did you pass by him, sort of ships passing
in the night, as you came in here to testify today?

h. Yes, I did,

0. Was that the same person that you went to
the Philippines with?

A. Yes, it uwas.

Q. Teil us what happens when you get to the
Philippines.

A. When we zrrived in the Philippines we got
in contact with a agent, FBI agent who was resident in
the embassy, U.S. Embassy in Mapila, and he had been
able to get informaticn for us, essentially to help us
figure out how to get an autopsy done since Detective
Bagang didn't have any experience with that aspect of

16
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life in the Philippings and I had no clue. So the agent
was very helpful in fiquring out whe we needed to
contact and how to go about directing the family so that
an autopsy could be performed.

Q. So when is all this taking place?

A. The majority of the consultations and paper
signing took place on Sunday the 26th and the autopsy
itself occurred on the 30th.

Q. Ckay. And when did you actually arrive,
the calendar day, in the Philippines?

A. It would have been the 29th of April.

Q. So did you leave the 29th or did you leave
earlier than that?

A, We left about 11:00 p.m. on Friday the
27th.

0. So it tock physically, with the time
changes and International Date Line and all of that, it
took you a time to get there obviously, but when you
leave here you leave on the 27th?

A. Correct, yes.

Q. Angd that was the day that you were informed
at least that the time the death occurred?

A Yes.

Q. Bnd as fast as travel could get you there
you're in the Philippines, but the calendar day then is

31

means when yeou prepare tissues te look at them under the
microscope. They themselves did not have a stain
available for hepatitis C and they checked with other
labs and were not able to find apparently any labs that
would do testing on tissue to verify the presence of
hepatitis C.

Q. S0 you weren't able to do that particular
portion of the testing yourself, but the samples that
you obtained were for then to try and determine the
cause of death essentially?

. Essentially, yes.

Q. So let's go back just a little bit. Youfre
at the location where the autopsy takes place. Do you
watch the entirety of the autopsy?

A, Yes,

0. S0 you're there for the whole time. And
during the autopsy, is that when you get the samples or
do you get them at the end? I mean how did that work?

A, I got the samples essentially at the end of
the autopsy once all the organs had been removed and the
Filipino decter had the opportunity to look at them,
then she motioned me over and asked what I wanted.

Q. Were you involved in, for example, deing
anything that would go to the cause of death or that
would make it into a death certificate in the
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cn the 29th?

A. Correct.

0. Autopsy takes place the following day.
®hat role did you play in this?

A, 2s I said, my role was strictly that of an
observer since I'm not medically licensed in the
Philippines and so I essentially stoocd in the room while
the doctor perfermed the autopsy. I observed what she
was doing and she was very helpful in gbtaining tissue
samples and some blood for me ab my request. I had
prior to that gotten a consent signed by Mr. Meana's
next of kin to legally allow me te take those samples.

Q. So what is the purpese of you obtaining
samples?

A, The purpese of obtaining the samples is
essentially te confirm that he did in fact have
cirrhosis which is scarring in the liver and that he did
in fact ultimately die as a result of that cirrhosis or
scarring in his liver.

Q. Has there any indication that there was an
infectious component in this, in your analysis?

A. I was not able to do special stains to
actually identify hepatitis C virus in his liver, We
attempted to have that testing done through the
laboratory that does our histelogy which is what it
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Phiiippines, anything like that?

A. No, I was not involved in the preparation
of the death certificate.

Q. Did you in any way involve yourself in the
actual report that was -- first of all, was there a
report done, an autopsy report done by the Filipino
physician?

&, Yes.

0. Were you involved in the preparation, the
anthoring, anything related to that report?

A. No, I was not.

Q. Have you seen that report?

A. Yes, I have.

Q. Have you looked at that in cemjunction with
all of the others things that you mentioned that you
reviewed?

A. Yes.

Q. Have you looked at the death certificate in
this particular case?

A. Yes.

Q. I'm showing you what has been marked as
State's Ezhibit 5 and ask you if you recognize that?

A. Yes, I do.

0. Can you tell us what that is?

A, State's Exhibit Number 5 is a certificate

17
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of death for Rodolfo Torrillo Meana.

0. I believe it's a copy of a certified death
certificate; is that correct?

A, Yes. Was issued by the Republic of the
Philippines and it is as noted a certified copy.

Q. And on that document what are listed as the
causes or contributing factors related to the death?

A. The cause of death statement is hepatic and
uremic encephalopathy, grade four. An antecedent cause
is listed sepsis and an underlying cause is hepatitis C
and chronic kidney disease.

Q. Does that indicate some form of infection?

A. Yes.

0. Based on your analysis, and we're going to
get into your analysis in just a minute, but based on
your aralysis of what you did with the tissue samples
yourself, the observance of the autopsy, your review of
the medical records predating your even going to the
Philippines related to Mr, Meana, do you have any issue
with what is listed there on the cause of death?

a, e, I do not.

o] Do you agree with it?

A, Yes.

c. Okay. Now before we get to your actual
report, again I want to talk about the fact that there

35

blood samples at the end of the examination. If's
basically & stylistic difference.

Q. S0 there's no significance to that other
than the way that you do it versus the way that somebody
else would do it?

A. Correct.

0. Are there people even in your ouwn
profession here in this country that might do it that
particular way?

A. If a person is, if a doctor is perforning
an autopsy in a corcner's office or a medical examiner's
office, oftentimes the emphasis in those cases is on
toxicology testing, meaning we lock at the blood to see
if there are drugs or alcohol or any texic substance
that may have led this person te die. So we are very
concerned with getting good quantities of gocd quality
blood for our testing. On the other hand, someone who
dies in the hospital or who has an aufopsy essentially
for medical purpeses, the emphasis may not in fact be on
the toxicology testing and results and so the blood
collected is not as much of a priority for those types
of cases as it typically is for the types of cases that
I do and that other medical examiners do.

0. Se just to make sure I get that question
answered. Is it anything that would impair, impede or
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was a separate autopsy report done by this Filipine
nedical examiner. Correct?

Yes.

Have yon reviewed that report?

Yes, I have.

In detail?

e oo ow

Yes.

0. And again in conjunction with your
observance of what took place at the autopsy, is there
any issue that you have with what took place at the
autopsy, meaning how the autopsy was performed by that
doctor?

A. No.

0. Did it appear to follow the normal standard
practice in not only medicine but in your specific
profession as to how to conduct such an autopsy?

A. Yes, it appeared to follow these forms.

0. So is there anything there that was, you
know, completely out of the ordinary or even out of the
ordinary that you would not do here that you saw being
done there with regard to her performance of the avtopsy
itself?

A. The only difference that I noted, when we
do autopsies here we generally collect blood samples at
the beginning of the examination, and she collected
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otherwise make that process that you saw, observed and
saw the report of, invalid or called into question in
some way?

A. No.

Q. And you reviewed the findings of that
autopsy report as well?

A, Tes.

Q. And I'm not going to get into the actual
findings of that, but were they consistent with what you
determined later on?

A, Yes,

Q. And consistent with the death certificate
itself?

A, Yes.

0. Anything about the information contained in
that autopsy report from the doctor in the Philippines
that gave you pause or question or made you change or
alter in any way your opinicns in this case?

A. Ne.

0. So let's meve forward. You've observed the
autopsy, you've gotten your samples. What happens next?

A. Once I had the samples they were placed
into & fixative called formalin and I brought them back
te the United States with me and took them to the office
immediately after I got out of the airport and put them

i8
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in storage at the coroner's office until [ could prepare
them.

Q. Did you somehow take care of those
specimens along the way or did you just leave them
sitting somewhere where anybody could get ahold of them?

A, In Manila, after I got the specimens, we
went back to our hotel which is when I put them in the
fixative. I brought fixative with me. Once they were
in fixative I placed them in the safe in my hotel room
where they stayed until I took them out as I was packing
to leave. I put them in my carry-on luggage and they
never left my control during the time of our transit
from the Philippines back to Ias Vegas.

0. Did you then take them to your office at
seme point?

A. Yes, as soon as I got out of the airport
after arriving in Las Vegas I took them to the office
and placed them in storage there.

0. So is that where they currently are is in
the coroner's office?

A. Yes.

Q. tow we know the chain there.

You menticned fixative, that you brought
some with you. Is there a reason why you did that?

A. Yes, there is a reason. Prior tc going to
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entirety of the autopsy.

A. Yes.

Q. Did that include the standard things that
are dong, like an external, internal examination, things
like that?

A, Tes.

Q. And specific examinaticns of the internal
organs themselves?

a. Yes.

Q. And just for an aside and for the Grand
Jury, what is the purpose, why do you have to look at
the individual organs when you're doing an autopsy?

A, The goal of looking, the goal of deing an
autopsy in general is to document the presence of injury
as well as natural disease and so you do that by looking
at the body as a whole and ther you look at each of the
organs with those goals in mind.

Q. While you're there at the autopsy was there
any evidence of any injury to Mr. Meana?

A, Not really trawmatic injury per se, but he
did have some areas of bleeding on the skin of his arms
which typically go along with pecple who are in liver
failure because the liver is important for making
clotting factors and if the liver is failing it's not
doing its job in a variety of respects. So it's pretty
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the Philippines I had no knowledge of exactly what
would, what materials would be available to me there.
And better to be safe than sorry I brought materials
with me in case none were available. So I had the
fixative, I had sealable containers, I had a heat sealer
s0 that nothing could leak out. I tock what materials I
thought I would need in order to transport the type of
specimens that I anticipated collecting.

0. S0 all of the things that you collected the
samples with, the samples being put in the formalin or
the fixative, all of that was brought by you to the
Philippines?

A. Tes.

Q. S0 you did not rely on them for any
materials like that during this process?

A. That's correct, I did not.

Q. What was the purpose or what was the need
to put a specimen in this fixative that you mentioned?

A. Tissue is put in fixative so that it
essentially doesn't rot, so that it is well preserved so
that I can Iook at it under the microscope and see good
detail.

0. Now again, I know I'm jumping forward and
back, but I want to go back to the autopsy for a minute,
You said that you were present there, observed the
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commen for people who have liver failure not to be able
to clot their bleod adequately and so they may have
bleeding, what leoks like bruises on their skin,

Q. So there was some at least even external
signs that maybe there was a problem with the liver at
the time?

A. Yes.

Q. Beyond that, did you, and we're going to
stay away from the liver for just a moment. Okay?

But as far as the heart, the lungs, things
like that that were taken out, were they dissected
outside the body or looked upon and samples taken of
those outside the body or how does that work in the
Philippines?

A. They essentially do the same order that we
do in that you look at the external body, you cpen the
body cavities up, you take each organ out and examine it
individually.

Q. 8o as far as this individual, you knew that
this person had been hospitalized; correct?

A, Yes,

g. You also knew of the prior hospitalizations
and medical treatment that this person had -- and I'm
talking zbout Rodolfo Meana -- had undergone; is that

correct?

19



R B LT T N 0 R O S S

=B B B T S I e G [
mm-wm»—nomcnqmmzwsl:g

Lol e T - T Y R S DU R

[ B B o R T = S S S S U —
m-hwl\il—lctom-lml.ﬂdhu!\):c

41

A. Yes.

Q. Was there anything about the crgan
ezamination, excluding the liver for the moment, that
was of significance te you during the process of the
autopsy?

A. Tt appeared that he had pneumenia based
upon the gross appearance, the naked eye appearance of
his lungs and the fact that they appeared to be heavier
than normal.

0. Now can you tell us about that, pneumonia,
the pnewmonia itself, was that a contributing factor to
the cause of his death?

A, Basically someone who is in poor, extremely
poor heaith as Mr. Meana was because of his liver
failure, they're susceptible to a mumber of different
medical problems and pneumonia certainly would be one of
those. 5o it's one of the things that was present at
the time of his death and is essentially attributable to
his liver failure,

c. So a secondary cause from the primary liver
failure itself?

a, Correct.

0. What about the heart, was there evidence of
obstruction in any of the coromary arteries or anything

along those lines?
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chronic hepatitis C infection producing the scarring.

Q. And in fact were some of the findings about
the thing that you mentioned regarding the hepatitis C
infection, did the autopsy that was done in the
Philippines, did they take blood and test it for
hepatitis € at the time?

4. Yes, they did.

Q.  And the results of that, were they
consistent with your findings that he had an active
infection of hepatitis ¢ at the time of his death?

A. Yes,

0. Row the liver sits where in the body?

A, It sits basically at the bottem of your rib
cage on the right side, that tends to lie over the
majority of the liver. So it's in your upper abdemen
below the ribs.

Q. And is it sitting in a particular cavity of
the body?

A, Yes, it is, it sits in the abdominal
cavity.

Q. Now normally on a patient who has liver
failure, what is -- before I get to that. What is the
purpose of the liver; what does it do?

A. The liver does actually a lot of things,

It produces proteins including clotting facters. It
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A, I did not see that personally but in her
antopsy report Dr. Oropilla describes one area of severe
narrowing in one of his coronary arteries.

Q. Bny indication that he had suffered a
coronary artery infarction or anything like that?

A. Na.

Q. Any issues with the heart itself other than
some narrowing of some of the vessels?

A, No.

Q. Any other crgan that was a problem,
excluding the liver and -- well, any other organ beside
the liver at this point?

A. No.

Q. Now let's move to the liver. What was
the -- and I'm not talking zbout your samples that you
took, I'm talking about you still being at the autopsy,
your visualization as this is taking place -- what did
you see?

A. I saw & smeli, scarred liver,

Q. What is that indicative of?

A, Well, the scarring can occur for a variety
of reasons. People who chronically abuse alcohol can
develop a similar appearance of scarring, In
Mr. Meana's case, because I knew that he had hepatitis ¢

infection that was ongoing, it's consistent with a
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breaks down toxins and it helps your body to maintain a
steady blood qlucose level because it stores glucose.

Q. Does it also act as somewhat of a filtering
mechanism for the body as well?

a, Absolutely, yes.

Q. The bleood that returns to the heart, does
it primarily go through the liver?

A. Yes, it does.

Q. In order to get back to the heart it has to
filter through the liver itself?

a, Yes.

Q. If the liver is scarred and sclerotic and
diseased from hepatitis C or anything eise that would
cause cirrhosis, does that impair the flow of the blood
through the liver?

a. hbsolutely, yes.

Q.  Is there a secendary sort of thing that
happens as a result of that impaired blood flow?

A. There are actually a number of things that
occur as a result of the impaired blood flow. One of
them is something called portal hypertension and that is
since the blood can't get through the liver as it
normally would it has to find other ways to get back to
the heart and those other ways, when they experience
that increase in blood flow, the veins get bigger and

20
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you can see things like, they're called esophageal
varices, meaning that they're large veins around the
esophagus, and those can rupture causing bleeding. You
can also see enlarged veins around the stomach which
again can rupture causing bleeding. The spleen may
become enlarged because the blood is backing up into the
spleen. So there are & variety of problems that can
occur when someone has cirrhosis and the blood cannot
flow normally through the liver.

0. Now does that essentially pressurize the
venous system abnormally then?

a. Yes.

Q. And in deing so is there typically
something like a leaking of fluid out of the venous
system into the perineal cavity?

A. Yes, people who have portal hypertension
often have the accumulation of fluid in their bellies.

Q. What is that fluid called?

a. It's called ascites.

Q. Was there any evidence of ascites or
ascites fluid during the autopsy?

Yas,
A significant amount?
Yes, there was quite a lot.

©H e »

Is that typical of people with liver
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microscope.

0. Do you eventually get those back?

A. Yes.

0. Tell us what you found when you looked at
them.

R. When I looked at the tissues under the
microscope, the most obvious tissue of interest was the
liver, and he did in fact have cirrhosis which is
extensive scarring, he had inflammation in the tissue in
his liver indicating that he had ongoing damage from the
hepatitis C. As far as the cther tissues go, he had
evidence of pneumonia in his lungs, Basically all of
the tissue samples from his lungs that I looked at had
evidence of pneunonia. Some of it was recent, some of
it was a little bit older. He did have scarring in his
kidneys, most likely the result of high blood pressure,
and his spleen had some extra scar tissue in it and
again that would have been the result of the portal
hypertension which was due to his liver failure and
cirrhosis.

Q. Okay, Wow just as we -- again I'm going to
take you back just a little bit.

You reviewed the medical records of
Mr. Meana before yon went even to the Philippines?
A, Tes.
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failure or cirrhesis?

A. Very frequently.

Q. So this is = finding alse that you saw
during the autopsy itself?

A, Yes.

Q. Mow any cther findings beside the liver
issue? I know that you mentioned the lungs and the
pneumonia or whatever was going on there. But was there
any other abnormal thing that you saw within his body
other than that associated with his liver?

h. His kidneys were a little bit scarred.

Q.  Anything there that was significani?

A. Not over and above his liver disease, no.

0. S0 now you've moved from, let's move you
rather from the Philippines to the United States.
You've got your samples. What do you do with them after
they're physically back at the coroner's office and
you're going to do your studies?

B. Once I got back to the United States I had
the opportunity to transfer the pieces of tissue into
fresh formalin just to make sure it was well fixed and I
cut the pieces of tissue into smaller pieces and put
then in specialized little containers called cassettes
and those cassettes were sent o the laboratory that

prepares our tissues to be looked at under the

48

Q. Were you aware of whether or nrot he had an
active hepatitis C infection before he went to the
Endoscopy Center of Southern Nevada on the 2lst of I
believe it was September of 20077

R, I found no indication in his medical
records that he had hepatitis C prior to his visit to
the Endoscopy Clinic.

c. Was there evidence that he had hepatitis C
after he went to the clinic on that day?

A. Yes.

Q. Was there any evidence of him having any
liver disease, cirrhosis, failure, anything along those
lines, prior to that visit to the clinic?

A. Ho.

Q. Was there any evidence in the medical
records that he was suffering from, either some other
disease process or external source like drinking too
much, anything like that that could have contributed to
or caused his cirrhosis other than the hepafitis C?

A. No.

c. Do you have an opinion as to what was the
cause of death in this particular case?

A. Yes.

0. What was that opinion?

3. My opinion is that he ultimately died as a

21
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result of chronic active hepatitis associated with
hepatitis C infection.

Q. Now you were not necessarily given
information sbout a criminal investigation or anything
in this particular case; is that correct?

A, That's correct.

Q. S0 you're basically using, your opinion
here is related to the findings of his medical records,
the zutopsy that was dene, as well as your actual
analysis yourself of the tissue samples that you
obtained?

A. Yes.

¢. Related to that, are yon aware that in this
country or even any place in the world that scmetimes
pecple engage in wnsafe mediczl practices?

b. Yes, I'n aware.

e. And sometimes these unsafe medical
practices can be the reuse of single use only materials,
things like that?

A. Yes.

Q. First of all, are you aware of what
Universal safety Precautions are?

A, Yes.

Q. Do you know what they are first of all and
can you explain that to the jury?

a3

rormally in the process of getting and receiving medical
care?

A, Absolutely.

Q. If a situation is oecurring, and this is a
hypothetical for you now, a situation where those
medical practices were actively not being followed,
meaning the Universal safety Preczutions, and a
transmission of an infectious agent occurred to another
person, as in this particular case where we have
Mr. Meana going to the clinic at the Endoscopy Center,
beforehand he's not hepatitis C positive; correct?

A. Correct.

Q. And afterward he is?

b, Yes.

C. And if in fact at the ¢linic at that time
it was found that there were unsafe injection practices
for example, or something along those lines that were
taking place, could that have been a mechanism by which
infection was transferred to Mr. Meana?

A. Yes.

Q. If in fact the mecharism, that had occurred
and that is how he got the infection, and I'm not asking
you to make the determination that he did in that
manner, would that be consistent with what you saw which
led up to his death?
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A. Universal Preczutions, essentially what it
beils down to is good hygiene practices. So the goal is
to minimize the spread of potentially infectious
materials and you do that by means of using gloves and
gowns and masks and eye protection and any other barrier
that is appropriate depending on what you may be dealing
with as an infectious disease. So you're trying to
contain potentially infectious material.

Q. And you worked in the clinical setting as
well as the current setting you're in; correct?

A. Yes,

0. So in dealing in a clinical setting, as far
as the vse of Universal safety Precautions along those
lines, does one typically employ those to protect
themselves frem potential infection?

A, Yes.

Q. Does one alsc employ those to protect the
person that they're administering to for potential
infection that they may have?

A. Yes.

Q. Are those precautions also used to prevent
the cross contamination from cne person or patient to
another patient?

Yes,
Q. Are there breaches that naturally occur

52

A. Yes.

0. And again if I understand you correctly,
the cause of his death from your standpoint or from what
you have determined was the hepatitis C virus infection
and the secondary effects of that infection throughout
the course of his life thereafter?

A. Tes.

MR. STAUDAHER: Ladies and gentlemen, I
have no further questions for this witness. Do you have
any for this particular individual?

THE FOREPERSON: Yes, go ahead.

BY A JUROR:

0. Further back you were talking about testing
to see if a person kas hepatitis C and you said no
facilities would do that, you couldn't find any. Why is
that?

A, The reascn that I couldn't find a lab that
would do that type of testing on his liver tissue I
believe is because we are so geared medically now to do
testing on blood or serum that it's simply not a test
that's in demand because we have other better ways of
looking for that infection.

MR. STAUDAHER: And let me follow-up if I
may on that.

Q. The testing that you're talking about that

22
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you were not able to conduct was on tissue samples
themselves looking for the virus within those samples;
correct?

A, Yes, that's correct.

Q. That is not the same thing 23 the blood
sample that was taken at the time and tested and was
made part of the avtopsy findings from the Philippines?

A, That is correct, those are completely
different samples and modes of testing.

0. 8o his medical records and even the results
of the medical findings from the autopsy itself show
that there was an active hepatitis infecticn at the
time?

A. Yes.

0. You just weren't able to actually do the
stains to see the virus within the tissues themselves?

A, That's correct.

THE FOREPERSCN: Over here and then I'1l
come back to you.
BY & JUROR:

Q. On the tissue, what was it that you added
to preserve it, what's the name of it?

A. It's celled formalin, F-O-R-M-A-L-I-N.

Q. What was the other word? I thought there
was ancther word.

55

Q. And does it have to be climatized or
anything like that? There was testimony if was put in a
safe. So it doesn't have to be put in any special
envirenment?

A. No, it doesn't have to be refrigerated or
treated in any way but kept at room temperature.

2. Thank you.

MR. STAUCAHER: And just to follow-up on
that.

0. If I understand you correctly, you received
those samples directly from the autopsy itself?

A, Yes, 1 did.

0. And thereafter immediately put them into
the formalin that you brought with you to fix the
samples so that they remained preserved for as long as
you needed them?

b, Yes.

BY A JUROR:

g. You testified that you carried on these
when you came back to the States.

A, Yes.

0. You carried the samples. To your knowledge
is there anything in the security process or anything
that you're aware of that might change it or —-

A. No, there was nothing that those tissues
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MR. STAUDAHER: Fixative.

A JUROR: Fixative.

THE WITNESS: Okay. Fixative is a
description of what formalin does. So it preserves
tissue.

BY A JUROR:

Q. So when you do that, does it have to be,
for example when you do a heart, I understand that you
have to refrigerate it and there's a certain time period
that you can stil) keep it. Is there anything with that
additive that you put in there when you put it to the
tissue, by the time you take it from the Philippines to
the United States, is it still going to be preserved for
24 hours, 48 hours, six months, a year? How long is
that tissue still going te be a valid tissue when you
examine it is where I'm going.

A, You can keep tissue in formalin for years
and if there is enough formalin around that tissue to
adequately preserve it then you can take that tissue out
of the formalin years later and prepare it and look at
it under the microscope and it will be well preserved,
if it was well preserved when it went into the formalin,
So that's a long way of saying the formalin that I put
the tissue in was adequate to preserve if for as long as

I wanted to keep it in there.
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went through on their way back to the United States with
me that would have changed their appearance in any way.

Q. And it's not out of your sight that long or
anything like that?

A, No, it was in my hand carry luggage so it
was basically sitting on the plane with me,

0. Thank you.

MR. STAUDRHER: Let me follow-up with that
for just a mement.

Q. Were you aware that at least the
Transportation Safety Adninistration, the TSA, was aware
of the fact that you were bringing samples in that
capacity through security and onto the airline and so
forth?

A, Yes.
in Manila to leave we were met by I believe the chief of

In fact when we went to the airport

the airport police who escorted us through the whole
process of checking in and getting through security.
And once we touched dewn in the United States, which
happened teo be in Detreit, we were met by a member of
the airport police who escorted us through the whole
process so we could board our domestic flight.

Q. And those were preparations obviously made
before you even wenf; correct?

A, I believe some of it was going on during

23



e R T T

MNNNMMHI—'D—‘S—'HHI—ID—!

L= - T £, T SR % B X

L T e I T e SO S i Y
L R~ I T O G == P - R TR ST S g

the time we were in the Philippines.

Q. Regardless of the timing then, is it safe
to say that the process of going through, of
communicating with the Transportation Safety
Adninistration and dealing with that was to get those
samples through so they just didn't end up in the belly
of the plane scmewhere or could be damaged?

A. Yes,

THE FOREPERSON: Are there any further
questions? There are none?

By law, these proceedings are secret and
you are prohibited from disclosing to anyone anything
that has transpired before us, including evidence and
statements presented to the Grand Jury, any event
occurring or statement made in the presence of the Grand
Jury, and information obtained by the Grand Jury.

Failure to comply with this admonition is a
gross misdemeanor punishable by a year in the Clark
County Detention Center and a $2,000 fine. TIn addition,
you may be held in contempt of court punishable by an
additicnal $500 fine and 25 days in the ¢lark County
Detention Center.

Do you understand this admonition?

THE WITNESS: Yes, ma'am, I do.

THE FOREPERSON: Thank you. You can be
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by the Grand Jury. We'll submit it to you for
deliberation.

(At this time, all persons, other than
members of the Grand Jury, exit the room at 10:31 a.m.
and return at 10:36 a.m.)

A JUROR: Can I start?

MR. STAUDAHER: Certainly.

A JURQR: My question is, I just wanted
clarification, if we're not supposed to tie in what we
know from previous testimony and exhibits and —

MR. STAUDRAHER: Go ahead, finish your
question.

A JUROR: To use that information that we
previcusly heard into tying it into --

A JUROR: Charges.

A JUROR: -- charge of second degree
murder. Do we use that information or we do not?

MR. STAUDAHER: Let me make sure we're
clear on this. The reason that those eshibits and that
prior testimony were provided to you and that you had to
ge through them was so you -- for example, the deceased
in this case you heard testimony from. He's not coming
in to give you testimeny, nor could he because he's no
longer with us. So yes, you do take into account the
evidence that was presented, the exhibits, the testimony
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excused now.

THE WITNESS: Thank you.

THE FCREPERSCN: You're welcome.

We'd like to call for a break now.

MR. STAUDAHER: That's fine. That's okay
if you want a break. Sure.

THE FOREPERSON: Ten minutes.

MR. STAUDAHER: We're not going to have
anymore witnesses just so you know,

THE FOREPERSON: Okay. Ten minute break.

{Recess.}

MR, STAUDRHER: Ladies and gentlemen of the
Grand Jury, that concludes the presentation of the
witness testimony.

Again, Exhibit 3 is the disk that you
received or the information thereon related to all the
transcripts of the prior presentatiens as well as all
the exhibits. I know you'wve individually been canvassed
on this but I just want to make sure there's no
questions related to that evidence that you're using in
this particular case or any question regarding the law
s0 far that has been provided to you with regard to this
charge, the murder charge. Any questions?

THE FOREPERSON: Ho.

MR. STAUDAHER: General lack of questions

from that prior case. Because the reason that you are
all constituted here as the griginal Grand Jury and had
previously received all that information is to avoid
having to re-present the entirety of all of that matter
to a new Grand Jury. So yes, you are to take into
censideration everything that was on that disk which
includes all of the prior transcripts, all of the prior
exhibits, everything that went into your decisions in
the prior case. But this is a separate charge.

A JUROR: Yeah, I understood it's separate.
Okay.

THE FOREPERSON: Anne, do you want to
restate your question that brought up the discussicn?

A JURCR: I guess if we want to get to the
bottem line of it is to review scme of the elements of
second degree murder now. We can't do that now?

MR. STAUDAHER: Well no. You're here to
determine whether or not second degree murder, because
that's what we're proceeding on, not a first degree
murder, but a second degree murder, and the different
theories under that that we brought forth to you,
whether or not they apply in this particular case. Now
you have previously found related to this victim,
because you returned a true bill as to both the crininal

neglect of patient charge as well as performance of an

24
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1 [ act in reckless disregard, you have to make a 1 | have to find a particular one. But if you find that all
2 | determination under cne scenaric whether or not those 2 | three individvals are involved or iiable under one of
3 | are dangerous felonies. Did they result in harm or 3 | those three theories of criminal lisbility, some may be
4 | death to someone? The other aspect of it is based on 4 | more than one, but you have to find that at least they
5| all of the information you have, were the actions of 5 | are involved under one of those three theories of
6 | these individuals either directly, or hy aiding and 6 | criminal liability in order for you to come back with a
7 | abetting each other, or by conspiring, reckless to the 7 | finding with regard to murder as to each individual.
8 | point that they caused someone to have a depraved heart 8 A JUROR: Okay,
9 [or reckless indifference to human life, that kind of 9 MR, STAUDAHER: Does that make senge?
10 | thing, and that's what you're here to determine. 10 A JUROR: Yes.
11 A JURCR: So I have a question just to 1 A JURCR: Absolutely.
12 | follow-up on that. 12 A JURCR: Ckay.
13 MR. STAUDAHER: Sure. 13 A JUROR: Thank you.
14 A JUROR: That would mean those three 14 THE FOREPERSON: Thank you.
15 | people, even if one of those persons wasn't involved —- 15 4 JUROR: Thank you,
16 | how can I say it? Because this is the question Aane 16 (At this time, all persons, other than
17 } had. COne of those psople weren't involved in the 17 | members of the Grand Jury, exit the room at 10:40 a.m.
18 | procedure on that day on Mr. Redelfo -- sorry, excuse 18 | and return at 10:44 a.m.)
19 | me, Go ahead, do you think -- 19 THE FOREPERSON: Mr. District Atftorney, by
20 MR. STAUDAHER: In order for you to —- 20 | a vote of 12 or more grand jurors a true bill has been
21 | remember there's three theories of criminal liability 21 | returned against the defendants Dipak Kantilal Desai,
22 | that are involved here: Directly committing the act, 22 | Ronald Ernest Lakeman and Keith H. Mathahs charging the
23 | aiding or abetting others in the commission of those 23 | crime of murder in the second degree, in Grand Jury Case
24 | acts, conspiring with others to commit the acts. If you 24 [ Number Q9BGJ119A-C. We instruct you to prepare an
25 | find -- you don't have to find all three. You don't 25 | Indictment in conformance with the proposed Indictment
63 64
1 | previously submitted to us. 1 REPORTER'S CERTIFICATE
2 MR. STAUDAHER: Thank you ladies and 2
3 | gentlemen. 3 | STATE OF NEVADA )
4 THE FOREPERSON: You're welcome. 4 | COUNTY OF CILARK ] 5
5 M3. WECKERLY: Thank you. 5
6 MR. STAUDAHER: Were there any changes to ] I, Danette L. Antonacci, C.C.R. 222, do
7 | the Indictment? 7 | hereby certify that I took down in Shorthand (Stenotype}
8 THE FOREPERSON: HNo. 8 | all of the proceedings had in the before-entitled matter
9 {Proceedings concluded.} 9 | at the time and place indicated and thereafter said
10 --0ol00-- 10 | shorthand notes were transcribed at and under my
11 11 [ direction and supervision and that the foregoing
12 12 | transcript constitutes a full, true, and accurate record
13 13 | of the proceedings had.
14 14
15 15 | August 20, 2012,
16 16 >
17 17 .
18 18 memm
19 19
20 20
pal 21
22 22
23 23
24 24
25 25
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AFFIRMATICN
Pursuant teo MRS 2393.030

The undersioned does herﬁ?ﬁ affirm that the
gggsgig ERANSCRI T filed in GRAND JURY CASE NUMBER

X Does not contain the social security number of any
person,
..OR_

Contalns the secial security number of a person as
Tequired

A. A specific state or federzl law, to-
wit: NRS £56.250.
- OR.

B. For the administration of a guhllc program
or for an application for a federal or
state grant

Signatore Date

Danette L. Antonacci
PTIRt Name —

Official Court Reporter
Title

26
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Nevada Bar #008273 :
200 Lewis Avenue Q@:‘ i
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ttorney for Plaintiff

COURT

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY NEVADA

' THE STATE OF NEVADA,

- CASE NO: C—12-283381-2
Plaintiff, ~

o DEPT NO: . XXIiI
'VS'- .

_ DIPAK KANTILAL DESAL, #1240942
RONALD ERNEST LAKEMAN

' KEITHH MATHAHS,~#2753191 ' _ ;,N,D'_I,cr_'T_M_E_N__;p B B
D.efendant(s-). ' ' '

STATEOF NEVADA - §

The Defendant(s) above named DIPAK KANTILAL DESAL. RONALD ERNESTj

LAKEMAN, KEITH H. MATHAHS, accused by the Clark County Grand Jury of the crime |
of MURDER (SECOND DFGRFP\ (Category A Felony - NRS 200.010, 200.020, 200,030,

200.070, 0.060, 202.595, 200 495), comuiitted at and within the County of Clark State of
Nevada, on or between September 21 2007 and Aprll 27,2012 as follows: Defendants did
then and there willfully, feiomously, without authority of law, and with malice aforethought,

1 klll RODOLFO MEANA a human being, by introducing Hepatitis C virus into the body of
RODOLFO MEANA, based upon the following principles of criminal liability, to-wit: (1)
by the killing occurring under circumstances showing an abandoned and malignant heart;

and/or (2) during the commission of an unlawful act, to-wit: criminal neglect of patients,
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and/or performance of an unlawful act in reckless disregard of persons or property, which in
its consequences, naturally tends to destroy the life of a human being; and/or (3) the killing
being committed in the prosecution of a felonious intent, to-wit: criminal neglect of patients,
and/or performance of an act in reckless disregard of persons or property, which in its
consequences, naturally tends to destroy.the life of & human being, by directly or indirectly
using and/or introducing contaminated medical instruments, supplies, apd/or dnigs upon or
into the body of RODOLFO MEANA which were contaminafed with ths Hepatitis C virus;
Defendants being responsible under one or more of the following principles of criminal
liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing said acts;-andlor (2) by aiding or abetting each ‘
other and/or othérs i‘ncludin’g uncharged confederates in the commission of the crime(s) of
criminal neglect of patwnts and/or perfonnance of an act in reckless disregard of persons or
property by dn'ectly or mdlrectly counseling, encouragmg, hmng, commanding; mducmg, or
procuring each other, and/or-others fo utilize a patient care delivery system which directly or
indirectly hmlted the use of medlcal instruments, and/or supphes and/or drugs; scheduled
and/or treated an unreasonable number of patients per day, and/or rushed patlents or patlent
proce_dures all at the expense of patient safety and/or well being, and which resulted in
substandard care: and/or jeopardized tﬁe safety of RODOLFO MEANA, Defendants acting
" |
it
i
i
i
/i
i
n
///
i
W
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with the intent to commit the crime(s) of criminal neglect of patients, and/or performance of
an act in reckless disregard of persons or property; and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to
commit the crime(s) of criminal neglect of patients, and/or performance of an act in reckless
disregard of persons or property, Defendants acting in concert throughout.

DATED this____ day of August, 2012.
STEVEN B. WOLFSON

Clark County District Attorney
- Nevada Bar #001565

BY

Chief Deputy District Attorney
Nevada Bar #008273

ENDORSEMENT; A True Bill

s Lcé

oreperson,
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Names of witnesses testifying before the Grand Jury:
BAGANG, MAYNARD, LVMPD
OLSON, ALANE, MEDICAL EXAMINER

Additional witnesses known to the District Attorney at time of filing the Indictment:

09BGJ119A-C/ed
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

DIPAK KANTILAL DESAL - No. 61230

Petitioner,

vs.

THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT F E L E S

COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA, :

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF

CLARK; AND THE HONORABLE

VALERIE ADAIR, DISTRICT JUDGE, oL

Respondents, 8y
and ‘

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

DEC 21 2012

TRACIE K. LINDEMAN
SUPRE?

Rea] Party in Interest.

ORDER GRANTING PETITION IN PART

This original petiti(;n for a writ of mandamus or prohibition
challenges an order of the district court denying petitioner Dipak Kantilal
Desai’s pretrial petition for a writ of habeas corpus challenging the
sufficiency of the indictment. Desai argues that the charges alleged in the
indictment fail to give him sufficient notice to defend against the State’s
allegations. See NRS 34,160; NRS 34.320; Round Hill. Gen. Imp. Dist. v.
Newman, 97 Nev. 601, 603-04, 637 P.2d 534, 536 (1981).

For the reasons discussed below, the district court should

grant the petition for a writ of habeas corpus with respect to the count
alleging racketeering (Count 1). It should also permit the State to amend
the counts alleging criminal neglect of patients (Counts 4, 8, 11, 14, 18, 21,
and 24) and performance of an act with reckless disregard to persons
(Counts 3, 7, 10, 18, 17, 20, and 23) to reduce the number of theories of
liability alleged and fesolve ambiguity regarding iﬁow Desai engaged in

the remaining theories. Our decision does not affect the remaining counts
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of the indictment that allegeé insurance fraud (Counts 2, 5, 6, 9, 12, 15, 16,
19, 22, and 25), theft (Count 26), and obtaining ‘money under false
pretenses (Counts 27 and 28), which Desai does not challenge in this
petition. It further does not affect the murder count charged in a separate
indictment.

Desai contends that the charging document is inadequate.
Specifically, he contends that the counts alleging the performance of an
act with reckless disregard to persons are impermissibly vague as each
count charges three defendants with seven alternative theories of liability.
The criminal-neglect-of-patient counts allege eight alternative meaﬁs,
including one that the defendants directly or indirectly caused the harm
by “methods- unknown.” In addition, each defendant is charged as a
principal, aider and abettor, and coconspirator. Desai contends that the
numerous alternatives permit the State to alter its theory of prosecution.
Moreover, as the.counts are based on a statute that does not specifically
define the prohibited conduct, the indictment should have a more
particular statement of facts. He also contends that the racketeering
count is defective as the charge omitted elements of the offense, included
an alternate theory that did not charge an offense under the statute, and
failed to allege sufficient facts to indicate which defendant performed what

acts regarding each theory of criminal liability.!

1Desai also contends that facts adduced before the grand jury do not
support many of the alternative theories. These claims: concerning
whether the State produced sufficient evidence to support the allegations
in the indictment are not appropriate grounds for extraordinary relief.
See Kussman v. Distriet Court, 96 Nev. 544, 545-46, 612 P.2d 679, 680
(1980) (providing that this court’s review of a pretrial. probable cause
determination through an original writ petition is disfavored).




Both the United States and Nevada Constitutions require an
indictment to allege a criminal offense in a manner that is sufficient to put
the. defendant on notice of the nature of the offense charged anld- the
essential facts constituting the offense “in order to permit adequate
preparation of a defense.” Jennings v. State, 116 Nev. 488, 490, 998 P.2d
557, 559 (2000); see NRS 173.075(1) (“The indictment or the information -

must be a plain, concise and definite written statement of ‘the essential
facts constituting the offense charged.”). To that end, this court has held
that a charging document “which alleges the commission of the offense
solely in the conclusory language of the statute is insufficient.” Sheriff v.
Levinson, 95 Nev. 436, 437, 596 P.2d 232, 233 (1979); see Earlywine v.
Sheriff, 94 Nev. 100, 575 P.2d 599 (1978). Instead, the indictment must

include “a statement of the acts constituting the offense in ordinary and

.concise language™ and put the deféndant on notice of the State’s theory of |
- prosecution. Viray v. State, 121 Nev. 159, 162, 111 P.3d 1079, 1082 (2005)
(quoting Jennings, 116 Nev. at 490, 998 P.2d at 559). Where one offense

may be committed by one or more specified means, an accused must be
prepared to defend against all means alleged. See State v. Kirkpatrick, 94
Nev. 628, 630, 584 P.2d 670, 671-72 (1978).

We conclude that extraordinary relief is warranted because

the challenged allegations are not sufficiently plain, concise, and definite
for the following reasons. First, the criminal-neglect and reckless-
disregard counts charge each defendant as a principal, aider and abettor,
and coconspirator and further list numerous acts of aiding and abetting,
which allege .th.at the defenciants aided and- abetted each other as well as
aided and abetted other unnamed individuals to commit the reckless or

negligent acts. Barren v. State, 99 Ne';v.""661, 668, 669 P.2d 725, 729 (1983)
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(noting that an indictment may charge a defendant as both a principal and
as an aider and abettor provided that it contains “additional information
as to the specific acts constituting the means of aiding and abetting so as
to afford the defendant adequate notice to prepare his defense”). The
allegations list numerous acts taken as principals and aiders and abettors
but fail to specifically identify what acts are attributed to each defendant.
Therefore, these counts are insufficiently precise as to “who is alleged to
have done what.” State v. Hancock, 114 Nev. 161, 165, 955 P.2d 183, 185
(1998) (internal quotat1ons omitted). Second, the racketeering count fails
to allege necessary elements and is inadequately pleaded. The alternative -
theory charged. pursuant to NRS 207,400(1)(a) is incomplete as it omits
the- essential element concerning the use of proceeds to acquire real
property or interest-in another enterprise. In addition, the use of
disjunctive language severed the description of racketeering activity, a
- necessary element of the previous alleged theories under NRS
 207.400(1)(a)-(d), () (prohibiting acts done in conjunction  with
“racketeering activity) into a separate theory of the offense, which was not
- sufficient to plead any violation of NRS 207.400 in and of itself. Lastly,
even if the allegations of racketeering activity are interpreted as relating
to each alleged theory under NRS 207.400(1)(a)-(d). (j), those allegations
are inadequately pleaded as the first alternative act (causing and/or
pressuring employees te falsify patient records) fails to allege a crime

related to racketeering. Accordingly, we
ORDER the petition GRANTED IN PART AND DIRECT THE

CLERK OF THIS COURT TO ISSUE A WRIT OF MANDAMUS
instructing the district court to grant the pretrial petition for a writ of

habeas corpus with respect to the racketeering count. The district court
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should permit- the State to amend the patient-neglect and reckiess
disregard counts to narrow the breadth of those charges and provide more

detail as to how Desai engaged in the remaining theories.

Parraguirre

cc: ~ Hon. Valerie Adair, District Judge
Wright Stanish & Winckler
Attorney General/Carson City
Clark County District Attorney
Eighth District Court Clerk
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

DIPAK KANTILAL DESAL Electronically Filed

” Feb 20 2013 01:20 |p.m.

Petitioner, No Tracie K. Lindeman
Vs ) Clerk of Supreme Gourt
Consolidated District
THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT Court Nos. 10C265107
COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 12C283381
COUNTY OF CLARK, DEPARTMENT 21,
Respondent,
and
THE STATE OF NEVADA,
Real Party In Interest.
PETITIONER’S APPENDIX

Richard A. Wright

Nevada Bar No. 886

ergs t Stanish & Winckler
300 S. Fourth Street

Suite 701

Las Vegas, NV 89101
(702) 382-4004
Attorneys for Petitioner

Docket 62641 Document 2013-05335
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DECLARATION OF MAILING
DEBRA K. CAROSELLI, an employee of Wright Stanish & Winckler, hereby
declares that she is, and was when the herein described mailing took place, a citizen of the
United States, over 21 years of age, and not a party to, nor interested in, the within action;
that on the 20th day of February, 2013, declarant deposited in the United States mail at Las
Vegas, Nevada, a copy of Dipak Desai’s PETITIONER’S APPENDIX enclosed in a
sealed envelope upon which first class postage was fully prepaid, hand delivered or e-filed

addressed to:

The Honorable Valerie Adair Michael V. Staudaher

District Court, Department 21 Clark County District Attorney’s Office
200 Lewis Avenue 200 Lewis Avenue, 3d Floor

Las Vegas, NV 89101 Las Vegas, NV 89155

Catherine Cortez Masto
Attorney General
State of Nevada, Criminal Justice Division
100 North Carson Street
Carson City, NV 89701-4717
That there is a regular communication by mail between the place of mailing and the
place so addressed.
I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.

EXECUTED on the 20th day of February, 2013.

Wit D M‘




